

THE EFFECT OF ANKLE-FOOT ORTHOSIS ON GAIT AND THE PROCEDURES USED TO ASSESS BI-ARTICULAR MUSCLE LENGTH AND SPASTICITY IN SUBJECTS WITH DIPLEGIC CEREBRAL PALSY

Submitted by

FATMA MOHSIN

Biomedical Engineering

University of Strathclyde

Thesis submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

2018



UK ENTREPRENEURIAL UNIVERSITY OF THE YEAR WINNER

The place of useful learning The University of Strathclyde is a charitable body, registered in Scotland, number SC015263

Declaration of authenticity and author's rights

This thesis is the result of the author's original research. It has been composed by the author and has not been previously submitted for examination which has led to the award of a degree.

The copyright of this thesis belongs to the author under the terms of the United Kingdom Copyright Act as qualified by University of Strathclyde Regulation 3.50. Due acknowledgement must always be made of the use of any material contained in, or derived from, this thesis.

Signed: Fatma Mohsin

Date: 11/3/2018

Abstract

Ankle-foot orthoses are commonly prescribed amongst subjects with diplegic cerebral palsy as a conservative orthotic intervention. Multi-articular and bi-articular muscles are more severely involved in subjects with diplegic cerebral palsy. Appropriate clinical assessment including assessment of these muscles enables optimum ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination (AFO-FC) prescription and any required adjunct therapy.

The overarching aim of this thesis was to investigate the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO- FC on several variables including shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, vertical component of ground reaction force (FZ2) and ground reaction force (GRF) alignment in relation to hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance. The understanding of the implication of, and the tools used to conduct assessment procedures and measurement processes were tested in the assessment of bi-articular muscles (specifically rectus femoris), to ascertain if results were predictive of presenting gait deviations and hence provide information to optimise treatment.

The results of initial study suggested that a positive influence on the shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, FZ2 and GRF alignment in relation to hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance was observed with the use of an AFO-FC. The results of a further study illustrated that a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length of rectus femoris (RF) measured using the Duncan-Ely with the knee or the hip joints varies at different gait points/periods. Additionally, the effect of dynamic shortness of

the RF differed on gait from the effect of true shortness. The results of series of studies testing the feasibility of using a 2-dimensional analysis system (*PnO Clinical Movement Data*) for hip, knee and ankle sagittal plane passive joint range of motion measurement during physical assessment confirmed the reliability and accuracy of this system.

Summary

Cerebral palsy (CP) is the most common physical disability in childhood.¹ This nonprogressive neuromuscular disorder leads to the development of abnormal muscle tone, diminished selective motor control and impaired proprioception affecting gait.² One of the frequent manifestations of abnormal muscle tone amongst subjects with CP is spasticity.³

Spastic diplegia is a form of CP in which the most prominent motor impairment is observed in the lower limbs. It may also include to a lesser extent the trunk, face and upper limbs.⁴ Determining intervention in subjects with spastic diplegia may be challenging due to the heterogeneous nature of this impairment and the asymmetrical involvement in both lower limbs.⁵

Ankle-foot orthoses (AFOs) are commonly prescribed amongst subjects with diplegic CP as a conservative orthotic intervention. An AFO is an externally applied device that encompasses the ankle joint and the whole or part of the foot.⁶ The orthotic device works in conjunction with the footwear (ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination) in an attempt to exert control over and optimise shank kinematics. Appropriate shank kinematics/inclination during temporal midstance is vital to produce required temporal midstance stability which leads to energy conservation and reduces the demand on musculoskeletal system (Figure 2-1).⁷⁻¹⁰ Additionally, optimising shank kinematics during temporal midstance is deemed to increase the possibility of improved knee/hip kinetics and thigh/trunk kinematics.¹¹ As the shank inclines further and the thigh reaches its maximum inclination during terminal stance, the ground reaction force

(GRF) lever arm at the hip and knee increases, which in combination with the large magnitude of the GRF produces a strong stabilising external moment at the hip and the knee joints (Figure 2-3).^{8, 12} Additionally, during terminal stance the second peak of magnitude of vertical component of the GRF (FZ2) occurs exceeding the bodyweight which allows the body to support its own weight and produce the required propulsion forces (Figure 1-2 & 2-2).^{12, 13} Successful orthotic intervention and control of shank kinematics is considered to be enhanced by an intimately fitted and optimally aligned ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination (AFO-FC). While AFO-FC is frequently used amongst subjects with diplegic CP for various applications, the evidence supporting their efficacy especially in affecting the hip and knee joint is found inconclusive.¹⁴

Detailed clinical assessment including physical assessment enhances the development of the optimum intervention plan. Orthotic intervention should be designed in a way which considers all presenting impairments including length, strength and stiffness of the muscles. Multi-articular and bi-articular muscles, specifically hamstring, rectus femoris (RF) and gastrocnemius, are more severely involved in subjects with diplegic CP.^{4, 15, 16} These muscles are commonly truly or dynamically/functionally short. Functional shortness is caused by spasticity, which is a velocity-dependent increase in muscle tone observed as resistance (spastic catch) to passive movement.¹⁷ Spastic catch is measured in degrees (catch angle) by measuring the available joint range of motion (ROM). Appropriate assessment of these muscles enables optimum AFO-FC prescription and any required adjunct therapy. The overarching aim of this thesis was to investigate the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO- FC on several variables including shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, FZ2 and GRF alignment in relation to hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance. The understanding of the implication of, and the tools used to conduct assessment procedures and measurement processes were tested in the assessment of bi-articular muscles (specifically rectus femoris), to ascertain if results were predictive of presenting gait deviations and hence provide information to optimise treatment. A series of studies were completed in this thesis to fulfil the overall aim.

The initial study investigated the effect of optimising temporal midstance shank kinematics/shank inclination to vertical (SVA) with the use of an AFO-FC on thigh kinematics in temporal midstance and on thigh and shank kinematics at FZ2 and at maximum thigh inclination to vertical (TVA). The effect of optimisation of temporal midstance shank kinematics on FZ2 and on the alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip and knee joints in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at maximum TVA was also examined.

The results of this study suggested that a positive influence on the shank kinematics (at FZ2 and maximum TVA) and thigh kinematics (in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at the maximum TVA) was observed with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-3). Additionally, a positive increase in FZ2 was found in 9 participants from a total of 16 participants (Table 2-9). The use of an AFO-FC caused reduction in the degree of Ben Lomonding in 9 participants (Table 2-9). The term "Ben Lomonding" is used to

describe the situation where the second peak of magnitude of vertical component of GRF (FZ2) is smaller than the first peak of magnitude of the vertical component of GRF (FZ1).¹⁸ With AFO-FC use, FZ2 was found to be greater than or equal to the body weight in 5 out of 9 participants (Table 2-9). Some effect was observed on improving the GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joints in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at maximum TVA following optimisation of temporal midstance shank kinematics (Table 2-9) (Figures 2-10 to 2-12).

A further analysis of this study aimed to investigate if the examined gait variables in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at maximum TVA, improved when the temporal midstance shank kinematics are optimised using an AFO-FC. The correlation values in limbs with barefoot temporal midstance shank inclination less inclined than normal and normal (SVA \leq 12°) indicated that amongst all the variables investigated, the alignment of the GRF at the knee joint in temporal midstance and at the hip joint at FZ2 may optimise simultaneously when the temporal midstance shank kinematics are optimised (Table 2-7). The correlation values in limbs with barefoot temporal midstance shank kinematics are inclined than normal (SVA>12°) suggested that amongst all the examined variables, FZ2, thigh inclination and GRF alignment in relation to the knee joint at the maximum TVA may optimise simultaneously when the temporal midstance shank kinematics are optimised and GRF alignment in relation to the knee joint at the maximum TVA may optimise simultaneously when the temporal midstance shank kinematics are optimised induces that the initial barefoot temporal midstance shank kinematics are optimised induces and GRF alignment in relation values suggest that the initial barefoot temporal midstance shank inclination and feets the results found using an AFO-FC.

Furthermore, agreement across the variables investigated including the shank kinematics, thigh kinematics and FZ2, was found in 2 participants. Another, two participants had agreement of 5 out of 6 variables (Table 2-10).

A major limitation found in this study was that 9 participants exhibited an increase in SVA during the gait which may explain some of the negative results found, e.g. GRF alignment in relation to the hip and the knee joints (Table 2-12). Possible causes for further shank inclination include AFO being insufficiently stiff/too flexible, footwear characteristics and un-accommodated gastrocnemius length. The results of this study emphasised the importance of choosing the appropriate AFO-FC characteristics followed by a tuning process to achieve the optimum temporal midstance shank kinematics.

Although this thesis focused on a single muscle (RF) to highlight the key findings of the assessment, it provides a research methodology that may be adopted for other biarticular muscles. The RF muscle was selected for the assessment after the literature review, which showed that the exact timing reported of muscle activation of RF during gait is inconsistent.¹⁹⁻²³ Additionally, the exact effect of the shortness and spasticity of the RF muscle on gait is vague.²⁴⁻³⁰ The Duncan-Ely test is commonly used to measure the length and spasticity of the RF.^{31, 32} However, limited studies were found evaluating the Duncan-Ely test and explaining how results obtained from this test link to the deviations observed in gait. Furthermore, the hip position, which is vital, was not considered in the studies found. Further research is required to understand the influence of the catch angle/length measured using the Duncan-Ely test on gait. This thesis evaluated the current assessment method, the Duncan-Ely test, and the tools, the goniometers used to measure RF length and spasticity. A further study of this thesis aimed to examine the relationship between the catch angle/length measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the hip or the knee joint position at selected points/periods of gait as follows: maximum hip extension in stance, early swing, peak knee flexion in swing and peak hip flexion in swing. Additionally, this study examined if a dominance effect was found with the hip or the knee joint at the selected points/periods of gait. The relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the timing of peak knee flexion in swing was also examined.

In limbs with catch angle/length< 60° , the regression models between the catch angle/length and the knee joint at maximum hip extension, peak knee flexion and peak hip flexion were found to be weak but significant (Table 3-2 & 3-3). This may indicate that a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the knee joint at these points. In contrast, in early swing a dominance relationship was found between the catch angle/length and the hip joint in limbs with catch angle/length< 60° . In limbs with catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$, the regression model between the catch angle/length and the knee joint to be significant, suggesting that the knee joint exhibited a dominance relationship with the catch angle/length at this point (Table 3-2 & 3-3). Furthermore, the regression models for the timing of peak knee flexion with the catch angle/length were found to be weak and not significant (Table 3-9).

A further aim of this study was to investigate if the effect of dynamic shortness of the RF on gait differed from the effect of true shortness of the RF, and if the dominant relationship was found with the hip or the knee joint. In limbs with catch angle<60°, a dominance relationship of the catch angle was found with the hip joint in early swing and with the knee joint at peak knee flexion and peak hip flexion (Table 3-11 & 3-12). In contrast, in limbs with length<60° a dominance relationship was found with the hip joint at peak knee flexion (Table 3-19 & 3-20). In limbs with catch angle \geq 60°, a dominance relationship was found with the hip joint at peak knee flexion (Table 3-19 & 3-20). In limbs with catch angle \geq 60°, a dominance relationship was found with the knee joint in early swing, with the regression value being good and significant (Table 3-11 & 3-12). In limbs with length \geq 60°, all the regression models were found to be weak and not significant (Table 3-19 & 3-20).

This study illustrated that a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length with the knee or the hip joint varies at different gait points/periods. This suggests that the RF can influence the knee or the hip joint. Additionally, the effect on gait of dynamic shortness of the RF differed from the effect of true shortness of the RF.

Currently, different designs of goniometer are used for measuring passive joint ROM and bi-articular muscle length. These designs include the universal goniometer (UG), electrical goniometer (EG) and inclinometer. A literature review was performed to evaluate the reliability of different designs of goniometer. This review aimed to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer to measure hip, knee and ankle joint ROM. In addition, the review aimed to examine how different factors influence measurement reliability. The review highlighted that the evidence for the reliability of these tools is largely inconclusive, especially amongst subjects with diplegic CP (Tables 4-1 to 4-4).³³ Main identified causes of measurement error using the goniometer amongst subjects with diplegic CP included the presence of spasticity, defining the end ROM of the joint and stabilising the limb especially while measuring bi-articular and multi-articular muscle length and spasticity. Additionally, it has been recommended that the measurements obtained using the UG should be applied with caution for assistance in clinical decision making.³³

The feasibility of using a 2-dimensional analysis system (PnO Clinical Movement Data (PnO CMD)) for passive joint ROM measurement during physical assessment was therefore investigated. Initially, a study investigating the reliability of the PnOCMD and the UG in the measurement of sagittal plane hip, knee and ankle joints passive ROM amongst healthy subjects was performed. The highest intratester and intertester ICC values were found for the PnO CMD with markers, which confirmed the reliability of this system and the measurement procedure used (Table 4-5). Following that, the accuracy of the *PnO CMD* with markers was tested in comparison to Vicon (benchmark) amongst healthy subjects. High ICC values were obtained using this system for measurement of hip, knee and ankle sagittal plane dynamic ROM measured at 5 predefined points of gait (Table 4-8). Finally, the reliability of the PnO CMD for measurement of joint ROM amongst subjects with diplegic CP was investigated. Intratester and intertester ICC values for hip, knee, and ankle joint sagittal plane passive joint ROM with markers were found to be high (Table 4-9). The results of this study confirm that reliable measurements can be obtained using this system amongst subjects with diplegic CP.

Abbreviations

| 2-dimensional | 2D |
|--|-------------|
| 3-dimensional | 3D |
| Adjustable response ankle-foot orthosis | ADR-AFO |
| Ankle angle of the ankle-foot orthosis | AAAFO |
| Ankle-foot orthosis | AFO |
| Ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination | AFO-FC |
| Body weight | BW |
| Botulinum toxin type A | BoNT-A |
| Cerebral palsy | СР |
| Confidence interval | CI |
| Dynamic ankle-foot orthosis | DAFO |
| Electrical goniometer | EG |
| Footwear | FW |
| Gross Motor Function Classification System | GMFCS |
| Ground reaction ankle-foot orthosis | GRAFO |
| Ground reaction force | GRF |
| Ground reaction/floor reaction ankle-foot orthosis | GRAFO/FRAFO |
| Heel sole differential | HSD |
| Hinged ankle-foot orthosis | HAFO |
| Hinged/articulated ankle-foot orthosis | HAFO |
| Hip at peak knee flexion | HPKF |
| Intraclass correlation coefficient | ICC |
| knee at maximum hip extension | КМНЕ |
| Knee at peak hip flexion | KPHF |
| Leg length discrepancy | LLD |
| Maximum hip extension in stance | MHE |
| Peak hip flexion in swing | PHF |

| Peak knee flexion in swing | PKF |
|--|---------|
| PnO Clinical Movement Data | PnO CMD |
| Posterior leaf spring | PLS |
| Range of hip flexion in early swing | RHFES |
| Range of knee flexion in early swing | RKFES |
| Range of motion | ROM |
| Rectus femoris | RF |
| Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network | SIGN |
| Selective dorsal rhizotomy | SDR |
| Shank to vertical angle | SVA |
| Solid ankle-foot orthosis | SAFO |
| Solid/rigid ankle-foot orthosis | SAFO |
| Standard deviation | SD |
| Standard error of measurement | SEM |
| Stiff-knee gait | SKG |
| Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe | SCPE |
| Thigh to vertical angle | TVA |
| Timing of the peak knee flexion in swing | TPKF |
| Trochanteric prominence angle test | TPAT |
| Universal goniometer | UG |

Acknowledgments

In the name of Allah, the most compassionate and the most merciful, all devoted praises to Him for the strength and His blessing in completing this thesis.

Many people have contributed directly or indirectly towards this achievement; to them I will be always thankful. First and foremost, I offer my sincerest gratitude to my supervisors, Dr Anthony McGarry and Mr Roy Bowers, for their support, guidance and contributions towards the success of this work. Their wide knowledge, experience and motivating conversations, kept me always inspired and determined to overcome any obstacles faced.

Special thanks are owed to Dr Barry Meadows and Dr Bruce Carse for their assistance during the project. Without their help in collecting data and understanding the results of two major studies, this project would not have been completed. I also appreciate the help of Dr Angus McFadyen who has advised and guided me through all the statistical methods followed and supported me in understating all the statistical results obtained.

Finally, deep appreciation is due to my family, especially my mother and father, my siblings and my friends, for their unlimited support during my hard times and stressful events. Their encouraging words, prayers, wishes and great confidence in me always helped me to continue my work.

Table of contents

| Abstract | |
|--|----|
| Summary | 5 |
| Abbreviations | 13 |
| Acknowledgments | 15 |
| Chapter 1 Introduction and background | |
| 1.1 Thesis overview | |
| 1.2 Definition and incidence | |
| 1.3 Spastic diplegic cerebral palsy | |
| 1.4 Gait classifications for spastic diplegic cerebral palsy | |
| 1.5 Biomechanics of normal and pathological gait | |
| 1.5.1 Normal gait | |
| 1.5.2 Pathological gait | 43 |
| 1.6 Clinical assessment | |
| 1.6.1 Muscle strength | |
| 1.6.2 Selective motor control | 47 |
| 1.6.3 Muscle tone assessment | |
| 1.6.4 Range of motion and contracture | |
| 1.6.5 Bone deformity | 50 |
| 1.6.6 Posture and balance | 53 |
| 1.7 Interventions | 53 |
| 1.7.2 Operative interventions | |

| 1.7.1 Non-operative interventions | 6 |
|--|----|
| 1.8 Ankle-foot orthosis prescription criteria | 2 |
| 1.8.1 Ankle-foot orthosis material and features | 3 |
| 1.8.2 Ankle-foot orthosis angle and modification | 4 |
| 1.8.3 Footwear and footwear modification | 6 |
| 1.9 Biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses | 7 |
| 1.9.1 Direct biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses | 7 |
| 1.9.2 Indirect biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses | 8 |
| 1.10 Studies supporting the biomechanical influence of the ankle-foot orthosis 69 | 9 |
| 1.11 Figures | 4 |
| 1.12 Tables | 9 |
| Chapter 2 The effect of ankle-foot orthoses on shank and thigh kinematics during gai | it |
| of subjects with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy80 | 0 |
| 2.1 Introduction | 0 |
| 2.2 Methods | 4 |
| 2.2.1 Participants | 4 |
| 2.2.2 Study design | 5 |
| 2.2.3 Statistical Analysis | 6 |
| 2.3 Results | 9 |
| 2.3.1 T-test | 9 |
| 2.3.2 McNemar's test | 9 |
| 2.3.3 Correlation | 0 |

| 2.3.4 Vertical component of ground reaction force (Ben Lomonding) |
|--|
| 2.4 Discussion |
| 2.5 Figures |
| 2.6 Tables |
| Chapter 3 Relationship between the catch angle/length of rectus femoris measured |
| using the Duncan-Ely test and the hip and the knee joint during gait |
| 3.1 Introduction |
| 3.2 Methods |
| 3.2.1 Participants |
| 3.2.2 Study design |
| 3.2.3 Statistical analysis130 |
| 3.3 Results |
| 3.3.1. Sample size |
| 3.3.2 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)131 |
| 3.3.2 Group C (dynamic shortness) |
| 3.3.3 Group D (true shortness)141 |
| 3.4 Discussion |
| 3.4.1 Maximum hip extension in stance146 |
| 3.4.2 Early swing149 |
| 3.4.3 Peak knee flexion in swing152 |
| 3.4.4 Peak hip flexion in swing157 |
| 3.4.5 Timing of peak knee flexion in swing160 |

| 3.5 Figures |
|---|
| 3.6 Tables |
| Chapter 4 Clinical tools for joint range of motion measurement |
| 4.1 Factors influencing the reliability of different designs of goniometer in |
| measurement of lower limb range of motion: a literature review |
| 4.1.1 Introduction191 |
| 4.1.2 Methods |
| 4.1.3 Results |
| 4.1.4 Discussion |
| 4.2 PnO Clinical Movement Data |
| 4.2.1 The reliability of PnO Clinical Movement Data and universal goniometer |
| in the measurement of hip, knee and ankle motion amongst healthy subjects . 221 |
| 4.2.2 Accuracy of PnO Clinical Movement Data to measure dynamic hip, knee |
| and ankle joint range of motion during gait amongst healthy subjects |
| 4.2.3 The reliability of PnO Clinical Movement Data in the measurement of hip, |
| knee and ankle motion amongst subjects with diplegic cerebral palsy |
| 4.3 Figures |
| 4.4 Tables |
| Chapter 5 Discussion |
| 5.1 Summary and implications of the findings |
| 5.2 Limitations of the research |
| 5.3 Recommendations for future research |
| 5.4 Overall conclusions |

| References | |
|-------------------------------|--|
| Appendices | |
| Appendix A | |
| Appendix B | |
| Publications and presentation | |

List of figures

| Figure 1-1: Phases of gait reproduced from Perry. ¹³ |
|--|
| Figure 1-2: Normal vertical component of ground reaction force in gait. ¹⁸ |
| Figure 1-3: 'Butterfly diagram' represents the magnitude, direction and point of |
| application of the GRF at uniform time intervals (10 ms) of gait in the sagittal plane. ^{64,} |
| 181 |
| Figure 1-4: Representation of the model of disability that is the basis of the |
| International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health reproduced from the |
| World Health Organisation. ¹⁰⁹ |
| Figure 1-5: Posterior leaf spring ankle-foot orthosis |
| Figure 1-6: Solid ankle-foot orthosis77 |
| Figure 1-7: Ground reaction ankle-foot orthosis77 |
| Figure 1-8: Hinged ankle-foot orthosis78 |
| Figure 1-9: 3 corrective force system applied to prevent plantarflexion of the foot 78 |
| Figure 2-1: Normal shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in |
| relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance |
| Figure 2-2: Normal shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in |
| relation to the hip and knee joint at FZ2102 |
| Figure 2-3: Normal shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in |
| relation to the hip and knee joint at maximum TVA |
| Figure 2-4:Measurement method followed to determine the position of the segment |
| relative to the vertical |
| Figure 2-5: Modification of a scale used and developed by the Neurobiomechanics |
| Department to classify the ground reaction force alignment in relation to the hip and |

| knee joints in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at the maximum thigh to vertical |
|---|
| angle. ²⁰¹ |
| Figure 2-6: Participants division into Group One and Group Two based on shank |
| inclination105 |
| Figure 2-7: Participant 1's normalised vertical component of ground reaction force |
| (FZ2) barefoot and with ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination (AFO-FC) 105 |
| Figure 2-8: Participant 2's normalised vertical component of ground reaction force |
| (FZ2) barefoot and with ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination (AFO-FC) 107 |
| Figure 2-9: Participant 3's normalised vertical component of ground reaction force |
| (FZ2) barefoot and with ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination (AFO-FC) 108 |
| Figure 2-10: Effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment |
| of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for Participant 6 |
| |
| Figure 2-11: Effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment |
| of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for Participant 8 |
| |
| Figure 2-12: Effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment |
| of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for Participant 11 |
| |
| Figure 3-1: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus catch angle/length in |
| Group A (catch angle/length<60°)165 |
| Figure 3-2: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus catch angle/length in |
| Group B (catch angle/length≥60°) |

| Figure 3-3: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus catch angle in Group |
|---|
| C1 (catch angle<60°) |
| Figure 3-4: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus catch angle in Group |
| C2 (catch angle≥60°) |
| Figure 3-5: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus length in Group D1 |
| (length<60°) |
| Figure 3-6: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus length in Group D2 |
| (length≥60°) |
| Figure 4-1: Flow chart explaining the measurement method using the PnO CMD and |
| universal goniometer (UG) |
| Figure 4-2: Intratester ICC values for tester 1 for all the motion measured using both |
| tools with/without markers |
| Figure 4-3: Intratester ICC values for tester 2 for all the motion measured using both |
| tools with/without markers |
| Figure 4-4: Intratester ICC values for tester 3 for all the motion measured using both |
| tools with/without markers |
| Figure 4-5: Intertester ICC values for all testers for all the motion measured using both |
| tools with/without markers |
| Figure 4-6: The module representing the knee joint. Each marker was displaced by 1 |
| cm in four directions |
| Figure 4-7: The relationship between the standard error of measurements (SEM) of the |
| PnO CMD and the ABC angle |
| Figure 4-8: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=90°. Y-axis= <i>PnO CMD</i> -trigonometry. X- |
| axis=mean value of <i>PnO CMD</i> and trigonometry |

| Figure 4-9: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=110°. Y-axis= <i>PnO CMD</i> -trigonometry. X- |
|--|
| axis=mean value of <i>PnO CMD</i> and trigonometry257 |
| Figure 4-10: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=150°. Y-axis=PnO CMD-trigonometry. |
| X-axis=mean value of <i>PnO CMD</i> and trigonometry |
| Figure 4-11: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=160°. Y-axis=PnO CMD-trigonometry. |
| |
| X-axis=mean value of <i>PnO CMD</i> and trigonometry |
| X-axis=mean value of <i>PnO CMD</i> and trigonometry |
| |
| Figure 4-12: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=170°. Y-axis= <i>PnO CMD</i> -trigonometry. |

List of tables

| Table 1-1: Summary of the papers which studied the kinematic and kinetic influence |
|--|
| of ankle-foot orthoses on lower limb joints amongst subjects with cerebral palsy 79 |
| Table 2-1: Information about the participants included: age, GMFCS, side included, |
| hip and knee extension ROM, ankle ROM with knee extended (slow and fast), and |
| AAAFO |
| Table 2-2: Degree of Ben Lomonding, adaptation of a scale by Williams et al. ¹¹ and |
| Gibbs. ²⁰⁴ |
| Table 2-3: The normal values used for SVA and TVA in temporal midstance to late |
| stance |
| Table 2-4: T-test values for SVA, TVA and FZ2 in temporal midstance to late stance. |
| |
| Table 2-5: P-values for McNemar's test for GRF alignment in relation to the hip and |
| knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance |
| Table 2-6: The effect of an AFO-FC on the alignment of GRF in relation to the hip |
| and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance114 |
| Table 2-7: Temporal midstance correlation results and p-values with each investigated |
| element in Group One115 |
| Table 2-8: Temporal midstance correlation results and p-values with each investigated |
| element in Group Two |
| Table 2-9: FZ2 values and Ben Lomonding type in barefoot and with AFO-FC116 |
| Table 2-10: The agreement between the investigated variables with positive significant |
| influence with the use of an AFO-FC |

| Table 2-11: The effect of an AFO-FC on the alignment of the GRF in relation to the |
|--|
| hip and knee joints in temporal midstance to late stance |
| Table 2-12: AFO characteristics for each participant, comparing the SVA measured |
| while standing and in temporal midstance |
| Table 2-13: Difference between the SVA in temporal midstance and when standing, |
| gastrocnemius length with the knee extended, AAAFO and the active/available length |
| of the gastrocnemius muscle in participants with insufficiently stiff AFO 119 |
| Table 2-14: GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joint in P1 and P14 in |
| barefoot and with an AFO-FC |
| Table 3-1: The mean and SD of gait variables measured in normal and in the groups. |
| |
| Table 3-2: Regression models between the catch angle/length and the knee or the hip |
| joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Groups A & B (dynamic & true |
| shortness) |
| Table 3-3: The dominance relationship between the catch angle/length and knee or hip |
| joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Groups A & B (dynamic & true |
| shortness) |
| Table 3-4: Significant linear regression models in Groups A & B (dynamic & true |
| shortness) |
| Table 3-5: Values of catch angle/length, MHE and KMHE in Groups A & B (dynamic |
| & true shortness) |
| Table 3-6: Values of catch angle/length, RKFES and RHFES in Groups A & B |
| (dynamic & true shortness) |

| Table 3-7: Values of catch angle/length, PKF and HPKF in Groups A & B (dynamic |
|---|
| & true shortness) |
| Table 3-8: Values of catch angle/length, PHF and KPHF in Groups A & B (dynamic |
| & true shortness) |
| Table 3-9: Linear regression models of the timing of peak knee flexion with catch |
| angle/length in all groups174 |
| Table 3-10: Values of catch angle and TPKF in Groups A & B (dynamic & true |
| shortness) |
| Table 3-11: Regression models between the catch angle and the knee or the hip joint |
| at the investigated gait points/periods in Group C (dynamic shortness) |
| Table 3-12: The dominance relationship between the catch angle and knee or hip joint |
| at the investigated gait points/periods in Group C (dynamic shortness)176 |
| Table 3-13: Values of catch angle, MHE and KMHE in Group C (dynamic shortness). |
| |
| Table 3-14: Significant linear regression models in Group C (dynamic shortness). 178 |
| Table 3-15: Values of catch angle, RKFES and RHFES in Group C (dynamic |
| shortness) |
| Table 3-16: Values of catch angle, PKF and HPKF in Group C (dynamic shortness). |
| |
| Table 3-17: Values of catch angle, PHF and KPHF in Group C (dynamic shortness). |
| |
| Table 3-18: Values of catch angle and TPKF in Group C (dynamic shortness) 182 |
| Table 3-19: Regression models between the length and the knee or the hip joint at the |
| investigated gait points/periods in Group D (true shortness) |

| Table 3-20: The dominance relationship between the length and knee or hip joint at |
|---|
| the investigated gait points/periods in Group D (true shortness) |
| Table 3-21: Values of length, MHE and KMHE hip extension in Group D (true |
| shortness) |
| Table 3-22: Values of length, RKFES and RHFES in Group D (true shortness) 185 |
| Table 3-23: Significant linear regression models in Group D (true shortness) 186 |
| Table 3-24: Values of length, PKF and HPKF in Group D (true shortness) |
| Table 3-25: Values of length, PHF and KPHF in Group D (true shortness) |
| Table 3-26: Values of length and TPKF in Group D (true shortness) |
| Table 4-1: Summary of the papers which studied the reliability of the UG, EG and |
| inclinometer for measuring hip joint amongst healthy subjects and subjects with |
| pathology |
| Table 4-2: Summary of the papers which studied the reliability of the UG, EG and |
| inclinometer for measuring knee joint amongst healthy subjects and subjects with |
| pathology |
| Table 4-3: Summary of the papers which studied the reliability of the UG, EG and |
| inclinometer for measuring ankle joint amongst healthy subjects and subjects with |
| pathology |
| Table 4-4: Summary of the key findings of the literature review investigating the |
| reliability of different designs of goniometer |
| Table 4-5: Intratester and intertester ICC values, p-values and 95% CI across all the |
| testers for both tools with/without markers |
| Table 4-6: Mean, SD of both methods and SEM of <i>PnO CMD</i> |

| Table 4-7: Intratester and intertester ICC values, p-values and 95% CI across all | the |
|---|-----|
| testers | 267 |
| Table 4-8: ICC values, p-values and 95% CI for each point of gait. | 268 |
| Table 4-9: Intratester and intertester ICC values, p-values and 95% CI across all | the |
| testers | 268 |

Chapter 1 Introduction and background

1.1 Thesis overview

Initially, Chapter One will introduce the definition, incidence and classification of cerebral palsy (CP), concentrating on diplegic CP. Following that, Chapter One will also provide an insight to the normal and pathological biomechanics of the gait. Different designs and biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses (AFOs) will then be discussed. Additionally, the importance of clinical assessment and several elements of prescription criteria will be reviewed. Finally, a summary of the evidence supporting the biomechanical efficiency of an ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination (AFO-FC) on lower limb joints in this population will be provided.

Chapter 2 focuses on the effect of an AFO-FC on gait. Initially, the importance of optimising shank kinematics on gait will be discussed. This is followed by a presentation of results of a study investigating the effect of optimisation of temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC on several variables including shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, FZ2 and ground reaction force (GRF) alignment in relation to hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance.

In Chapter Three, the role of the rectus femoris (RF) during normal gait will be discussed. This chapter will then examine literature related to the efficiency of the Duncan-Ely test. Finally, the results of research investigating the relationship between the dynamic/true shortness of the RF and the hip or the knee joint at selected points/periods of gait will be presented.

Chapter Four aims to evaluate the commonly used measurement tools for joint range of motion (ROM) measurements and bi-articular muscle length. Additionally, this chapter aims to test the feasibility of a 2-dimensional (2D) video analysis system *PnO Clinical Movement Data (PnO CMD)* for passive joint ROM measurement during physical assessment. Initially, the results of a literature review evaluating the reliability of different designs of goniometer will be presented. Furthermore, in this review different factors influencing the reliability of goniometers will be discussed. Following that, the results of studies investigating the reliability and accuracy of the *PnO CMD* amongst healthy subjects will be demonstrated. Finally, the results of a reliability study of the *PnO CMD* amongst subjects with diplegic CP will be presented.

The final chapter provides an overview of the results and implications of the findings. Additionally, the limitations of this research will be presented. Future avenues of research will be discussed, followed by the overall conclusions of the thesis.

1.2 Definition and incidence

CP refers to a group of heterogeneous and permanent disorders of motor function caused by either a static lesion or abnormality to the brain.³⁴ CP is an upper motor neuron lesion which affects approximately 2-2.5 per 1000 live births, with the ratio of affected males to females being 1.4:1.^{1, 35, 36} CP is considered to be the most common cause of significant physical impairment in childhood¹ and is defined by Rosenbaum et al. as "a group of permanent disorders of the development of movement and posture, causing activity limitation, that is attributed to non-progressive disturbances that occurred in the developing fetal or infant brain. The motor disorders of cerebral palsy

are often accompanied by disturbances of sensation, perception, cognition, communication, and behaviour, by epilepsy, and by secondary musculoskeletal problems."³⁷

Due to the complex nature of CP, a wide variety of classification systems have been developed and implemented. The categories for classification systems include the type of motor impairment, topography and function. The system suggested by the Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe (SCPE) classifies the subjects according to the type of motor impairment presented as spastic bilateral (53.9%) and unilateral (31%), dyskinetic (6.6%) and ataxic (4.1%).^{38, 39} In contrast, the topographical classification categorises subjects with CP according to the distribution of limb involvement, which includes hemiplegia (unilateral), diplegia (upper limbs less affected than lower limbs) and quadriplegia (all limbs).⁵

The Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS), which evolved from The Gross Motor Function Measure, is used to measure the functional ability in subjects with CP.^{40, 41} This classification consists of five functional levels in five different age bands (<2y, 2–4y, 4–6y, 6–12y, 12–18y). Sellier et al.⁴² included 12 subjects with CP (2 to 6 years) and 31 testers (clinicians and professionals) to investigate the intertester reliability of the GMFCS. The study found excellent intertester reliability (intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC=0.80-0.88)). Another study by Nordmark et al.⁴³ included 15 testers (physiotherapists) and reported high intratester (ICC=0.68) and intertester (ICC=0.77-0.88) reliability of the GMFCS amongst subjects with CP. It has been suggested that the use of this system has a positive influence on the management of

the condition.⁴⁴ This system is used to enhance communication amongst clinicians, increase focus on function, aid in realistic goal setting and intervention planning and enable evidence-based practice and resource allocation.⁴⁴

1.3 Spastic diplegic cerebral palsy

CP is considered to be a progressive neuromuscular impairment which causes changes in soft tissues (muscles, tendons and ligaments) with growth.^{17, 34, 45} Spasticity is the most common tonal abnormality associated with CP.³ Spasticity can be defined as 'a motor disorder characterised by a velocity-dependant increase in tonic stretch reflex, with exaggerated tendon jerks resulting from hyperexcitability of the stretch reflex, as one component of the upper motor neuron syndrome'.⁴⁶ The clinical presentation of spasticity is the velocity-dependant increase in muscle resistance to the passive movement (spastic catch).¹⁷ As the rate of muscle stretch increases, the resistance to movement felt in the muscles increases.⁴⁷ Spasticity can affect function in several ways as it acts as a 'brake' during motion, thus increasing the energy consumption. It inhibits voluntary control of the muscles, it prevents normal muscle lengthening during activity, affecting muscle growth, leading to development of contractures, and causing excessive torques on long bones, leading to bone deformities in the growing skeleton.⁴ Additionally, spasticity can cause pain due to over-activity of the muscles and the abnormal forces imposed. Different scales are used to assess the severity of the spasticity including: the Ashworth scale,⁴⁸ the Modified Ashworth scale (MAS)^{49, 50} and Tardieu scale.⁵¹

33

Diplegic CP refers to the bilateral involvement of the limbs where the lower limbs are more affected than the upper limbs. In many subjects with diplegic CP, the involvement is not symmetrical, which means different presentation on one side in comparison to the other, hence making this a complex type.⁵ Due to the nature of the lesion in subjects with spastic diplegic CP, the selective control impairment is less severe in the proximal portion when compared to the distal portion of the limb.⁴ Selective control is fairly good at the hip and poor at the ankle and foot. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that the distal bi-articular and multi-articular muscles are affected more severely and primarily in comparison to the mono-articular and more proximal muscles.^{4, 15, 16} This highlights the importance about investigating lower limb bi-articular and multi-articular muscles.

1.4 Gait classifications for spastic diplegic cerebral palsy

When treating gait abnormalities in subjects with diplegic CP, it is essential to distinguish between the primary, secondary and tertiary abnormalities. The primary gait abnormalities are due to the damage of the nervous system causing deficient selective motor control, abnormalities of balance and abnormal tone.² This leads to the occurrence of secondary anomalies of insufficient muscle growth and bone deformities. Tertiary anomalies occur as a compensation mechanism to allow the individual to cope with the primary and secondary abnormalities. The separation of the true pathology from the coping mechanism is mandatory to optimise gait. This is because when the true pathology is treated, the compensation responses will no longer be needed and will disappear.² However, some coping responses turn into habits, which may be harder to change and would require gait training.

Using classifications for gait is mandatory in the clinical setting to allow optimum communication between health professionals. Additionally, these classifications enhance communication with the patients and their families. The use of these classifications aids in determining the prognosis and treatment options. Being able to define homogeneous groups is useful in research because it helps to effectively and clearly discuss the research results.⁵²

Gait classification system developed by Sutherland and Davids⁵³ is frequently cited and widely used for diplegic CP. This classification focuses on sagittal plane knee kinematics, identifying 4 patterns which include jump knee, crouch knee, stiff knee and recurvatum knee. This work was built on by Rodda et al.^{54, 55} In the modified classification by Rodda et al.,^{54, 55} ankle kinematics were used to differentiate between the groups, and all the lower limb joints in the sagittal plane were considered, i.e. hip, knee, ankle and pelvic joints. This gait classification system follows the commonly observed changes with age and intervention and highlights the dynamic relationship between joints (hip, knee, ankle and pelvic) and segments (shank and thigh).^{54, 55} Although these gait classifications are useful tools, it has been suggested that due to the heterogeneous nature of CP each subject should be treated individually.⁵³ These classifications help clinicians recognise the most common pathological patterns, which, in combination with understanding subject's gait, should lead to the optimum treatment plan.⁵³

1.5 Biomechanics of normal and pathological gait

1.5.1 Normal gait

Normal gait has been defined as 'a highly controlled, coordinated, repetitive series of limb movements whose function is to advance the body safely from place to place with a minimum expenditure of energy'.^{12, 56} The term 'gait cycle' describes the interval between the occurrence of any two identical events of the cycle, e.g. initial contact of the right foot to the initial contact of the same foot.^{57, 58} Each cycle is divided into two phases: stance phase (60% of gait) and swing phase (40% of gait). The stance phase is further divided into five subphases: initial contact, loading response, midstance, terminal stance and preswing. The swing phase is further divided into three subphases: initial swing, midswing and terminal swing (Figure 1-1).^{57, 59} Another method for describing gait is using the rockers of stance phase, which are based on the movement of the ankle and metatarsophalangeal joints.¹³ Movement at the ankle for the first and second rockers and at the metatarsophalangeal joint for the third rocker facilitate the forward progression of the shank.^{12, 59}

Three important functional tasks are accomplished during gait, which are weight acceptance in early stance, single limb support in mid-to-late stance and limb advancement during swing.^{57, 59}Six variables have been outlined which influence the energy expenditure in continued walking, including pelvic rotation, pelvic tilt, lateral pelvic displacement, knee flexion in stance phase, foot interaction with the knee and ankle interference with the knee.^{9, 60} In order to design an optimum intervention plan, it is essential to understand the kinematics and kinetics of normal gait. During gait, movements occur in all three anatomical planes: sagittal, coronal and transverse.
However, the description of gait below will focus on the sagittal plane motion in lower limb joints. This is because the largest movements during gait occur in the sagittal plane, in comparison with the transverse and coronal planes. Additionally, the information included in this thesis focuses on the sagittal plane motion and assessment in lower limb joints.

1.5.1.1 Kinematics of normal gait

Ankle

Initial contact is achieved by the heel, and the ankle is held in neutral dorsiflexion/plantarflexion position. Following that, the ankle starts to plantarflex, bringing the forefoot down onto the ground during loading response. From this position, the tibia advances forward over the foot, moving the ankle to approximately 10° dorsiflexion. In terminal stance, the ankle is held relatively rigid. Following that, the ankle plantarflexes rapidly to approximately 20° in preswing. During the swing phase, the ankle moves back to neutral position, and this position is maintained until the next initial contact.

Knee

From a position of a full/nearly full extension at initial contact, the knee starts to flex rapidly to approximately 18° during the loading response and early part of midstance. Following that, the knee starts to extend, reaching maximum extension at 40% of gait. Then, the knee starts to flex again, reaching peak knee flexion in early swing phase. From this position, the knee then extends again prior to the next initial contact. Hip

From a flexed position at the initial contact, the hip starts to extend during stance, reaching a position of maximum 10° extension at 50% of gait. From this position, the hip starts to flex, reaching maximum flexion (35°) in the middle of the swing phase. This position is held constant until the next initial contact.

Segment kinematics

During the stance phase, the shank and the thigh move from a reclined position (leaning backward from the vertical) to an inclined position (leaning forward from the vertical). The position of these segments can be determined at any point of gait by measuring the angle of the segment relative to the vertical. The shank to vertical angle (SVA) is the angle of the shank relative to the vertical, and the thigh to vertical angle (TVA) is the angle of the thigh relative to the vertical. The angular velocity (the rate of change of angular position) of segmental movement differs between gait rockers and between the thigh and the shank.¹² As the limb approaches midstance, the angular velocity of the shank slows down as it moves into forward inclination, while the thigh moves from a reclined to an inclined position at a faster rate of angular velocity.^{9, 61, 62} Midstance and terminal stance are challenging phases as they are single support phases, and many kinematic and kinetic changes occur during these phases. The slowing angular velocity of the shank with the optimum inclination of the shank (10-12° inclination) in temporal midstance is important for several reasons.⁸ It aids in achieving the required stability in stance, it enhances smooth/ballistic movement of the thigh, pelvis and trunk, it determines thigh, pelvis, trunk and head kinematics, it facilitates appropriate GRF alignment to the knee and hip, and it contributes to conservation of energy.^{11, 12}

1.5.1.2 Kinetics of normal gait

Appropriate segmental and joint kinematics are vital for producing the required normal kinetics. The ground reaction force (GRF) has three important defining features, which are the point of application, magnitude and line of action.¹² The GRF produces external moments at each of the lower limb joints. The moments increase as the distance between the line of action of the GRF and joint centre increases (moment=force X distance).⁶³ The magnitude of the vertical component of the GRF has two peaks (FZ1 and FZ2) during gait when its exceeds bodyweight.¹² This enables the body to support its own weight and generate the required propulsion forces during early stance.^{12, 13} The FZ1 is the initial peak of the vertical component of the GRF, which occurs during the loading response. This peak is followed by a reduction in downward force in midstance (FZ0). Then, the second peak (FZ2) occurs in terminal stance (Figure 1-2). The 'butterfly diagram' described by Pedotti⁶⁴ represents the magnitude, direction and point of application of the GRF at uniform time intervals (10 ms) of gait in the sagittal plane (in the direction of progression). This diagram is known as the 'butterfly diagram' because it resembles the shape of the wings of a butterfly (Figure 1-3).

Appropriate segmental alignment during gait places the GRF close to the joint centers, causing a reduction in the external moments created by the GRF. This decreases the opposing internal muscle moments required to stabilise the joints during gait.

Additionally, it lowers the biomechanical demand on the neuromuscular system, making gait efficient. In late stance, the external extension moments create a desirable effect at the hip and knee joints, minimising/removing the need for opposing internal moments. This joint stabilisation achieved by the external moments results in energy conservation. The important alignment of the GRF anterior to the knee joint and posterior to the hip joint in late stance is only achieved with the optimum shank and thigh inclination. Furthermore, only a narrow range of shank inclination with an optimum of 10-12° inclination during the temporal midstance will allow the required kinematics and kinetics changes to take place.^{8, 12} During terminal stance, the ankle is held in a rigid position. This position of the ankle ensures that the point of application of the GRF is anteriorly located on the foot, aligning the GRF anterior to the knee. Additionally, this position allows heel raise, which causes further thigh and shank inclination, aligning the GRF posterior to the hip. This situation leads to the production of large external extension moments at the hip and the knee, creating the required stability during terminal stance. Furthermore, as the heel raises, the body centre of mass raises as well, causing the occurrence of FZ2.

Muscles

Muscles play an important role during gait in producing the required internal moments. In gait, these internal moments may be required to be greater or lower than the external moments to produce and control the angular movements of the segments. It is mandatory that these muscles are at the appropriate length, strength and stiffness to fulfil their function. These muscles may contract concentrically, eccentrically or isometrically and are neurologically active during appropriate times throughout the gait. The muscle can be mono-articular (crossing one joint), bi-articular (crossing two joints) or mutli-articular (crossing more than two joints). Each muscle has a mandatory involvement during the gait, as outlined below.

1.5.1.3 Tasks of normal gait

Weight acceptance

This task is achieved during initial contact and loading response.⁶⁵

Initial contact: initial contact by the heel is a crucial event. This heel contact is achieved by isometric contraction of the pretibial muscles, which establishes the heel rocker. The GRF is at the heel and passes anterior to the hip and the knee. The ankle is in neutral dorsiflexion/plantarflexion, and the knee is nearly fully extended, while the hip is flexed at approximately 30°.

Loading response: the hip begins to extend at this phase. The GRF is anterior to the hip, causing an external flexor moment, which is controlled by the opposing internal moment created by the concentric contraction of the gluteus maximus, hip extensor and hamstrings. The knee flexes during this phase. The GRF passes posterior to the knee and the ankle joints. These external moments are controlled by the opposing internal moments produced by the eccentric contraction of the quadriceps at the knee joint and the tibialis anterior at the ankle joint.

Stance limb progression

In the two phases associated with stance limb progression, the basic function achieved is the advancement of the limb over the supporting foot.

Midstance: the hip continues to extend. The GRF moves behind the hip and the muscle action (gluteus maximum and hamstring) ceases. Minimum concentric contraction is required from the quadriceps because the GRF is closer to the knee joint centre. The GRF is anterior to the ankle, and the external dorsiflexion moment is restrained by the action of the soleus muscle contracting eccentrically. As the limb progresses, the GRF moves anterior to the knee joint, and no quadriceps action is required.

Terminal stance: as the limb progresses, the GRF advances across the forefoot. The eccentric contraction of the soleus and the gastrocnemius virtually locks the ankle in a slightly dorsiflexed position. As the heel raises, it aligns the GRF anterior to the knee and posterior to the hip, causing stabilising external extension moments.

Limb advancement

The aim of the four remaining phases is to flex the limb for floor clearance and limb advancement.

Preswing: as the weight transfers to the other limb, the magnitude of the GRF reduces. Concentric contraction of the soleus and gastrocnemius muscles causes a rapid arc of ankle plantarflexion to 20°. This is followed by passive knee flexion in response to the posteriorly aligned GRF, which is restrained by the eccentric contraction of the rectus femoris if required.⁶⁶ The action of the flexor component of the adductor longus and rectus femoris opposes the posterior hip external moment caused by the alignment of the GRF.

Initial swing: this phase involves total limb flexion. The concentric action of the iliacus muscle causes active flexion at the hip, while the active flexion at the knee is caused by the concentric action of the biceps femoris. Furthermore, the concentric contraction of the tibialis anterior initiates ankle dorsiflexion.

Midswing: further hip flexion occurs. The knee starts to extend passively while the persistent ankle dorsiflexion to neutral is achieved by the eccentric contraction of the pretibial muscles.

Terminal swing: at this phase, the hip flexion is controlled/stopped by a quick and intense eccentric contraction of hamstring muscles. The knee starts to extend passively while the hamstring intensity reduces to allow controlled knee extension and to prevent hyperextension. The ankle remains in a dorsiflexed position through the concentric contraction of the pretibial muscles.

1.5.2 Pathological gait

In pathological gait, one or more of the five prerequisites which are required for normal gait are commonly absent. These are stability in stance, sufficient foot clearance during swing, adequate step length, appropriate swing phase pre-position of the foot and energy conservation.^{56, 67}

1.5.2.1 Kinematics of pathological gait

As discussed earlier, gait classification system initially developed by Sutherland and Davids,⁵³ and later modified by Rodda et al.,^{54, 55} is commonly referenced for subjects with diplegic CP. Five patterns/groups are identified that describe the joint kinematics as follows:

Group I, true equinus: this pattern is classified by excessive ankle plantarflexion over the majority of the gait. Additionally, increased knee flexion is observed in terminal swing and at initial contact. In midstance, the knee is in full extension/hyperextension. The hip achieves the required range of extension in terminal stance.

Group II, jump gait: excessive ankle plantarflexion is observed over most of gait. Additionally, in this pattern increased knee flexion in terminal swing and at initial contact is found. The knee and hip are excessively flexed in early stance and then extend to a variable degree in late stance but never achieve the required range of extension.

Group III, apparent equinus: in this pattern, the ankle ROM over the entire gait is within normal limits. The pattern of the knee and hip are like the jump gait.

Group IV, crouch gait: this pattern is characterised by excessive ankle dorsiflexion and excessive hip and knee flexion over the entire gait.

Group V, asymmetric gait: this gait pattern represents asymmetric gait with a combination of issues; for example, the right limb is classified as apparent equinus while the left lower limb is classified as jump gait.

Segments

Inappropriate segment kinematics or angular velocity of movement are frequently present in a pathological gait.^{12, 68} The segments may fail to accelerate or decelerate during the stance phase. In addition, segments may be excessively or insufficiently inclined.^{7, 69, 70} If the shank kinematics are altered, it will compromise the stability required during mid-to-late stance, causing secondary compensating abnormal kinematics of the proximal segment, i.e. the thigh.¹² Inability to achieve an inclined position is the most common deviation found affecting the thigh.¹² Owen⁷¹ classified gait deviation associated with neurological conditions such as CP into 3 categories. These categories include insufficient tibial/shank inclination, excessive tibial/shank inclination and absence of suitable external hip extension moment coupled with excessive or insufficient tibial/shank inclination.^{71, 72}

1.4.2.2 Kinetics of pathological gait

When looking at the kinetics of the pathological gait, one or all components of the GRF can be abnormal. For example, a common deviation observed in CP is impaired plantarflexion–knee extension couple.⁷³ In normal gait, the eccentric action of plantarflexion muscles controls the progression of the GRF.^{73, 74} This is achieved by regulating the rate and degree of dorsiflexion and shank inclination. In normal gait, the GRF progresses until it aligns anterior to the knee, causing an appropriate external

moment and knee extension, which is described as plantarflexion–knee extension couple.^{73, 74} Reduced plantarflexion–knee extension couple is frequently seen with crouch gait.⁷⁵ This is caused by increased tibial inclination, which leads to the GRF vector moving from anterior to the knee to behind the knee, causing knee flexion.⁷³

1.6 Clinical assessment

Comprehensive clinical assessment is the primary step in the preparation of treatment plans. Additionally, it is mandatory to accurately assess outcomes of treatment. The medical history is the initial step of the clinical assessment where information is collected about the birth history, developmental milestones, medical problems, surgical history, current and past physiotherapy treatment, the past and current orthotic treatment and medication.⁷⁶ This is followed by the physical and neurological examination, which aims to determine the strength and selective motor control of isolated muscle groups, assess the degree and nature of muscle tone, estimate the extent of static deformity and/or muscle contracture, examine bone deformities, assess fixed and mobile foot deformities and evaluate balance, equilibrium responses and standing posture.⁴⁷ The clinical assessment, including physical examination and gait analysis, helps to form a full picture of the orthopaedic and neurological challenges presented in the subject. The following section will discuss different parts of the physical examination.

1.6.1 Muscle strength

As discussed above, muscles have an important role during gait. Muscles produce internal moments required to stabilise the joints. Evaluation of muscle strength is mandatory to ensure optimum clinical outcomes.⁴⁷ Muscle strength is defined as the greatest amount of force a muscle can exert in a single contraction.⁷⁷ The most common method of muscle strength measurement in the clinical setting is manual muscle testing.⁷⁷ The Medical Research Council Scale is an ordinal scale used to grade muscle strength.⁷⁸ The scale contains 6 points for muscle grading as follows: 0: no contraction, 1: flicker or trace of contraction, 2: active movement with gravity eliminated, 3: active movement against gravity, 4: active against gravity and resistance, 5: normal muscle strength.⁷⁸ This scale provides an easy and quick way to assess for significant muscle weakness or imbalance. Additionally, this scale is very practical to use as it only requires an assessment table and standardised positioning. However, this scale is very subjective as it relies heavily on the amount of force exerted by the examiner, their experience and their ability to accurately position the subject.⁴⁷ Currently, the use of hand-held dynamometers has increased in clinics and research to better quantify strength variation.⁴⁷ This method has been found to be a valid and reliable tool to measure isometric strength amongst subjects with CP.^{47, 79}

1.6.2 Selective motor control

Selective motor control has been defined as 'the ability to isolate the activation of muscles in a selected pattern in response to demands of a voluntary movement or posture'.⁸⁰ Selective motor control involves isolating movements upon request, suitable timing and maximal voluntary contraction without overflow movement.⁴⁷ Selective motor control impairment can affect the ambulatory and function. There has been growing support for the assessment of selective motor control as a predictive factor of the functional ability.⁸¹⁻⁸⁴ A typical scale includes three grades of control as

follows: 0: no ability to isolate movement, 1: partial ability to isolate movement and 2: complete ability to isolate movement.^{85, 86}

1.6.3 Muscle tone assessment

As discussed above, abnormal muscle tone is common amongst subjects with CP. When carrying out physical examination it is important to determine the nature and the extent of the abnormal tone. Tone is defined as the resistance to passive stretch.⁴⁷ Abnormally increased resistance to an externally imposed movement is known as hypertonia, while hypotonia is abnormally decreased resistance.⁸⁷ Hypertonia can be caused by spasticity, dystonia, rigidity or a combination of these.⁸⁸ As discussed in Section 1.2, spasticity is an increase in resistance felt when testing at higher speeds.^{17, 46} On the other hand, dystonia shows an increase in muscle activity when at rest. For optimum examination results, standardisation for testing positions and the use of a grading scale are important.^{47, 88} The Hypertonia Assessment Tool-Discriminant (HAT-D) is a tool developed and used to distinguish between spasticity, dystonia and rigidity.⁸⁹ The reliability and validity of this tool for dystonia and mixed tone is moderate, while good for spasticity and rigidity.⁸⁹ Mixed tone represents the presence of both types of hypertonicity in the same subject. Mixed tone is harder to diagnose and quantify in comparison with pure spasticity.⁴⁷

1.6.4 Range of motion and contracture

Muscle shortening and contracture can be static or dynamic. In order to differentiate between static and dynamic impairments, it is important to measure the joint ROM at slow and fast speeds and with varying amounts of force.⁹⁰ The slow joint ROM

measurement potentially measures the muscle length and static contracture, while the fast joint ROM measurement possibly measures the dynamic/functional shortness or contracture.¹⁷ Furthermore, it is important to distinguish between contracted monoarticular and bi-articular and multi-articular muscles. Bi-articular and multi-articular muscles cross two or more joints, and shortening in these muscles can limit the ROM available at these joints. The Silverskiöld test, Duncan-Ely test and Popliteal angle are used to measure spasticity and contracture of the gastrocnemius, rectus femoris and hamstring muscles, respectively.⁴⁷ To perform the Silverskiöld test, the subject is positioned supine and the knee is flexed to 90° with the hindfoot positioned in varus and ankle in maximal dorsiflexion. Then, the knee is extended; if the ankle plantarflexes, it confirms contracture of the gastrocnemius. In the Duncan-Ely test, the subject is positioned prone and the knee is flexed. Flexion of the ipsilateral hip indicates rectus femoris contracture. The subject is positioned in supine to perform the Popliteal angle test. The ipsilateral hip is flexed to 90° while the contralateral hip is in full extension. Then, the knee is extended until the first endpoint of resistance is felt. Measurement of the degrees lacking from full extension will indicate hamstring contracture. However, it has been observed with the use of fine wire electromyography that these tests do not distinguish between the mono-articular and bi-articular muscles crossing the joint, as both muscles were found to contract.⁹¹ Spasticity and contracture in the bi-articular and multi-articular muscles limits the available joint ROM at the crossed joints. This affects joint and segment kinematics. Additionally, it disrupts the progression and optimum alignment of the GRF in relation to lower limb joints during the gait.

1.6.5 Bone deformity

1.6.5.1 Anteversion

Excessive femoral anteversion is common amongst subjects with CP. Femoral anteversion is the angle made by the femoral neck with the femoral condyles. It is the degree of forward projection of the femoral neck from the coronal plane of the shaft.³¹ The trochanteric prominence angle test (TPAT) is used to measure femoral anteversion.³¹ With the subject prone, the clinician palpates the point of maximal trochanteric prominence. Then, the clinician measures the angle of the tibia from the vertical, which represents the angle of femoral anteversion.⁴⁷ High correlation of the TPAT with X-rays (within 4°) has been reported in patients.⁹² However, two studies contradicted the findings of the study by Ruwe et al.⁹², reporting that the TPAT was found to be unreliable and inaccurate.^{93, 94} These studies stated that this test should be used as a screening technique rather than as a definitive measurement method for femoral anteversion.^{93, 94} The common clinical presentation seen with the femoral anteversion is increased medial hip rotation and decreased lateral rotation in extension. Additionally, the common compensation method seen for femoral anteversion is internal rotation of the femur and/or increased pelvic tilt. This deformity leads to squinting patellae, lumber lordosis and toeing-in during gait.

1.6.5.2 Patella alta

This deformity is common amongst subjects who walk with excessive knee flexion.^{47,} ⁹⁵ To assess for patella alta, the subject is positioned supine with the knees in extension. Then, the top of the patella is palpated. The adductor tubercle is typically one finger distal to the superior edge of the patella in subjects with patella alta.⁴⁷ This condition is associated with anterior knee pain, which may limit the distance the subject can walk.⁴⁷ Additionally, it can lead to further biomechanical and quadriceps lever arm dysfunction.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸ Complications may occur with this condition such as stress fractures at the inferior pole of the patella with palpable tenderness and subluxation and dislocation of the patella.^{99, 100} Furthermore, extensor lag is suggestive of patella alta and quadricep insufficiency. Extensor lag is defined as a condition in which the active ROM of knee extension is less than the passive ROM.¹⁰¹

1.6.5.3 Tibial torsion

Tibial torsion is a rotational deformity around the long axis of the tibia.¹⁰² This deformity is common in subjects with CP but is acquired. It has been shown that tibial torsion may be a significant contributor to crouch gait, especially when the tibial torsion angle is approximately 30° above normal.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁶ Three different measurements/tests are used to measure tibial torsion as follows: measurement of the thigh-foot angle, measurement of the bimalleolar axis and the 2^{nd} toe test. The thigh-foot angle can be measured as follows: the subject is positioned prone, the knee is flexed to 90° and the hindfoot is positioned vertically, the ankle is dorsiflexed to 90°, and the angle between the posterior axis of the femur and the axis of the hindfoot with the point between the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} metatarsals is measured. Measurement of the bimalleolar axis starts with marking the midpoints of the medial and lateral malleolus. Then, the subject is positioned supine with the knee in extension, and the thigh segment is rotated until the medial and lateral femoral condyles are parallel in the frontal plane. The angle between the malleolar axis and the condylar axis represents the bimalleolar axis. To perform the 2^{nd} toe test, the subject is positioned prone with the knee extended.

Then, the leg is rotated to positon the 2nd toe pointing directly towards the floor. Following that, the knee is flexed while maintaining the position of the thigh, and the angle from the vertical is measured. A study be Lee et al.¹⁰⁷ examined the reliability and the validity of these three methods in comparison with the 2D computed tomographic. The study found that the measurement of the thigh-foot angle had the highest reliability and validity.¹⁰⁷

1.6.5.4 Leg length

Two different methods are used to measure the leg length discrepancy (LLD) which include true LLD and apparent/functional LLD. A true LLD, which is measured from the anterior superior iliac supine to the apex of the medial malleolus with the subjects in supine position, indicates an actual difference in length, which may be a result of femoral fracture and/or reduced bone growth due to a pathology.³¹ A common compensation method for the true LLD is pelvic tilt and scoliosis, which may become a fixed deformity. The apparent LLD, which is measured from the xiphoid to the apex of the medial malleolus with the subject in supine position, identifies a functional difference where the limb segment is equal in length but other factors, such as scoliosis, hip subluxation, pelvic obliquity, unilateral contracture of the hip and knee and other biomechanical abnormalities, lead to functional LLD.^{31,47} Osteoarthritic hips can cause both true and apparent LLD. True LLD is measured with the subject supine, while the apparent LLD can be measured with the subject supine or standing.³¹

1.6.6 Posture and balance

It has been stated that 'of all the motor problems in cerebral palsy, deficient equilibrium reactions interfere the most with functional walking'.¹⁰⁸ This means that assessing posterior, anterior, medial and lateral equilibrium responses is mandatory. Delayed and deficient posterior equilibrium is common amongst subjects with CP.⁴⁷ Balance can be checked in a sitting or standing position. To test the sitting balance, the subject is moved off-balance and his or her ability to right himself or herself is observed. To test the standing balance, the subject is asked to stand on one limb at a time with the eyes first open then closed. This test gives an indication of the balance and proprioception abilities of the subject.³¹ Additionally, assessment of the posture of the trunk, pelvis and lower extremity during standing and gait in sagittal and coronal planes gives an indication of areas of weakness, poor motor control and compensation strategies that subjects adapt to overcome these abnormalities.⁴⁷

1.7 Interventions

When planning an intervention, it is mandatory to understand the interaction between the subject, the environment and the social factors. 'Disability', according to the World Health Organisation and the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health, is defined now as an umbrella term demonstrating the active interference between the subject and the environment (Figure 1-4).¹⁰⁹ This aids clinicians in seeing the bigger picture and promoting subjects' participation in their social environments. Currently, two approaches are used in treatment of subjects with CP, which include context focused therapy and child-focused therapy. Context-focused therapy aims to enable the subject to carry out the function according to their functional ability by altering the activity or the environment.^{110, 111} Child-focused therapy aims to modify the performance by treating the functional limitations, e.g. muscle weakness and limited joint ROM.¹¹² When these two therapies were compared, it was found that both approaches were equally effective in improving activities of daily living.¹¹² Common interventions used amongst subjects with CP include non-operative interventions and operative interventions. Conservative/non-operative interventions are important amongst children with CP until the motor patterns are matured (usually between 8 to 10 years).¹¹³ This is because the results of early operative interventions are less predictable and have a higher risk of failure and relapse.

1.7.2 Operative interventions

Different surgeries/operative interventions are performed for spasticity reduction and treatment of muscle contractures, long bone torsions and joint deformities. Selective dorsal rhizotomy (SDR) is a common procedure used for spasticity reduction. Evidence has shown that SDR has become a standard neurosurgical procedure amongst subjects with CP.^{114, 115} SDR procedures were found to reduce spasticity, improve ROM and function, enhance self-care activities, increase comfort and normalise gait pattern.¹¹⁶

Bi-articular and multi-articular muscles are more commonly affected and contracted in subjects with CP in comparison to the mono-articular muscles.^{4, 15, 16, 117} Accurate estimation of the bi-articular and multi-articular muscle length and spasticity is mandatory to guide clinical decision-making for muscle lengthening or transferring.¹¹⁷ In general, the goal of lengthening the muscle contracture is to increase joint ROM, which will allow the joints and segments to achieve the desired positions during gait. This will reduce the secondary compensatory movement which may be presented due to insufficient joint ROM.¹¹⁷

The goals of treatment of long bone torsions and joint deformities are comfort, function, cosmesis, restoration of normal lever arms, improvement of joint moments, elimination of gait compensation, improvement of foot shape and improvement of gait efficiency.¹¹⁸⁻¹²⁰ In subjects with spastic diplegic CP, the typical long bone torsions present are femoral anteversion and tibial torsion. Malrotated levers caused by tibial torsion and femoral anteversion cause two effects: decrease of the magnitude of the primary or intended moment and production of secondary moments. Additionally, lever arm dysfunction affects the external moments produced by the GRF and internal moments produced by muscles.^{4, 118} Derotational osteotomy procedures are performed to correct excessive femoral anteversion and tibial torsion.^{102, 118}

Furthermore, common hip problems presented amongst subjects with CP include increased hip adduction, increased hip flexion, increased internal rotation and hip subluxation and dislocation.¹¹⁹ Operative treatments for hip problems include muscle lengthening and osteotomy.¹¹⁹

Dynamic muscle imbalance presented amongst subjects with CP leads to the development of foot deformities such as equinus, equinoplanovalgus and equinocavovarus.¹²⁰ Mild foot deformities are best treated with soft-tissue (i.e. muscle-tendon unit) surgeries, which include release, lengthening, partial or split transfer and

55

complete transfer.¹²¹⁻¹²⁴ Moderate to severe foot deformities are best treated with a combination of soft-tissue and skeletal surgeries. Skeletal surgeries include arthrodesis and osteotomy.¹²⁰

1.7.1 Non-operative interventions

1.7.1.1 Physiotherapy

In the past, the main aims of physiotherapy were to normalise movement patterns, reduce neurological signs and minimise the development of secondary impairments.¹²⁵ However, in recent years (as stated above) the concept of promoting function the natural environment has received major attention.¹⁰⁹ This has increased the awareness of the physiotherapists and allowed them to focus on enabling subjects with neurological disorders to master tasks and participate in their activities of daily living.¹²⁵ Currently, the three main goals of physiotherapy are to maintain ROM, improve strength and facilitate mobility.¹²⁶ Customised combination of interventions is decided according to the subject's ability/requirement. Treatment interventions include stretching and casting to maintain ROM, strengthening to increase power and endurance, practice of functional activities, gait training, and electrical stimulation (in combination with functional activities).¹²⁶ Physiotherapy is often one of the first interventions recommended following the diagnosis. Physiotherapy intervention is periodic and will continue occur over a lifetime. The planned intervention is unique to each subject and depends on the age and the presenting impairment.¹²⁶ Infants and young children are involved in an early physiotherapy intervention plan.¹²⁶ A child's needs, motivation, interests and family's goals are evaluated by the physiotherapist to determine the intervention plan.¹²⁶ At this stage, intervention is provided in the child's home to enable his participation in the most natural environment. Following that, the intervention is provided in the educational environment (schools) and in an outpatient setting to enable practice of functional activities across several settings. Periodic physiotherapy intervention in an outpatient setting is required for adolescents.¹²⁶ This is because an adolescent may only have a reviewing service in middle and high school. The common physiotherapy interventions used amongst adolescents include stretching, strengthening, cardiovascular endurance activities, functional activities, motor training and facilitation of balance control and coordination.¹²⁶

1.7.1.2 Pharmacology

There are several ways of administering pharmacological interventions, including orally, locally by injections and intrathecally. A variety of oral medications are available for treatment of abnormal muscle tone and movement disorders in subjects with CP, including Benzodiazepines, Baclofen, Dantrolene Sodium, Alpha-2 Adrenergic Agonists, Levodopa and Trihexyphenidyl.¹²⁷ However, clinicians must be cautious about the potential side effects and risks associated with each medication, and should weigh the efficiency of the medication against the side effects. Oral medication can decrease spasticity, the frequency of uncomfortable muscle spasm and the frequency of uncomfortable pain.¹²⁷ One side effect associated with these medications is sedation, which leads to cognitive diminishing, may cause hepatotoxicity and may produce physical dependency.¹²⁷ These oral medications are used to treat tone that is affecting the daily care and comfort of subjects with CP. These medications are less commonly used in subjects with hemiplegic or diplegic CP unless it is severe.¹²⁷

Botulinum toxin type A (BoNT-A) and phenol injections are other forms of nonoperative pharmacological treatments commonly used for abnormal tone. BoNT-A and phenol are injected intramuscularly and lead to temporary muscular denervation. The effect of BoNT-A injection deteriorates, while the effect of phenol injection is permanent. Indications for this treatment include lack of progression in motor development, development of muscle contractures, intolerance of day and night splinting and/or decrease in functionality and increased muscle tone.¹²⁸ The general goals of this treatment include improving function/gait and thus influencing the pathological process, improving balance and control of sitting, positioning and facilitating hygiene care and bracing for a non-ambulatory subject.^{113, 129} Examples of specific goals include facilitation of orthotic management, relief of pain postoperatively and simulation of orthopaedic surgery.¹³⁰⁻¹³³ It has been recommended that this treatment should start at an early stage, between 2 to 6 years.¹³⁴ This is because gait patterns and motor function are still flexible, and larger results can be achieved. Adequate follow-up treatments, such as orthotic management, serial casting and intensive physiotherapy, are mandatory for optimising/maximising the results of BoNT-A and phenol injections.¹²⁸

Intrathecal administration of baclofen or phenol is another pharmacological approach used for spasticity management. In this approach, a system is surgically implanted which infuses baclofen or phenol into the spinal canal and around the spinal cord.¹³⁵ The benefit of this approach is that the side effects associated with the oral medications are minimised due to the dose being delivered directly to the spinal receptors.^{136, 137} This approach is not typically used in the ambulant child. Although this approach is effective in spasticity management, there are several associated risks, which include infection, hardware problems and drug-related adverse events.¹³⁷ Several studies investigated the effect of this approach and reported improvements in positioning, activities of daily living, oral motor skills, hand use, sleep and comfort.¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰

1.7.1.3 Orthosis

An orthosis is defined as 'an externally applied device used to modify the structural and functional characteristics of neuromuscular and skeletal systems'.¹⁴¹ Lower limb orthoses are biomechanical devices which are widely prescribed to aid individuals with neuromuscular impairments.¹⁴² An AFO is 'an orthosis which encompasses the ankle joint and the whole or part of the foot'.⁶ AFOs are commonly used as a conservative management amongst subjects with CP. AFOs may be prefabricated (off-the-shelf) or custom-made. Materials such as high temperature thermoplastic, thermosetting, silicone and carbon fibre are used to manufacture AFOs. In the presence of triplanar foot deformity and hip and knee problems, custom-made AFOs should be considered.^{143, 144} Because these AFOs are individually fabricated over a positive model of the subject's own limb, they provide an intimate fit and specific control to meet the neurobiomechanical needs of each subject.¹⁴³ The term 'neurobiomechanics' is often used to describe the interaction between biomechanics and the neuromuscular system and its application to the management of subjects with neurological impairments.¹² Several designs of custom-made AFOs are available, which include: solid/rigid AFO (SAFO), ground reaction/floor reaction AFO (GRAFO/FRAFO), posterior leaf spring (PLS) and hinged/articulated AFO (HAFO).¹⁴⁵ Further information about different designs of AFOs is provided below.

Posterior leaf spring ankle-foot orthosis

This AFO design is flexible (Figure 1-5). The flexibility is affected by the material choice, material thickness and the radius of the curvature of the posterior leaf.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ The primary indication for the PLS is isolated dorsiflexion weakness, which leads to drop foot in swing. This design should not be used if other problems exist, such as high tone or spasticity, significant mediolateral instability or the need to influence the knee and the hip joints.⁶⁸ Most of off-the-shelf AFOs are of this design.

Solid ankle-foot orthosis

This AFO design prevents all movement at the foot and ankle (Figure 1-6). Inadequate tibial progression caused by high tone, spasticity and contracture of the plantarflexors can be altered using the SAFO. Additionally, excessive tibial inclination caused by plantarflexor weakness and/or hip and knee joint problems can be controlled using the SAFO. Other benefits of the SAFO include maximum triplanar control and maximum effect on sagittal plane kinetics and kinematics of the knee and hip joints.⁶⁸ The success of this device relies solely on the ability to prevent ankle motion by the appropriate selection of the material type, material thickness, location of trimlines, intimacy of fit and use of ankle reinforcement.^{68, 145}

Ground reaction ankle-foot orthosis

GRAFO is a type of solid AFO with rear entry (Figure 1-7). This device is designed to restore the plantarflexion/knee extension couple commonly absent in subjects with excessive tibial inclination.^{68, 149, 150} One characteristic of the GRAFO is a plastic pretibial shell close to the knee. For optimum control of excessive tibial progression,

the GRAFO should be very stiff and optimally aligned to maintain the GRF in front of the knee in mid-to-late stance. As above, the success of the GRAFO depends on the ability to prevent movement by the appropriate selection of the material type, material thickness, location of trimlines, intimacy of fit and use of ankle reinforcement.^{68, 145} Presence of a fixed deformity in any anatomical plane, dynamic contracture of the knee and/or hip, tibial torsions and insufficient stiffness will limit the effectiveness of the GRAFO.^{68, 150-152}

Hinged ankle-foot orthosis

This AFO design incorporates ankle joints to allow or assist motion in one direction, while preventing limiting or resisting motion in another direction (Figure 1-8). A variety of mechanical joints with different design characteristics are available. The HAFO, which blocks plantarflexion at 90° and allows unrestricted dorsiflexion, is commonly prescribed. This design should only be considered when a sufficient length of gastrocnemius muscle is available. This will allow adequate range of dorsiflexion without compromising the ROM at the knee joint. For the success of this design, dorsiflexion of approximately 10° should be achievable with the knee in full extension without any spastic catch and/or tone in the plantarflexors.^{12, 90, 143} However, the HAFO may not be suitable in the presence of moderate to severe mediolateral instability of the foot. The space required for ankle joints compromises the fit and control of the HAFO.^{68, 150}

1.8 Ankle-foot orthosis prescription criteria

The initial step in forming the prescription of an AFO is to understand subject's disease process and natural history of movement disorder. This is followed by the other parts of clinical assessment, including physical examination to clearly outline the neurobiomechanical impairment and functional objectives. Additionally, defining the functional loss and deficits in gait enables robust prescription criteria. Functional problems could be present at joints (ankle, knee and hip) or segments (shank and thigh). Several functions/goals can be achieved using an AFO, which can be summarised as preventing/correcting deformity, promoting a base of support, enabling training of skills and improving the efficiency of movement, e.g. standing and walking.¹⁵³ The AFO design (motion allowed or blocked) will depend solely on the functional objectives required. Furthermore, the AFO features, including materials, use of reinforcements, straps, sole plate length and wedges, should be decided.⁶⁸ During the casting process, the ankle angle and the foot position should be considered. This is followed by cast modification where appropriate corrective forces are applied. Proper footwear (FW) selection and FW modifications, including heel height, sole profile and stiffness and heel profile, are also mandatory.⁸ Finally, during the fitting process, tuning of the AFO and footwear should be performed to optimise the function.^{7, 8, 154} In addition, appropriate referrals for physiotherapy or pharmaceutical or surgical intervention may be required. These interventions may be considered before orthotic treatment in order to facilitate appropriate fitting of the AFO and optimise its function.⁶⁸ Some of the important prescription criteria are discussed below.

1.8.1 Ankle-foot orthosis material and features

After appropriate selection of the AFO design, careful consideration should be given to the choice of material and any additional features of the AFO. This includes material type, material thickness, trimlines, ankle reinforcement, use of straps and length of foot/sole plate. As stated previously, the stiffness of the AFO can be controlled by the material choice, material thickness, trimlines and ankle reinforcement (inserts).⁶⁸ Polypropylene (thermoplastic) is the most commonly used material for AFO fabrication. This material has the benefit of quick and cheap fabrication.^{145, 155} Two types of polypropylene are frequently used: homopolymer and copolymer. Homopolymer offers a high strength-to-weight ratio and is firmer and stronger than copolymer, and is used for AFOs where rigidity is required, such as the SAFO and GRAFO. The rigidity of the AFO can be further increased by the appropriate selection of the thickness of the material. It has been reported that inappropriate selection of the material type and thickness can allow bending of the material anterior to the ankle (medial and lateral), influencing the function.^{156, 157} To ensure maximum rigidity and bending resistance, the location of the trimlines should be located anterior to the malleoli.^{154, 158, 159} Varying the trimlines will assist in modifying the pressure for triplanar deformity correction and mediolateral stability. It has been reported that careful selection of trimlines is the most important factor affecting the stiffness of the AFO.^{160, 161} A study by Sumiya et al.¹⁶² investigated quantitatively the change in PLS stiffness resulting from altering the ankle trimlines. This study concluded that the PLS ability to resist ankle movements decreased nearly in proportion to the reduction of posterior upright width.¹⁶² Furthermore, the use of ankle reinforcement/inserts, such as carbon fibre inserts can increase the stiffness of the AFO. It has been reported that the use of carbon fibre inserts can provide complete ankle stiffness without needing to alter the overall material thickness.^{143, 163}

The use of ankle straps aids in plantarflexion control, especially in subjects with increased tone or spasticity. Additionally, straps may help to maintain the location of the heel within the AFO and to control the position of the calcaneus and subtalar joint when FW does not provide adequate support.⁶⁸ The ankle strap should be positioned to apply the force at approximately 45° to the dorsum of the foot near the ankle joint.⁶⁸ For effective force application and transmission, a non-elasticated material should be used for the ankle strap. Special care must be taken for proper design and placing of the ankle strap with respect to upper limb function availability^{154, 164} The design of the ankle strap can be a single strap or a 'figure 8' crossover strap.⁶⁸

The length of the foot/sole plate may be full, ³/₄ length or sulcus. The full sole plate is designed to hold the toes in extension to stretch the long toe flexors, which aid in easy exit from stance phase and may help reduce the abnormal toe grasp reflex.^{68, 145} The sole plate may be left flexible or rigid to allow or block the normal exit from the stance phase.¹⁴⁵

1.8.2 Ankle-foot orthosis angle and modification

The ankle angle of the AFO (AAAFO) is the sagittal angle of the foot relative to the shank within the AFO. The gastrocnemius muscle is a multi-articular (tri-articular) muscle which crosses the knee, ankle and subtalar joints. Hence, shortness and spasticity in the gastrocnemius muscle will affect the available dorsiflexion ROM at

the ankle joint when the knee joint is fully extended or knee extension when the ankle is dorsiflexed. As discussed earlier, during late midstance of normal gait, extension at the knee joint and hip joint is essential in order to achieve stance stability, which reduces the energy cost.¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁷ Hence, caution must be taken in determining the AAAFO in the presence of shortness and spasticity of the gastrocnemius muscle. An AFO which does not take into account gastrocnemius shortness will limit the necessary knee extension during late stance and will therefore adversely affect knee and hip kinetics.^{12, 168} The ratio of the lever arms of the muscle pull at the knee and at the ankle is approximately 1:2 at 40%.¹⁶⁹ This means that increasing the ankle dorsiflexion by 5° with the presence of gastrocnemius muscle spasticity and shortness will decrease the knee extension by 10°. Other considerations for the appropriate AAAFO choice include stiffness of the calf muscles, the length at which the gastrocnemius and soleus muscles can produce maximal muscle power, the length and the stiffness of dorsiflexors, the triplanar requirements of the bones and joints of the foot, and gait pattern.¹⁶⁸ An algorithm for determining the optimum AAAFO has been proposed by Owen.¹⁶⁸ In this algorithm, consideration is given to all the factors for deciding the optimum AAAFO and any risks associated with using chosen alignments.

The foot alignment and the ankle angle should be considered while casting. If the foot deformity is flexible, then correction of the triplanar deformity must be applied during casting. For example, for correction of pronation initially the ankle is plantarflexed fully to release the tension on the Achilles tendon. Then, the subtalar joint is supinated to the neutral position. This is followed by pronation and adduction of the forefoot. Finally, the ankle can be dorsiflexed. While modifying the cast, corrective forces

should be applied. Cast shaping must be done in a way that matches the contours of the underlying skeletal structure. Furthermore, the forces should be applied far apart and over large areas to maximise the lever arms and reduce the pressure. These steps aid in increasing the comfort of the AFO.

1.8.3 Footwear and footwear modification

The footwear used with the AFO has an integral role in the determination of the overall biomechanical control achieved.^{7, 71, 170, 171} Because the footwear is considered to be an important part of the overall orthotics prescription, the term AFO-FC is sometimes used. Condie et al.¹⁷¹ described the AFO-FC as a powerful and relatively easy adjustable tool which can alter hip and knee kinematics. Additionally, they reported an increase in energy expenditure with the use of an inappropriate AFO-FC which can be greater than walking barefoot.¹⁷¹ Footwear modifications may be useful to compensate for the fixed or limited ankle movement available with the use of an AFO. The use of an AFO has an impact on the three rockers of the gait. In a solid AFO, the ankle is held in a fixed position throughout the stance phase. This limits the required movement at the ankle during the first and second rockers. The length alignment and stiffness of the foot plate will determine the effect of the AFO on the third rocker. Immobilising the metatarsophalangeal joint prevents the normal anatomical third rocker.

When considering the AFO-FC, it is useful to divide the stance phase into three subphases rather than five.¹² This includes entry to temporal midstance, temporal midstance and exit from temporal midstance. Changes to the design of the footwear

have been reported to affect the GRF point of application and location throughout the gait.^{71, 172} Heel profile and stiffness affect entry to temporal midstance, while the sole design and stiffness affect the exit from temporal midstance. The effective heel height (the difference in thickness between the heel and sole, heel sole differential (HSD)) affects temporal midstance by influencing the SVA.^{7, 8, 12, 71, 168, 173} Tuning is a three-step process of making adjustments to the SVA by altering the HSD, the sole design and stiffness and the heel profile and stiffness of the FW.^{71, 172} Different heel and sole designs, thickness, contour and width can be used to influence the entry and exit for temporal midstance.⁶⁸ Examples of heel designs include plain heel, positive heel, negative heel and cushioned heel. Examples of sole design include flexible sole with flat or rounded profile and stiff sole with a rounded profile or point loading rocker.

1.9 Biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses

1.9.1 Direct biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses

The AFO provides direct control of motion in all 3 anatomical planes by application of systems of 3 corrective forces.⁶⁸ Movement such as plantarflexion, dorsiflexion, pronation and supination can be controlled by using AFOs.⁶⁸ For correction of plantarflexion and dorsiflexion, a single 3 corrective force system is applied, while two 3 corrective force systems are applied in the coronal and transverse planes for control of pronation and supination.¹⁴⁵ For example, to prevent plantarflexion of the foot in swing, the AFO should apply a system of 3 corrective forces to the posterior calf (F1), the plantar surface of the foot near the metatarsal heads (F2) and the dorsum of the foot near the ankle joint (F3) (Figure 1-9).^{12, 145} For maximum control, intimate fit of the AFO with optimum force application is required. Poor or inadequate control

of triplanar deformity (supination and pronation) causes immediate effects which include pain, contracture and inadequate stretch on the Achilles tendon.⁶⁸ Additionally, it can cause long term effects which include increasing deformity and change to skeletal deformity.⁶⁸ For optimum force application, the lever arms and the area of force application must be maximised. Additionally, these forces should be applied in a way that respects the underlying anatomy and matches the contour of the skeletal structure.¹²

1.9.2 Indirect biomechanical effects of ankle-foot orthoses

The AFO can affect the GRF components (point of application, magnitude and line of action) by controlling the alignment and motion of the ankle joint.^{12, 174} Additionally, the AFO can modify the kinematics and kinetics of the segments to become closer to normal. This will lead to the GRF and the moments generated at the lower limb joint to also approximate to normal.^{7, 8, 154} In subjects with excessive ankle plantarflexion (equinus), controlling the motion and alignment of the ankle with the use of an AFO aids in allowing the entire plantar surface of the foot to bear weight.⁶⁸ This helps to move the point of application of the GRF posteriorly along the foot.⁶⁸ The use of an AFO controls the shank alignment, which aids in optimising the shank kinematics. The optimum forward inclination of the shank with the posterior placement of the point of application of the shank with the posterior placement of the point of application for the shank with the posterior placement of the point of application of the GRF at the knee joint.^{12, 174} This reduces the knee flexion moment or, ideally, may even replace it by an external extension moment. Furthermore, the appropriate forward inclination of the thigh aligns the GRF posterior to the hip joint, which may decrease the external flexion moment or provide a suitable external extension moment.

1.10 Studies supporting the biomechanical influence of the ankle-foot orthosis Several systematic reviews have been published investigating the efficacy of the AFO-FC in achieving the outlined biomechanical goals amongst subjects with CP.^{68, 175-178} The most recent systematic review was conducted by Bowers and Ross.⁶⁸ In this review, a number of research questions were formulated and answered, including the influence of the AFO-FC on lower limb kinematics and kinetics. The results of the studies were divided per the limb involvement of the subjects included, i.e. hemiplegic, diplegic and mixed. Improvement in ankle kinematics was reported in the review, but reduction in power generation and absorption was observed. A positive indirect impact of the AFO-FC on hip and knee kinematics and kinetics was found; however, results were inconsistent. This is because of the variation in the methodologies implemented in the studies, and the variety of different designs of AFOs examined amongst heterogeneous groups of subjects with CP. Generally, limited information about the subjects, AFO-FC design and features and the tuning process was provided by the studies.

Studies investigating the biomechanical effects of the AFO-FC amongst subjects with diplegic CP published following the systematic review by Bowers and Ross to present were reviewed (2008-2016). Observations from the recent studies are discussed below (Table 1-1). Rogonzinski et al.¹⁵¹ investigated the biomechanical impact of GRAFO amongst subjects with diplegic, triplegic (involvement of 3 limbs) and quadriplegic CP. A significant reduction in peak dorsiflexion in stance was found. Additionally, a significant increase in peak knee extension during stance and non-significant improvement in knee moment at midstance were reported. Possible reasons for this

may include hip and knee flexion contracture and a short gastrocnemius muscle, which were not accommodated. The author reported better results in the presence of knee and hip flexion contracture $\leq 10^{\circ}$ when compared with contracture $\geq 15^{\circ}$. It should be noted that the study failed to report sufficient information about the AFO-FC features, for example material thickness, FW characteristics and SVA.

Kerkum et al.¹⁷⁹ investigated the biomechanical influence of the GRAFO with ankle joint/hinge in comparison to shoes only amongst subjects with spastic CP. The joints used allowed the stiffness of the GRAFO to be varied using different pre-compressed springs with different mechanical properties. Three different stiffness configurations were investigated, which were classified as follows: rigid, stiff and flexible by varying the spring properties in the hinged used. Ankle ROM was significantly reduced and the peak internal plantarflexion moment in stance was significantly improved by the 3-different stiffnesses, although the ankle ROM was less reduced with the stiff and flexible configurations in comparison to the rigid configuration. Peak ankle power generation was reduced significantly by rigid configuration, while it was preserved by the stiff and flexible configurations. A significant increase in the knee extension angle was observed at contralateral toe-off and in peak knee extension during stance, while a non-significant increase in knee extension in midstance was reported. Furthermore, significant improvement in knee moment at midstance and at peak knee extension during stance was found. At the hip joint, a non-significant reduction in the hip flexion angle was reported. Although this study concluded some positive results, the AFO design used in the study is questionable. The AFO used had a single hinge on the lateral side and only covered the lateral and proximal anterior part of the shank. As stated above, for maximum control two 3 corrective force systems are used and applied by enclosing the foot and the shank. This may be compromised by the design used in this study. The author stated that the AFO was tuned, but no information about the SVA and FW modification was provided. All 3 stiffness configurations allowed ankle motion, as illustrated in the graphs supplied in the paper. These reasons may explain the limited effect of the AFO on the hip and knee joint kinematics and kinetics.

Another study examined the influence of the PLS and HAFO amongst subjects with hemiplegic and diplegic CP.¹⁸⁰ The joints used for the HAFO had an elastomer component that produced variable resistance to dorsiflexion and plantarflexion, and the stiffness to resist each motion could be adjusted separately. The degree of ankle motion for each design of the AFO was adjusted per the requirement of each subject. For ankle kinematics, the following was reported: significant improvement in dorsiflexion during swing for the PLS and HAFO, significant improvement in dorsiflexion during stance with the PLS and non-significant improvement with the HAFO. Significant reduction in push-off power was observed with the PLS and HAFO. This was found to be significantly greater in the HAFO. Additionally, a significant increase in peak plantarflexion moment in late stance with the PLS and a non-significant increase with the HAFO were stated. The effect of the PLS and HAFO on the improvement of peak knee extension in stance was reported to be not significant. Better knee extension was achieved with the use of the HAFO in comparison to the PLS. This may be explained by better control of the ankle movement allowing better shank alignment. However, non-significant improvement in knee moment in peak knee extension during stance was reported with the PLS and HAFO. At the hip joint, significant improvement in hip extension in stance with the PLS and HAFO was observed. Incomplete information about the subjects and the design criteria of both AFOs was presented. Additionally, the SVA of the HAFO was not optimum as the shank in standing was vertical and not inclined forward. This may explain why optimum results were not achieved at the hip and the knee.

Observations made from reviewing the recent studies agree with the findings of the recent systematic review.¹⁴ While the results on the ankle kinematics and kinetics are consistent, the influence of the AFO on the biomechanics of the hip and knee is inconclusive. This is due to the differences in the AFO designs used, inappropriate design of AFO used and the heterogeneity of subjects with CP. Additionally, it was suggested by the recent review that the difference found in the SVA used in the studies may have led to the variation found in the influence of the AFO on the kinematics and kinetics of the lower limb joints.¹⁴

In this chapter, the biomechanical effects of AFOs were discussed. Additionally, the importance of clinical assessment and several elements of prescription criteria were presented. The evidence related to supporting the biomechanical efficiency of an AFO-FC on lower limb joints amongst subjects with diplegic CP was reviewed. The findings of this review showed that the effect of an AFO-FC on the biomechanics of the hip and knee is inconclusive. The following chapter will examine the effect of an AFO-FC on the gait. Initially, the role of optimising shank kinematics using an AFO-FC on thigh kinematics and on kinetics of lower limb joints will be discussed. Additionally, this chapter will discuss the importance of the temporal midstance to late stance phase
of gait for the examination. Following this, the results of a study investigating the effect of optimisation of temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC on several gait variables will be presented.

1.11 Figures

| Figure | 1-1. | Phases | of ga | it rer | oroduced | from | Perry ¹³ | |
|--------|------|---------|-------|--------|----------|------|---------------------|--|
| Inguit | 1-1. | 1 mascs | UI ga | ut icp | nouuccu | nom | I CITY. | |



Figure 1-2: Normal vertical component of ground reaction force in gait.¹⁸



Figure 1-3: 'Butterfly diagram' represents the magnitude, direction and point of application of the GRF at uniform time intervals (10 ms) of gait in the sagittal plane.^{64,} ¹⁸¹



Figure 1-4: Representation of the model of disability that is the basis of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health reproduced from the World Health Organisation.¹⁰⁹



Figure 1-5: Posterior leaf spring ankle-foot orthosis.



Figure 1-6: Solid ankle-foot orthosis.



Figure 1-7: Ground reaction ankle-foot orthosis.



Figure 1-8: Hinged ankle-foot orthosis.



Figure 1-9: 3 corrective force system applied to prevent plantarflexion of the foot



1.12 Tables

Table 1-1: Summary of the papers which studied the kinematic and kinetic influence of ankle-foot orthoses on lower limb joints amongst subjects with cerebral palsy.

| • | | | | | |
|---------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| Author | Research | Number and age | Cerebral palsy | AFO type | Key findings |
| | design | range of subjects | type | | |
| Rogozinski et | Retrospective | n=27 | Mixed | GRAFO | Ankle: 1-significant reduction in peak dorsiflexion in stance |
| al. (2009) ¹⁵¹ | within subject | Range=7-16 | (25 diplegic, | | Knee: 1-significant increase in peak knee extension in stance, 2-non-significant |
| | comparison | years | 1 triplegic, 2 quadripelgic) | | improvement in knee moment in midstance $(n=9)$ |
| Kerkum et al. | Prospective | n=15 | Mixed | GRAFO with | Ankle: 1-ankle ROM was significantly reduced by the 3-different stiffness (maximum |
| $(2015)^{179}$ | Crossover | Mean±SD=10±2 | | spring-hinged | with rigid), 2-peak ankle power generation was reduced significantly by rigid stiffness |
| | | | | (comparison | and preserved by the stiff and flexible, 3 -significant improvement in peak internal |
| | | | | between 3 | plantarflexion moment in stance |
| | | | | stiffness | Knee: 1-significant increase in knee extension angle at contralateral toe-off and at peak |
| | | | | configurations, | knee extension in stance, 2-non-significant increase in knee extension in midstance, 3- |
| | | | | rigid, stiff and | significant improvement in knee moment at midstance and at peak knee extension in |
| | | | | flexible, vs | stance |
| | | | | shoes) | Hip: 1-non-significant reduction in hip flexion angle at contralateral initial contact, 2-no |
| | | | | | change in hip moment at contralateral initial contact |
| Wren et al. | Prospective | n=10 | Mixed (5 | PLS, HAFO | Ankle: 1-significant improvement in dorsiflexion in swing with PLS and HAFO, 2- |
| $(2015)^{180}$ | Crossover | Kinematics | diplegic and 5 | | significant improvement in dorsiflexion in stance with PLS and non-significant |
| | | (n=15) | hemiplegic) | | improvement with HAFO, 3-significant reduction in push-off power with PLS and HAFO |
| | | Kinetics (n=7) | | | and was significantly higher in HAFO, 4-significant increase in peak plantarflexion |
| | | Range=4-12 | | | moment in late stance with PLS and non-significant increase with HAFO |
| | | years | | | Knee: 1-non-significant improvement in peak knee extension in stance with HAFO and |
| | | | | | PLS, 2-knee extension was better with HAFO than PLS, 2-non-significant improvement |
| | | | | | in knee moment in peak knee extension in stance with PLS and HAFO |
| | | | | | Hip: 1-significant improvement in hip extension in stance with PLS and HAFO |
| Danino et al. | Retrospective | n=53 | Diplegic | SAFO, PLS, | Ankle: 1-significant increase in ankle dorsiflexion in stance and swing |
| $(2016)^{182}$ | within subject | mean=8.3 years | | HAFO | Knee: 1-significant increase in knee extension in stance and decrease in swing |
| | comparison | | | | |
| AFO: ankle-foot | orthosis, GRAFO | : ground reaction and | de-foot orthosis, S/ | AFO: solid ankle-f | AFO: ankle-foot orthosis, GRAFO: ground reaction ankle-foot orthosis, SAFO: solid ankle-foot orthosis, DAFO: dynamic ankle-foot orthosis, HAFO: hinged ankle-foot orthosis, ADR- |

AFO: adjustable response ankle-foot orthosis.

Chapter 2 The effect of ankle-foot orthoses on shank and thigh kinematics during gait of subjects with spastic diplegic cerebral palsy

2.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapter One, optimal alignment of the GRF during gait relative to the joints of the lower limb is considered essential to produce a controlled and energyefficient gait. AFOs have been widely prescribed for use in subjects with CP in an attempt to influence the kinetics and kinematics of the gait. The use of an AFO provides both a direct and an indirect biomechanical effect on the body. By enclosing the ankle and foot, the AFO controls the alignment and movement of the joints. This, in turn, can manipulate the GRF, placing it closer to lower limb joint centres, which aids in the reduction of the energy expenditure. This is achieved by optimising the shank alignment with the use of an AFO-FC during temporal midstance to an optimum position of approximately 10-12° inclination, measured from the vertical (Figure 2-1).7, 8 As discussed in Chapter One, in normal gait this alignment of the shank, combined with a controlled angular motion is vital to produce the required temporal midstance stability.^{8, 69} Temporal midstance stability aids in energy conservation, lowers the vertical excursion of the centre of mass and reduces the demand on the musculoskeletal system.^{9, 165-167} In addition, this shank alignment allows the required normal kinematic and kinetic changes to take place. As the GRF progresses along the foot, it aligns anterior to the knee joint and posterior to the hip joint during terminal stance by further inclination of the shank and thigh. This position creates an external extension moment at both the hip and knee joints, causing passive stability. This passive stability, accompanied with heel raise during terminal stance, aids in energy conservation due to the rise of the body centre of mass.¹² As the thigh reaches its maximum inclination, the GRF lever arm at the hip and knee increases. This increase in lever arm in combination with the large magnitude of the GRF produces a strong stabilising external moment at the hip and the knee joints during terminal stance (Figure 2-2 & 2-3).^{7, 8} Furthermore, the position of maximum thigh inclination in terminal stance aids in lengthening the hip flexors and gastrocnemius muscles in the stance limb and the hamstrings and gastrocnemius muscles in the swing limb, causing 'therapy while walking'.^{71, 183}

Inability to support the body weight (BW) and to decelerate the downward velocity of the centre of mass in terminal stance is a common problem observed in subjects with CP. This is seen as a decrease in the GRF, with FZ2 being smaller than the BW (FZ2<BW).¹⁸ The reduction of FZ2 has been described as "Ben Lomonding"^{7, 18} due to the second peak (FZ2) being smaller than the first peak (FZ1), resembling the shape of the Scottish mountain, Ben Lomond.¹⁸ The reduction in FZ2 is often counteracted by the actions of the contralateral limb, resulting in excessive loads during the loading response (FZ1). Williams et al.¹⁸ reported that 87% of subjects with CP exhibited some degree of "Ben Lomonding".¹⁸ Improved terminal stance stability provided by the use of an AFO-FC may help to achieve an adequate second peak of the vertical component of the GRF (FZ2) greater than body weight.⁷ This aids in the reduction of the excessive contralateral first peak (FZ1) observed in subjects with CP.

Optimising shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC is an initial step for successful orthotic prescription and problem solving.^{7, 8, 184, 185} In addition, optimising shank kinematics increases the opportunity to optimise knee and hip kinetics and thigh and trunk kinematics.^{7, 184} To be able to achieve optimum alignment, consideration must be given to the design specification of the AFO-FC. One of the specifications that should be taken into consideration is the AAAFO, as discussed in Chapter One. Following the appropriate selection of the AAAFO along with the design and material of the FW, the initial SVA can be further adjusted by fine-tuning of the AFO-FC. Fine-tuning of the AFO-FC is considered mandatory for gait optimisation and was first described by Meadows.⁷ The process includes adding or removing the heel or sole height to alter the HSD or altering the characteristics of the FW.^{7, 8, 154} It is recognised that temporal midstance is a fundamental phase of gait for AFO-FC tuning.^{69, 71, 154}

Tuning of the AFO-FC amongst subjects with CP has been previously addressed by a number of studies.^{7, 186-191} The results of these studies demonstrate the positive influence of tuning the AFO-FC. Improved FZ2,⁷ knee kinematics and kinetics^{7, 186, 188-191} and hip kinematics and kinetics⁷ have been reported. However, it has been established that in studies examining the effect of AFO-FC tuning on gait, insufficient details about participants, AFO-FC details and the tuning process were provided, which prevented drawing clear conclusions for clinical application.^{14, 192}

As discussed earlier, altering the alignment of the AFO-FC primarily affects the temporal midstance, while altering the heel and sole profile influences early stance and terminal stance, respectively. However, 4 studies found that the effect of modifying

the SVA on knee kinetics and kinematics extends to include the terminal stance.^{178, 186, 190, 193} Additionally, one of the studies suggested that altering the sole of the FW further improves the knee kinetics in terminal stance and preswing.¹⁹³ As discussed in Chapter One, thigh kinematics during gait are important for manipulating the GRF for stance stability and this has been well-documented.^{11, 12} However, the effect of optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics on thigh kinematics has not been considered in the studies found.

To the best of the author's knowledge, the present study is the first to investigate the effect of the use of an AFO-FC on the shank and thigh kinematics in temporal midstance to late stance. In this study, temporal midstance to late stance phase is defined as the phase starting from the point when the contralateral medial malleolus is in line with the dominant side to the point of the maximum inclination of the thigh. Additionally, this study investigated if optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics leads to systematic changes in a range of variables of gait, i.e. do these variables optimise simultaneously when the temporal midstance shank kinematics is optimised? The variables and the points chosen for the examination are as follows:

- The thigh kinematics and alignment of the GRF in relation to hip and knee joints in temporal midstance
- The shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, alignment of the GRF in relation to hip and knee joints and FZ2 when FZ2 occurs during gait
- The shank kinematics, thigh kinematics and alignment of the GRF in relation to hip and knee joints when the maximum TVA occurs during gait

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Participants

This retrospective study received appropriate ethical approval from the West of Scotland Research Ethics Service, the Clinical Research & Development Office of Greater Glasgow & Clyde Health Board and Caldicott Guardian. All the data were collected from the Neurobiomechanics Department, West of Scotland Mobility and Rehabilitation Centre, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow, UK.

The inclusion criteria for this study required that each subject:

- was diagnosed with diplegic CP
- was aged≥7
- did not suffer from any conditions resulting in lower limb sensory deficit
- was ambulatory (with/without walking aids)
- underwent related physical assessment
- underwent lower limb kinematic and kinetic gait data collection

Participants were excluded if they had fixed static lower limb flexion contracture deformity of the hip and/or knee joint. Participants from age 7 were included because it is accepted that an adult gait pattern is reached by that age.¹⁹⁴⁻¹⁹⁸

Sixteen participants were identified from a pre-existing patient database in the West of Scotland Mobility and Rehabilitation Centre, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital. A total of 16 limbs were included (dominant side was included). If the dominant limb did not meet the inclusion criteria, the contralateral limb was included. Involved participants were aged between 7 and 17 years (11 years±3 years). All participants were ambulatory (14 independent, 2 with assistive devices). Further information about the participants is presented in Table 2-1, following the best practice reporting guidelines for AFO intervention in subjects with CP.^{14, 199}

2.2.2 Study design

A full clinical examination, including a detailed physical examination and clinical gait analysis, was carried out for each subject as part of routine clinical procedure at the Neurobiomechanics Department by the same group of examiners.²⁰⁰ All the physical assessments were carried out by the same two physiotherapists who are specialised in paediatric neurological conditions. 2D video vector data (sagittal and coronal plane) and kinetic data were collected for each subject using the Vicon Giganet, with 10 x Vicon Bonita B102 x Bonita 720c digital video cameras in conjunction with 2 x AMTI 2416-1000 force plates (A & B). A plug-in gait model was applied, and all the subjects were asked to walk barefoot at their own chosen speed. Trials with clean foot strike on either of the force platforms (A or B) were used for analysis and to construct the GRF graphs (normalised to BW). Nexus software was used to process and analyse the kinetics data collected. All the TVAs and SVAs in barefoot and with an AFO-FC was measured from the 2D video data. The sagittal plane video was played back several times to clearly identify the 3 investigated instances; then, the video was paused at each phase, and the SVA and TVA were measured by placing the UG on the screen. For the SVA, the stable arm of the UG was set to follow the vertical, and the movable arm was set to follow the line bisecting the shank. For the TVA, the stable arm of the UG was set to follow the vertical, and the movable arm was set to follow the line bisecting the thigh (Figure 2-4). The alignment of the GRF was categorised according to its distance from the joint centres following a modified scale developed by the clinical team of the Neurobiomechanics department.²⁰¹ This scale is colour and number coded, as indicated in Figure 2-3.

Three instances of gait were identified for examination: temporal midstance, when the contralateral medial malleolus (swinging side) is in line with the dominant side (stance side); FZ2, identified as maximum height of the GRF by the clinical team from the vertical component of ground reaction force graphs; and the maximum TVA (the maximum inclination of the thigh) which is identified by measuring the TVA from the motion video captured. Initially, the maximum TVA was identified visually from the video; then, it was confirmed by measuring the TVA using the UG, as described above.

2.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Using similar data from previous work about CP barefoot gait parameters, the estimated standard deviation (SD) of 13.3° was found.²⁰² A clinically relevant change of 10° of gait parameters with the AFO has been identified within the research team. Thus, it should be possible to see such a clinical change at the 5% level of significance with a power of 80% if 16 participants are recruited.

A paired sample test (paired t-test/paired Wilcoxon test) was employed to establish the effect of the AFO-FC on the SVA, TVA and FZ2 data in comparison to barefoot walking. This was achieved using one tailed t-test with a significant level set at 0.05.

Initially, data was tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. If normality was achieved, then the paired t-test was applied. If normality was not achieved, the equivalent nonparametric test was used. To compensate for the fact that a 4° change above the normal (12° inclination) is the same as a 4° change below normal, absolute values were used for the SVA and TVA. McNemar's test²⁰³ was applied for analysis of GRF alignment. The ideal GRF location was rated as (1) if it was within normal boundaries (green colour) and (0) if it was not within normal boundaries (amber, red and brown colours) (Figure 2-3). These boundaries are a modification of a scale used and developed by the Neurobiomechanics Department.²⁰¹

The normalised GRF vertical component was plotted with the AFO-FC and barefoot to illustrate the effect of the AFO-FC on optimising the GRF vertical force. Adaptations of the classification of 'Ben Lomonding' described by Williams et al.¹⁸ and Gibbs²⁰⁴ was applied to categorise the barefoot and AFO-FC graphs, as illustrated in Table 2-2.

Variability within normal subjects exists for the SVA and TVA; however, for statistical analysis purposes an approximate single value for the TVA and SVA was required to be identified (Table 2-3). These approximate control values were obtained from 10 healthy subjects (30.8±4.6 years) and collected by the same department (unpublished data) using 3D analysis system. For the SVA and TVA, the sequence of rotation used to calculate the 3D segment orientation angles was tilt-rotation-obliquity, as recommend by the International Society of Biomechanics.²⁰⁵ The SVA was measured following the line from the ankle joint centre to the knee joint centre, against

the vertical. The TVA was measured following the line from the knee joint centre to the hip joint centre, against the vertical. The reported mean SVA value by the department (11.8°±3.5° SD) was found to be approximately similar to the value reported by Pratt et al.²⁰⁶ (11.4°±3.4° SD), although a different measuring method was implemented. These values are approximately similar to the values reported previously, which stated an optimum SVA of 10-12° (11.86°±2° SD) with the use of an AFO-FC amongst subjects with CP.⁸ The TVA values obtained from the department differed from the values reported by Perry and Burnfield.⁵⁹ However, the values reported by the department were used because insufficient information about the participants and method of measuring were provided by Perry and Burnfield.⁵⁹ In order to identify the 3 different instances amongst normal subjects, an approximate percentage of 30% of gait for temporal midstance, 45% for FZ2 and 50% for the maximum TVA was chosen according to a number of gait references.^{59, 181, 207-209} However, it is acknowledged that variation in the values of gait parameters within normal subjects does exist.

The temporal midstance SVA was correlated with each examined variable barefoot and with an AFO-FC. This was done to examine how optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics using an AFO-FC affects these variables and whether these variables optimise systematically (i.e. if the correlation increases using an AFO-FC). For correlations, participants were divided into two groups: Group One: participants with barefoot SVA less inclined than normal and normal (n=7) and Group Two: participants with barefoot SVA more inclined than normal (n=9) (Figure 2-6). The correlation values are graded as follows: 0.00-0.25 is a low correlation, 0.25-0.50

is a fair correlation, 0.50-0.75 is a good correlation and a value above 0.75 is excellent correlation.²¹⁰

2.3 Results

2.3.1 T-test

A paired t-test was applied as normality was achieved for all the elements investigated. Table 2-4 illustrates all the values achieved using the t-test. As shown in Table 2-4, some t-values were large, e.g. 8.31, whilst all the p-values were significant, other than FZ2's. The narrowest CI range was found to be for the TVA at temporal midstance with the smallest SD value (Table 2-4).

2.3.2 McNemar's test

McNemar's test was applied to investigate the effect of an AFO-FC on optimising the GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joints in each phase examined. None of the p-values were significant (Table 2-5). This indicates that the proportion of limbs with abnormal alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip and knee joints with and without AFO intervention is not significantly different. Table 2-6 represent the distribution of limbs according to the effect of an AFO-FC on the alignment of the GRF. An AFO-FC had the greatest effect on the hip joint at the maximum TVA as 7 limbs moved from having abnormal to normal alignment (Table 2-6). However, 5 limbs were affected negatively, moving from normal to abnormal alignment (Table 2-6). On the other hand, an AFO-FC had the least effect on the hip joint at temporal midstance as 11 limbs started with abnormal alignment and stayed abnormal with an AFO-FC (Table 2-6).

2.3.3 Correlation

The SVA was correlated with each investigated element barefoot and with an AFO-FC. Pearson's correlation was used for the SVA, TVA and FZ2 at the 3 studied instances. Meanwhile, Spearman's correlation was used for the GRF location. The correlation values (barefoot and with an AFO-FC) differed between both groups, indicating the influence the initial barefoot SVA has on the outcome. The results for each group are stated below.

2.3.3.1 Group 1

Barefoot: only FZ2 resulted in excellent and significant correlation value. The rest of the correlation values were low and not significant (Table 2-7). P-values for the TVA and GRF alignment at the knee at FZ2 were found to be close to significance with good values of correlation.

AFO-FC: two non-significant values became significant with good correlation (Table 2-7). The GRF alignment at the hip joint at FZ2 correlated negatively with the SVA. On the other hand, the GRF alignment at the knee joint at temporal midstance correlated positively with the SVA at temporal midstance. It should be noted that FZ2 correlation value changed from being a positive and excellent correlation value to a negative, non-significant and fair correlation value with the use of an AFO-FC. Furthermore, the TVA and GRF alignment at the knee at FZ2 moved from being close to significance with good values of correlation to a low/fair correlation and non-significant p-value.

2.3.3.2 Group 2

Barefoot: only the GRF alignment at the knee joint at the maximum TVA resulted in a good and significant correlation value with the SVA at temporal midstance (Table 2-8). Meanwhile, the alignment of the GRF at the knee joint at FZ2 was found to be close to significance with a good value of correlation.

AFO-FC: As seen in Table 2-8, FZ2 and the TVA at the maximum TVA moved from low correlation and non-significant values to good correlation and significant values. The GRF alignment at the knee joint at the maximum TVA moved from good to excellent correlation value with an AFO-FC in comparison to barefoot. The alignment of the GRF at the knee joint at FZ2 moved from being close to significance with a good value of correlation to low and non-significant correlation.

2.3.4 Vertical component of ground reaction force (Ben Lomonding)

The use of an AFO-FC decreased the degree of Ben Lomonding in 9 participants (Table 2-2 & 2-9). Amongst these 9 participants, the use of AFO-FC assisted 5 participants in supporting their BW in late stance (FZ2 \geq BW). For example, Figures 2-7 to 2-9 illustrate the graphs of vertical component of GRF in barefoot and with AFO-FC of P1, P2 and P3. In 5 participants, the use of an AFO-FC worsened the degree of Ben Lomonding. In the remaining 2 participants, the type of Ben Lomonding did not change with the use of AFO-FC (Table 2-2).

2.4 Discussion

This study examined the effect of optimisation of shank kinematics in temporal midstance with the use of an AFO-FC on several gait variables which included thigh

kinematics in temporal midstance, shank kinematics, thigh kinematics and FZ2 at FZ2 and shank and thigh kinematics at maximum TVA. Additionally, this study investigated the influence of an AFO-FC on the GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee in temporal midstance to late stance. Overall, the use of an AFO-FC had a positive significant influence on the thigh kinematics in temporal midstance and on shank and the thigh kinematics at FZ2 and at maximum TVA (Table 2-4). In contrast, a non-significant improvement in the alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance was found (Table 2-5). The use of an AFO-FC helped to increase FZ2 and decreased the degree of Ben Lomonding in 9 participants (Table 2-2 & 2-9). Amongst these 9 participants, 5 participants showed an increase in FZ2≥BW (Figures 2-7 to 2-8). For example, Figures 2-10 to 2-12 illustrate the effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for P6, P8 and P11.

When analysing the results of the t-test and McNemar's test clinically, the significance/meaning of the results may differ. The application of the t-test does not consider the measurement error. Clinically, a change of within $\pm 5^{\circ}$ might reflect an error in the measurements rather than an actual change in the angle. When accounting for this potential error, improvement in temporal midstance TVA was only found in 4 participants (Table 2-10). At FZ2, the SVA improved in 7 participants, while the TVA was better in 8 participants. Only 5 participants showed an improvement in the SVA at the maximum TVA with the use of an AFO-FC. Additionally, the TVA at the maximum TVA was the variable most positively affected using an AFO-FC.

Furthermore, the application of the McNemar's test does not account for change in alignment of GRF from worse to bad, i.e. red to amber in relation to the joints. This change is important clinically as moving from worse to bad is a positive effect. This will enable clinicians to monitor the progression seen in subjects with the AFO-FCs. Additionally, this observed change means that the participants are moving from an alignment of a serious cause of concern to an alignment of a moderate cause of concern. Table 2-11, which illustrates the specific change in the GRF alignment, may indicate that a positive effect was found on the alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip joint at maximum TVA, followed by temporal midstance with the use of an AFO-FC. However, in contrast 5 and 4 participants showed a negative effect with the use an AFO-FC on the alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip joint at maximum TVA and in temporal midstance respectively. In general, the number of participants with unchanged alignment was high. However, it should be noted that amongst these participants there were a number that started from the optimum position and stayed the same with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-11).

A possible explanation for the unchanged/negative results found above is that the AFO-FCs in some participants allowed further shank inclination than expected during gait. The SVA measured in temporal midstance $(15^{\circ}\pm4^{\circ})$ was found to be different than the SVA measured while standing $(9^{\circ}\pm3^{\circ})$ (Table 2-12). With the use of an optimum AFO-FC prescription, both angles should be equal. Information about the AFO-FC characteristics, such as material thickness and trimlines, was not available. This was because each subject attended the Neurobiomechanics department with their AFO-FC having been prescribed by their local health service. If required, fine-tuning was

carried out by the clinical team at the Neurobiomechanics Department. To provide further information regarding the AFO stiffness, the SVA in standing was compared to the temporal midstance SVA. (Table 2-12). A difference of greater than $\pm 5^{\circ}$ (measurement error) between the SVA measured when standing and the temporal midstance SVA may suggest that the AFO is insufficiently stiff.²¹¹ In six participants the difference in the temporal midstance SVA and SVA when standing was within $\pm 5^{\circ}$, which may indicate that the AFOs were adequately stiff. Meanwhile, in 9 participants the temporal midstance SVA was greater than (> $\pm 5^{\circ}$) the SVA when standing, suggesting that the AFOs were insufficiently stiff and allowed further shank inclination during gait (Table 2-12). Additionally, early heel raise may cause further shank inclination. However, this cause was eliminated because none of the participants exhibited early heel raise as observed from the gait videos. The value of the SVA while standing in the remaining participant was not recorded. For analysing purposes, the SVA measured during temporal midstance of gait was used as this value was more representative.

The importance of accommodating the gastrocnemius muscle length has been discussed in Chapter One. The AAAFO of P1 and P14 did not accommodate the gastrocnemius muscle length (2-13). Furthermore, further shank inclination in temporal midstance was observed in these two participants leading to a total shortness in gastrocnemius length of 13° in P1 and 9° in P 14. If the AFO-FC allows further shank inclination during temporal midstance, this may limit the available length of the gastrocnemius even if the AFO is held at an appropriate angle. As seen in Table 2-13, the amount of the change in the temporal midstance SVA from the standing SVA

limited the available length of the gastrocnemius for full knee extension in P12 and P16. For example, in P16 the AAAFO was set at 8° plantarflexion and the SVA in temporal midstance was further inclined by 16°, which led to shortness of 3° in the available length of the gastrocnemius as 5° dorsiflexion was achievable with the knee extended. The shortness in the available length of the gastrocnemius may restrict the knee extension in temporal midstance, terminal stance and terminal swing.^{10, 166, 168} This may have caused the negative/no change effect with the use of an AFO-FC on the TVA, SVA, FZ2 and the alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip and the knee joints in these participants. For instance, in P1 and P14 the alignment of the GRF in relation to the knee joint worsened or did not change with the use of an AFO-FC at the 3 selected points (Table 2-14). Additionally, FZ2 decreased and the degree of the Ben Lomonding worsened in P14 and P16 with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-9).

When observing the correlation between the barefoot temporal midstance SVA with the investigated elements, the correlation values differed between the groups, indicating the influence of the barefoot SVA. In Group One, the use of an AFO-FC moved two values from fair correlation and non-significant to good correlation and significant values (Table 2-7). The two values were the GRF alignment in relation to the hip joint at FZ2 and the GRF in relation to the knee joint in temporal midstance. This indicates that optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC may systematically optimise the hip and knee kinetics at different points of gait. However, FZ2 moved from being excellent correlation to negative and fair correlation. Additionally, the TVA and GRF alignment in relation to the knee joint at FZ2 moved from good correlation and borderline significant values to very low/fair

correlation and non-significant values (Table 2-7). In contrast, FZ2 moved from being low correlation to good correlation and significant in Group Two (Table 2-8). Another difference between the two groups is the GRF alignment in relation to the knee joint at the maximum TVA. In Group One, values for barefoot and with the use of an AFO-FC had good correlation with non-significant p-values (Table 2-7). However, in Group Two the value moved from good correlation to excellent correlation with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-8). This indicates that optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC may systematically optimise FZ2, knee joint kinetics and the thigh kinematics at the maximum TVA. It should be noted that the results may have been adversely affected because the AFO-FC allowed further shank inclination. Additionally, the small sample size in each group may account for these differences in interpretation; hence, caution is required in any interpretation or generalisation. A study by Ridgewell¹⁷⁸ reported that hip kinematics, hip kinetics and femur projection angles did not change systematically when the AFO-FC alignment was optimised amongst subjects with CP. In contrast, optimising the AFO-FC alignment had a systematic effect on gait variables relating to the knee kinematics and kinetics and ankle kinetics.¹⁷⁸

Further analysis was carried out to investigate the degree of the agreement between the examined variables. Variables with significant results were used, which included the TVA in temporal midstance, the SVA, TVA and FZ2 at FZ2 and the SVA and TVA at the maximum TVA. A value of (1) was used to indicate that the use of an AFO-FC led to a positive change of> $\pm 5^{\circ}$ (measurement error). Meanwhile, the value (0) was used to indicate that the use of an AFO-FC led to a negative change of> $\pm 5^{\circ}$. If the AFO-FC caused no effect or a positive or negative change of within $\pm 5^{\circ}$, no value was given to the variable, and the letter N was used. Optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics caused a positive effect on shank kinematics, thigh kinematics and FZ2 in 2 participants (Table 2-10). Two participants had agreement of 5 out of 6 variables. No influence of the barefoot temporal midstance SVA on the agreement between the variables was observed (Table 2-10).

Meadows⁷ included subjects with CP and reported an increase in FZ2 with the use of the optimum prescription of an AFO-FC and fine-tuning, which was similar to the results found in the current study. Additionally, Meadows' study reported improved hip and knee external moments at FZ2 and improved GRF alignment, which does not agree with the results of the current study. This could be due to the characteristics of the AFO-FCs in this study not being optimal. Stallard and Woollam²¹² reported improved GRF alignment in the majority of subjects with neurological conditions. However, this study only presented qualitative results, and insufficient details about the participants and the AFO-FC characteristics, e.g. material thickness, were provided. Butler et al.¹⁸⁶ included 5 subjects with CP to examine the effect of a tuned AFO-FC on the knee extension moment during the stance phase. The study reported a significant reduction in knee extension moment and moment arm with the use of the AFO-FC (p<0.01). The study also reported improvement in the alignment of the GRF in relation to the knee joint and increase in the magnitude of the GRF during temporal midstance However, no numerical values were reported, and the study failed to provide sufficient information about the AFO-FC characteristics. Furthermore, each subject underwent adjunct therapy; thus, the improvement cannot be related only to the use of an AFO-FC.¹⁸⁶

All the results of this study were analysed using a single normal value. This limits the representation of normal, as variation does exist in the values considered normal. Another limitation of this study is that the age of the control group differed from the age of subjects with diplegic CP. Another source of variation in this study was the difference in measurement method used to measure the TVA and SVA between the control group and subjects with diplegic CP. In control group, TVA and SVA was measured using 3D analysis system, while the UG was used to measure the TVA and SVA amongst subjects with diplegic CP. Using advanced 2D or 3D measuring systems to measure SVA and TVA may produce more accurate and reliable results in comparison to the measuring method followed in this study. For analysis purposes, an assumption of the timing of temporal midstance, FZ2 and maximum TVA was made. This also limited the generalisability of the results. Insufficient information was provided about the AFO-FC specification, which may have affected the conclusions drawn. Additionally, the GRF alignment was described using a qualitative method. Using quantitative methods, e.g. measuring the perpendicular distance from the centre of the joint to the vector, may be more accurate. The number of participants included in this study met the required power calculation, however CP is not a homogenous disorder and subjects present with a variable degree of disability. This may indicate the need to include more subjects and subdivide them according to similar presentation, e.g. gait patterns, in future studies. Furthermore, being more earnest about the AFO-FC prescription is likely to alter the overall results as further inclination of the shank was observed in all participants. Another important element which was not considered in this study is the effect of the speed on these variables. Some of these variables may automatically improve due to the increased speed rather than optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC.

All physical assessment was carried out by the same clinical team at the Neurobiomechanics Department prior to gait analysis. It should be acknowledged that due to the referral period, the results of the physical examination may have differed from the results of the physical examination carried out by the local health service when prescribing the AFO-FC. Additionally, the methods of carrying out the clinical assessment, prescription criteria and AFO-FC tuning may differ. This may explain the reason for the variability seen in the AFO-FCs prescribed to the participants included in this study. Eddison et al.²¹³ reported a lack of understanding of the AFO-FC tuning process amongst UK orthotists. In majority of the participants included, the FZ2 had a clear peak (identified by the clinical team). However, in some of the participants, the FZ2 did not exhibit a clear second peak and was identified based on the clinical judgement; hence, caution must be applied when using results related to FZ2.

It has been demonstrated that optimising shank kinematics in temporal midstance using AFO-FC in subjects with spastic diplegic CP may have a positive influence on optimising thigh kinematics in temporal midstance and thigh and shank kinematics when FZ2 and the maximum TVA occur. This, in turn, aids in increasing FZ2 and, in some cases, in supporting the BW and reducing the degree of Ben Lomonding. Some effect of optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics was observed on improving the GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joints in this study... However, these results should be applied with an understanding of their clinical implications/significance. The results of this study suggest that some variables of gait may optimise when the temporal midstance shank kinematics is optimised. Additionally, this effect was found to differ based on the barefoot SVA. To the best of the author's knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics on the thigh kinematics during gait. Additionally, the variables involved in paired t-test and McNemar's test were subsequently used in correlation analysis; hence, Bonferroni correction factor should be used on p-values. However, given the general lack of significance, very few results would have been affected if significant was reduced by the Bonferroni correction factor to p<0.02. The overall implication determined from the p-values (Table 2-7 & 2-8) did not change.

This study highlighted the influence of the AFO-FC characteristics on gait. Further shank inclination was observed during gait in 9 subjects, which may have caused the negative/no change effect of the AFO-FC in the investigated variables. Further shank inclination may be caused by the AFO being insufficiently stiff, undesirable FW characteristics and un-accommodated gastrocnemius muscle length. As emphasised in Chapter One, detailed physical assessment is a mandatory step in forming an appropriate AFO-FC prescription. The neuropathology of CP selectively targets the bi-articular and multi-articular muscles. Additionally, unlike the bi-articular and multi-articular muscles rarely become shortened due to the growth pattern and biomechanics of movement in subjects with CP.¹¹⁷ This highlights the importance of examining length and spasticity in bi-articular and multi-articular muscles including the RF, gastrocnemius and hamstrings. Careful assessment of these

muscles will enhance understanding of the functional limitations presented. Additionally, this will allow determinination of the optimum intervention plan and the AFO-FC prescription, e.g. AAAFO. The following chapter will discuss the normal function of one of the commonly affected bi-articular muscle, the RF, during gait. The literature related to the common assessment techniques used to assess the length and spasticity of the RF and the effect of RF spasticity on gait is presented in the next chapter. The chapter will also discuss the results of a study investigating the relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF measured during physical assessment and the hip or the knee joint during gait.

2.5 Figures

Figure 2-1: Normal shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance.



Figure 2-2: Normal shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint at FZ2.



Figure 2-3: Normal shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint at maximum TVA.



Figure 2-4:Measurement method followed to determine the position of the segment relative to the vertical



Figure 2-5: Modification of a scale used and developed by the Neurobiomechanics Department to classify the ground reaction force alignment in relation to the hip and knee joints in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at the maximum thigh to vertical angle.²⁰¹

At temporal midstance

Knee joint

| 2 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 3 |
|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------|
| Ext | Ext | Ext | Ext | KJC | Flex | Flex | Flex | Flex |
| GOSM | OSM | ASM | WSM | | WSM | ASM | OSM | GOSM |

Hip joint

| 2 | 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 3 |
|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------|
| Ext | Ext | Ext | Ext | HJC | Flex | Flex | Flex | Flex |
| GOSM | OSM | ASM | WSM | | WSM | ASM | OSM | GOSM |

At the FZ and at the maximum thigh to vertical angle

Knee joint

| 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 2 | 3 |
|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------|
| Ext | Ext | Ext | Ext | KJC | Flex | Flex | Flex | Flex |
| GOSM | OSM | ASM | WSM | | WSM | ASM | OSM | GOSM |

Hip joint

| 2 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 3 |
|------|-----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------|
| Ext | Ext | Ext | Ext | HJC | Flex | Flex | Flex | Flex |
| GOSM | OSM | ASM | WSM | | WSM | ASM | OSM | GOSM |

GRF alignment: Flex=the GRF causes joint flexion, Ext=the GRF causes joint extension, KJC=the GRF passes through the knee joint centre, HJC=the GRF passes through the hip joint centre, ASM=at skin margins, OSM=outside skin margins, WSM=within skin margins, GOSM=grossly outside skin margins.

Descriptions above in green are optimal (0), amber indicates a moderate cause for concern (1), and red and brown indicate a serious cause for concern (2 & 3).

Figure 2-6: Participants division into Group One and Group Two based on shank inclination.



Figure 2-7: Participant 1's normalised vertical component of ground reaction force (FZ2) barefoot and with ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination (AFO-FC).







Figure 2-8: Participant 2's normalised vertical component of ground reaction force (FZ2) barefoot and with ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination (AFO-FC).








Figure 2-10: Effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for Participant 6



Figure 2-11: Effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for Participant 8



Figure 2-12: Effect of AFO-FC on shank inclination, thigh inclination and alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance for Participant 11



| es |
|-----|
| abl |
| Ĺ |
| 2.6 |

Table 2-1: Information about the participants included: age, GMFCS, side included, hip and knee extension ROM, ankle ROM with knee extended (slow and fast), and AAAFO.

| AAAFO | 0 | 10PF | No info | 10DF | 0 | 10PF | 10 PF | 0 | 14 PF | 0 | No info | 0 | 0 | 0 | No info | |
|--|------|------|---------|------|------|------|-------|----------|-------|------|---------|-------|------|------|---------|-----|
| Ankle ROM with knee extended (fast) | 17PF | 9PF | 10PF | 4PF | 10PF | 18PF | 12 PF | No catch | 18 PF | 12PF | 10PF | 10 PF | 10PF | 9 PF | 2 PF | |
| Ankle ROM with knee extended (slow) | 6PF | 3DF | 4PF | 10DF | 9DF | 4PF | 6 DF | 2 DF | 0 | 3DF | 4DF | 9 DF | 0 | 2 PF | 3 DF | 1 |
| Hip extension ROM | 4 | 10 | 2 | 4 | 4 | 0 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 11 | 9 | 10 | 2 | 9 | 9 | 0 |
| Knee extension ROM | 3H | 0 | TH | 3H | 0 | 2H | 2H | 0 | 4H | 0 | 0 | 0 | 5 H | 2 H | 3 H | |
| Side included | L | R | L | L | R | L | L | R | L | L | R | R | R | L | R | - |
| GMFCS Level | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 | 3 | 3 | 2 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 2 | 3 | 2/3 | 2/3 | 1 | ¢ |
| Age | 12 | 10 | 13 | 14 | 16 | 6 | 6 | 12 | 7 | 15 | 7 | 17 | 10 | 8 | 10 | |
| Code | PI | P2 | P3 | P4 | P5 | P6 | P7 | P8 | P9 | P10 | P11 | P12 | P13 | P14 | P15 | D16 |

à 2 --į., adkr orthosis, ROM: range of motion. Table 2-2: Degree of Ben Lomonding, adaptation of a scale by Williams et al.¹¹ and Gibbs.²⁰⁴

| Definition | ≥105% BW | 100 to 104% BW | 95 to 99% BW | 90 to 94% BW | 80 to 89% BW | ≤79% BW |
|------------|----------|----------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---------|
| je | FZ2 | FZ2 | FZ2 | FZ2 | FZ2 | FZ2 |
| Type | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |

BW: body weight, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force.

Table 2-3: The normal values used for SVA and TVA in temporal midstance to late stance.

| Normal values (°of inclination) | Temporal m | oral midstance | FZ2 | 22 | Maximum TV | m TVA |
|--|-------------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------------|--------------------|----------------|
| | Range (SD) | Used value | μ. | tange (SD) Used value | Range (SD) | Used value |
| SVA | 8.5-15.5° (3.5) | 12° | 22-28° (3) | 25° | $30-36^{\circ}(3)$ | 33° |
| TVA | $4-8^{\circ}(2)$ | 6° | 19-23° (2) | 21° | $19-25^{\circ}(3)$ | 22° |
| SVA: shank to vertical angle, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, SD: standard deviation, FZ2: second peak of the vertical | VA: thigh to vert | ical angle, SI | D: standard dev | viation, FZ2: s | second peak or | f the vertical |

component of the ground reaction force.

| | Υ. |
|---|---|
| | Ξ. |
| | Ħ |
| • | FZ2 in temporal midstance to late stance. |
| | 2 |
| | Ð |
| • | Ξ. |
| | late |
| | _ |
| | 2 |
| Ĩ | |
| | ce |
| | 2 |
| | 9 |
| | <u>0</u> |
| | midstanc |
| | С. |
| • | Ξ |
| | Ľ |
| | |
| | oral |
| | <u> </u> |
| | 0 |
| | പ |
| | מ |
| | 2 |
| | rzz in temj |
| | |
| | 9 |
| | |
| ļ | 7 |
| ľ | |
| Ē | L |
| | |
| | |
| ľ | 0 |
| | no |
| | and |
| | A and |
| | A and |
| | V A and |
| | I V A and |
| Ē | IVA and |
| Ē | A, IVA and |
| Ĕ | A, IVA and |
| | VA, 1VA |
| | values for SVA, IVA |
| | values for SVA, IVA |
| | values for SVA, IVA |
| | VA, 1VA |
| | -test values for SVA, IVA |
| | values for SVA, IVA |
| | I-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | -test values for SVA, IVA |
| | -4: I-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | 2-4: 1-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | e 2-4: 1-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | e 2-4: 1-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | e 2-4: 1-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | e 2-4: 1-test values for SVA, IVA |
| | e 2-4: 1-test values for SVA, IVA |

| Phase of gait | Elements | Elements Absolute Mean SD | SD | t-value | Df | P-value | 95% CI | |
|------------------------|----------|---------------------------|-------|--------------|----|-------------|--------|-------|
| | | | | | | Lower | Lower | Upper |
| Temporal midstance TVA | | 3.62 | 3.07 | 4.71 | 15 | <0.001 | 1.99 | 5.26 |
| At FZ2 | SVA | 8.31 | 6.70 | 6.70 4.96 | 15 | <0.001 4.74 | 4.74 | 11.88 |
| | TVA | 5.37 | 3.81 | 5.64 | 15 | <0.001 3.34 | 3.34 | 7.40 |
| | FZ2 | 6.37 | 16.95 | | 15 | 15 0.076 | -2.66 | 15.41 |
| At maximum TVA | | 7.43 | 5.45 | 5.45 | 15 | <0.001 | 4.53 | 10.34 |
| | TVA | 8.18 | 4.46 | 4.46 7.34 15 | 15 | <0.001 | 5.81 | 10.56 |
| | | | | | | | | |

SVA: shank to vertical angle, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, SD: standard deviation, df: degrees of freedom, P-values in red: significant values at 0.05 level.

| d) |
|---|
| <u> </u> |
| 2 |
| aı |
| st |
| e |
| at |
| - |
| 2 |
| 5 |
| ŭ |
| Ц |
| 53 |
| ds. |
| t in temporal mic |
| В |
| П |
| ra |
| Q |
| d d |
| Ä |
| Ę |
| u |
| • |
| nt |
| i |
| .2 |
| JRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late |
| Je |
| E E |
| |
| ^O |
| aı |
| d |
| Ξ |
| |
| o the hip : |
| t |
| 0 |
| relation to |
| E |
| ·Ħ |
| at |
| G |
| ũ |
| n |
| .= |
| Ē |
| e |
| H |
| E |
| . = |
| al |
| [L] |
| $\overline{\mathbf{Z}}$ |
| |
| 75 |
| GRF |
| or GF |
| for Gl |
| st for GRF alignment in re |
| cest for GI |
| s test for GI |
| r's test for GI |
| uar's test for GI |
| mar's test for GI |
| lemar's test for GI |
| Nemar's test for GI |
| AcNemar's test for GI |
| McNemar's test for GI |
| or McNemar's test for GI |
| for McNemar's test for GI |
| s for McNemar's test for GI |
| ies for McNemar's test for Gl |
| lues for McNemar's test for Gl |
| values for McNemar's test for GI |
| -values for McNemar's test for C |
| -values for McNemar's test for C |
| ² -values for McNemar's test for C |
| -5: P-values for McNemar's test for C |
| -values for McNemar's test for C |
| -5: P-values for McNemar's test for C |
| -5: P-values for McNemar's test for C |
| -5: P-values for McNemar's test for C |

| Phase/joint | Knee | Hip |
|--------------------|------|------|
| Temporal midstance | 0.5 | 0.5 |
| At FZ2 | 0.5 | 5.0 |
| At maximum TVA | 0.34 | 0.38 |
| | | |

TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, GRF: ground reaction force.

Table 2-6: The effect of an AFO-FC on the alignment of GRF in relation to the hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance.

Abnormal Normal

Ξ

Abnormal Normal

2

With AFO-FC

Barefoot

Hip

Temporal midstance: Knee

L

| Barefoot | With AFO-FC | FC |
|----------|-------------|--------|
| | Abnormal | Normal |
| Abnormal | 8 | 3 |
| Normal | 3 | 2 |

At FZ2: knee

| Barefoot | With AFO-FC | FC |
|----------|-------------|--------|
| | Abnormal | Normal |
| Abnormal | 7 | 2 |
| Normal | 1 | 9 |
| | | |

At maximum thigh to vertical: knee

| FC | Normal | 2 | 4 | |
|-------------|----------|----------|--------|---|
| With AFO-FC | Abnormal | 6 | 4 | • |
| Barefoot | | Abnormal | Normal | |

| Hip | | |
|----------|-------------|--------|
| Barefoot | With AFO-FC | FC |
| | Abnormal | Normal |
| Abnormal | 3 | 7 |
| NT 1 | | , |

Abnormal Normal

With AFO-FC

Barefoot

Hip

0 Ś

 ∞

Abnormal

Normal

| FC | Normal | L | 1 | |
|-------------|----------|----------|--------|--|
| With AFO-FC | Abnormal | 3 | 5 | |
| Barefoot | | Abnormal | Normal | |

TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, GRF: ground reaction force, AFO-FC: ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination.

| Temporal midstance SVA | nce SVA | Tempora | al midstance | | FZ2 | | | | | Maximu | Aaximum TVA | | |
|------------------------|--|---------|----------------------|------|-------|-------|----------------------|-------|-------|--------|-------------|----------------------|-------|
| | | TVA | GRF alignment | ent | SVA | TVA | GRF alignment | ient | FZ2 | SVA | TVA | GRF alignment | ent |
| | | | Knee | Hip | | | Knee | Hip | | | | Knee | Hip |
| Barefoot | Pearson and Spearman Correlation | 0.46 | -0.42 | 0.02 | 0.50 | 0.65 | -0.65 | 0.50 | 0.79 | 0.50 | -0.42 | 0.53 | -0.22 |
| | P-value | 0.14 | 0.16 | 0.48 | 0.12 | 0.055 | 0.056 | 0.12 | 0.01 | 0.12 | 0.16 | 0.10 | 0.31 |
| With AFO-FC | Vith AFO-FC Pearson and Spearman Correlation -0.44 | -0.44 | 0.73 | 0.18 | -0.57 | 0.19 | -0.34 | -0.72 | -0.47 | -0.29 | 0.18 | -0.52 | -0.24 |
| | P-value | 0.16 | 0.03 | 0.34 | 0.09 | 0.33 | 0.22 | 0.03 | 0.14 | 0.26 | 0.34 | 0.11 | 0.30 |

Table 2-7: Temporal midstance correlation results and p-values with each investigated element in Group One.

SVA: shank to vertical angle, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, GRF: ground reaction force, AFO-FC: ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination, P-values in red: significant values at 0.05 level, p-values in blue: borderline significance at 0.05 level.

Table 2-8: Temporal midstance correlation results and p-values with each investigated element in Group Two.

| Temporal midstance SVA | stance SVA | Temporal | Temporal midstance | | FZ2 | | | | | Maximum TVA | n TVA | | |
|------------------------|--|--------------|---------------------------|--------------|--------------|----------|----------------------|----------------|--|-------------|-------------|----------------------|------------|
| | | TVA | GRF alignment | nent | SVA | TVA | GRF alignment | nent | FZ2 | SVA | TVA | GRF alignment | ment |
| | | | Knee | Hip | | | Knee | Hip | | | | Knee | Hip |
| Damefood | Pearson and Spearman Correlation -0.19 | -0.19 | -0.03 | -0.48 | 0.35 | -0.22 | 0.57 | -0.45 | 0.14 | -0.42 | -0.08 | 0.67 | -0.19 |
| Darelool | P-value | 0.31 | 0.46 | 0.09 | 0.17 | 0.27 | 0.054 | 0.11 | 0.35 | 0.12 | 0.41 | 0.02 | 0.31 |
| | Pearson and Spearman Correlation 0.34 | 0.34 | 0.08 | -0.51 | 0.11 | 0.20 | 0.20 | 0.095 | 0.69 | 0.02 | 0.61 | 0.79 | -0.04 |
| WILL AFU-FU | P-value | 0.18 | 0.41 | 0.07 | 0.38 | 0.30 | 0.29 | 0.40 | 0.01 | 0.47 | 0.03 | 0.006 | 0.45 |
| SVA: shank to | SVA: shank to vertical angle, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: | cal angle, l | | I peak of th | e vertical c | omponent | of the grour | id reaction fo | second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, GRF: ground reaction force, AFO-FC: ankle-foot | round reac | tion force, | , AFO-FC: a | ankle-foot |

orthosis-footwear combination, P-values in red: significant values at 0.05 level, p-values in blue: borderline significance at 0.05 level.

| Type | 0 | 2 | 0 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 3 | 2 | 4 | 2 | 0 | 4 | 4 | 2 | 5 | |
|------------------|-----|----|-----|----|-----|-----|---------------|----|---------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|---|
| FZ2 with AFO-FC% | 105 | L6 | 108 | 84 | 103 | 100 | 115 | 93 | 86 | 68 | 66 | 108 | 81 | 85 | 66 | 65 | |
| Type | 5 | 5 | 2 | 2 | 3 | 5 | 4 | 4 | 5 | 4 | 4 | 0 | 2 | 2 | 0 | 3 | |
| FZ2 in barefoot% | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| FZ2 i | 92 | 76 | 95 | 66 | 92 | 72 | 89 | 80 | 71 | 85 | 80 | 107 | 96 | 95 | 106 | 92 | |
| Р | P1 | P2 | P3 | P4 | P5 | P6 | $\mathbf{P7}$ | P8 | $\mathbf{P9}$ | P10 | P11 | P12 | P13 | P14 | P15 | P16 | ſ |

Table 2-9: FZ2 values and Ben Lomonding type in barefoot and with AFO-FC.

P: participant, AFO-FC: ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force.

| Participants | Temporal midstance FZ2 | FZ2 | | | Maximu | Maximum TVA Overall influence | Overall | l influe | nce | |
|------------------------------|------------------------|----------|-----------------|-----|--------|-------------------------------|-------------------|----------|-------|--|
| | TVA | SVA | SVA TVA FZ2 SVA | FZ2 | | TVA | Better Same Worse | Same | Worse | |
| PI | Z | 1 | z | 1 | 1 | 1 | 4 | 2 | | |
| P2 | N | 1 | Z | 1 | 0 | Z | 2 | 3 | 1 | |
| P3 | Z | Z | 1 | 1 | Z | 1 | 3 | 3 | | |
| P4 | Z | 1 | z | 0 | 1 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 1 | |
| P5 | Z | Z | 1 | 1 | Z | 1 | 3 | 3 | | |
| P6 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 6 | - | | |
| P7 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 5 | - | 1 | |
| P8 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 9 | | | |
| P9 | 0 | Z | z | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | |
| P10 | Z | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 5 | 1 | | |
| P11 | 1 | 1 | z | 1 | 0 | z | 3 | 2 | 1 | |
| P12 | Z | z | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 3 | 2 | 1 | |
| P13 | Z | 0 | z | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 5 | 4 | |
| P14 | Z | Z | z | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 3 | 2 | |
| P15 | N | 0 | Z | 0 | Z | 0 | | 3 | 3 | |
| P16 | N | Z | Z | 0 | Z | Z | 1 | 5 | 1 | |
| Overall positive influence 4 | 4 | 8 | 7 | 11 | 5 | 10 | | | | |
| | - 4 | - V 1 ML | 4-1-1-1 | | | ULLL -1- | | | 5 - 1 | |

Table 2-10: The agreement between the investigated variables with positive significant influence with the use of an AFO-FC.

P: participant, SVA: shank to vertical angle, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, AFO-FC: ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination, (0): indicates negative influence, (1): indicates positive influence, N: indicates no change.

Table 2-11: The effect of an AFO-FC on the alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip and knee joints in temporal midstance to late stance.

| | Temporal midstance FZ2 | nidstance | FZ2 | | Maximum TVA | n TVA |
|---|------------------------|-------------|---------|--------|---------------|-----------|
| | Knee | Hip | Knee | Hip | Knee Hip Knee | Hip |
| Better | 3 | 6 | 4 | 3 | 3 | L |
| Worse | 5 | 4 | 1 | 1 | 5 | 5 |
| Same | 8 | 6 | 11 | 12 | 8 | 4 |
| Ideal position | 2* | 2* | 6^* | 5* | 4* | 1* |
| *). indicates the number of norticinants with ontimum alignments hafore | number of r | articipante | with or | minnin | alionmen | te heford |

(*): indicates the number of participants with optimum alignments before and after an AFO-FC, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, GRF: ground reaction force, AFO-FC: ankle-foot orthosis-footwear combination.

| | പ് | |
|---------------------------------------|---|----------|
| | ပ္ရ | |
| | a | |
| | S | |
| | 10 | |
| | Ξ | |
| - | Ę | |
| | Ë | |
| | ă | |
| | Ξ | |
| | ē | |
| | g and in te | |
| • | Ξ | |
| | g | |
| | a | |
| | ы | 0 |
| • | 11 | |
| | g | |
| | a | |
| 1 | S | |
| | e the SVA measured while standing and in temporal midstance | |
| • | Б | |
| ľ | ß | |
| - | - | |
| | ĕ | |
| | Π | |
| | as | |
| | ğ | |
| | Ħ | |
| • | | |
| 1 10 | SVA measure | |
| ζ | 2 | |
| | g | |
| 7 | Ξ | |
| | b. | <u> </u> |
| | 2 | U |
| | 3ut. | U |
| • | aring | |
| • | Daring | |
| • | omparing | |
| • | comparing | |
| • • • • • | comparing | |
| • | for each participant, comparing | |
| • | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · · · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | or each participant. comparing | |
| | : AFU characteristics for each participant. comparing | |
| | 12: AFU characteristics for each participant, comparing | |
| | 12: AFU characteristics for each participant, comparing | |
| | 12: AFU characteristics for each participant, comparing | |
| | 12: AFU characteristics for each participant, comparing | |

| Participants | SVA measured at temporal midstance | SVA measured while standing | AFO characteristics |
|---------------|--|--------------------------------------|--------------------------|
| P1 | +17 | +10 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P2 | +18 | +7 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P3 | +15 | +7 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P4 | +14 | +11 | Stiff |
| P5 | +12 | +10 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P6 | +13 | No info | - |
| P7 | +12 | +11 | Stiff |
| P8 | +12 | +10 | Stiff |
| P9 | +18 | +10 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P10 | +10 | +6 | Stiff |
| P11 | +12 | +12 | Stiff |
| P12 | +18 | +5 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P13 | +12 | +8 | Stiff |
| P14 | +16 | +9 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P15 | +15 | +8 | Insufficiently stiff |
| P16 | +26 | +10 | Insufficiently stiff |
| SVA: shank to | SVA: shank to vertical angle, AFO: ankle-foot orthosis, (+): indicates shank inclination, Stiff: the difference is | s, (+): indicates shank inclination, | Stiff: the difference is |

within $\pm 5^{\circ}$, insufficiently stiff, the difference is above $\pm 5^{\circ}$.

| ЛFО | |
|---|---|
| , AA/ | |
| nded | |
| e exte | |
| n the knee exte | |
| vith th | |
| s length wit | Ö. |
| emius length with the knee ext | iff AF |
| cnem | ntly st |
| gastrc | fficier |
| nporal midstance and when standing, gast | h insu |
| n stan | ts with in |
| d whe | icipants |
| nce an | e in parti |
| iidstar | scle ii |
| oral m | nm sn |
| tempo | cnemi |
| /A in | gastroc |
| the SV | f the g |
| ween | igth of |
| ce bet | ole ler |
| feren | ivailał |
| 3: Dif | ctive/a |
| Table 2-13: Difference between the SVA in tem | and the active/available length of the gastrocnem |
| Tab | and |

| Р | Difference in SVA | Gastrocnemius length | AAAFO | Difference in SVA Gastrocnemius length AAAFO Gastrocnemius active/available length |
|--------------------------------|--|---|---|--|
| Ρ1 | L | 6PF | 0 | -13 |
| P2 | 11 | 3DF | 10 PF | +2 |
| P3 | 8 | 4PF | No info | 1 |
| P9 | 8 | 0 | 14 PF | 9+ |
| P12 | 13 | 9 DF | 0 | -4 |
| P14 | L | 2 PF | 0 | -6 |
| P15 | L | 3 DF | No info | 1 |
| P16 | 16 | 5 DF | 8 PF | -3 |
| P: parti of the a muscle | icipant, PF: plantarflex ankle-foot orthosis, A length, (+): indicates | P: participant, PF: plantarflexion, DF: dorsiflexion, SVA: shank to verti of the ankle-foot orthosis, AFO: ankle-foot orthosis, (-): indicates sho muscle length, (+): indicates the available length of the gastrocnemius. | A: shank to (-): indicate e gastrocne | P: participant, PF: plantarflexion, DF: dorsiflexion, SVA: shank to vertical angle, AAAFO: angle of the ankle of the ankle-foot orthosis, AFO: ankle-foot orthosis, (-): indicates shortness in the available gastrocnemius muscle length, (+): indicates the available length of the gastrocnemius. |

Table 2-14: GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joint in P1 and P14 in barefoot and with an AFO-FC.

| Р | Temporal midstance | idstance | | | At FZ2 | | | | At maximum TVA | TVA | | |
|--------------------|------------------------------|---|---------------------------------|-----------------|------------------|--|-------------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|-----------------|------------------|
| | Knee | | Hip | | Knee | | Hip | | Knee | | Hip | |
| | Barefoot | AFO-FC | 3arefoot AFO-FC Barefoot AFO-FC | | Barefoot | AFO-FC | Barefoot | AFO-FC Barefoot | Barefoot | AFO-FC | Barefoot AFO-FC | AFO-FC |
| P1 | Ext WSM | Ext ASM | Ext WSMExt ASMFlex ASMExt ASM | Ext ASM | KJC | Flex WSM | Flex WSM Flex WSM | HJC | KJC | Flex WSM HJC | HJC | Ext WSM |
| P14 | KJC | 14 KJC Ext OSM HJC | HJC | Flex OSM | Flex OSM | Flex OSM Flex OSM Ext ASM Ext OSM Flex ASM Flex OSM Ext ASM Ext OSM Ext OSM | Ext ASM | Ext OSM | Flex ASM | Flex OSM | Ext ASM | Ext OSM |
| P: parti | cipant, GRF: 3 | ground reactio. | n force, FZ2: s | econd peak of 1 | the vertical cor | : participant, GRF: ground reaction force, FZ2: second peak of the vertical component of the ground reaction force, TVA: thigh to vertical angle, Flex=the GRF causes joint flexion, | ground reaction | force, TVA: | thigh to vertica | ul angle, Flex=t | he GRF cause | s joint flexion, |
| Ext=th(margin(| e GRF causes s, WSM=withi | Ext=the GRF causes joint extension, margins, WSM=within skin margins. | n, KJC=the GR s. | F passes throug | gh the knee joi | Ext=the GRF causes joint extension, KJC=the GRF passes through the knee joint centre, HJC=the GRF passes through the hip joint centre, ASM=at skin margins, OSM=outside skin nargins, WSM=within skin margins. | the GRF passes | s through the | nip joint centre | , ASM=at skin | margins, OSN | 1=outside skin |

119

Chapter 3 Relationship between the catch angle/length of rectus femoris measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the hip and the knee joint during gait

3.1 Introduction

Spasticity (dynamic shortness) and true shortness of the RF is common amongst subjects with diplegic CP. The RF is one of the four muscles which form the quadriceps femoris muscle group. It is a bi-articular muscle which crosses the hip and knee joints. Its action flexes the hip joint and extends the knee joint.

Contradictory evidence was observed in the literature about the exact timing of the RF muscle activation during normal gait. Perry et al.^{19, 59} and Nene et al.²⁰ reported a single burst of RF muscle activity at the transition from stance to swing phase. This single-burst activity was found to increase with increased walking velocity to limit heel rise. Meanwhile, other authors have reported two bursts of activity for the RF during gait.^{21, 22, 66, 214-219} The first burst of RF activity occurred at the transition from swing-to-stance phase, while the second burst of activity occurred at the transition from stance-to-swing phase.^{22, 66, 214-220} Conrad et al.²¹ explain the occurrence of the second burst of RF activity as actively participating in rapid hip flexion and/or controlling passive knee flexion. The first burst of activity of the RF was proposed by a number of studies to help the vastii muscles to control weight acceptance, assist in knee extension and develop the muscle tension required during the loading response to control knee flexion.^{22, 214, 215} On the other hand, Perry et al.¹⁹ reported that the RF did not assist the

KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF

vastii muscles during the loading response and early midstance. Additionally, they stated that no RF activity or brief bursts of activity in the stance-to-swing transition were found in subjects walking at a self-selected speed.¹⁹ In contrast, a study by Csongradi et al.²³ reported that the RF activity during the transition from stance-toswing is smaller and non-significant compared with the RF activity in the transition from swing-to-stance phase. It was reported that this inconsistency may be justified due to the different methods of EMG (Electromyography) recording used.²⁰ Studies that reported two bursts of activity of the RF used surface electrodes, whereas studies that reported a single burst of activity of the RF used fine wire electrodes. The use of fine wire electrodes diminishes any cross talk activity produced from the surrounding muscles, such as the vastus intermedius muscle.^{23, 66, 221, 222} Furthermore, Perry et al.²⁵ classified four patterns of RF muscle activity in subjects with diplegic CP. A total of 45 patients were included, and the following 4 patterns for RF muscle activity were identified using fine wire EMG: activity in swing phase only (n=26), continuous and intense activity throughout gait (n=9), low level stance phase activity and strong swing phase activity (n=5), and isolated stance phase activity prior to initial swing (n=5).²⁵

True shortness and spasticity (dynamic shortness) of the RF cause restriction of hip extension when the knee is flexed or restriction of knee flexion when the hip is extended. In the 1980s, it was found that inappropriate activity of the RF muscle during swing phase is the primary cause of stiff-knee gait (SKG) due to generation of excessive internal knee extension moments in swing. The inappropriate activity of the RF in SKG, which causes diminished and/or delayed peak swing phase knee flexion, has been considered an indication for RF transfer surgery.²⁴⁻²⁶ Furthermore, it was

found that SKG is not only associated with reduced and/or delayed peak knee flexion but is also associated with reduced total knee ROM during gait^{24, 223} and reduced range of knee flexion in early swing phase.²⁷ In 1996, Piazza and Delp²²⁴ carried out a study using a muscle-actuated dynamic simulation module to examine how muscle action affects the peak knee flexion in swing in normal gait. They reported that, in addition to the abnormal activity of the RF during swing phase, altered toe-off knee flexion velocity, altered hip flexion velocity and decreased internal hip flexion moment in swing may reduce the peak knee flexion in swing.²²⁴ This was further confirmed by Goldberg et al.,²⁷ where kinematic conditions at toe-off and internal joint moments in early swing phase of subjects with SKG and spastic RF muscle (CP) were compared with normal subjects. Goldberg et al.²⁷ suggested that the reduced peak knee flexion observed in SKG may be caused by low knee flexion velocity at toe-off observed in subjects with CP.^{27, 225} When simulated models were applied, increased peak knee flexion in swing was achieved by increasing knee flexion velocity at toe-off to the average normal values. However, the timing of the peak knee flexion remained delayed. Additionally, this study found that most subjects exhibited normal or below normal internal knee extension moment in swing, thus contradicting the proposed link commonly made between altered RF muscle function, altered swing phase internal knee extension moments and reduced peak knee flexion. Another observation reported by this study was that most of the limbs did not exhibit reduced internal hip flexion moment, contradicting the findings of the study by Piazza and Delp.²²⁴ Two further studies confirmed the importance of investigating the RF muscle activity during preswing as it may influence knee flexion velocity at toe-off, which in turn reduces peak knee flexion.^{30, 226}

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing

PKF

A further study used a forward simulation model of normal gait and found that abnormal activity of the RF muscle during double support has the potential to decrease knee flexion velocity at toe-off, which causes reduction of peak knee flexion in swing.²⁹ This was taken forward and tested amongst subjects with CP in a study comparing internal hip and knee joint moments during double support and swing phase and knee flexion velocity during toe-off before and after RF transfer surgery.²⁸ This study confirmed that none of the subjects showed reduction in internal hip flexion moment or excessive internal knee extension moment during the swing phase. Subjects with SKG tended to walk with reduced knee flexion velocity at toe-off and high internal knee extension moment in the double support phase of gait.²⁸ This indicates that investigating the internal moments during double support is important as these moments may affect the peak knee flexion by reducing the toe-off knee flexion velocity. However, vague and insufficient information about related physical assessment (muscle spasticity and joint contractures) was provided in both studies by Goldberg et al.,^{27, 28} the study by Reinbolt et al.³⁰ and the study by Knuppe et al.²²⁶

Currently, the Duncan-Ely test is used to measure the length and the spasticity of the RF.^{31, 32} With the subject prone and the hip in anatomical neutral position, the knee is slowly flexed to test the length of the RF (R2) and rapidly flexed to test the spasticity of the RF (R1). The test is positive if the ipsilateral hip rises and is negative if it does not rise. If the test is positive, the angle at which the ipsilateral hip raise occurs is measured. The Duncan-Ely test has been frequently referenced in several orthopaedic physical assessment books and manuals and used as a research tool to test RF flexibility.^{31, 227-231} This suggests the Duncan-Ely's test face validity. Additionally, this

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing test is found to be a helpful predictor of outcomes for RF transfer surgery. Kay et al.²³² investigated the prognostic significance of the Duncan-Ely test for distal RF transfer surgery amongst subjects with CP. This study established that the subjects who exhibited a positive Duncan-Ely test preoperatively seemed to achieve better results following the surgery in comparison to the subjects who had negative test results preoperatively.²³² A further study investigated the sensitivity (the ability to detect RF dysfunction resulting in SKG), specificity (the ability to detect the absence of RF dysfunction resulting in SKG) and the predictive value of the Duncan-Ely test (R1) amongst subjects with CP.³² The positive predictive value indicates that the subjects who test positively would have SKG with spastic RF. In contrast, the negative predictive value indicates that subjects who test negatively would not exhibit SKG with spastic RF. This study concluded that the sensitivity, specificity and negative predictive values were found to be low. The specificity was affected by the high number of subjects who had a negative Duncan-Ely test during the examination but still exhibited some features of SKG, including decreased knee ROM, abnormal RF EMG in swing and delayed timing of peak knee flexion in swing. The author justified this by the fact that passive examination may fail to provide information about dynamic activity and that RF spasticity is not the only cause of the presence of SKG. The test proved to have a good positive predictive value, indicating that a positive test value predicts the presence of SKG with spastic RF. However, it would have been useful to know the catch angles of the RF to evaluate if there was a threshold value for the catch, i.e. if the catch angle crosses the threshold value, no or minimal features of RF dysfunction will be presented.³² Another study examined the sensitivity, specificity and intertester reliability of the Duncan-Ely test amongst subjects with CP.²³³ In this

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing study, the knee joint was moved using three different velocities (slow, gravity and fast) according to the Tardieu scale.^{51, 234} The ICC values were found to be good (ICC=0.62-0.80), with the highest ICC values obtained using the fast velocity test (ICC=0.80). The highest sensitivity and specificity values were reported with the fast velocity test and were found to be higher than the values reported by Marks et al.³² Additionally, this study found that 63% of subjects during the gravity velocity test and 66.7% of subjects during the fast velocity test exhibited decreased peak knee flexion in swing when the knee angle measured using the Duncan-Ely test was less than 78.3° during the gravity velocity test and less than 65° during the fast velocity test.²³³ In contrast, Peeler and Anderson²³⁵ found lower intertester reliability (ICC=0.66) for the Duncan-Ely test amongst healthy subjects. The intratester reliability ranged from weak to excellent reliability (0.50-0.83), with the mean having good reliability (0.69).²³⁵

It can be observed from the literature that there is inconsistent evidence about the activation of the RF during gait and the effect of RF dysfunction on gait. Additionally, none of the studies examining the effect of RF dysfunction and the sensitivity and specificity of the Duncan-Ely test considered the position of the hip joint while the knee joint motion was measured during the gait. As mentioned above, the RF is a bi-articular muscle which crosses both hip and knee joints. It will be useful to observe if the knee joint flexion is achieved at the expense of the hip joint, i.e. if the knee joint 'borrowing' the RF length causes the hip joint to flex further.

It is noted in the literature that the Duncan-Ely test is frequently used as an assessment tool for measuring RF spasticity and length. However, vague information is found in the literature about the test method and the interpretation of the results obtained. The test method is ambiguous in terms of the knee flexion velocity, and the results are based on the examiner's judgment, making this test subjective. Studies provided valuable awareness of RF dysfunction contribution to SKG, but the significance of the catch angle and muscle length is not well defined, i.e. how does a catch angle/length measured at 45° affect the gait? What is the difference between a catch angle/length measured at 40° or 70° on the walking pattern? What, if any, is the threshold value for the catch angle/length that, if exceeded, has no effect on the gait?

In a clinical environment, 3D gait analysis is not always available; hence, it will be useful if the results of the physical examinations are found to link directly to the deviations found in the gait. Based on the literature and theoretical basis, dynamic or true shortness of the RF can affect the hip and/or the knee joint at maximum hip extension in stance, in early swing²⁷, at peak knee flexion in swing^{26, 223} and at peak hip flexion in swing. Additionally, true and dynamic shortness of the RF can influence the timing of peak knee flexion in swing.^{26, 223}

This study was carried out to investigate gaps found in the literature about the understanding of results obtained using the Duncan-Ely test. The developed research questions are as follows:

- What is the relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the hip and/or the knee joint:
- a. at maximum hip extension in stance (MHE)?
- b. in early swing?

KMHE

RKFES

RHFES

PKF

MHE

- c. at peak knee flexion in swing (PKF)?
- d. at peak hip flexion in swing (PHF)?
- 2. Is a dominance relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF found with the hip or the knee joint?
- 3. What is the relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF)?
- 4. Is the effect of dynamic shortness of the RF on gait different from the effect of true shortness of the RF, and is a dominant relationship found with the hip or the knee joint?
- 3.2 Methods
- 3.2.1 Participants

This retrospective study received appropriate ethical approval from the West of Scotland Research Ethics Service, Clinical Research & Development Office of Greater Glasgow & Clyde Health Board and Caldicott Guardian. All the data were collected from the Neurobiomechanics Department, West of Scotland Mobility and Rehabilitation Centre, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow, UK.

The inclusion criteria for this study required that each subject:

- was diagnosed with diplegic CP
- was aged≥7
- did not suffer from any conditions resulting in lower limb sensory deficit
- was ambulatory (with/without walking aids)
- underwent the required physical assessment (Duncan-Ely test, hip and knee ROM)
- had a positive Duncan-Ely test (dynamic and/or true shortness)

• underwent lower limb kinematic and kinetic gait data collection

Participants were excluded if they had fixed static lower limb flexion contracture deformity mono-articular muscles or if any of the physical assessment information was not reported. Participants from age 7 were included because it is accepted that an adult gait pattern is reached by that age.¹⁹⁴

Twenty participants were identified from a pre-existing patient database in the Neurobiomechanics Department, West of Scotland Mobility and Rehabilitation Centre, Queen Elizabeth University Hospital, Glasgow. A total of 37 limbs were included (3 limbs were excluded due to the presence of fixed flexion contracture and/or insufficient physical assessment information provided). Involved participants were aged between 7 and 19 years (11 years±3.4 years). All participants were ambulatory (17 independent, 3 with assistive devices). Physical examination and gait analysis (3D kinematic analysis) were carried out for each subject as part of the routine clinical procedure by the same group of examiners. Vicon Polygon software and Nexus software were used to process and analyse the data collected using the Vicon motion analysis system. A plug-in gait model was applied, and all the subjects were asked to walk barefoot at their own chosen speed. All the physical assessments were carried out by two physiotherapists specialised in paediatric with neurological conditions. The UG was used to measure the catch angle/length of the RF using the Duncan-Ely test. Control gait data were collected from the same department using the same methods from 10 healthy subjects who were aged between 5 to 8 years (6 years±0.82 years) (Table 3-1).

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF In normal gait, the maximum knee flexion angle is approximately 60°; hence, a catch or shortness greater than or equal to 60° should have minimal or no effect on gait.⁶⁵ Limbs were divided into two main groups per the catch angle/length: Group A: limbs with catch angle/length<60° (n=19) and Group B: limbs with catch angle/length \geq 60° (n=18). To study Question 4, all limbs were divided based on the presence of the dynamic or true shortening: Group C: limbs with dynamic shortness (n=20) and Group D: limbs with true shortness (n=17). Within Group C, limbs were further divided: Group C1: limbs with catch angle<60° (n=13) and Group D2: limbs with catch angle Group D1: limbs with length<60° (n=6) and Group D2: limbs with length \geq 60° (n=11).

3.2.2 Study design

The investigated gait variables were measured from the average values of the 3D gait kinematics data collected by the department and were identified as follows:

- Knee at MHE (KMHE): the measured position of the knee at MHE
- MHE: the maximum extension/minimum flexion of the hip in stance
- RKFES: the range of knee flexion measured from toe-off to PKF
- RHFES: the range of hip flexion measured from toe-off to PKF
- PKF: the peak/maximum knee flexion observed in swing
- Hip at PKF (HPKF): the measured position of the hip at the point of PKF
- Knee at PHF (KPHF): the measured position of the knee at the point of PHF
- PHF: the peak/maximum hip flexion observed in swing
- TPKF: the timing when PKF occurs, calculated as a percentage of the entire gait

3.2.3 Statistical analysis

Linear regression models were employed to predict the relationship between the catch angle/length found during the Duncan-Ely test and the hip or the knee joint at the selected points/periods of gait. For a power of 80% at the 5% level of significance, an \mathbb{R}^2 of 39% could be detected from a sample of 20 limbs in any sub-sample when 2 input variables were used.²³⁶ All calculations were performed using SPSSTM software. The right limb was given the value 1, and the left limb was given the value 0. Additionally, the interaction between the side of the limb and the input variables was calculated. To establish a dominance effect of the RF, catch angle/length on the hip and the knee joints at the chosen points/periods of gait, several steps were followed. Initially, the knee was set as the output which included KMHE, RKFES, PKF and KPHF. The following inputs were tested: the limb (left or right), catch angle/length, hip position and interaction of the limb with catch angle/length and hip. Then, the hip was set as the output including MHE, RHFES, HPKF and PHF. The tested inputs included the limb (left or right), catch angle/length, knee position and interaction of the limb with catch angle/length and knee. For TPKF, the limb, catch angle/length and interaction between the limb and catch angle/length were inserted. Following that, if the limb and the interaction of the limb with the other inputs were not significant, these inputs were excluded, and the regression was re-run again. Then, the hip or the knee position (input) was excluded if found insignificant, and the regression was re-run again until the final model was achieved (Appendix A). Only models where the catch angle/length was found to be a significant input were taken further and analysed. To determine the dominance effect of the RF catch angle/length on hip or knee joint, R^2 values and p-values of the linear regression models for the hip and knee joint were

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF compared at each point/period of gait. The dominance relationship was identified based on the highest R^2 value and significance of p-values of the regression and inputs. For linear regression with two inputs, the value of adjusted R^2 were considered while, for linear regression with one input the value of R^2 was taken. This method of regression is formally known as 'backward selection' with all variables being entered and then removed if non-significant.^{237, 238}

3.3 Results

3.3.1. Sample size

The sample size recruited for this study was small. This is because this study is a retrospective study and the inclusion criteria for this study is very specific. Given the sample size in each sub-sample, all the results below may be under Powered and interpreted with caution. Never the less, these results may infer models which may be tested in future amongst larger samples.

3.3.2 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)

3.3.2.1 Maximum hip extension in stance

Group A (catch angle/length<60°)

A dominance relationship was found to be between the catch angle/length and the knee joint (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). The limb and MHE were excluded as they were found to be non-significant inputs. A simple linear regression model of the KMHE with only catch angle/length as an input was found weak (R²=24.5%) but significant (p=0.031) (Table 3-4). Average KMHE was found to increase by 0.411° with each degree increase in the catch angle/length. All limbs exhibited a significant difference in MHE from normal (Table 3-1). Hip extension was only seen in five limbs with four limbs amongst them exhibiting increased KMHE. The remaining limbs did not achieve hip extension during gait (Table 3-5).

Group B (catch angle/length ≥ 60°)

The limb in both models for the MHE and KMHE was found not significant. A simple linear regression model for the MHE and KME with only catch angle/length as an input was found not significant and weak (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). Eight limbs achieved hip extension during gait (Table 3-5). Amongst these eight limbs, five had increased KMHE. From the remaining 10 limbs, which did not achieve hip extension, eight showed increased KMHE, while decreased KMHE was observed in two limbs (Table 3-5).

3.3.2.2 Early swing

Group A (catch angle/length<60°)

A dominance relationship was found between the catch angle/length and hip joint (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). Catch angle/length was found to be a significant input in the model of RHFES, while it was not a significant input in the model of RKFES. In the model of RHFES, the limb was excluded because it was found to be a non-significant input while, RKFES was found to be a significant input. The overall regression for this model was found to be significant (p<0.001) and good (R^2 =79.9%). Average RKFES was found to increase by 0.338° with each degree increase in the catch angle/length if RKFES was kept constant (Table 3-4). All limbs showed a significant difference in RKFES in comparison to normal (Table 3-1). Reduction in RKFES accompanied with decrease in RHFES was observed in thirteen limbs (Table 3-6). Three limbs had

decreased RKFES with increased RHFES. The remaining three limbs showed increased RKFES and RHFES.

Group B (catch angle/length≥60°)

No effect of the RF catch angle/length was found on the knee or the hip joint as the catch angle/length was found to be a non-significant input in both models (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). A non-significant difference was observed in RHFES between the included limbs and normal, while a significant difference in RKFES was found (Table 3-1). Eight limbs showed a reduction in RKFES and RHFES, while six limbs had increased RKFES and RHFES (Table 3-6). The remaining three limbs had increased RHFES accompanied with decreased RKFES and one limb showed normal RHFES.

3.3.2.3 Peak knee flexion in swing

Group A (catch angle/length<60°)

A dominance relationship of the catch angle/length of the RF was found with the knee joint at PKF (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). The limb and HPKF were found to be non-significant inputs; hence, they were excluded. The simple linear model for the PKF with only catch angle/length as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=25\%$) but significant (p=0.029) (Table 3-4). Average PKF was found to increase by 0.640° with each degree increase in catch angle/length. Sixteen limbs exhibited reduction in PKF, while three limbs showed increase in PKF (Table 3-7). All limbs showed reduction in HPKF (Table 3-7). Additionally, PKF and HPKF in all limbs were found to be significantly different from normal (Table 3-1). Group B (catch angle/length≥60°)

The catch angle/length of the RF was found to be a non-significant input in both models of PKF and HPKF. This may indicate that no effect of catch angle/length is seen on the knee or hip joint at PKF (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). All the limbs demonstrated a significant increase from normal in HPKF (Table 3-1). Ten limbs exhibited reduced PKF, while six limbs showed increased PKF (Table 3-7). The remaining two limbs showed normal PKF.

3.3.2.4 Peak hip flexion in swing

Group A (catch angle/length<60°)

At PHF, a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the knee joint. The limb and PHF were excluded as they were not significant (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). A simple linear regression model for the KPHF with only the catch angle/length as an input resulted to be weak (R²=33.9%) and significant (p=0.009) (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). Average KPHF was found to increase by 0.739° with each degree increase in catch angle/length (Table 3-4). All limbs exhibited a significant difference in PHF and KPHF from normal (Table 3-1). Seventeen limbs had increased PHF (Table 3-8). Amongst these 17 limbs, 15 limbs showed increased KPHF as well. Two limbs had decreased PHF accompanied with increased KPHF.

Group B (catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$)

As above, a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the knee joint. The limb and PHF were excluded because they were found not significant (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). The simple linear regression model for the KPHF with only the

catch angle/length as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=32.8\%$) but significant (p=0.013) (Tables 3-4). Average KPHF was found to decrease by 0.414° with each degree increase in catch angle/length. All limbs exhibited a significant difference in PHF and KPHF from normal (Table 3-1). Increased PHF and KPHF were observed in fifteen limbs (Table 3-8). Two limbs had decreased PHF accompanied with increased KPHF. The reaming one limb showed increased PHF with decreased KPHF.

3.3.2.5 Timing of the peak knee flexion in swing

Group A (catch angle/length<60°)

The limb was found to be a non-significant input. The simple model for the TPKF with only catch angle/length as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=8.5\%$) and not significant (p=0.227) (Table 3-14). This may be explained because TPKF remains approximately constant with any change in catch angle/length (Figure 3-1). A significant difference from normal in TPKF was found for all the limbs (Table 3-1). Sixteen limbs showed delay in the TPKF (Table 3-10), while one limb exhibited advanced TPKF. The remaining two limbs had normal TPKF.

Group B (catch angle/length ≥ 60°)

The limb was found to be a non-significant input. The simple model for the TPKF with only catch angle/length as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=18.8\%$) and not significant (p=0.072) (Table 3-9). As above, Figure 3-2 illustrates that no linear relationship exists between TPKF and catch angle/length, i.e. as the catch angle/length increases, TPKF remains approximately constant. A significant difference from

135

normal in TPKF was found for all the limbs (Table 3-1). Seventeen limbs showed delay in TPKF, while the remaining limb exhibited normal TPKF (Table 3-10).

3.3.2 Group C (dynamic shortness)

3.3.2.1 Maximum hip extension in stance

Group C1 (catch angle<60°)

No effect of RF dynamic shortening was observed on the hip or the knee joint at MHE. The limb was excluded from the models of KMHE and MHE as it was found not significant (Tables 3 & 4). The simple linear regression models for KMHE and MHE with only catch angle as an input were found weak and not significant (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). All limbs exhibited a significant difference in MHE from normal (Table 3-1). Hip extension was only seen in three limbs, and the remaining limbs did not achieve hip extension during gait (Table 3-13). Eight limbs had increased KMHE, while five limbs showed a reduction in KMHE.

Group C2 (catch angle≥60°)

As above, no relationship was found between the catch angle and the knee or the hip joint at MHE. This is because the catch angle was found to be a non-significant input in both models (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). Simple linear regression models of MHE and KMHE with only catch angle as an input were found not significant and weak. Three limbs achieved hip extension during gait (Table 3-13). Five limbs had increased KMHE.

3.3.2.2 Early swing

Group C1 (catch angle<60°)

A dominance relationship was found between the catch angle and the hip joint in early swing. The limb was excluded because it was found to be a non-significant input, while the catch angle and RKFES were found to be significant inputs in the model of RHFES (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This regression model was found to be significant (p<0.001) and good ($R^2=90.2\%$) (Table 3-14). Average RHFES was found to increase by 0.341° with each degree increase in catch angle if RKFES was held constant (Table 3-14). All limbs showed a significant difference in RKFES in comparison to normal (Table 3-1). Reduction in RKFES was observed in ten limbs (Table 3-15). Three limbs had increased RKFES. Increased RHFES was seen in four limbs. Additionally, eight limbs exhibited a reduction in RHFES, while one limb had normal RHFES (Table 3-15).

Group C2 (catch angle≥60°)

A dominance relationship of the catch angle in this group was found to be with the knee joint in early swing. The model of RKFES was significant (p=0.004) and good ($R^2=90.3\%$) (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). Additionally, the limb was a non-significant input; hence, it was excluded. In contrast, the catch angle and RHFES were found to be significant inputs in the model of RKFES. Average RKFES was found to decrease by 0.34° with each degree increase in catch angle if RHFES was held constant (Table 3-14). However, a non-significant difference was observed in RKFES and RHFES between the included limbs and normal (Table 3-1). Four limbs showed a reduction in RKFES and RHFES, while three limbs had increased RKFES and RHFES (Table 3-15).

3.3.2.3 Peak knee flexion is swing

Group C1 (catch angle<60°)

The catch angle was found to be a significant input in models of PKF and HPKF. The limb and HPKF were found not significant; hence, both inputs were excluded in the model of PKF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). Additionally, the limb and PKF were found to be non-significant inputs in the model of HPKF. Both simple linear regression models for PKF and HPK with only the catch angle as an input were found significant; however, the regression for PKF was higher. This may suggest that a dominance relationship of the catch angle is observed with the knee joint at PKF. The regression was found acceptable (R²=40.0%), only explaining 40% of the variation in PKF. Average PKF increased by 0.84° for each degree increase in catch angle (Appendix A) (Table 3-14). All the limbs demonstrated a significant difference in PKF from normal (Table 3-1). Twelve limbs exhibited reduced PKF, while one limb showed increased PKF (Table 3-16). Looking at the hip joint, all the limbs demonstrated a significant increase in hip flexion at PKF in swing (Tables 3-1 & 3-16).

Group C2 (catch angle≥60°)

The catch angle was found to be a non-significant input in the models of PKF and HPKF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This indicates that it does not affect the hip or the knee joint at PKF. The simple regression models for PKF and HPKF with only the catch angle as an input were found to be weak and not significant. Three limbs showed a reduction in PKF, while two limbs exhibited an increase in PKF (Table 3-16). The remaining two limbs had normal PKF. However, all limbs showed a significant increase in HPKF (Table 3-1).

3.3.2.4 Peak hip flexion in swing

Group C1 (catch angle<60°)

The catch angle was found to be a significant input in models of PHF and KPHF, which may indicate that the catch angle influences the hip and the knee joints at PHF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). The limb was excluded in both models as it was a non-significant input. Both regression models resulted to be significant; however, the regression for the KPHF was found higher (R²=68.1%). This may suggest that a dominance effect of catch angle is found on the knee joint at PHF. The catch angle and KPHF were found to be significant inputs in this model. Average KPHF was found to increase by 1.237° with each degree increase in the catch angle if PHF was held constant (Appendix A) (Table 3-14). All limbs exhibited a significant difference in PHF and KPHF from normal (Table 3-1). Eleven limbs had increased PHF. Amongst these 11 limbs, 10 limbs showed increased KPHF.

Group C2 (catch angle≥60°)

The catch angle was found to be a non-significant input in the models of PHF and KPHF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This indicates that the catch angle does not affect the hip or the knee joint. Simple linear regression models for PHF and KPHF with only catch angle as an input were found weak and not significant. As above, all limbs exhibited a significant difference in PHF and KPHF from normal (Table 3-1). Six limbs exhibited increased PHF accompanied with increased KPHF (Table 3-17). The remaining one limb showed a decrease in PHF and increase in KPHF.

139

3.3.2.5 Timing of peak knee flexion in swing

Group C1 (catch angle<60°)

The limb was found to be a non-significant input. The simple regression model for the TPKF with only the catch angle as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=5.5\%$) and not significant (p=0.44) (Table 3-9). Figure 3-3 illustrates that TPKF remains approximately constant with any change in catch angle. This indicates that no linear relationship exists between TPKF and catch angle. A significant difference from normal in the TPKF was found for all the limbs (Table 3-1). Ten limbs showed delay in the TPKF, while one limb exhibited early PKF in swing (Table 3-18). The remaining two limbs had normal TPKF.

Group C2 (catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$)

The limb was excluded because it was found not significant. The simple regression model for the TPKF with only the catch angle as an input was found to be weak ($R^2 = 1.1\%$) and not significant (p=0.820) (Table 3-9). As seen in Figure 3-4, which illustrates the relationship between TPKF and catch angle, TPKF remains approximately constant with any change in catch angle. As above, this indicates that no linear relationship exists between TPKF and catch angle. All limbs displayed a significant delay in the TPKF (Tables 3-1 & 3-18).

PKF

3.3.3 Group D (true shortness)

3.3.3.1 Maximum hip extension in stance

Group D1 (length<60°)

The length was found to be a non-significant input in the models of MHE and KMHE. This suggests that no relationship was observed between the length and the knee or hip joint at MHE (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Simple linear regression models for MHE and KMHE with only length as an input were found weak and not significant. All limbs exhibited a significant difference in MHE and KMHE from normal (Table 3-1). Hip extension was only seen in two limbs, and the remaining limbs did not achieve hip extension during gait (Table 3-21). Two limbs showed a reduction in KMHE, while four limbs exhibited increased KMHE.

Group D2 (length≥60°)

As above, the length was found to be a non-significant input in both models (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Simple linear regression models of MHE and KMHE with only length as an input were found to be not significant and weak. All limbs exhibited a significant difference in MHE and KMHE from normal (Table 3-1). Five limbs achieved hip extension during gait and eight limbs had increased KMHE (Table 3-21).

3.3.3.2 Early swing

Group D1 (length<60°)

The limb and RHFES were excluded in the model of RKFES and the limb and RKFES were excluded in the model of the RHFES as those inputs were found not significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Simple linear regression models for RHFES and RKFES with

only length as an input were found to be weak and not significant. This implies that no effect of length was found on the knee and the hip joint in early swing. All limbs showed a significant difference in RKFES in comparison to normal (Table 3-1). Reduction in RKFES was observed in all limbs (Table 3-22). Increased RHFES was seen in four limbs. The remaining two limbs showed normal and increased RHFES, respectively.

Group D2 (length≥60°)

The overall regression for models of RKFES and RHFES was found to be good and significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). However, the length was found to be a non-significant input in these models. Additionally, the limb was excluded because it was found to be a non-significant input (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). As above, this may show that there is no relationship between the length and the knee or the hip joint in early swing. Reduction in RKFES was observed in eight limbs, while three limbs had increased RKFES (Table 3-22). Increased RHFES was seen in six limbs. Four limbs exhibited a reduction in RHFES, and one limb showed normal RHFES (Table 3-22).

3.3.3.3 Peak knee flexion is swing

Group D1 (length<60°)

The limb was found to be not significant; hence, it was excluded from both models. Length and HPKF were found to be significant inputs in the regression model for PKF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Additionally, length and PKF were found to be significant inputs in the model of HPKF. Both regressions were significant; however, the regression for the model of HPKF was found higher (R^2 =91.1%) (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). This suggest that a dominance relationship is seen between the length and the hip joint at PKF. For each degree increase in length, average HPKF decreases by 0.999° when PKF is held constant (Table 3-23). The difference in PKF in the limbs from normal was found to be not significant (Table 3-1). All the limbs demonstrated a significant increase from normal in hip flexion at PKF in swing (Table 3-1). Four limbs exhibited reduced PKF, while two limbs showed increased PKF (Table 3-24).

Group D2 (length≥60°)

The limb and length were found to be non-significant inputs in the models for PKF and HPKF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). This may suggest that no effect of the length is seen on the hip or the knee joint at PKF. The regression model for PKF was found to be weak (R^2 =33.8%) and not significant (p=0.79). Although the model for HPKF was found to be weak (R^2 =47.3%) but significant (p=0.031), as stated above, the length was found to be a non-significant input. Seven limbs exhibited reduction in PKF, while four limbs showed increase in PKF (Table 3-24). All limbs showed a significant difference in HPKF from normal (Table 3-1).

3.3.3.4 Peak hip flexion in swing

Group D1 (length<60°)

The limb was excluded from both models as it was not significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). The length was found to be a non-significant input in both models for the PHF and KPHF, which may show no influence of the length on the hip or knee joint at PHF. Both simple linear regression models for PHF and KPHF with only length as an input were weak and not significant. All limbs exhibited a significant difference in PHF and

KPHF from normal (Table 3-1). Five limbs showed increased PHF and KPHF (Table 3-25). The remaining one limb exhibited increased PHF with decreased KPHF.

Group D2 (length≥60°)

As above, the limb and the length were found to be non-significant inputs. This may indicate that no relationship exists between the length and the hip or the knee joint at PHF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). The simple linear regression models for PHF and KPHF with only length as an input were found not significant and weak. However, all limbs exhibited a significant difference in PHF and KPHF from normal (Table 3-1). Nine limbs showed increased PHF and KPHF (Table 3-25). A further limb exhibited decreased PHF with increased KPHF, while the remaining one limb showed the opposite.

3.3.3.5 Timing of peak knee flexion

Group D1 (length<60°)

The limb was found to be a non-significant input. The simple linear regression model for the TPKF with only length as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=36.3\%$) and not significant (p=0.206) (Table 3-9). A non-significant difference from normal in the TPKF was found for all the limbs (Table 3-1). All the limbs showed delay in the TPKF in swing (Table 3-26). As the length increased, the TPKF remained approximately constant. This may explain the inability to detect the linear relationship (Figure 3-5).

Group D2 (length≥60°)

As above, the limb was excluded because it was found to be a non-significant input.

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF 144
The simple linear regression model for the TPKF with only length as an input was found to be weak ($R^2=21.6\%$) and not significant (p=0.149) (Table 3-9). Ten limbs displayed a delay in the TPKF (Tables 3-1 & 3-26). As seen in Figure 3-6, which illustrates the relationship between TPKF and length, TPKF remains approximately constant with any change in length.

3.4 Discussion

This study was carried out to examine the relationship between catch angle/length measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the hip or the knee joint at MHE, in early swing, at PKF and at PHF. Additionally, this study investigated if a dominance relationship was found between the catch angle/length and the hip or knee joint at the selected gait points/periods. Overall, the regression models for the KMHE, PKF, KPHF and RHFES in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) and KPHF in Group B (catch angle/length \geq 60°) were found to be significant (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). This may suggest that dominance relationship of the catch angle/length<60°) and at PHF in Group B (catch angle/length \geq 60°). In contrast, a dominance relationship was found between the catch angle/length<60°) (Tables 3-2 & 3-3).

Further analysis was performed to distinguish the effect of dynamic shortness from true shortness on the hip or the knee joint at the selected gait points/periods. Additionally, this further analysis examined if a dominance relationship with the knee or the hip joint changes in the presence of dynamic or true shortness. In Group C1 (catch angle<60°), a dominance relationship of the catch angle remained with the hip joint in early swing and with the knee joint at PKF and PHF. However, the resulting regression values for the RHFES, PKF and KPHF were found higher in Group C1 (catch angle<60°) when compared with Group A (catch angle/length<60°) (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). In contrast, in Group D1 (length<60°) a dominance relationship was found with the hip joint at PKF. The overall regression for the HPKF was higher in Group D1 (length<60°) in comparison to the regression model of the PKF in Groups A (catch angle/length<60°) and C1 (catch angle<60°) (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). In Group C2 (catch angle \geq 60°), a dominance relationship was found with the knee joint in early swing, with the regression value being good and significant (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). In Group D2 (length \geq 60°), all the regression models were found to be weak and not significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Additionally, the regression models for TPKF in all groups were found to be weak and not significant (Table 3-9).

3.4.1 Maximum hip extension in stance

3.4.1.1 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)

A dominance relationship of the catch angle/length at MHE was observed with the knee joint in Group A (catch angle/length<60°), while no relationship between the catch angle/length and hip or knee joint at MHE was found in Group B (catch angle/length \geq 60°) (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). In Group A (catch angle/length<60°), the simple linear regression with only the catch angle/length as an input was found to be weak but significant (Table 3-2). A significant and weak R² value suggests that the data can have a significant trend even with high variability. Additionally, it shows that the catch angle/length (prediction/input) still provides information about KMHE

(response/output). However, a model with a weak R^2 value has less precise predictions and a wider prediction interval (the range likely to contain the output/response value of a single new observation). On application of the output equation, a catch angle/length \geq 38° will result in normal KPHF, which increases as the catch angle/length increases (Table 3-4). However, this result should be applied with caution as the overall regression is weak. When looking at the data, only thirteen limbs achieved hip extension during gait (Table 3-5). Three limbs achieved hip extension with reduced knee flexion. Considering the RF length, this would be expected; as the hip extension increases, the knee flexion will reduce.

3.4.1.2 Group C (dynamic shortness)

In Groups C1 (catch angle<60°) and C2 (catch angle≥60°), the simple linear regression models for MHE and KMHE with only catch angle as an input were weak and not significant. This suggested that no linear relationship was found between the catch angle and the knee or the hip joint at MHE (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). A non-significant input (catch angle) indicates that the changes in the predictor/input are not associated with the changes in the response/output (MHE & KMHE). When looking at the data, only six limbs achieved hip extension during gait (Table 3-13). Two limbs with catch angles of 45° and 60° achieved hip extension with reduced knee flexion. As above, considering the RF length, this would be expected. However, an interesting observation was found in four limbs which exhibited hip extensions of 9°, 7°, 7° and 17° but had increased knee flexion above normal value of 19°, 28°, 29° and 27°, respectively (Table 3-13).

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF 147

3.4.1.3 Group D (true shortness)

No linear relationship was found between RF length and the hip or knee joint at MHE in both groups. This is because the simple regression models for MHE and KMHE with only length as an input were found to be weak and not significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). As stated above, a non-significant input (length) indicates that the changes in the predictor/input are not associated with the changes in the response/output (MHE & KMHE). Two limbs in Group D1 (length<60°) and 5 limbs in Group D2 (length \geq 60°) achieved hip extension during gait (Table 3-21). From these 7 limbs, 1 limb achieved hip extension with reduced knee flexion, while another limb had normal KMHE. Of the remaining 5 limbs, 4 limbs had below normal MHE and above normal KMHE. One limb exhibited above normal MHE and increased KMHE (Table 3-21). When three limbs with lengths of 70° are compared, one limb achieved hip extension (above normal), while the remaining two limbs did not achieve hip extension. The limb with the hip extension showed the least knee flexion which could be justified due to the RF length. However, the reduction in the knee flexion (5° below normal) was not very large compared to the increase in MHE (12° above normal) (Table 3-21).

Overall, a significant relationship was found between the catch angle/length and the knee joint at MHE in Group A (catch angle/length<60°). This shows that the catch angle/length<60° has a dominance relationship with the knee joint at MHE. However, the regression was found to be weak. It was not possible to detect whether the effect of dynamic and true shortness of the RF on the knee and hip joint at MHE was different. This may be explained by the low number of limbs in Groups C (dynamic shortness) and D (true shortness) and the variance presented. As discussed above,

variability is seen in limbs with equal catch angles/lengths. This variability may have affected the relationship, resulting in weak regression. Additionally, this is a complicated multiple regression model being used for estimation from a sample of heterogeneous limbs.

3.4.2 Early swing

3.4.2.1 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)

The model of RHFES resulted in good and significant regression in Group A (catch angle/length<60°), which illustrates that the hip had a dominance relationship with the catch angle/length in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) in early swing (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). Additionally, the models for RHFES and RKFES in Group B (catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$) were found to be good and significant. However, the catch angle/length was found to be a non-significant input in both models. A non-significant input indicates that changes in the catch angle/length are not associated with changes in RKFES or RHFES. This indicates that no effect of the catch angle/length is found on the hip or the knee joint in early swing in Group B (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). The catch angle/length was found to be directly related to RHFES in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) when RKFES was held constant (Table 3-4). On application of the equation, an approximate catch of 35-38° should result in normal RHFES (24°) when RKFES is normal (20°). Eleven limbs showed increased RKFES accompanied with increased RHFES above normal, which is an expected to accommodation for RF dynamic or true shortness (Table 3-6). In contrast, twenty-two limbs exhibited reduced RKFES and RHFES. Three limbs had a similar catch angle/length of 70° (Table 3-6). Of these, one limb had increased RKFES (35°) and RHFES (56°). The remaining two

KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF limbs had decreased RKFES (16° and 8°). Amongst these two limbs, the first limb had normal RHFES (24°), while the second limb showed above normal RHFES (35°) (Table 3-6). It might have been expected that the limb with higher RKFES would have higher RHFES compared to the other limb, as increased hip flexion is required to achieve increased knee flexion, but the opposite was found (Table 3-6).

3.4.2.2 Group C (dynamic shortness)

The models for RKFES and RHFES resulted in good and significant regression in both groups (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). In early swing, the hip had a dominance relationship with the catch angle in Group C1 (catch angle<60°), while the knee showed a dominance relationship with the catch angle in Group C2 (catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$) (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This indicates the importance of considering both the hip and knee joint positions during the gait. The catch angle was found to be directly related to RHFES (output) in Group C1 (catch angle<60°), while it was found to be inversely related to RKFES (output) in Group C2 (catch angle≥60°) when the other input was held constant (Table 3-14). It should be noted that the catch angle is directly related to RHFES and inversely related to RKFES in both groups (Table 3-14). On application of the equation, an approximate catch of 25-28° should result in normal RHFES when RKFES is normal (20°) in Group C1 (catch angle<60°). In contrast, in Group C2 (catch angle \geq 60°) a catch angle of approximately 60-62° should result in normal RKFES when RHFES is normal (24°). Six limbs showed increased RKFES accompanied with increased RHFES above normal, which is expected to accommodate for RF dynamic shortness (Table 3-15). On the other hand, twelve limbs exhibited reduced RKFES and RHFES. Two limbs had a similar catch angle of 55°. One limb had increased RKFES

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF (30°) and RHFES (41°), while the second limb had decreased RKFES (15°) and normal RHFES (24°) (Table 3-15). This, again, can be explained by the fact that further hip flexion is required to allow further knee flexion. A possible explanation for the difference seen between these two limbs with similar catch angles is the difference found in the tone of the RF. The first limb exhibited increased tone (MAS=1) while no increase in muscle tone was found in the second limb (MAS=0).

3.4.2.3 Group D (true shortness)

The model for RKFES and RHFES resulted to be weak and not significant in Group D1 (length<60°). This may indicate that no relationship was found between the length and the hip or knee joint in early swing. In Group D2 (length \geq 60°), the overall regression for RHFES and RHFES models was good and significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). However, the length was found to be a non-significant input in both models. A non-significant input indicates that changes in length are not associated with changes in RKFES or RHFES. This indicates, as above, that no influence of the length is found on the hip or the knee joint in early swing. Five limbs showed increased RKFES accompanied with increased RHFES above normal, which is expected to account for RF shortness (Table 3-22). The remaining limbs exhibited reduced RKFES with reduced, increased or normal RHFES. Three limbs had a similar length of 90° and showed a decrease in RKFES (16°, 9° and 10°). Amongst these three limbs, one limb had decreased RHFES (16°), while the remaining two limbs had increased RKFES (26° and 29°) (Table 3-22).

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF 151

A dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the hip joint in early swing in Group A (catch angle/length<60°). In contrast, the catch angle/length was found to be a non-significant input in the models of RKFES and RHFES in Group B (catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$). This may highlight that a catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$ does not affect early swing. The further analysis illustrated that dynamic shortness resulted in a relationship with the knee and hip joint in early swing, while true shortness showed no relationship. The major limiting factor when comparing between Groups C (dynamic shortness) and D (true shortness) is the difference in the number of the limbs included in each group. This may have affected the regression model and p-values. Group C1 (catch angle $< 60^{\circ}$) showed a dominance relationship of the catch angle with the hip joint, while Group D1 (length<60°) showed no relationship. In Group D2 (length> 60°), the length was found to be a non-significant input, demonstrating no relationship. In contrast, in Group C2 (catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$) a dominance relationship was seen between the catch angle and knee joint. However, cautions must be applied when using these results specifically results of Groups D2 (length 260°) and C2 (catch angle \geq 60°) due to the low number of limbs included. Additionally, the variance seen in RHFES and RKFES of the limbs with equal catch angles/lengths may explain the weak regression/no relationship found in some groups. Additionally, the heterogeneous nature of CP may have influenced the results as well.

3.4.3 Peak knee flexion in swing

3.4.3.1 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)

A significant relationship was demonstrated between catch angle/length and PKF in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). This indicates that a dominance

relationship is observed between the catch angle/length and the knee joint at PKF. However, the simple linear regression for PKF in Group A (catch angle/length $<60^{\circ}$) was weak. As above, if the regression is found to be significant but weak it demonstrates that highly variable data can have a significant trend. Additionally, it shows that the catch angle/length (prediction/input) still provides information about PKF (response/output). It should be noted that a model with a low R^2 value has less precise predictions and a wider prediction interval (the range likely to contain the output/response value of a single new observation). Catch angle/length is directly proportional to PKF, i.e. as catch angle increases, PKF increases (Table 3-4). On application of the resulting equation, a catch angle \geq 55° should result in normal PKF. However, this result should be used with caution due to the weak R² value. In Group B (catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$), no relationship between the catch angle/length and the hip or the knee joint was found at PKF (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). This may indicate that a catch angle/length >60° has no effect/minimum effect on PKF or HPKF because the maximum PKF required during gait is approximately 60°. Twenty-six limbs exhibited reduced PKF. All the limbs in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) and sixteen limbs in Group B (catch angle/length 260°) which exhibited normal, increased or decreased PKF had an increase in hip flexion measured at PKF (Table 3-7). This may indicate that further hip flexion is required to achieve further PKF, which may or may not reach normal levels. As illustrated in Table 3-7, for example, three limbs had a catch angle/length of 70°. Amongst these three limbs, one limb showed increased PKF (69°). The remaining limbs demonstrated decreased PKF of 55° and 34°, respectively (Table 3-7). The increase in HPKF was greater in the first limb (68°) followed by the second (62°), while the third limb showed normal HPKF. This is expected and can be

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF explained by fact that further hip flexion is required to achieve further knee flexion. Similar variability is also seen in the remaining limbs with equal catch angles/lengths. This variability may have affected the relationship, resulting in weak and/or not significant regression.

3.4.3.2 Group C (dynamic shortness)

A significant relationship was demonstrated between the catch angle and PKF and the catch angle and HPKF in Group C1 (catch angle<60°) (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This indicates that both the hip and the knee joint exhibited a relationship with the catch angle at PKF. The R² value was higher for the model of PKF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). However, it should be noted the overall regression was acceptable ($R^2=40.0\%$), only explaining 40% of the variation in PKF. Catch angle is directly proportional to PKF, i.e. as the catch angle increases, PKF increases (Table 3-14). On application of the resulted equation, a catch angle \geq 55° should result in normal PKF. Although the overall regression was significant, the R^2 value was acceptable; hence, results should be used with care. In Group C2 (catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$), no relationship between the catch angle and the hip or the knee joint at PKF was found (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This may indicate that a catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$ has no effect/minimal effect on PKF or HPKF because the maximum PKF required during gait is approximately 60°. Overall, three limbs showed increased PKF (Table 3-16). Additionally, further 2 limbs had normal PKF, while the remaining limbs showed reduced PKF. All the limbs which exhibited normal, increased or decreased PKF had an increase in HPKF (Table 3-16). This may indicate that further hip flexion is required to achieve further PKF, which may or may not reach normal levels. As illustrated in Table 3-16, for example, two limbs had a catch angles

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF of 55°. When these two limbs were compared, the first limb showed increased PKF (76°) while the second limb demonstrated decreased PKF (53°). However, the increase in HPKF was greater in the second limb, which is opposite from what is expected. This might be explained due to the difference in the RF tone found in both limbs. The first limb had increased tone (MAS=1), while the second limb had no increase in tone (MAS=0). Variance was also observed in the remaining limbs with the same catch angles, which may have resulted in weak and/or non-significant regression.

3.4.3.3 Group D (true shortness)

In Group D1 (length<60°), the regression model for HPKF was found to be higher than the model of PKF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). This may illustrate that a dominance relationship is found with the hip joint at PKF. The overall regression was good and significant. Additionally, the PKF was also found to be a significant input in the model of the HPKF, which may highlight the influence of the knee position on the hip position in the presence of RF shortness at PKF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). The length was found to be inversely proportional to HPKF when PKF was held constant, i.e. as the length increased, HPKF decreased towards normal value (23°) (Table 3-23). On the application of the output equation, an approximately 20° increase in knee flexion is required to obtain normal HPKF (23°) when the length of the RF is 36° (Table 3-23). In Group D2 (length $\geq 60^\circ$), no relationship between the length and PKF or HPKF was found as the length was found to be a non-significant input (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Four limbs in Group D1 (length $\leq 60^\circ$) and 7 limbs in Group D2 (length $\geq 60^\circ$) showed decreased PKF (Table 3-24). It should be noted that all the limbs in Group D1 (length $\leq 60^\circ$) and 9 limbs in Group D2 (length $\geq 60^\circ$) had an increase in HPKF (Table

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF 155

3-24). This may show that more hip flexion is mandatory to achieve further PKF to accommodate for RF shortness. Two limbs in Group D2 (length \geq 60°) showed a reduction of 26° and 12° of PKF with normal HPKF, which again relates to the RF length. As shown in Table 3-24, for example, three limbs had a length of 70°. When these three limbs were compared, one limb showed increased PKF, while the other two limbs demonstrated decreased PKF of 26° and 5°. The limb with the reduction of 26° in PKF showed normal HPKF, while the other two limbs exhibited increased HPKF (Table 3-24). This may be explained by the RF muscle length as further hip flexion is required to allow further knee flexion.

A dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the knee joint at PKF in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). However, the regression was weak but significant, which may suggest a significant trend in the data. In contrast, in Group B (catch angle/length \geq 60°) the catch angle/length was found to be a non-significant input in the models of PKF and HPKF (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). The further analysis demonstrated that the R² value increased to a higher level in Group C1 (catch angle<60°) when compared with Group A (catch angle/length<60°) (Table 3-11). However, a dominance relationship was still found to be between the catch angle and the knee joint at PKF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). In contrast, in Group D1 (length<60°), a dominance relationship was found to be between the length and the hip at PKF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Additionally, the regression value was higher for the model of HPKF when compared with the regression model of the PKF in Groups A (catch angle/length<60°) and C1 (catch angle<60°). As above, the major limiting factors when comparing between Groups C (dynamic shortness) and D (true shortness) are the

Knee at maximum hip extension Maximum hip extension in stance Range of knee flexion in early swing Range of hip flexion in early swing Peak knee flexion in swing difference in the number of limbs included in each group and the heterogeneous nature of CP. It should be noted that no relationship between the catch angle and/or length and hip joint or knee joint at PKF was found in Groups B (catch angle/length \geq 60°), C2 (catch angle \geq 60°) and D2 (length \geq 60°) (Tables 3-2 & 3-11 & 3-19). This may highlight that a catch angle and/or length \geq 60° does not affect or has a minimal effect on PKF.

3.4.4 Peak hip flexion in swing

3.4.4.1 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)

A dominance relationship was found between the catch angle/length and the knee joint in both Groups. However, the overall regression was found to be weak but significant; hence, these results should be treated with caution (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). As explained above, a significant simple linear regression model indicates that the catch angle/length (predictor/input) provides information about KPHF (response/output) even if the values fall further from the estimated regression line. Then again, the precision of the prediction is low with a wide prediction interval. On the application of the output equation in Group A (catch angle/length<60°), a catch angle \geq 28° should result in normal KPHF (26°). The catch angle/length is directly related to KPHF, i.e. as the catch angle increases, KPHF increases (Table 3-4). In Group B (catch angle/length \geq 60°), the catch angle/length is inversely related to KPHF, i.e. as the catch/length increases, HPKF moves towards normal. On application of the equation a catch angle/length \geq 112° should result in normal KPHF (26°) (Table 3-4). Overall, thirty limbs showed increased PHF accompanied with increased KPHF (Table 3-8). This is expected as further knee flexion is required to achieve further hip flexion with dynamic or true shortening. As seen in Table 3-8, for example, two limbs had a catch angle of 70°. When these two limbs were compared, both limbs showed an increase of PHF above normal (72° and 77°). However, the first limb had KPHF of 29° and the second 62°. The difference in KPHF is wider than the difference in PHF. The remaining limbs with equal catch angles/lengths illustrated similar variance. This variability may have affected the relationship, resulting in weak and/or not significant regression.

3.4.4.2 Group C (dynamic shortness)

The catch angle resulted to be a significant input in models of PHF and KPHF in Group C1 (catch angle<60°) (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). However, the overall regression was found to be higher for the model of KPHF. This indicates that a dominance relationship is seen between the catch angle and the knee joint at PHF. Additionally, PHF was found to be a significant input in this model (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). This may highlight the effect of the knee on the hip joint at PHF. On the application of the output equation, to achieve normal PHF (37°) with a catch angle of 28°, KPHF should increase by approximately 8° (Table 3-14). The catch angle is directly related to KPHF, i.e. as the catch angle increases, KPHF increases. In Group C2 (catch angle \geq 60°), no relationship was found between the catch angle and the hip or the knee joint at PHF (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). Overall, seventeen limbs showed increased PHF (Table 3-17). Additionally, further 2 had normal PHF. Amongst these 17 limbs, sixteen limbs also exhibited increased KPHF above normal, which is expected in the presence of RF dynamic shortening (Table 3-17). Variation is seen between limbs with the same catch angle, which may have affected the resulted linear regression. For example, when two limbs

with a catch angle of 48° were compared, one limb showed an increase of 23° of PHF above normal, while the other limb demonstrated an increase of 8° in PHF above normal. However, the increase in the knee joint flexion was equal in both limbs. This may be explained due to the difference found in the RF tone of both limbs, as the limb with the greater increase in PHF had no increase in tone. In contrast, the other limb showed increased tone (MAS=2). This indicates that the second limb is stiffer to move.

3.4.4.3 Group D (true shortness)

No relationship was found between the length and the hip or knee joint at PHF as the length was found to be a non-significant input in both models in both groups (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). Overall, fourteen limbs showed increased PHF and KPHF (Table 3-25). As above, this is expected, as further knee flexion is required to achieve further PHF. As seen in Table 3-25, two limbs had a length of 90°. When these two limbs were compared, one limb had PHF higher than the other limb by approximately 1°. However, the increase in KPHF in one limb was almost double the other limb. Similar variability is also seen in the remaining limbs with equal lengths, which may have influenced the resulted linear regression.

In Group A (catch angle/length<60°) and Group B (catch angle/length \geq 60°), a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the knee joint at PHF (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). However, the regression was weak but significant, which may suggest a significant trend in the data. The regression was higher in Group C1 (catch angle<60°) in comparison to Group A (catch angle/length<60°) and Group B (catch

angle/length \geq 60°) (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). No relationship was established between the length and the knee or the hip joint at PHF (Tables 3-19 & 3-20).

3.4.5 Timing of peak knee flexion in swing

3.4.5.1 Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness)

Overall, no relationship was detected between the catch angle/length of the RF and TPKF (Table 3-9). A delay in TPKF was observed in 33 limbs. A further limb showed early TPKF, while the remaining 3 limbs exhibited normal TPKF (Table 3-10). TPKF ranged from 66 to 88% of gait of the included limbs. Additionally, the difference in TPKF in all limbs from normal was found to be significant (Table 3-1). This may indicate that although a linear relationship was not established, the effect of dynamic and true shortness of the RF can be observed on TPKF (Figures 3-1 & 3-2).

3.4.5.2 Group C (dynamic shortness)

The relationship between TPK and the catch angle in both groups was found to be weak and not significant (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). When looking at the data, 11 limbs in Group C1 (catch angle<60°) showed a delay in TPKF (Table 3-18). The remaining 2 limbs had normal and below normal TPKF. Two limbs with the same catch angle, 40°, showed variability in TPKF. The first limb had a 12% delay in TPKF while the second limb exhibited normal TPKF (Table 3-18). In Group C2 (catch angle≥60°), all limbs displayed a delay in TPKF. Additionally, in Group C2 (catch angle≥60°) it was noted that as the catch angle increases, TPKF stays around approximately the same values (0.8-0.88%) (Table 3-18). The inability to detect a relationship between the catch angle

KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF 160

and TPKF could be explained due to the difference in TPKF values between different catch angles being small and inconsistent (Figures 3-3 & 3-4).

3.4.5.3 Group D (true shortness)

As above, the relationship between TPKF and length in both groups was found to be weak and not significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20) (Figures 3-5 & 3-6). All limbs in Group D1 (length<60°) and 10 limbs in Group D2 (length \geq 60°) showed a delay in TPKF (Table 3-26). The remaining one limb in Group D2 (length \geq 60°) had normal TPKF. Three limbs with the same length, 70°, showed variability in TPKF as follows: 0.78, 0.80 and 0.84 (Table 3-26).

It could be noted that no relationship is detected between the catch angle and/or length and TPKF in all groups. However, most limbs exhibited a delay in TPKF, and all limbs showed significant difference from normal (Table 3-1). This may suggest that although a linear relationship is not established, the effect of dynamic/true shortening of the RF is observed in TPKF. The difference in TPKF values between different catch angles/lengths was small and inconsistent, which may have influenced the ability to detect a linear relationship (Figures 3-1 to 3-6).

The current study showed that only thirteen limbs achieved hip extension during gait, raising the question regarding the hip joint position during the Duncan-Ely test. The position of the hip joint and knee joint during the currently used assessment procedure does not closely match the position of these joints during the period of gait when the RF affects gait. During the transition from the stance-to-swing, the hip moves from approximately 10° extension to flexion as the knee flexes further. On a theoretical basis, a short RF (dynamic or true) should limit knee flexion if the hip is in extension. This raises the issue of whether the RF muscle length/spasticity should be measured while the hip is in extension and whether a catch measured in hip extension will have a different effect on gait when compared with a catch measured at hip neutral. This study illustrated that even in subjects where the hip does not achieve hip extension or hip neutral during the gait, a catch angle/length measured at hip neutral still affects the gait.

A study by Lee et al.²³³ found that the sensitivity and specificity of the Duncan-Ely test measured at the slow and fast velocities to indicate the presence of abnormal PKF and TPKF is low and/or not significant amongst subjects with hemiplegic and diplegic CP. The current study found similar results for TPKF. However, a significant relationship between catch angle/length and the hip or knee joint at the PKF in Groups A (catch angle/length<60°), C1 (catch angle<60°) and D1 (length<60°) was observed in the current study. Another study by Marks et al.³² reported low sensitivity and specificity of the Duncan-Ely test amongst subjects with hemiplegic, diplegic and quadriplegic CP in predicting delayed TPK. The results found by Marks et al.³² agree with the findings of the current study.

In this study, thirty-seven limbs were involved. These limbs were divided into different groups; hence, the number of limbs in each group did not meet the required power calculations. Given that same variables have been used in different regression models and the small sample size in each sub-sample, caution is required in any interpretation

or generalisation of the results. Furthermore, the heterogenous nature of CP may have affected the results. Repeating this study with a larger sample size may lead to successful and meaningful models, and a relationship may be established. Additionally, this study only included subjects with diplegic CP. It would be useful to investigate the relationship amongst subjects with hemiplegic and quadriplegic CP.

This study investigated the relationship between the RF catch angle/length measured using the Duncan-Ely test with the hip or the knee joint at selected gait points/periods. The regression was significant/dominant for KME, PKF, KPHF and RHFES in Group A (catch angle/length<60°), while in Group B (catch angle/length≥60°) the model for KPHF was significant/dominant. In Group C1 (catch angle<60°), the regression models for RHFES, PKF and KPHF were significant/dominant. In contrast, the regression for RKFES was significant/dominant in Group C2 (catch angle≥60°). Meanwhile, in Group D1 (length<60°) the significant/dominant model was the model for HPKF, and all the regressions models were weak and not significant in Group D2 (length≥60°). Furthermore, the regression models for TPKF in all groups were weak and not significant. This study illustrates that a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length with the knee or the hip joint varies at different gait points/periods. This suggests that the RF can influence the knee or the hip joint. Additionally, this study shows that the effect of the dynamic shortness of the RF differs from true shortness of RF on the hip or the knee joint during gait.

It has been demonstrated in this chapter that a comprehensive assessment of biarticular muscles enhances the understanding of the influence of the muscle length/spasticity on the gait. Awareness of the presenting neurological and orthopaedic abnormalities will allow careful preparation of the AFO-FC prescription and any required adjunct therapy. Accurate measurement is essential. In the following chapter, the commonly used measurement tools for joint ROM measurements and bi-articular muscle length will be evaluated. The results of a literature review evaluating the reliability of different designs of goniometer will be presented. Furthermore, in this review different factors influencing the reliability of goniometers will be discussed. Following that, the feasibility of a 2D video analysis system (*PnO CMD*) for passive joint ROM measurement during physical assessment will be examined. The results of studies investigating the reliability and accuracy of the *PnO CMD* amongst healthy subjects will be demonstrated. Finally, the results of a reliability study of the *PnO CMD* amongst subjects with diplegic CP will be presented.

KMHE MHE RKFES RHFES PKF

164

3.5 Figures









Figure 3-3: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus catch angle in Group C1 (catch angle<60°).







Figure 3-5: Timing of peak knee flexion in swing (TPKF) versus length in Group D1 (length<60°).







3.6 Tables

| 14 | N 1 | | | | | ζ | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------------------|------------------------|---------|-----------------|-----------|---|---------|------------------------|------------|-------------|---------|----------------------|-----------|
| Measures Normal of gait Mean ^o | Normal Mean [°] | Groups A&B | | | | Group C | | | | Group D | | | |
| | (SD) | Group A: catch | | Group B: catch | ch Leo | Group C1: catch | utch | Group C2: catch | ch | Group D1: | | Group D2: Length≥60° | ength≥60° |
| | | angle/lengui<00 | | angle/lengun<00 | 200 | angle <ou< td=""><td></td><td>angle_00⁻</td><td></td><td>Lengui <00</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></ou<> | | angle_00 ⁻ | | Lengui <00 | | | |
| | | Mean ^o (SD) | P-value | Mean° | P-value | Mean° | P-value | Mean ^o (SD) | Р - | Mean° | P-value | Mean ^o | P-value |
| | | | | (SD) | | (SD) | | | value | (SD) | | (SD) | |
| KMHE | 14 (4.5) | 17.1 (6.16) | 0.02 | 25 (10.79) | <0.001 | 17 (7) | 90.0 | 29 (13.4) | 0.013 | 17 (4.5) | 0.091 | 22 (8.4) | 0.004 |
| MHE | -8 (4.8) | 6.35 (11.4) | <0.001 | 4.2 (12.1) | <0.001 | 5.6 (10.2) | <0.001 | 5.4 (13.6) | 0.02 | 7.7 (14.6) | 0.024 | 3.4 (11.7) | 0.004 |
| RKFES | 20 (4) | 14.11(9.2) | 0.006 | 15.6 (9.4) | 0.032 | 14(10.8) | 0.043 | 15.7 (10.6) | 0.165 | 14 (4.8) | 0.012 | 15.5 (9.1) | 0.06 |
| RHFES | 24 | 21.84 (10.16) | 0.183 | 25.3 (12.1) | 0.325 | 21 (10.9) | 0.2 | 22.5 (9.9) | 0.358 | 23 (9.8) | 0.463 | 27 (13.5) | 0.22 |
| PKF | 60 (5.3) | 53 (9.4) | 0.002 | 56.5 (9.2) | 0.063 | 50.5 (10) | 0.002 | 57.8 (7.5) | 0.24 | 59 (5.6) | 0.272 | 56 (10.3) | 0.108 |
| HPKF | 23 (5.5) | 39.7 (8.2) | <0.001 | 37.7 (13.1) | <0.001 | 37 (6.4) | <0.001 | 36 (5.3) | <0.001 | 44.5 (10.3) | 0.002 | 39 (16.5) | 0.004 |
| KPHF | 26 (5.3) | 38.76 (9.4) | <0.001 | 40.5 (11.7) | <0.001 | 39 (9.5) | <0.001 | 45 (6.1) | <0.001 | 37 (9.8) | 0.019 | 38 (13.7) | 600.0 |
| PHF | 37 (5.8) | 48.97 (10.1) | <0.001 | 48.9 (12.9) | <0.001 | 46 (8.6) | 0.001 | 45 (9.7) | 0.038 | 55 (10.9) | 0.004 | 51.5 (14.5) | 0.004 |
| | | | 0.001 | | 0.001 | | 0.001 | 0.00 00 000 | | | | | 0.001 |

Table 3-1: The mean and SD of gait variables measured in normal and in the groups.

KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion, TPKF: timing of the peak knee flexion, SD: standard deviation, P-values were obtained using the t-test (normality tested), P-values in red indicate that the value is statistically different from normal.
 <0.001</td>
 0.81 (0.03)
 <0.001</td>
 0.78 (0.02)
 <0.001</td>
 0.78 (0.04)
 0.79 (0.03)
 <0.001</td>
0.72 (0.03) 0.78 (0.05) TPKF

Table 3-2: Regression models between the catch angle/length and the knee or the hip joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Groups Ę .

e

| ue shortness). |
|----------------|
| & true |
| lynamic |
| B (6 |
| A & |

| Madel entert | Group A: catch angle/length< 60° | 1 angle/lei | ngth<60° | Group B: catch/length≥60° | atch/lengt | 1≥60° |
|-----------------|---|----------------|--------------------|---|----------------|------------------|
| indino ranotivi | Model input/p-value | \mathbb{R}^2 | Model p-value | Model input/p-value R ² Model p-value Model input/p-value R ² | \mathbb{R}^2 | Model p-value |
| KMHE | Catch/length/0.031 24.5% | 24.5% | 0.031 | Catch/length/0.691 | 1% | 0.691 |
| MHE | Catch/length/0.134 | 12.7% | 0.134 | Catch/length/0.190 | 10.5% | 0.190 |
| RKFES | Catch/length/0.177 | 76.4% | <0.001 | Catch/length/0.594 | 62% | <0.001 |
| | RHFES/<0.001 | | | RHFES/<0.001 | | |
| RHFES | Catch/length/0.038 | %6.9% | <0.001 | Catch/length/0.970 | 61.3% | <0.001 |
| | RKFES/<0.001 | | | RKFES/<0.001 | | |
| PKF | Catch/length/0.029 | 25% | 0.029 | Catch/length/0.870 | %67 | 0.030 |
| | | | | HPKF/0.013 | | |
| HPKF | Catch/length/0.385 | 4.5% | 0.385 | Catch/length/0.181 | 37.2% | 0.012 |
| | | | | PKF/0.013 | | |
| KPHF | Catch/length/0.009 33.9% 0.009 | 33.9% | 0.009 | Catch/length/0.013 | 32.8% 0.013 | 0.013 |
| PHF | Catch/length/0.467 3.2% 0.467 | 3.2% | 0.467 | Catch/length/0.321 | 6.1% 0.321 | 0.321 |
| KMHE: knee at | KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early | n, MHE: | maximum hip ex | tension, RKFES: range | of knee | flexion in early |
| swing, RHFES: 1 | swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, | arly swing | , PKF: peak knee 1 | lexion in swing, HPKF: | : hip at pe: | uk knee flexion, |

KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion.

Table 3-3: The dominance relationship between the catch angle/length and knee or hip joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Groups

A & B (dynamic & true shortness).

| Catch angle/length° Group A (catch angle/length<60°) Group B (catch angle/length≥60°) | Group A (catch a | ingle/length<60°) | Group B (catch a | ingle/length≥60°) |
|---|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| | KMHE | MHE | KMHE | MHE |
| | Υ | 1 | - | - |
| | RKFES | RHFES | RKFES | RHFES |
| | I | Х | - | 1 |
| | PKF | HPKF | PKF | HPKF |
| | Υ | - | - | - |
| | KPHF | PHF | KPHF | PHF |
| | Υ | - | Υ | - |
| KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee | num hip extension | , MHE: maximum | hip extension, Rk | CFES: range of kne |

KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion, Y: yes, indicating a relationship, (-): indicates no relationship.

Table 3-4: Significant linear regression models in Groups A & B (dynamic & true

shortness).

| Model output | Model output Output equation | Model inputs | \mathbb{R}^2 | P-value | P-value Input relationships |
|--------------|--|-----------------------------------|----------------|---------|--|
| | Gr | Group A (catch angle/length<60°) | | | |
| KMHE | KMHE=-1.393+ 0.411*catch angle/length | Catch angle/length | 24.5% | 0.031 | Catch angle/length vs KMHE=direct relationship Ratio=1:0.411 |
| RHFES | RHFES=-6.004+0.338*catch angle/length+0.896*RKFES Catch angle/length and RKFES 79.9% | Catch angle/length and RKFES | | <0.001 | -Catch angle/length vs RHFES=direct relationship Ratio=1:0.338 -RKFFS vs RHFFS=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ration=1:0.896 |
| | | | | | -Catch angle vs KKFES=inverse relationship Ratio= 1:0.377 |
| PKF | PKF=24.214+0.640*catch angle/length | Catch angle/length | 25% | 0.029 | Catch angle/length vs PKF=direct relationship Ratio=1:0.640 |
| KPHF | KPHF=5.522+0.739*catch angle/length | Catch angle/length | 33.9% | 0.009 | Catch angle/length vs KPHF=direct relationship Ratio=1:0.739 |
| | G | Group B (catch angle/length >60°) | | | |
| KPHF | KPHF=73.274-0.414*catch angle/length | Catch angle/length | 6.1% | 0.321 | -Catch angle vs KPHF=inverse relationship Ratio=1:0.414 |
| | | | | | |

KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion.

| Catch angle/length° | MHE° | N (8°)-MHE° | KMHE° | N (14°)-KMHE° | Catch angle/length° | MHE° | N (8°)-MHE° | KMHE° | N (14°)-KMHE° |
|---------------------|--------------|--------------------------|--------------|-------------------|--|-----------|----------------------------------|------------|---------------|
| | Group A (cat | (catch angle/length<60°) | th<60°) | | | Group B (| Group B (catch angle/length≥60°) | gth≥60°) | |
| 28 | -11 | 19 | 13 | 1 | 60 | 2 | 6 | 11 | 3 |
| 35 | -8 | 16 | 9 | 8 | 60 | -32 | 40 | 46 | -32 |
| 36 | -24 | 32 | 11 | 3 | 60 | -12 | 20 | 39 | -25 |
| 40 | -1 | 6 | 19 | -5 | 09 | 6- | 17 | 29 | -15 |
| 40 | -8 | 16 | 21 | L- | 70 | 20 | -12 | 6 | 5 |
| 40 | 4- | 12 | 19 | -5 | 70 | -27 | 35 | 13 | 1 |
| 42 | -11 | 19 | 12 | 2 | 70 | <u>-</u> | 13 | 20 | -6 |
| 42 | -19 | 27 | 25 | -11 | 73 | 7 | 1 | 28 | -14 |
| 45 | 3 | 5 | 9 | 8 | 75 | 9- | 14 | 12 | 2 |
| 45 | 6 | -1 | 19 | -5 | 78 | -12 | 20 | 28 | -14 |
| 48 | -8 | 16 | 13 | 1 | 80 | 2 | 6 | 20 | -6 |
| 48 | -7 | 15 | 18 | -4 | 82 | 7 | 1 | 29 | -15 |
| 50 | -17 | 25 | 23 | -6 | 90 | -4 | 12 | 38 | -24 |
| 50 | -18 | 26 | 18 | -4 | 90 | -3 | 11 | 27 | -13 |
| 50 | -18 | 26 | 13 | 1 | 06 | -11 | 19 | 30 | -16 |
| 51 | 0.3 | 7.7 | 17 | -3 | 90 | 2 | 6 | 36 | -22 |
| 55 | 16 | -8 | 18 | -4 | 110 | 2 | 6 | 22 | -8 |
| 55 | 17 | -9 | 27 | -13 | 115 | Э | 5 | 14 | 0 |
| 55 | -12 | 20 | 27 | -13 | | | | | |
| MHE: maximum hip e | xtension, | N-MHE: normal | MHE-incl | uded limbs MHE, F | MHE: maximum hip extension, N-MHE: normal MHE-included limbs MHE, KMHE: knee at MHE, N-KMHE: normal KMHE-included limbs KMHE | N-KMHE | : normal KMHE | E-included | imbs KMHE. |

Table 3-5: Values of catch angle/length, MHE and KMHE in Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness).

| N (24°)-RHFES° | | -6 | 14 | 6 | 3 | -11 | 0 | -32 | -6 | 5 | 11 | -19.8 | -8 | 11 | -5 | 8 | -2 | -1 | 14 | | S: normal RHFES- |
|-----------------------|----------------------------------|-----|----|-----|----|-----|----|-----|----|-----|----|-------|----|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|----|--|
| RHFES° | ≥60°) | 33 | 10 | 18 | 21 | 35 | 24 | 56 | 33 | 19 | 13 | 43.8 | 32 | 13 | 29 | 16 | 26 | 25 | 10 | | ng, N-RHFE |
| RKFES° N (20°)-RKFES° | Group B (catch angle/length≥60°) | -13 | 11 | L 2 | 5 | 12 | 4 | -15 | -4 | 13 | 12 | -5 | -1 | 17 | 4 | 11 | 10 | -3 | 15 | | flexion in early swir |
| RKFES° | Group B | 33 | 6 | 13 | 15 | 8 | 16 | 35 | 24 | 7 | 8 | 25 | 21 | 3 | 16 | 6 | 10 | 23 | 5 | | ange of hip |
| Catch angle/length° | | 09 | 60 | 60 | 60 | 70 | 70 | 70 | 73 | 75 | 78 | 80 | 82 | 90 | 90 | 90 | 90 | 110 | 115 | | -RKFES: normal RKFES-included limbs RKFES, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, N-RHFES: normal RHFES |
| N (24°)-RHFES° | | 12 | 20 | 0 | 3 | 1 | 3 | 5 | 12 | -13 | L- | 12 | -2 | 5 | 11 | 3 | 4 | -17 | -17 | 0 | RKFES-included lin |
| RHFES° | <00°) | 12 | 7 | 24 | 21 | 23 | 21 | 19 | 12 | 37 | 31 | 12 | 59 | 19 | 13 | 11 | 20 | 41 | 41 | 24 | ES: normal |
| N (20°)-RKFES° | Group A (catch angle/length<60°) | 14 | 17 | 4 | 6 | 2 | 4 | 10 | 14 | -17 | -6 | 15 | 9 | 6 | 17 | 15 | 4 | 2 | -10 | 5 | arly swing, N-RKFI |
| RKFES° | Group A | 6 | 3 | 16 | 14 | 18 | 16 | 10 | 9 | 37 | 26 | 5 | 14 | 11 | 3 | 5 | 16 | 18 | 30 | 15 | flexion in e |
| Catch angle/length° | | 28 | 35 | 36 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 42 | 42 | 45 | 45 | 48 | 48 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 51 | 55 | 55 | 55 | RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, N |

| (ss |
|---|
| Jes |
| ET. |
| ŝĥć |
| true sl |
| tru |
| 8 |
| umic & true |
| Ē |
| 'na |
| dyn |
| m |
| A & B (dynam |
| ₹ 2 |
| S |
| HFES in Group |
| ro |
| G |
| (HFES in (|
| S |
| RHFES |
| |
| |
| Ч |
| and |
| and |
| and |
| and |
| , RKFES and |
| and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| , RKFES and |
| igth, RKFES and |
| 6: Values of catch angle/length, RKFES and |
| 3-6: Values of catch angle/length, RKFES and |
| -6: Values of catch angle/length, RKFES and |
| le 3-6: Values of catch angle/length, RKFES and |

included limbs RHFES.

| Catch angle/length° | PKF° | N (60°)-PKF° | HPKF° | N (23°)-HPKF° | Catch angle/length° | | PKF° N (60°)-PKF° | HPKF° | N (23°)-HPKF° |
|------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|-------------|---------------|--|------------|----------------------------------|--------------|---------------|
| 0 | Group A (| (catch angle/length<60°) | th<60°) | | 9 | roup B (| Group B (catch angle/length≥60°) | (th≥60°) | |
| 28 | 41 | 19 | 31 | -8 | 09 | 58 | 2 | 35 | -12 |
| 35 | 40 | 20 | 29 | -6 | 09 | 67 | L- | 45 | -22 |
| 36 | 54 | 6 | 62 | -39 | 09 | 60 | 0 | 36 | -13 |
| 40 | 68 | -8 | 38 | -15 | 09 | 65 | -5 | 38 | -15 |
| 40 | 58 | 2 | 37 | -14 | 02 | 34 | 26 | 23 | 0 |
| 40 | 46 | 14 | 32 | -6 | 02 | 55 | 5 | 62 | -39 |
| 42 | 43 | 17 | 36 | -13 | 02 | 69 | 6- | 68 | -45 |
| 42 | 43 | 17 | 40 | -17 | 73 2 | 64 | -4 | 39 | -16 |
| 45 | 58 | 2 | 32 | -6 | 2L | 45 | 15 | 35 | -12 |
| 45 | 53 | ۲ | 37 | -14 | 8L | 54 | 5.7 | 29 | -6 |
| 48 | 43 | 17 | 35 | -12 | 08 | 67 | L- | 61 | -38 |
| 48 | 48 | 12 | 50 | -27 | 82 | 60 | 0 | 35 | -12 |
| 50 | 56 | 4 | 45 | -22 | 06 | 51 | 6 | 27 | -4 |
| 50 | 56 | 4 | 49 | -26 | 06 | 51 | 9 | 34 | -11 |
| 50 | 53 | <i>L</i> | 48 | -25 | 06 | 51 | 6 | 29 | -6 |
| 51 | 62 | -2 | 34 | -11 | 06 | 53 | 7 | 29 | -9 |
| 55 | 58 | 2 | 37 | -14 | 110 | 67 | L- | 33 | -10 |
| 55 | 53 | 7 | 47 | -24 | 115 | 48 | 12 | 23 | 0 |
| 55 | 76 | -16 | 35 | -12 | | | | | |
| PKF: neak knee flexion. N-PI | n. N-PK | F. normal PKF-ii | nchided lir | he PKF HPKF | KF. normal PKE-included limbs PKF HPKF. hin at PKF N-HPKF. normal HPKF.included limbs HPKF | Intrinal H | DKE -included li- | mhe HPKI | [1 |

Table 3-7: Values of catch angle/length, PKF and HPKF in Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness).

-included limbs HPKF. -included limos PKP, HPKP: hip at PKF, N-HPKF: normal HPKF PKF: peak knee tlexion, N-PKF: normal PKF

| HF° | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| N (26°)-KPHF° | | -20 | -17 | -24 | -23 | -3 | -36 | -3 | -29 | -10 | L- | -32 | -19 | -15 | -6 | -14 | -8 | -3 | 10 | |
| KPHF° | th≥60°) | 46 | 43 | 50 | 49 | 50 | 62 | 29 | 55 | 36 | 33 | 58 | 45 | 41 | 35 | 40 | 34 | 29 | 16 | |
| N (37°)-PHF° | Group B (catch angle/length≥60° | -8 | -29 | -3 | -13 | -35 | -40 | 4 | -8 | -6 | -4 | -32 | -4 | 2 | -10 | L- | -5 | -16 | -2 | |
| PHF° | roup B (| 45 | 99 | 40 | 50 | 72 | LL | 33 | 45 | 43 | 41 | 69 | 41 | 35 | 47 | 74 | 42 | 53 | 68 | |
| Catch angle/length° | 9 | 09 | 60 | 60 | 60 | 70 | 70 | 70 | 73 | 75 | 78 | 80 | 82 | 90 | 90 | 06 | 90 | 110 | 115 | |
| N (26°)-KPHF° | | 1 | -6 | -4 | -13 | -6 | -6 | -11 | -15 | -16 | -28 | -10 | -6 | -19 | -10 | -17 | 2 | -24 | -36 | -15 |
| KPHF° | th<60°) | 25 | 32 | 30 | 39 | 32 | 32 | 37 | 41 | 42 | 54 | 36 | 35 | 45 | 36 | 43 | 25 | 50 | 62 | 41 |
| N (37°)-PHF° | A (catch angle/length< 60°) | L- | 3 | -37 | -11 | -4 | -13 | -6 | -i S | -6 | 2 | 8- | -23 | -22 | -19 | -21 | -11 | -6 | -5 | -25 |
| PHF° | Group A (6 | 44 | 34 | 74 | 48 | 41 | 50 | 46 | 40 | 46 | 35 | 45 | 60 | 59 | 56 | 58 | 48 | 43 | 42 | 62 |
| Catch angle/length° | 9 | 28 | 35 | 36 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 42 | 42 | 45 | 45 | 48 | 48 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 51 | 55 | 55 | 55 |

| nic & true shortness). |
|------------------------|
| (dynai |
| A & B |
| Groups A |
| KPHF in |
| PHF and |
| angle/length, |
| of catch |
| Values of |
| Table 3-8: |

PHF: peak hip flexion, N-PHF: normal PHF-included limbs PHF, KPHF: knee at PHF, N-KPHF: normal KPHF-included limbs KPHF.

Table 3-9: Linear regression models of the timing of peak knee flexion with catch angle/length in all groups.

| | _ | | _ | | | _ |
|----------------|-------|-------|------|-------|-------|-------|
| Model p-value | 0.227 | 0.072 | 0.44 | 0.820 | 0.206 | 0.149 |
| \mathbb{R}^2 | 8.5% | 18.8% | 5.5% | 1.1% | 36.3% | 21.6% |
| Groups | A | В | C1 | C2 | D1 | D2 |

Table 3-10: Values of catch angle and TPKF in Groups A & B (dynamic & true shortness).

TPKF: timing of peak knee flexion, N-TPKF: normal TPKF-included limbs TPKF.

Table 3-11: Regression models between the catch angle and the knee or the hip joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Group C mie chestrace

| ÷ |
|-------------------------------|
| ŚŚ |
| ness |
| Ð |
| p |
| $\mathbf{\tilde{s}}$ |
| iic |
| lami |
| μ |
| dy |
| $\mathbf{\tilde{\mathbf{r}}}$ |

| fodel entant | Group C1: catch angle<60° | catch angl | e<60° | Group C2: catch angle>60° | catch angl | e≥60° |
|------------------|---|----------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------------|
| Model output | Model input/p-value R ² | \mathbb{R}^2 | Model p-value | Model input/p-value R ² | \mathbb{R}^2 | Model p-value |
| KMHE | Catch angle/0.062 | 28.1% | 0.062 | Catch angle/0.996 | %0 | 0.996 |
| MHE | Catch angle/0.380 | 7.1% | 0.380 | Catch angle/0.278 | 22.9% | 0.278 |
| RKFES | Catch angle/0.116 RHFES/<0.001 | %6.78 | <0.001 | Catch angle/0.41 RHFES/0.002 | 90.3% | 0.004 |
| RHFES | Catch angle/0.035 RKFES/<0.001 | 90.2% | <0.001 | Catch angle/0.057 RKFES/0.002 | 88.7% | 0.006 |
| PKF | Catch angle/0.020 | 40% | 0.020 | Catch angle/0.254 | 24.9% 0.254 | 0.254 |
| HPKF | Catch angle/0.026 | 37.4% | 0.026 | Catch angle/0.085 | 47.8% | 0.085 |
| KPHF | Catch angle/<0.001 PHF/0.006 | 68.1% | 0.001 | Catch angle/0.549 | 7.6% | 0.549 |
| PHF | Catch angle/0.001 KPHF/0.006 | 60.5% | 0.004 | Catch angle/0.152 | 36.4% 0.152 | 0.152 |
| IHE: knee at max | KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, F | , MHE: m | MHE: maximum hip extension, F | ision, RKFES: range of | knee flexi | snee flexion in early swing,] |

KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion.

Table 3-12: The dominance relationship between the catch angle and knee or hip joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Group C

| SSS) | |
|------|---|
| - | |
| Q | |
| | |
| all | |
| IVD | • |
| | |

| p C1 (cat | Group C1 (catch angle< 60°) Group C2 (catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$) | Group C2 (cat | tch angle≥60°) |
|-----------|---|---------------|----------------|
| | MHE | KMHE | MHE |
| | I | | I |
| | RHFES | RKFES | RHFES |
| | Υ | Υ | I |
| | HPKF | PKF | HPKF |
| | Υ | | I |
| | PHF | KPHF | PHF |
| | Υ | ı | 1 |

KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion, Y: yes, indicating a relationship, (-): indicates no relationship.

| ÷ |
|-------------------------|
| ness |
| shortn |
| namic sl |
| ynan |
| C (d |
| up (|
| E and KMHE in Group C (|
| in |
| MHE i |
| KM |
| and KMHE in Gr |
| MHE |
| le, l |
| angle |
| s of catch angle, |
| f ca |
| es o |
| /alu |
| 3: Val |
| ble 3-1 |
| ıble |
| Tab |

| Catch angle [°] | MHE° | N (8°)-MHE° | KMHE° | N (14°)-KMHE° |
|----------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|--|
| | Gro | Group C1 (catch angle<60°) | gle<60°) | |
| 28 | -11 | 19 | 13 | 1 |
| 35 | -8 | 16 | 9 | 8 |
| 40 | -1 | 6 | 19 | -5 |
| 40 | -8 | 16 | 21 | L- |
| 42 | -11 | 19 | 12 | 2 |
| 42 | -19 | 27 | 25 | -11 |
| 45 | 3 | 5 | 9 | 8 |
| 45 | 6 | 1- | 19 | -5 |
| 48 | -8 | 16 | 13 | 1 |
| 48 | L- | 15 | 18 | -4 |
| 50 | -18 | 26 | 18 | -4 |
| 55 | 17 | 6- | 27 | -13 |
| 55 | -12 | 20 | 27 | -13 |
| | Gre | Group C2 (catch angle≥60⁰) | gle≥60°) | |
| 60 | 2 | 9 | 11 | 3 |
| 60 | -32 | 40 | 46 | -32 |
| 60 | -12 | 20 | 39 | -25 |
| 73 | 7 | 1 | 28 | -14 |
| 75 | -6 | 14 | 12 | 2 |
| 82 | 7 | 1 | 29 | -15 |
| 90 | -4 | 12 | 38 | -24 |
| HE: maximun HE, KMHE: J | m hip ext knee at M | ension, N-MHE IHE, N-KMHE: | : normal M normal KN | MHE: maximum hip extension, N-MHE: normal MHE-included limbs MHE, KMHE; knee at MHE, N-KMHE; normal KMHE-included limbs |
| | | | | |

Z MHE, KI KMHE.

| Model output | Output equation | Model inputs | \mathbb{R}^2 | P-value | Input relationships |
|-----------------------|--|-----------------------------|----------------|-------------|--|
| | G | Group C1 (catch angle<60°) | | | |
| RHFES | RHFES=-5.926+0.341*catch angle+0.853*RKFES | Catch angle and RKFES | 90.2% | <0.001 | Catch angle vs RHFES=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio=1:0.341 |
| | | | | | -RKFES vs RHFES=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ration=1:0.853 |
| | | | | | -Catch angle vs RKFES=inverse relationship Ratio= 1:0.399 |
| PKF | PKF=13.8+0.84*catch angle | Catch angle | 40% | 0.020 | Catch angle vs PKF=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio=1:0.840 |
| KPHF | KPHF=18.66+1.237*catch angle-0.733*PHF | Catch angle and PHF | 68.1% | 0.001 | Catch angle vs KPHF=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio=1:1.237 |
| | | | | | -PHF vs KPHF=inverse relationship |
| | | | | | Ration=1:0.733 |
| | | | | | -Catch angle vs PHF=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio= 1:1.688 |
| | G | Group C2 (catch angle≥60°) | | | |
| RKFES | RKFES=18.027-0.336*catch angle+0.961*RHFES | Catch angle and RHFES | 90.3% 0.004 | 0.004 | Length vs RKFES=inverse relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio=1:0.336 |
| | | | | | -RHFES vs RKFES=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ration=1:0.961 |
| | | | | | -Length vs RHFES=direct relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio= 1:0.35 |
| RKFES: range o | RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF. | lexion in early swing, PKF: | peak kne | e flexion i | a swing, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: |

Table 3-14: Significant linear regression models in Group C (dynamic shortness).

peak hip flexion.

| Catch angle ^o | RKFES° | N (20°)-RKFES° | RHFES° | N (24°)-RHFES° |
|--------------------------|--------|----------------------------|--------|----------------|
| | Ū | Group C1 (catch angle<60°) | s<60°) | |
| 28 | 9 | 14 | 12 | 12 |
| 35 | 3 | 17 | 7 | 20 |
| 40 | 14 | 9 | 21 | 3 |
| 40 | 18 | 2 | 23 | 1 |
| 42 | 10 | 10 | 19 | 5 |
| 42 | 9 | 14 | 12 | 12 |
| 45 | 37 | -17 | 37 | -13 |
| 45 | 26 | -6 | 31 | -7 |
| 48 | 5 | 15 | 12 | 12 |
| 48 | 14 | 6 | 29 | -5 |
| 50 | 3 | 17 | 13 | 11 |
| 55 | 30 | -10 | 41 | -17 |
| 55 | 15 | 5 | 24 | 0 |
| | Gr | Group C2 (catch angle≥60°) | e≥60°) | |
| 60 | 33 | -13 | 33 | -6 |
| 60 | 6 | 11 | 10 | 14 |
| 60 | 13 | 7 | 18 | 9 |
| 73 | 24 | -4 | 33 | -6 |
| 75 | 7 | 13 | 19 | 5 |
| 82 | 21 | -1 | 32 | -8 |
| 90 | 3 | 17 | 13 | 11 |

Table 3-15: Values of catch angle, RKFES and RHFES in Group C (dynamic shortness).

RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, N-RKFES: normal RKFESincluded limbs RKFES, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, N-RHFES: normal RHFES-included limbs RHFES.

| Table 3-16: Values of catch angle, PKF and HPKF in Group C | (dynamic shortness). |
|--|----------------------|
| able 3-16: Values of catch angle, PKF and HPKF in Grou | υ |
| able 3-16: Values of catch angle, PKF and HPKF | no |
| able 3-16: Values of catch angle, PKF | HPKF |
| able 3-16: Values of c | PKF |
| able 3-16: Values of c | angle |
| Table 3-16: Values of | f catch |
| Table 3-16: V | alues of |
| | Table 3-16: V |

| _ | _ | - | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | KF, |
|--------------------------|----------------------------|----|----|-----|----|-----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|----------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|----|--|
| N (23%)-HPKF® | | -8 | -6 | -14 | 6- | -13 | -17 | 6- | -14 | -12 | -27 | -22 | -24 | -12 | | -12 | -22 | -13 | -16 | -12 | -12 | -4 | PKF: peak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs PKF |
| HPKF° | gle<60°) | 31 | 29 | 37 | 32 | 36 | 40 | 32 | 37 | 35 | 50 | 45 | 47 | 35 | gle≥60°) | 35 | 45 | 36 | 39 | 35 | 35 | 27 | mal PKF- |
| N (60°)-PKF° | Group C1 (catch angle<60°) | 19 | 20 | 2 | 14 | 17 | 17 | 2 | 7 | 17 | 12 | 4 | 7 | -16 | Group C2 (catch angle>60°) | 2 | -7 | 0 | -4 | 15 | 0 | 6 | PKF: peak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs |
| рКF° | Gro | 41 | 40 | 58 | 46 | 43 | 43 | 58 | 53 | 43 | 48 | 56 | 53 | 76 | Grc | 58 | 67 | 60 | 64 | 45 | 60 | 51 | e flexic |
| Catch anole ^o | | 28 | 35 | 40 | 40 | 42 | 42 | 45 | 45 | 48 | 48 | 50 | 55 | 55 | | 60 | 60 | 60 | 73 | 75 | 82 | 06 | PKF: peak kne |

HPKF: hip at PKF, N-HPKF: normal HPKF-included limbs HPKF.
| (dynamic shortness). |
|----------------------|
| \mathcal{O} |
| in Group |
| n |
| KPHF i |
| and |
| aı |
| PHF a |
| angle, |
| f catch angle |
| of |
| ole 3-17: Values |
| .:- |
| - |
| $\tilde{\omega}$ |
| Table |
| |

| | - | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ıΞ. |
|-----------------------------|----------------------------|----|----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|----------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|---|
| N (26°)-KPHF° | | 1 | -6 | -13 | -6 | -11 | -15 | -16 | -28 | -10 | 6- | -10 | -36 | -15 | | -20 | -17 | -24 | -29 | -10 | -19 | -15 | PHF: peak hip flexion, N-PHF: normal PHF-included limbs PHF, KPHI |
| KPHF° | gle<60°) | 25 | 32 | 39 | 32 | 37 | 41 | 42 | 54 | 36 | 35 | 36 | 62 | 41 | gle≥60°) | 46 | 43 | 50 | 55 | 36 | 45 | 41 | HF-includ |
| N (37°)-PHF° | Group C1 (catch angle<60°) | L- | 3 | -11 | -4 | -6 | -3 | -9 | 2 | -8 | -23 | -19 | -5 | -25 | Group C2 (catch angle≥60°) | -8 | -29 | -3 | -8 | -9 | -4 | 2 | I-PHF: normal P |
| $\mathrm{PHF}^{\mathrm{o}}$ | Gro | 44 | 34 | 48 | 41 | 46 | 40 | 46 | 35 | 45 | 09 | 56 | 42 | 62 | Gro | 45 | 99 | 40 | 45 | 43 | 41 | 35 | lexion, N |
| Catch angle [°] | | 28 | 35 | 40 | 40 | 42 | 42 | 45 | 45 | 48 | 48 | 50 | 55 | 55 | | 60 | 60 | 09 | 73 | 75 | 82 | 06 | PHF: peak hip f |

HH: knee at PHF, N-KPHF: normal KPHF-included limbs KPHF.

| TPKF in Group C (dynamic shortness). |
|---|
| <i>⁷</i> alues of catch angle and TPKF i |
| Table 3-18: Values |

|) | N (0.72%)-TPKF% | Group C1 (catch angle<60°) | -0.02 | 0.06 | -0.1 | -0.14 | 0 | -0.16 | -0.1 | -0.1 | -0.14 | 0 | -0.04 | -0.1 | -0.04 | h angle≥60°) | -0.08 | -0.08 | -0.16 | -0.1 | -0.12 | -0.1 | -0.12 | TPKF: timing of peak knee flexion, N-TPKF: norm: |
|---|--------------------------|----------------------------|-------|------|------|-------|------|-------|------|------|-------|------|-------|------|-------|-----------------|-------|-------|-------|------|-------|------|-------|--|
| | %HMF% | p C1 (catc] | 0.74 | 0.66 | 0.82 | 0.86 | 0.72 | 0.88 | 0.82 | 0.82 | 0.86 | 0.72 | 0.76 | 0.82 | 0.76 | Group C2 (catch | 0.80 | 0.80 | 0.88 | 0.82 | 0.84 | 0.82 | 0.84 | f peak knee |
| | Catch angle ^o | Grou | 28 | 35 | 40 | 40 | 42 | 42 | 45 | 45 | 48 | 48 | 50 | 55 | 55 | Grou | 60 | 60 | 60 | 73 | 75 | 82 | 06 | TPKF: timing o |

Drmal TPKF-included limbs TPKF. Table 3-19: Regression models between the length and the knee or the hip joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Group D (true shortness).

| Model enterit | Group D1: length<60° | 1: length< | 60° | Group D2: length≥60° | 2: length≥ | 60° |
|----------------|---|-------------|--------------------|--|----------------|--------------------|
| moner output | Model input/p-value R ² | | Model p-value | Model p-value Model input/p-value R ² | \mathbb{R}^2 | Model p-value |
| KMHE | Length/0.397 | 18.4% | 0.397 | Length/0.897 | 0.2% | 0.897 |
| MHE | Length/0.238 | 32.5% 0.238 | 0.238 | Length/0.441 | 6.7% | 0.441 |
| RKFES | Length/0.655 | 5.5% 0.655 | 0.655 | Length/0.569 PHEES/0.004 | 61.5% | 600.0 |
| RHFES | Length/0.689 | 4.4% | 0.689 | Length/0.261 PKFFS/0.004 | 66% | 0.005 |
| PKF | Length/0.024 HPKF/0.010 | 87.2% | 0.021 | Length/0.383 HPKF/0.029 | 33.8% | 0.079 |
| HPKF | Length/0.014 PKF/0.010 | 91.1% 0.012 | 0.012 | Length/0.115 PKF/0.029 | 47.3% | 0.031 |
| KPHF | Length/0.240 | 32.3% 0.240 | 0.240 | Length/0.068 | 32.2% 0.068 | 0.068 |
| PHF | Length/0.126 | 48.2% 0.126 | 0.126 | Length/0.322 | 10.9% 0.322 | 0.322 |
| KMHE: knee at | KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swin; | n, MHE: n | naximum hip exte | nsion, RKFES: range of | f knee fley | tion in early swin |
| RHFFS: range o | RHFES: range of hin flexion in early swing. PKF: peak knee flexion in swing. HPKF: hin at peak knee flexion. KPHI | ving. PKF | : neak knee flexio | in in swing. HPKF: hin | at neak k | nee flexion. KPHI |

KHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion.

Table 3-20: The dominance relationship between the length and knee or hip joint at the investigated gait points/periods in Group D (true

shortness).

| Group D2 (length >60°) | KMHE MHE | 1 | RKFES RHFES | 1 | PKF HPKF | | KPHF PHF | |
|------------------------|----------|---|-------------|------------------|----------|-----|----------|--|
| | | 1 | RHFES RF | - <mark>Т</mark> | HPKF Pk | - Y | PHF KI | |
| Group D1 (length<60°) | | 1 | RKFES | 1 | PKF | Υ | KPHF | |
| Length° | | | | | | | | |

KMHE: knee at maximum hip extension, MHE: maximum hip extension, RKFES: range of knee flexion in early swing, RHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing, PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion, KPHF: knee at peak hip flexion, PHF: peak hip flexion, Y: yes, indicating a relationship, (-): indicates no relationship.

| / | ÷ |
|---|--------------------------------|
| | ŝ |
| | õ |
| | Ц |
| | E. |
| | 0 |
| - | q |
| | S |
| | Ð |
| | |
| | E |
| 1 | ~ |
| 4 | |
| | |
| | p, |
| | |
| | 0 |
| ~ | H. |
| ζ | 2 |
| | |
| • | Π |
| | |
| | Ξ |
| • | ĭ |
| | \mathbf{S} |
| | Ξ. |
| | В. |
| | × |
| | S) |
| | <u> </u> |
| • | Ħ |
| - | |
| r | т٦ |
| E | Ξ. |
| | |
| F | 4 |
| | Į |
| | MHE D |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | and K MF |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |
| | |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |
| | I: Values of length, MHE and K |

| 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Ided |
|---------------------|-----------------------|-----|----|-----|-----|------------|----|------------------------|-----|-----|-----|----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--|
| N (14°)-KMHE° | | 3 | -5 | -9 | 1 | -3 | -4 | | -15 | 5 | 1 | -6 | -14 | -9 | -13 | -16 | -22 | -8 | 0 | MHE: maximum hip extension, N-MHE: normal MHE-included limbs MHE, KMHE: knee at MHE, N-KMHE: normal KMHE- |
| KMHE° | gth<60°) | 11 | 19 | 23 | 13 | 17 | 18 | gth≥60°) | 29 | 6 | 13 | 20 | 28 | 20 | 27 | 30 | 36 | 22 | 14 | -MHE: noi E. N-KMF |
| N (8°)-MHE° | Group D1 (length<60°) | 32 | 12 | 25 | 26 | <i>L.T</i> | -8 | Group D2 (length >60°) | 17 | -12 | 35 | 13 | 20 | 9 | 11 | 19 | 9 | 6 | 5 | ip extension, N E: knee at MH |
| MHE° | | -24 | -4 | -17 | -18 | 0.3 | 16 | | -6 | 20 | -27 | -2 | -12 | 2 | -3 | -11 | 2 | 2 | 3 | kimum h E. KMH |
| Length ^o | | 36 | 40 | 50 | 50 | 51 | 55 | | 09 | 70 | 70 | 02 | 82 | 80 | 06 | 06 | 06 | 110 | 115 | MHE: ma: limbs MH |

| Group D1 (length<60°) | | Group D1 (lengt) 4 4 | ر₀()) </th <th></th> | |
|--|------------------|--|--------------------------|----------------------------|
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | 4 4 | (>>< T | |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | 4 | 24 | 0 |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | | 21 | 3 |
| | | 6 | 19 | 5 |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | 15 | 11 | 3 |
| 18 2 41 Group D2 (length $\geq 60^{\circ})$ 15 5 21 8 12 35 16 4 24 35 -15 56 8 12 13 8 12 13 8 12 13 16 4 24 25 -5 44 16 4 29 16 1 16 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 -3 | | 4 | 20 | 7 |
| Group D2 (length≥60°) 15 5 21 8 12 35 16 4 24 35 -15 56 8 12 13 8 12 13 9 11 16 9 11 16 10 10 26 | | 2 | 41 | -17 |
| 15 5 21 8 12 35 16 4 24 35 -15 56 35 -15 56 8 12 13 8 12 44 16 4 29 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 5 -3 25 | | Group D2 (length | i≥60°) | |
| 8 12 35 16 4 24 35 -15 56 35 -15 56 8 12 13 8 12 13 8 12 44 16 4 29 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 35 5 -3 25 | | 5 | 21 | 3 |
| 16 4 24 35 -15 56 8 12 13 8 12 44 25 -5 44 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 26 | | 12 | 35 | -11 |
| 35 -15 56 8 12 13 25 -5 44 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | 4 | 24 | 0 |
| 8 12 13 25 -5 -44 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | -15 | 56 | -32 |
| 25 -5 44 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | 12 | 13 | 11 |
| 16 4 29 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | -5 | 44 | -20 |
| 9 11 16 10 10 26 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | 4 | 29 | -5 |
| 10 10 26 0 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | 11 | 16 | 8 |
| 23 -3 25 5 15 10 | | 10 | 26 | -2 |
| 5 15 10 | | -3 | 25 | -1 |
| 2 | 115 5 | 15 | 10 | 14 |
| | ting N-RHFES: no | KKFES-included limbs KKFES, KHFES: range of hip flexion in early swing N-RHFFS, normal RHFFS-included limbs RHFFS | range or n d limhs RH | ip ilexion in early FES |

Table 3-22: Values of length, RKFES and RHFES in Group D (true shortness).

| (true shortness). |
|--------------------|
| Ω |
| odels in Group D (|
| ш. |
| S |
| lel |
| r regression mo |
| t linea |
| Significant |
| |
| 3-23: |
| ώ |
| ble |
| Tab |
| Γ |

| $\overline{}$ | Output equation | Model inputs | \mathbb{R}^2 | P-value | R ² P-value Input relationships |
|---------------|--|-----------------------|------------------|---------|--|
| | | Group D1 (length<60°) | (₀ (| | |
| Η | PKF=176.64-1.453*PKF-0.999*length Length and PKF 91.1% 0.012 Length vs HPKF=inverse relationship | Length and PKF | 91.1% | 0.012 | Length vs HPKF=inverse relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio=1:0.999 |
| | | | | | -PKF vs HPKF=inverse relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio=1:1.453 |
| | | | | | -Length vs PKF=inverse relationship |
| | | | | | Ratio= 1:0.688 |

PKF: peak knee flexion in swing, HPKF: hip at peak knee flexion.

| , | s). |
|---|---------------|
| | ortnes |
| • | ie short |
| | |
| ļ | up D (ti |
| l | CLO |
| ļ | and HPKF in G |
| | HP |
| | anc |
| | ΡK |
| | f length, l |
| | H |
| | alues o |
| , | > |
| (| e 3-24 |
| | Table |
| 1 | |

| <th colspect="" form="" gene="" of="" of<="" th="" the=""><th>Length°</th><th>$\mathrm{PKF}^{\mathrm{o}}$</th><th>N (60°)-PKF°</th><th>HPKF°</th><th>N (23°)-HPKF°</th></th> | <th>Length°</th> <th>$\mathrm{PKF}^{\mathrm{o}}$</th> <th>N (60°)-PKF°</th> <th>HPKF°</th> <th>N (23°)-HPKF°</th> | Length° | $\mathrm{PKF}^{\mathrm{o}}$ | N (60°)-PKF° | HPKF° | N (23°)-HPKF° |
|---|--|---------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------|--|---------------|
| 54 6 62 -39 68 -8 38 -15 56 4 49 -26 53 7 48 -25 62 -2 34 -11 62 -2 34 -11 53 7 48 -25 62 -2 34 -11 58 2 37 -14 67 -5 37 -14 67 -5 37 -14 67 -5 38 -15 54 6 -39 -45 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 29 -6 67 -7 61 -38 67 -7 29 6 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 29 -6 67 -7 29 -6 67 7 | | | Group D1 (leng | gth<60°) | | |
| 68 -8 38 -15 56 4 49 -26 53 7 48 -25 62 -2 34 -11 58 2 34 -11 58 2 34 -11 58 2 34 -11 58 2 33 -14 58 2 33 -15 65 -5 38 -15 66 -9 68 -45 69 -9 68 -45 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 53 7 29 -10 67 -7 33 -10 68 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 23 0 67 7 < | | 54 | 9 | 62 | -39 | |
| 56 4 49 -26 53 7 48 -25 62 -2 34 -11 58 2 37 -14 58 2 37 -14 65 -5 38 -15 65 -5 38 -15 66 -34 26 23 0 54 6 -39 -6 -39 67 -7 61 -38 -11 51 9 29 -6 -6 53 7 29 -6 -6 51 9 29 -6 -6 53 7 29 -6 -6 67 -7 33 -10 -6 68 12 23 0 -6 68 12 23 0 -10 68 12 23 0 -6 68 <td< td=""><td></td><td>68</td><td>-8</td><td>38</td><td>-15</td></td<> | | 68 | -8 | 38 | -15 | |
| 53 7 48 -25 62 -2 34 -11 58 2 37 -14 65 -5 38 -15 65 -5 38 -15 65 -5 38 -15 66 -9 62 -39 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 29 -6 51 9 34 -11 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 67 -7 61 -38 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 23 0 68 12 23 0 68 12 23 0 68 12 | | 56 | 4 | 49 | -26 | |
| 62 -2 34 -11 58 2 37 -14 Group D2 (length≥60°) 65 -5 38 -15 34 26 23 0 -15 55 5 62 -39 -15 69 -9 68 -45 -39 67 -7 61 -38 -11 51 9 29 -6 -6 53 7 29 -6 -6 53 7 29 -6 -6 67 -7 33 -10 -6 68 12 29 -6 -6 67 -7 33 -10 -6 68 12 23 0 -6 -6 68 12 23 0 -6 -6 -6 68 12 23 0 -7 53 10 -6 -6 </td <td></td> <td>53</td> <td>۲</td> <td>48</td> <td>-25</td> | | 53 | ۲ | 48 | -25 | |
| 58 2 37 -14 Group D2 (length≥60°) -15 -15 65 -5 38 -15 34 26 23 0 55 5 62 -39 69 -9 68 -45 51 9 29 -6 51 9 34 -11 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 23 0 eak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs HPK-included limbs HPK | | 62 | -2 | 34 | -11 | |
| Group D2 (length≥60°) 65 -5 38 -15 34 26 -3 0 55 5 62 -39 69 -9 68 -45 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 61 -38 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 34 -11 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 23 0 0 9at kree flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs HPK-included limbs HP | | 58 | 2 | 37 | -14 | |
| 65 -5 38 -15 34 26 23 0 55 5 62 -39 69 -9 68 -45 54 6 -29 -6 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 68 12 23 0 9 48 12 23 9 23 0 -6 67 -7 33 -10 9 23 23 | | | Group D2 (leng | gth≥60°) | | |
| 34 26 23 0 55 5 62 -39 69 -9 68 -45 54 6 -39 -6 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 -10 eak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs PF -10 beak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal HPKF-included limbs HPK | | 65 | -5 | 38 | -15 | |
| 55 5 62 -39 69 -9 68 -45 54 6 -9 68 -45 67 -7 61 -38 -6 51 9 34 -11 -38 51 9 34 -11 -11 51 9 29 -6 -6 53 7 29 -6 -6 67 -7 33 -10 -6 67 -7 33 0 -0 68 12 23 0 -6 53 12 23 0 -6 68 12 23 0 -6 68 12 23 0 0 -6 69 48 12 23 0 -10 -10 61 12 23 0 0 -6 -10 -10 -10 -10 -10 < | | 34 | 26 | 23 | 0 | |
| 69 -9 68 -45 54 6 29 -6 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 34 -11 51 9 34 -11 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 0 eak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P -5 0 | | 55 | 5 | 62 | -39 | |
| 54 6 29 -6 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 34 -11 51 9 29 -6 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 67 -7 33 0 68 12 23 0 beak 12 23 0 | | 69 | 6- | 89 | -45 | |
| 67 -7 61 -38 51 9 34 -11 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 48 12 23 0 ceak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P inp at PKF, N-HPKF: normal HPKF-included limbs HPF | | 54 | 9 | 59 | -6 | |
| 51 9 34 -11 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 67 12 23 0 68 12 23 0 58 12 23 0 58 12 23 0 | | 67 | -7 | 61 | -38 | |
| 51 9 29 -6 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 48 12 23 0 beak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P -10 -10 | | 51 | 9 | 34 | -11 | |
| 53 7 29 -6 67 -7 33 -10 48 12 23 0 9eak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P imp at PKF, N-HPKF: normal HPKF-included limbs HPF | | 51 | 9 | 29 | -9 | |
| 67 -7 33 -10 48 12 23 0 peak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P : hip at PKF, N-HPKF: normal HPKF-included limbs HPF | | 53 | 7 | 29 | -9 | |
| 48 12 23 0 peak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P : | | 67 | -7 | 33 | -10 | |
| peak knee flexion, N-PKF: normal PKF-included limbs P : hip at PKF, N-HPKF: normal HPKF-included limbs HPF | | 48 | 12 | 23 | 0 | |
| - | peak ?: hip | knee fle at PKF, | sxion, N-PKF: no N-HPKF: norm | ormal PKI al HPKF-i | ⁷ -included limbs H ncluded limbs HP | |

| (true shortness). | |
|---------------------------------|--|
| 1 Group D (1 | |
| and KPHF in G | |
| PHF | |
| Table 3-25: Values of length, l | |

| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | HF, |
|---------------|-----------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|------------------------|-----|-----|-----|----|----|-----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|---|
| N (26°)-KPHF° | | -4 | -6 | -17 | -19 | 2 | -24 | | -23 | -3 | -36 | -3 | L- | -32 | -14 | -8 | 6- | -3 | 10 | PHF: peak hip flexion, N-PHF: normal PHF-included limbs PHF, KPHF: knee at PHF, N-KPHF: normal KPHF-included limbs KPHF. |
| KPHF° | gth<60°) | 30 | 32 | 43 | 45 | 25 | 50 | gth≥60°) | 49 | 29 | 62 | 29 | 33 | 58 | 40 | 34 | 35 | 29 | 16 | ormal PHF |
| N (37°)-PHF° | Group D1 (length<60°) | -37 | -13 | -21 | -22 | -11 | -9 | Group D2 (length >60°) | -13 | -35 | -40 | 4 | -4 | -32 | L- | -2 | -10 | -16 | -2 | kion, N-PHF: nc 7, N-KPHF: norn |
| PHF® | | 74 | 50 | 58 | 59 | 48 | 43 | | 50 | 72 | LL | 33 | 41 | 69 | 44 | 42 | 47 | 53 | 39 | hip flex te at PHF |
| Length° | | 36 | 40 | 50 | 50 | 51 | 55 | | 60 | 70 | 70 | 70 | 78 | 80 | 06 | 06 | 06 | 110 | 115 | PHF: peak KPHF: kne |

Table 3-26: Values of length and TPKF in Group D (true shortness).

| N (0.72%)-TPKF% | (length<60°) | -0.04 | -0.02 | -0.10 | -0.10 | -0.02 | -0.10 | (length≥60°) | -0.06 | -0.08 | -0.06 | -0.12 | -0.08 | -0.10 | -0.10 | -0.10 | -0.08 | -0.06 | 0 | TPKF: timing of peak knee flexion, N-TPKF: normal TPKF-included limbs TPKF. |
|---------------------|--------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|------|--|
| TPKF% | Group D1 | 0.76 | 0.74 | 0.82 | 0.82 | 0.74 | 0.82 | Group D2 | 0.78 | 0.80 | 0.78 | 0.84 | 0.80 | 0.84 | 0.82 | 0.82 | 0.80 | 0.78 | 0.72 | ing of peak KF-include |
| Length ^o |) | 36 | 40 | 50 | 50 | 51 | 55 | | 60 | 70 | 70 | 70 | 78 | 80 | 90 | 90 | 90 | 110 | 115 | TPKF: tim normal TP) |

Chapter 4 Clinical tools for joint range of motion measurement



'Intratester reliability of universal goniometer'

(An entry to the University of Strathclyde 'Images of Research 2013' competition (top 50))



'Measure for Measure'

(An entry to the University of Strathclyde 'Images of Research 2016' competition (top 50))

4.1 Factors influencing the reliability of different designs of goniometer in measurement of lower limb range of motion: a literature review

4.1.1 Introduction

A variety of measurement tools are currently used for joint ROM measurement, ranging from simple visual estimation to advanced 3D video analysis systems.²³⁹⁻²⁴¹ The most practical, and most frequently used, clinical tool is the goniometer, and several different designs have been developed over the years. The simplest and most inexpensive type is the UG, with more advanced designs including electrical (EG) and gravity-dependent goniometers (inclinometers). The UG is a 180° or 360° protractor with a single axis joining two arms. One arm is movable around the axis while the other arm is stationary.²⁴² UGs are available in different sizes to suit the joint being measured. The inclinometer contains a pointer and a fluid level, which is affected by gravity to measure joint ROM. It resembles the carpenter's level meter.²⁴³ The EG has two arms connected by a potentiometer. Changes in joint position cause changes in the resistance of the potentiometer. The resulting change in voltage is used to measure the amount of joint ROM.²⁴³ For measurements obtained using the UG, EG and inclinometer to be clinically useful, results must be accurate and reliable.

Intratester reliability is important as the same clinician may take the same measurement on different occasions to document change. In the clinical setting, however, more than one tester may be involved in the measurement. As this has potential for further error, intertester reliability must also be considered clinically relevant.^{244, 245}

Several factors may affect the reliability of the measurements obtained using the UG, EG and inclinometer. Reliability might vary between different joints as each joint has different characteristics. Arguably this may make it easier or harder to obtain reliable measurements depending on the joint measured.²⁴⁶⁻²⁵¹

The type of movement measured may also affect reliability, and reliability of active movements may differ when compared to passive movements, as the force applied by the therapist to move the joint varies. This may cause different angles to be obtained each time measurements are taken.²⁵¹ In addition, following a standard instruction procedure and prior training may affect the reliability as this minimises the error associated with different procedures.

Different pathologies may influence the UG, EG and inclinometer reliability. Upper motor neuron disorders may cause variation in muscle tone. Hypertonicity and spasticity may influence the ability to accurately define end range of joint motion, which in turn may affect the reliability of the measurements. Additionally, the presence of bony deformations may cause difficulties in clearly identifying bony landmarks, which may compromise the reliability of measurements.

It is essential to understand how reliability may be affected when such variables are introduced since incorrect interpretation of measurements obtained may lead to inappropriate treatment. The aim of this part of the thesis is, therefore, to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer and to examine how different factors influence measurement reliability.

4.1.2 Methods

An electronic and manual literature search was conducted to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer for measurement of lower limb joints. A variety of search terms were used to search different medical and engineering databases such as Medline, EMBASE, NHS Scotland e-library, Science Direct, PubMed and Google Scholar. Search terms included reliability and/or universal goniometer, universal goniometer, goniome* measurement reliability, intertester reliability of universal goniometer or UG, intratester reliability of universal goniometer or UG, reliability and/or electrical goniometer, electrical goniometer, goniome* measurement reliability, intertester reliability of electrical goniometer or EG, intratester reliability of electrical goniometer or EG, reliability and/or inclinometer, inclinometer, inclionme* measurement reliability, intertester reliability of inclinometer or gravity dependent goniometer, and intratester reliability of inclinometer or gravity dependent goniometer. Identified secondary references from the articles were found and related books were also reviewed.

The review investigated the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer in measuring joint ROM of the lower limb. Inclusion criteria were as follows: studies that evaluated intratester reliability and/or intertester reliability of the UG, EG or inclinometer, studies that included subjects with pathology and/or healthy subjects, studies that measured hip, knee and/or ankle joint, and studies that used ICC to calculate reliability. Exclusion criteria included: studies that only investigated measurement of the upper limb and studies that did not use ICC to calculate the reliability. References from 1980 to July 2015 were included to ensure the number of the studies was manageable.

Papers sourced were graded according to the Scottish Intercollegiate Guideline Network (SIGN),²⁵² and thematic tables of evidence were constructed for each design of goniometer and the pathology of the subjects tested.

Different statistical methods were used in order to measure the reliability, such as ICC, Pearson product moment correlation coefficient, analysis of variance reliability, and coefficient of variation and generalisability theory. However, this review concentrated on papers that used ICC values to calculate reliability. This method was considered the most appropriate method for reliability measurement as data is centred and scaled using a pooled mean and standard deviation. Furthermore, as the correlation line between the values is drawn at a 45° angle, this was considered to reflect the most accurate reliability value.^{253, 254} Most studies did not report the reason for the chosen method of analysis, although one paper stated that ICC best reflected errors associated with measurements.²⁵⁵ It has been suggested that the Pearson product moment correlation coefficient may produce high reliability values even when large inconsistency between paired scores is found.²⁵⁶ This statistical method may overestimate reliability as each variable is centred and scaled by its own mean and standard deviation. Additionally, the correlation line is drawn at its best position without specifying location.²⁵³

4.1.3 Results

4.1.3.1 Search results

The initial search yielded seventy-one studies, of which twenty-nine papers matched the inclusion criteria and were fully reviewed.^{246-249, 251, 255, 257-274} All the studies were case series (SIGN grade 3).

4.1.3.2 Statistical analysis

Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC or reliability) values were rated as weak (ICC=0-0.60), good (ICC=0.60-0.80), or excellent (ICC>0.80).^{254, 257, 258, 275, 276} Six studies reported on intratester reliability only.^{246, 248, 263, 273, 277, 278} Six studies reported on intertester reliability only.^{247, 249, 262, 267, 271, 279} Seventeen studies reported on both intratester reliability (Tables 4-1 to 4-3).^{251, 255, 257-261, 264-266, 268-270, 272, 274, 280, 281}

4.1.3.3 Motion measured and measurement procedure:

Twenty-one studies examined passive motion^{246-249, 251, 255, 257-260, 263, 265-271, 274, 279, 280} and eight studies active motion.^{261, 262, 264, 272, 273, 277, 278, 281} Four studies did not give testers standard instructions to follow or prior training.^{255, 257, 258, 261}

4.1.3.4 Participants

Thirteen studies included healthy subjects,^{249, 262, 263, 267-270, 272-274, 277, 278, 281} while twelve studies included subjects with various pathologies including diabetes,²⁵⁹ neurological conditions,^{246, 247, 251, 264-266} orthopaedic conditions^{261, 279} and neurological and orthopaedic conditions.^{255, 258} One study stated only that the participants were nursing home residents.²⁶⁰ Two studies included both subjects with neurological conditions and healthy subjects,^{248, 271} and one study included both subjects with orthopaedic conditions and healthy subjects.²⁸⁰ Sample sizes varied widely (range: 6-150).

4.1.3.5 Goniometer design and comparison

Twenty-one studies investigated the reliability of the UG only.^{246-249, 251, 255, 257-264, 266, 268-271, 273, 274} Three studies investigated the reliability of inclinometer only,^{272, 279, 281} and none of the studies investigated the reliability of the EG only. One study compared the reliability of the EG and UG,²⁷⁷ and two studies compared the reliability of the UG and inclinometer.^{267, 278} A further study compared the reliability of the UG and inclinometer but did not state any numerical ICC values for the UG.²⁸⁰ Another study investigated the reliability of the UG and inclinometer but did not compare them.²⁶⁵

4.1.3.6 Reliability of universal goniometer

Hip joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

One study concluded that intertester reliability for measuring internal and external rotation was excellent (ICC=0.90-0.94) (Table 4-1).²⁶² Another study found excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.80-0.96) for measurement of hip adduction (ICC=0.80), abduction (ICC=0.86), lateral rotation (0.80), medial rotation (ICC=0.92), extension (ICC=0.83) and flexion (ICC=0.95) ROM.²⁷⁷

Passive motion

One study reported good to excellent intratester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.70-0.96).²⁶³ Two studies reported weak to excellent intratester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.09-0.92).^{248, 268} Two studies found weak to good intertester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.10-0.65).^{268, 271} In contrast, another study found excellent intertester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.92).²⁶⁷ A single study reported on intratester reliability for hip flexion and found weak to excellent reliability (ICC=0.52-0.99) (Table 4-1).²⁴⁸ Another study stated that the measurements obtained for hip rotation were reliable, but no numerical ICC values were provided.

Subjects with pathology

Active motion

No study was found investigating measurement of active hip motion.

Passive motion

Three studies reported good to excellent intratester and intertester reliability (ICC=0.61-0.981) for measurements of hip extension, flexion, abduction and lateral rotation amongst subjects with neurological conditions.^{246, 251, 266} Two studies also found excellent intratester reliability for measurement of hip abduction (ICC=0.82-0.95) and hip extension (ICC=0.98) but weak intertester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.24) and hip abduction (ICC=0.37-0.47) amongst the same subject group.^{260, 265} Another study reported weak intertester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.19-0.50).²⁷¹ One study found inconsistent

results and significant variation in intratester reliability within one session and between sessions for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.17-0.91) and flexion (ICC=0.55-0.80) (Table 4-1).²⁴⁸ Another study stated that the measurements obtained for hip rotation amongst subjects with orthopaedic conditions was reliable, but no numerical ICC values were provided.²⁸⁰

Knee joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

One study was found which concluded that intratester reliability was excellent for knee flexion (ICC=0.91) and knee extension (ICC=0.80).²⁷⁷

Passive motion

Two studies reported excellent intratester reliability for measurement of knee flexion (ICC=0.96-0.99) and knee extension (ICC=0.83-0.97).^{257, 269} One study reported good intratester reliability for measurement of knee flexion (ICC=0.65-0.72),²⁷⁰ while another study found weak to excellent intratester reliability for knee extension measurement (ICC=0.34-0.99).²⁴⁸ Other studies found good to excellent intertester reliability during measurement of flexion (ICC=0.88-0.99) and extension (ICC=0.64-0.71) (Table 4-2).^{249, 257, 269} On the other hand, three studies found weak to good intertester reliability for measurement of knee extension (ICC=0.21-0.68) and flexion (ICC=0.44-0.59).²⁶⁹⁻²⁷¹

Subjects with pathology

Active motion

A single study was found which reported excellent intratester and intertester reliability of flexion and extension amongst subjects with orthopaedic conditions (ICC=0.89-0.99) (Table 4-2).²⁶⁴

Passive motion

Intratester reliability was found to be excellent in four studies investigating measurements of knee flexion (ICC=0.99) and extension (ICC=0.81-0.98) amongst subjects with neurological and orthopaedic conditions.^{246, 251, 255, 260} However, one study reported weak to excellent intratester reliability for measurement of knee extension (ICC=0.57-0.92) amongst subjects with neurological conditions.²⁴⁸ Two studies reported weak intertester reliability for measurement of knee extension (ICC=0.26²⁷¹ and 0.58²⁵¹) amongst subjects with neurological conditions. On the other hand, three studies reported good to excellent intertester reliability for measurement of knee extension (ICC=0.78-0.96) (Table 4-2) amongst subjects with neurological and orthopaedic conditions.^{247, 255, 260} One study reported excellent intertester reliability (ICC=0.90) for measuring knee flexion amongst subjects with neurological and orthopaedic conditions.²⁵⁵

Ankle joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

Two studies found that measurement of ankle dorsiflexion produced excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.85-0.96).^{273, 278} Another study concluded excellent intratester reliability for ankle dorsiflexion (ICC=0.92) and plantarflexion (ICC=0.96).²⁷⁷

Passive motion

Two studies were found which reported good to excellent intratester and intertester reliability for ankle dorsiflexion (ICC=0.63-0.99) (Table 4-3).^{248, 274}

Subjects with pathology

Active motion

A single study reported weak to excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.47-0.93) and weak intertester reliability (ICC=0.25-0.28) for the measurement of plantarflexion and dorsiflexion amongst subjects with orthopaedic conditions (Table 4-3).²⁶¹

Passive motion

A single study examined measurement of dorsiflexion and plantarflexion amongst subjects with diabetes and found excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.89-0.96), while the intertester reliability varied between good to excellent (0.74-0.89).²⁵⁹ Five studies reported excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.81-0.99) during measurement of dorsiflexion and plantarflexion amongst subjects with neurological and orthopaedic

conditions.^{246, 248, 251, 258, 266} By contrast, two other studies reported weak to good intertester reliability (ICC=0.12-0.73) during measurement of dorsiflexion and plantarflexion amongst the same subject group,^{251, 258} excluding two studies where excellent intertester reliability was found for measurements of plantarflexion and dorsiflexion (ICC=0.87-0.88).^{247, 266}

4.1.3.7 Reliability of electrical goniometer

Hip joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

One study was found which concluded good to excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.72-0.86) for measurement of hip adduction (ICC=0.77), abduction (ICC=0.79), lateral rotation (ICC=0.86), medial rotation (0.86), extension (ICC=0.72) and flexion (ICC=0.89) ROM.²⁷⁷

Passive motion

No study was found investigating measurement of passive hip motion.

Subjects with pathology

No study was found investigating measurements of active or passive hip motion.

Knee joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

One study was found which concluded that intratester reliability was excellent for knee flexion (ICC=0.91) and knee extension (ICC=0.80) (4-2).²⁷⁷

Passive motion

No study was found investigating measurement of passive knee motion.

Subjects with pathology

No study was found investigating measurements of active or passive knee motion.

Ankle joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

One study was found which concluded good to excellent intratester reliability for ankle dorsiflexion (ICC=0.80) and plantarflexion (ICC=0.93).²⁷⁷

Passive motion

No study was found investigating measurement of passive ankle motion.

Subjects with pathology

No study was found investigating measurements of active or passive ankle motion.

4.1.3.8 Reliability of inclinometer

Hip joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

No study was found investigating measurement of active hip motion.

Passive motion

One study found excellent intertester reliability for measurement of hip extension (ICC=0.91).²⁶⁷ Another study found excellent intratester and intertester reliability (ICC=0.96-0.99) for measurement of hip rotation.²⁸⁰

Subjects with pathology

Active motion

No study was found investigating measurement of passive hip motion.

Passive motion

Excellent intratester and intertester reliability (ICC=0.95-0.97) was found during measurement of hip rotation amongst subjects with low back dysfunction.²⁸⁰ On the other hand, weak intertester reliability (ICC=0.43-0.48) was found for measurement of hip rotation amongst subjects with symptoms of osteoarthritis.²⁷⁹ A further study found excellent intratester and intertester (ICC=0.85-0.97) reliability for measurement of hip abduction amongst subjects with neurological conditions.²⁶⁵

Knee joint

No study was found investigating measurements of active or passive knee motion amongst healthy subjects or subjects with pathology.

Ankle joint

Healthy subjects

Active motion

Two studies reported that measurement of ankle dorsiflexion produced excellent intratester (ICC=0.85-0.98) and intertester reliability (ICC=0.97).^{278, 281} Another study found good to excellent intratester reliability (ICC=0.77-0.91) and excellent intertester reliability for measurement of ankle dorsiflexion.²⁷²

Passive motion

No study was found investigating measurement of passive ankle motion.

Subjects with pathology

No study was found investigating measurements of passive or active ankle motion.

4.1.4 Discussion

Several different designs of goniometers have been developed over the years including the UG, EG and gravity-dependent goniometer (inclinometers).^{267, 282, 283} The UG is the most frequently used tool in the clinical environment. However, the disadvantage of using the UG is the requirement of having to use both hands to move the joint while simultaneously aligning the UG with bony landmarks, which may compromise reliability.^{258, 284} Inclinometers are less frequently used compared with UGs as they tend to be more expensive. The inclinometer measures the angle of the segment against vertical.²¹ Conversely, inclinometers are easier to use compared to UGs as only one hand is required.³⁰ EGs convert angular motion to an electrical signal, which is then displayed on the device as ROM measurement. The EG requires careful calibration prior to attaching it to the subject and is time consuming. Straps are used to attach the EG to the subject with cables, which may restrict movement. New technologies are recently emerging for joint ROM measurements, such as 2D and 3D video analysis systems.^{285, 286}

This review included 29 studies investigating intratester and intertester reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer in measuring active or passive ROM of lower limb joints amongst subjects with pathology or healthy subjects.

In general, reliability of the goniometers varied across different pathologies, proving to be most reliable amongst healthy subjects. A number of studies stated that the presence of spasticity is a major cause of error^{265, 275, 287, 288} and concluded that care should be taken when using the measurements obtained using the UG or inclinometer for assisting in clinical judgment.^{275, 287} However, Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ compared measurement reliability of the UG amongst healthy subjects to those with spastic diplegia and found equal reliability.²⁴⁸ This study concluded that a major cause of error was in defining the end range of the joint ROM rather than the presence of spasticity. Furthermore, Lee et al.²⁷¹ also compared measurement reliability of the UG amongst healthy subjects to those with CP and found higher reliability amongst subjects with

CP. Elveru et al.²⁵⁸ reported a higher intertester reliability for the UG for ankle plantarflexion ROM in subjects with general orthopaedic conditions in comparison with subjects with neurological conditions. Another study stated that equal reliability is achieved for hip rotation measurements using the UG and inclinometer amongst subjects with low back pain and healthy subjects.²⁸⁰ However, numerical ICC values were only stated for inclinometer.

Some studies included more than one form of pathology and grouped results without reporting on each pathology individually.^{255, 257, 258, 260, 264} Three studies included more than one form of CP and did not report on each group separately, hence reducing the ability to interpret results.^{247, 265 271}

Watkins et al.²⁵⁵ investigated intratester and intertester reliability of the UG for knee joint ROM amongst subjects with knee joint problems and reported excellent reliability (Table 4-2). A posterior analysis was performed in the study to determine the effect of different pathologies on the reliability. Overall, pathology did not influence the intratester and intertester reliability. However, intertester reliability for knee extension was found to be weak amongst below-knee amputees, which may be explained due to short distal limb segment causing difficulties in aligning the UG.

Passive ROM is the motion mostly measured in clinical environments, and only 8 studies included in this review reported on active motion, while twenty-one studies reported on passive motion. Two studies reported excellent intratester and intertester reliability of the UG for measuring hip and knee joint active ROM (Tables 4-1 & 4-

2).^{262, 264} Another study reported weak to excellent intratester reliability and weak intertester reliability for the UG for measuring active ankle ROM (Table 4-3).²⁶¹ Thomas and Rome²⁷³ concluded excellent intratester reliability for the UG for measurement of active ankle dorsiflexion. Clapper and Wolf²⁷⁷ concluded good to excellent intratester reliability for measurements of active ROM of hip, knee and ankle using the UG and EG. Furthermore, three studies reported good to excellent intratester and intertester for measurement of active ankle dorsiflexing using the inclinometer.^{272, 278, 281} No study was found reporting on the reliability of the EG for measurement of passive motion. However, one study suggested that the low intertester reliability could be explained due in part to the difference in the force applied by therapists during assessments of passive motion, causing different angles to be obtained during each testing session.²⁵¹

It was noted that reliability varied across the joints measured due to the different joint characteristics and ease of identifying bony landmarks. Overall, reliability varied from weak to excellent across the hip, knee and ankle joint. The knee joint was found to be reliable to measure, and this is supported with the high ICC values found (Table 4-2).^{249, 255, 257, 264} Measurement of knee flexion appears to be more reliable than measurement of knee extension ROM (Table 4-2).^{255, 257, 264} Similar results were found for measurement of hip joint ROM, as some studies reported excellent intratester and intertester reliability for the measurement of hip extension, abduction and external rotation (Table 4-1).^{246, 251, 260, 265-267} This suggests that the length of lever arms may have more effect. Aligning the goniometer to follow the long bones in the thigh, calf and mid-lateral trunk may assist knee and hip joint ROM measurements, making this

more reliable. Furthermore, it has been reported that even complex motions can be measured reliably when strict standard position is applied.^{289, 290}

Most studies provided the testers with a standard measurement procedure and prior training in order to minimise associated error. However, Rothstein et al.²⁵⁷ deliberately did not standardise the measurement procedure using the UG (measuring technique and subject's position) to mimic the clinical setting and stated that "measurement technique will often vary between the therapists, partially because of their training and preferences and partially because of adaptation, such as positioning which are necessary with different patients."^(p 1611) The study reported high intratester reliability during measurement of passive knee flexion and extension ROM and high intertester for knee flexion ROM but lower intertester reliability for knee extension ROM amongst subjects with pathology (Table 4-2).²⁵⁷ To examine the effect of the different patient positions used in the study, a posterior analysis of the results was carried out, and an increase in intertester reliability for knee extension was reported from (ICC=0.20-0.69) to (ICC=0.74-0.84) when the same position was used. It was suggested that using different patient positions while measuring causes variability due to the bi-articular muscles (hamstrings) affecting the knee extension.²⁵⁷ The hamstring muscles cross both hip and knee joint limiting knee extension ROM when the hip is flexed; hence, variation in position of the hip joint during measuring knee joint extension can cause differences in the measurements obtained. Subject position varied across a number of studies. The positions used to measure hip joint ROM were the Thomas test, modified Thomas test, prone hip extension test, supine position with knee maintained in different degrees of flexion, prone position and seated position. Kilgour

et al.²⁴⁸ reported higher intratester ICC values for the Staheli test (ICC=0.78-0.91) in comparison to the Thomas test (ICC=0.17-0.66) using the UG in subjects with CP. Furthermore, intratester ICC values for the prone hip extension test (ICC=0.80-0.92) were found to be higher than intratester ICC values for the Thomas test (ICC=0.09-0.91) amongst healthy subjects in the previous study. A further study found weak intertester reliability of the UG when using the Thomas test (ICC=0.58).²⁴⁷ In contrast, Lee et al.²⁷¹ reported higher ICC values for the Thomas test (ICC=0.20-0.50) in comparison to the prone hip extension test (ICC=0.10-0.19) amongst subjects with CP and healthy subjects using the UG. Calpis et al.²⁶⁷ reported excellent intertester reliability for hip extension measurement using the modified Thomas test with the UG and inclinometer amongst healthy subjects. Van Dillen et al.²⁶³ compared 4 positions using the UG for measuring hip extension, which included femur maintained in 0° of abduction with knee maintained in 80° of flexion, femur maintained in 0° of abduction with knee fully extended, femur fully abducted with knee maintained in 80° of flexion and femur in full abduction and knee fully extended. In this study, the higher intratester reliability was achieved for the position where the femur was fully abducted and knee fully extended (ICC=0.96). Simoneau et al.²⁶² measured hip external and internal rotation using the UG in prone and seated positions and concluded higher ICC values were achieved for internal rotation (ICC=0.94) and external rotation (ICC=0.93) in the prone position. The study recommended documentation of the position of the hip to allow repeated reliable measurements. It has been reported that proper aligning of the UG when measuring using the Thomas test or prone hip extension test can be difficult as one hand is used to ensure the lumbar spine is flat, and the other hand is used to align the UG while maintaining the position of both arms of the UG.²⁴⁷ Ellison et al.²⁸⁰

reported that no significant difference was found in measuring hip rotation in prone and seated position using the UG and inclinometer amongst healthy subjects and subjects with pathologies. However, no ICC values were provided for comparison. Additionally, it was stated that measuring in the prone position is better as patient could be more easily stabilised. For knee ROM measurements, the following positions were used: popliteal angle and supine position with hip extended. Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ compared measuring knee extension with the hip in neutral and in 90° of flexion using the UG and found higher ICC values with the hip in a neutral position in subjects with CP and in healthy subjects. On the other hand, Cadenhead et al.²⁴⁶ found equal reliability for the UG when measuring knee extension while maintaining the hip in neutral or 90° of flexion. For ankle joint ROM measurements, the following positions were used: supine position with knee extended, supine position with knee flexed, prone position and weight-bearing lung position. A study found equal intratester reliability when measuring ankle dorsiflexion with knee extended and knee flexed using the UG.²⁴⁸ Diamond et al.²⁵⁹ and Jonson and Gross²⁷⁴ measured ankle dorsiflexion in prone position using the UG and reported good to excellent intratester and intertester reliability. Three studies found good to excellent intratester and intertester reliability for the UG and inclinometer using the weight-bearing lunge measure of ankle dorsiflexion amongst healthy subjects.^{272, 278, 281} Thomas and Rome investigated the effect of 3 different subject positions (prone, supine and sitting) on the reliability of the UG for measuring active ankle dorsiflexion; however, only one ICC value was reported with no further information about the position.

Another source of error may be due to discrepancies in identification of bony landmarks and goniometric alignment between testers. Peeler and Anderson²⁷⁰ carried out a pilot test with 3 testers and found that differences were reported between testers when identifying the lateral epicondyle of the femur (used to align the axis of the goniometer), especially in subjects with pathological changes at the knee.²⁵⁷ In addition, they reported that difficulties were found in maintaining the position of the axis of the UG when trying to align the two arms. Differences in identification of bony landmarks can increase the error with any design of goniometer, but the error associated with identification of bony landmarks can be reduced by using inclinometers rather than UGs, as fewer bony landmarks require identification.²⁶¹, ²⁶⁵Additionally, Watkins et al.²⁵⁵ followed non-standard measuring procedure using the UG and reported excellent intratester and intertester reliability for measurements of knee flexion and extension in subjects with knee pathologies. A posterior analysis of the results showed that non-standardisation of the measurement procedure contributed slightly to measurement error but still suggested that standard procedures be applied to minimise this error (when the same position was used, ICC for flexion increased by 0.02 and for extension by 0.01).²⁵⁵ A further study found weak intertester reliability when measuring active ankle ROM using the UG amongst subjects with pathology when the position was not standardised, suggesting that a standard protocol should be established and followed.²⁶¹ The weak intertester reliability reported in this study may be explained due to the variation in the UG alignment using bony landmarks. In measuring the ankle joint, the fixed arm is aligned over the long axis of fibula; however, the moveable arm could be aligned with the heel, fifth metatarsal or plantar surface of the foot causing variation in measurements amongst testers.²⁶¹ In

addition, the variation found in the study by Youdas et al.²⁶¹ may be explained due to the effect of the gastrocnemius muscle, which crosses the knee and ankle joint, limiting the available ankle dorsiflexion ROM when the knee is extended. Different knee joint positions used in the previous study may have caused different ankle dorsiflexion ROM to be recorded, leading to variation in results (wide range of intratester and intertester ICC reported). In contrast, another study stated that lack of standardisation was not a significant factor for difference amongst the testers (intertester) during measurements of passive ankle plantarflexion ROM using the UG.²⁵⁸ However, the opposite was reported for ankle dorsiflexion ROM with the UG (ICC increased by 0.09 when using different positions and decreased by 0.10 when using the same position) but still rated as weak intertester reliability (Table 4-3).²⁵⁸ Furthermore, it was stated that involving two testers in the measurement procedure may increase the reliability of the measurements amongst subjects with CP as one tester stabilises the limb and the second tester takes the measurements.²⁴⁷

Generally, it was found from the studies included in this review that intratester reliability was higher than intertester reliability (Tables 4-1 to 4-3).^{251, 257-261, 265, 269, 271} One study suggested that averaging two measurements each session increases the reliability of the measurements obtained,²⁶¹ agreeing with the findings of Low.²⁹¹ However, a study by Rothstein et al.²⁵⁷ found that no greater reliability is obtained when the mean of measurements is used, suggesting that reliability can be achieved by taking a single measurement in clinical settings. In addition, a posterior analysis of the results by Elveru et al.²⁵⁸ suggested that no increase in reliability was achieved when using the mean of two measurements, agreeing with the finding of Boone et al.²⁹² The

results of Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ showed no increase in reliability when averaging two measurements but stated that "taking two duplicate measures in clinical practice could help therapists to identify measurements within on session that might need to be repeated".^(p 399)

The ability to make a direct comparison between the studies was compromised due to the differences in methodology adopted in the studies, such as the level of experience of the testers, number of sessions and time between the sessions.

Most studies included testers who were physical therapists with experience levels ranging from $1^{257,265}$ to 30^{248} years. McWhirk and Glanzman²⁴⁷ included two therapists with different levels of experience (1 and >10 years' experience) to investigate the intertester reliability of the UG in subjects with CP. They found good to excellent reliability for all the motions measured, excluding hip extension ROM (ICC=0.58) (Tables 4-1 to 4-3). Elveru et al.²⁵⁸ performed a posterior analysis of the results to investigate the effect of experience on reliability of the UG and reported an increase in intratester ICC from 0.90 to 0.91 for ankle dorsiflexion and from 0.86 to 0.92 for ankle plantarflexion, and an increase in intertester ICC from 0.50 to 0.54 for ankle dorsiflexion and a decrease from 0.72 to 0.70 for ankle plantarflexion when more experienced testers took the measurements. Although an increase of ICC was reported, this increase did not affect the overall rating of the ICC values. Bennell et al.²⁸¹ reported excellent intratester reliability for both testers (second year physiotherapist student and a qualified physiotherapist with 9 years' experience) for ankle dorsiflexion measurements using inclinometer. Another study concluded that a novice tester (fourth

year exercise science students) with no previous experience can obtain reliable ankle dorsiflexion measurements using the UG and inclinometer.²⁷⁸ Another study reported lower intratester ICC values for fourth year undergraduate podiatry students in comparison to experienced podiatrists (3 to 20 years' experience) for measurements of active ankle dorsiflexion using the inclinometer.²⁷² However, limited information about the tester experience was provided. Remaining studies did not provide additional evidence to show the effect of the testers' experience on the reliability obtained.

The number of testing sessions and the period between each session varied across the studies. Most studies used a test-retest design to calculate intratester reliability of measurements taken by different testers on the same day.^{246, 247, 249, 255, 257-264, 267, 271} Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ investigated intratester reliability of the UG within and between sessions (one week apart) for passive ROM of hip, knee and ankle joint amongst subjects with CP and healthy subjects. In this study, all intra-sessional ICC values were found to be higher than inter-sessional ICC values (Tables 4-1 to 4-3). Wakefield et al.²⁶⁸ also reported weak intratester inter-sessional (between sessions) ICC values for the UG for measurement of hip extension amongst healthy subjects (Table 4-2). In contrast, Mutlu et al.²⁶⁶ and Herrero et al.²⁶⁵ reported high intratester intersessional ICC values for all the motions measured using the UG and inclinometer amongst subjects with CP (Tables 4-1 & 4-3). Pandya et al.²⁵¹ reported excellent intratester intersessional ICC values for all measurements obtained using the UG amongst subjects with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, and Peeler and Anderson²⁷⁰ and Thomas and Rome²⁷³ reported similar results amongst healthy subjects using the UG (Tables 4-1 to 4-3). Good intratester intersessional ICC value was reported in another study for measurement on ankle dorsiflexion using the UG.²⁷⁴ Bennell at al.²⁸¹ and Munteanu et al.²⁷² also reported good to excellent intratester intersessional ICC values for ankle dorsiflexion using the inclinometer.

It is important to consider measurement reliability in the clinical context. It is reported that an error of $\pm 5^{\circ}$ in measurement may be clinically acceptable.²¹¹ Hence, clinicians should be cautions when interpreting results of reliability studies and must select studies appropriate to pathology. Although Mutlu et al.²⁶⁶ reported good to excellent intertester reliability of the UG, a variation of 0-28° was found in intertester measurements. In addition, another study reported a variation of 15-20° in the measurements of the UG between sessions.²⁴⁸ The clinical effect of such findings must be considered, especially when using measurements to determine treatment effect.

A limited number of studies were found which compared between the UG, EG and inclinometer. Konor et al.²⁷⁸ reported higher intratester ICC values for inclinometer (ICC=0.96-0.97) in comparison to the UG (ICC=0.85-0.96) for ankle dorsiflexion measurements. On the other hand, Clapis et al.²⁶⁷ reported a lower intertester ICC value for inclinometer (ICC=0.89) in comparison to the UG (ICC=0.92) for measurement of hip extension amongst healthy subjects.²⁶⁷ However, the differences between the ICC values reported for the UG and inclinometer by Konor et al.²⁷⁸ and Clapis et al.²⁶⁷ proposed that the low ICC values obtained using the inclinometer may be due to the limited amount of training. Additionally, it was found that inclinometer and the UG can be used interchangeably for measurement of hip extension amongst healthy subjects.²⁶⁷

Ellison et al.²⁸⁰ concluded that inclinometers are easier to use and more reliable compared to UGs during measurement of passive hip rotation amongst healthy subjects and subjects with low back pain.²⁸⁰ However, ICC values for the UG amongst healthy subjects and subjects with low back pain and ICC values for inclinometer amongst healthy subjects were not reported. A study investigated the reliability of active hip, knee and ankle ROM measurements using the UG and EG amongst healthy subjects.²⁷⁷ ICC values for the UG were found to be higher in comparison to the ICC values for the EG, except for hip external rotation. No study was found which compared reliability of inclinometer with EG or reliability of the UG with EG and inclinometer.

This review aimed to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer and to examine how different factors can influence the reliability (Table 4-4). Twenty-nine studies were included which investigated the reliability of measuring hip, knee and ankle joint ROM. This literature review highlights variation in the methodology employed, which reduced the ability to compare studies directly as the number of testers, experience level, number of sessions, time between the sessions and subject position varied across the studies. Most studies indicated that the reliability was best when used to measure ROM in healthy subjects and that reliability may be reduced in the presence of different pathologies. Passive ROM is the motion mostly measured in the clinical environment, hence a larger number of studies have examined the reliability of measurement of passive motion rather than active motion. The limited number of studies measuring active motion compromised the ability to make comparisons with measurement of passive ROM. It was stated that the low
intertester reliability could be explained due in part to the difference in the force applied by therapists during assessments of passive motion, causing different angles to be obtained during each session. Generally, it was found that intratester reliability was higher than intertester reliability. Reliability varied from weak to excellent across the hip, knee and ankle joints due to the different joint characteristics and ease of identifying bony landmarks. It has been reported that even complex motions can be measured reliably when a strict standard position is applied. Standardisation of the measurement procedure and prior training were found to increase measurement reliability, and one study suggested that involvement of more than one tester in the measurement procedure may have a beneficial effect on reliability. A limited number of studies were found which compared the different designs of the goniometers, hence affecting the conclusions. No study was found which compared the 3 designs of goniometers. Further research is required to investigate and compare the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer and the possibility of using protocols and technology to increase reliability when measuring joint ROM.

4.2 PnO Clinical Movement Data

The previous literature review examining the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer demonstrated considerable variation in results for joint ROM measurements. Inconsistent agreement was observed between different studies, which restricted the ability to make a direct comparison due to the lack of similarity in the methodology implemented in those studies. The number of testers, experience level, number of sessions, time between the sessions, and subject position varied across the studies found. The review also highlighted the gap in current research about the reliability of the UG and the requirement for a more reliable measuring tool. Currently, 3D motion analysis systems such as Vicon have been shown to produce accurate and reliable measurement.²⁹³ Additionally, these systems have been employed in several studies as a benchmark to assess the feasibility of other potential systems/devices.^{271,} ²⁹³⁻²⁹⁶ 3D gait analysis systems are often financially and technically inaccessible in clinical environments especially where space is a challenge. A certain level of expertise is required to operate these systems. Additionally, the outcomes produced by these systems may be hard for clinicians to understand.²⁹³ Hence, the use of alternative systems such as the 2D video analysis systems might be clinically useful.

In this thesis, the *PnO CMD* (Previously known as *SiliconcoachTM*) was chosen as an example of 2D analysis systems (*Prosthetic and Orthotic Data Solutions*, Florida, USA).²⁹⁷ 2D analysis systems such as the *PnO CMD* was considered because these systems are applicable to capture motion and analyse gait. Additionally, the use of the *PnO CMD* in clinical practice may aid in documentation of the fitting and alignment process and reduction of trial and error. It can also promote increased communication

between allied health professionals. The *PnO CMD* system is affordable, practical and easy to use in clinical environments. A single video camera is required to capture sagittal plane ROM. Following that, the video can be uploaded into the *PnO CMD* software for joint ROM measurement. Hence, the use of this software can be applicable in clinical environments where space could be a challenge. The option to play back the video frame by frame aids in identifying the joint end ROM. Additionally, the web-based application of *PnO CMD* enhances the use of this system and reduces the requirements for hardware, as this system can be used for example on tablets.

The reliability of the measurement of ankle, knee and hip angles at initial contact, midstance and terminal stance phases of gait using *PnO CMD* has previously been investigated.²⁹⁸ This study also investigated whether the use of predefined anatomical markers improved measurement reliability, with the authors concluding that using predefined anatomical markers increased reliability. The intratester reliability varied across gait and was best reported in terminal stance (ICC=1.00).²⁹⁸ Additionally, this study concluded a high intertester ICC value (ICC=0.86) for measurement of knee angle at initial contact. A further study²⁸⁶ aimed to determine the reliability of *PnO CMD* in assessing dynamic and static ROM of the knee joint. Acceptable ICC values (ICC>0.6) for dynamic and static motion were found.²⁸⁶ Additionally, a study²⁹⁹ investigated the intratester and intertester reliability of measuring resisted isometric knee flexion during single leg squats using *PnO CMD*. Intertester reliability was found to be better than intertester reliability.

The overall aim of the following studies is to test the feasibility of 2D analysis system (*PnO CMD*) in clinical practice for passive joint ROM measurement during physical assessment. The findings of these studies may help clinicians to use advanced technologies such as 2D analysis systems in clinics during physical assessment. Additionally, it may help to introduce a system which is cost effective and more practical in comparison to Vicon. Initially, the reliability of PnO CMD will be investigated amongst healthy subjects in comparison to the UG in measurement of passive joint ROM. Additionally, measurements taken using a standard developed measurement procedure with/without markers will be compared to establish the most reliable measurement procedure. Following that, the accuracy of PnO CMD will be researched in comparison to Vicon (benchmark) amongst healthy subjects. It is mandatory to examine the reliability and accuracy of PnO CMD amongst healthy subjects, as to the best of the author's knowledge there is no published work investigating this. In addition, this step is carried out to establish the most reliable and accurate measurement procedure that can be taken forward and tested amongst subjects with diplegic CP.

4.2.1 The reliability of *PnO Clinical Movement Data* and universal goniometer in the measurement of hip, knee and ankle motion amongst healthy subjects

4.2.1.1 Aim

This pilot study aims to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of PnO *CMD* compared to the UG in measuring passive ROM of the lower limb joints during physical assessment amongst healthy subjects. Additionally, this study aims to establish the effect of markers on measurement reliability. This will help to determine the most reliable measurement procedure.

4.2.1.2 Methods

Participants and testers

After gaining appropriate ethical approval, recruitment posters for testers and participants were displayed within the Department of Biomedical Engineering of the University of Strathclyde (DEC.BioMed.2013.21). Individuals who showed interest were asked to contact the research team and were provided with additional information and the participant information sheet. A period of three days was given to each individual to make a decision on their participation. Following that, informed consent was obtained from the participants and testers at the introductory session. Inclusion criteria were as follows: Participants were adult (age>18) and did not suffer from any musculoskeletal or neurological conditions, or from any condition resulting in any lower limb sensory deficit. Participants were excluded if they were unable to attend

the scheduled measuring and recording sessions or if there was a change in physical status or injury during the trial period.

Testers were required to be a qualified allied health professional or a final year prosthetics and orthotics student with current experience in measurement of joint ROM. Final year prosthetics and orthotics students use the UG throughout the course and have sufficient training in utilising it. Additionally, only students who have completed their clinical placement were included. Testers were excluded if they were unable to attend the scheduled measuring sessions or were unable to complete the video analysis within the given time frame or had no experience in measuring joint ROM.

Study design

Sagittal plane ROM of the hip, knee and ankle joint of the dominant limb during physical assessment was measured with both tools, with and without markers. Markers were applied on the following bony landmarks: shoulder, greater trochanter, lateral femoral condyle of the knee, lateral malleolus and fifth metatarsal head. Markers consisted of bright coloured adhesive *Velcro*TM cut into circular shapes (25 mm) and placed by the same researcher to reduce the variability.

Participants

An introductory session was arranged where explanation about the trial was given to the participants. For practical reasons, the participants were divided into two groups. Each group attended two half-day sessions: one with markers and one without markers,

222

with approximately a one-week gap between the sessions. Participants were provided with *Lycra*TM suits to wear for all the sessions to limit any movement/obstruction which may be caused by loose clothing. Additionally, each participant was given a time slot to attend for video recording within a separate video recording session. In the video recording session, which lasted for approximately 30 minutes, the camera (Sony HD video camera with 3.1 mega pixels) was positioned using a tripod perpendicular to the bed where the participant was lying down at an appropriate distance to capture the image of the participant from the shoulder to toe. The researcher moved each joint individually into maximum flexion and extension while a video of the motion was captured. Additionally, care was taken to ensure that the joint measured was perpendicular to the video camera to minimise the parallax type error. The same procedure was repeated using markers.

Testers

An introductory session was arranged where a PowerPoint presentation explaining the measuring method with *PnO CMD* and the UG was given by the researcher in order to standardise the measuring methods. A standard measurement procedure was developed and implemented for this study. Additional information was provided in a measuring instruction manual (Appendix B). For the purpose of this study, each tester was asked to record the following measurements on the dominant limb using both devices: maximum hip flexion, maximum hip extension, maximum knee flexion, maximum knee extension, maximum ankle plantarflexion and maximum ankle dorsiflexion. The testers were asked to attend four half-day sessions: two marker sessions and two no marker sessions with approximately a one-week gap between each

session. In each session, each tester measured the hip, knee and ankle joint ROM of four participants (Figure 4-1).

Intratester reliability of PnO Clinical Movement Data

Each participant's joint ROM of the dominant limb was video recorded with and without markers. Following that, each tester was instructed to evaluate each video three times in a time frame of three weeks with approximately a one-week gap between each evaluation (Figure 4-1). Each session lasted for approximately two hours. The order of the joints (with and without markers) was randomised between each evaluation. The testers were guided to pause the video at the stage when the researcher holds the joint at the end of the range for 3 seconds and to take the measurement at that position. The order of evaluation of the joints and video sequences was randomised. Special assessment sheets were used to record the ROM measurements using the identification codes provided to each tester and participant for blind analysis.

Intratester reliability of the universal goniometer

Prior to each session, the inclusion and exclusion criteria were checked for each participant to ensure that the participant's status had not changed. Each tester measured the ROM of each participant (hip, knee and ankle) 3 times in each session. Each session lasted for approximately 3 hours. The order of measuring participants was randomised and the order of each session (marker/no marker) was also randomised (Figure 4-1). Each tester had approximately 10 minutes to measure maximum sagittal plane motion of each participant's hip, knee and ankle joints. Special assessment sheets were used

to record the ROM measurements using the identification codes provided for each tester and participant for blind analysis.

Intertester PnO Clinical Movement Data and the universal goniometer

The mean of the three repetitions for each device was calculated with and without markers and compared for each joint between the two devices. It should be noted that intertester values were only able to be calculated if intratester values across all the testers were above the satisfactory level.

Statistical analysis

To achieve power of 80% at the 5% level of significance, 3 testers (final year prosthetics and orthotics students) and 8 participants (healthy subjects) were included in the study. ICC model (2, 1) was used after initial summary statistics was produced. This ICC reliability tool was used to assess and compare the reliability of the *PnO CMD* and the UG along with Bland & Altman plots and an appropriate paired test assessing the significance of actual differences. ICC values above 0.60 were considered to be satisfactory for research purposes.³⁰⁰

4.2.1.3 Results

Participants and testers

In this study, a total of eight healthy subjects were recruited. Additionally, three final year prosthetics and orthotics students were recruited as testers.

Intratester reliability

With markers

PnO Clinical Movement Data

The lowest ICC values found were for ankle dorsiflexion for all the testers (ICC=0.63, 0.65 & 0.78). However, the values were above satisfactory limits (ICC>0.6). The highest ICC values for all the testers were found for knee flexion measurements (ICC=0.98, 0.98 & 0.99) (Table 4-5). All ICC values were above satisfactory limits (Figures 4-2 to 4-4). All Bland & Altman plots illustrated small dispersion and equal distribution of the points above and below zero confirming the high ICC results found.

Universal goniometer

Some ICC values were found to be below the satisfactory limits (ICC<0.06) including hip flexion for tester 1 (ICC=0.46), hip extension for tester 1 & 2 (ICC=0.39 & 0.50), knee flexion for tester 1 & 2 (ICC=0.56 & 0.43), knee extension for tester 1 & 3 (ICC=0.54 & 0.41) and ankle dorsiflexion for tester 2 & 3 (ICC=0.40 & 0.56). The lowest ICC value was found for hip extension for one tester (ICC=0.39), while the highest ICC value was found for ankle plantarflexion and dorsiflexion for one tester (ICC=0.94) (Table 4-5) (Figures 4-2 to 4-4). Additionally, the Bland & Altman plots validated the ICC results achieved.

Without markers

PnO Clinical Movement Data

ICC values for all the joints measured were found to vary from 0.24 to 0.98. ICC values for ankle dorsiflexion for all the testers were found to be lower in comparison to the

other motions measured and below the satisfactory limits (ICC=0.24, 0.32 & 0.58) (ICC<0.6). Additionally, the ICC value for one tester for hip extension was found to be lower than the satisfactory limits (ICC=0.53). The highest ICC values for all the testers were found for hip flexion measurements as indicated in Table 4-5 (ICC=0.92, 0.93 & 0.98). All the Bland & Altman plots verified the ICC results found.

Universal goniometer

ICC values across all the joints measured were found to vary from 0.39 to 0.93. The lowest ICC value was found for ankle dorsiflexion for one tester (ICC=0.34), while the highest was found for ankle plantarflexion for another tester (ICC=0.93) (Table 4-5) (Figures 4-2 to 4-4). Furthermore, the Bland & Altman plots illustrated widespread scattering of the points confirming the low ICC results achieved.

Intertester reliability

With markers

PnO Clinical Movement Data

ICC values for all the joints measured ranged from 0.94 to 0.99 and were above the satisfactory level (ICC>0.60) (Table 4-5) (Figure 4-5). Additionally, all Bland & Altman plots showed random scattered points equally distributed above and below zero; hence, validating the high ICC values obtained.

Universal goniometer

Only ICC value for ankle plantarflexion could be calculated, and this was found to be below the satisfactory level (ICC=0.39) (Table 4-5) (Figure 4-5). The Bland & Altman plot illustrated large dispersion confirming the low ICC result found.

Without markers

PnO Clinical Movement Data

ICC values for all the joints measured except ankle dorsiflexion and hip extension were found to range from 0.91 to 0.97. The ICC value for hip extension for one of the testers was below the satisfactory level (ICC=0.53), which prevented the calculation for intertester reliability. All the ICC values across all the testers for ankle dorsiflexion were below the satisfactory levels (ICC<0.6) (ICC=0.24, 0.32 & 0.58); hence, intertester reliability was not concluded for this joint (Table 4-5) (Figure 4-5). All Bland & Altman plots confirmed the high ICC values achieved. The plots illustrated small dispersion and equal distribution of the points above and below zero.

Universal goniometer

Only intratester ICC values for ankle plantarflexion across all the testers were above the satisfactory level, but the resulting intertester reliability was lower than the satisfactory level (ICC=0.47) (Table 4-5) (Figure 4-5). This low ICC value was confirmed by the Bland & Altman plot.

4.2.1.4 Discussion

All intratester and intertester ICC values obtained using PnO CMD with markers for all testers were found to be above the satisfactory limit (ICC>0.60) with small variations in values, which demonstrates the reliability of this tool using markers and the standard measurement procedure developed (Table 4-5) (Appendix B). Most intratester and intertester ICC values for PnO CMD with no markers were found to be above the satisfactory limit (ICC>0.60) for all the testers, except for one tester's value for hip extension measurements (ICC=0.53) and ankle dorsiflexion measurements for all testers (ICC=0.24, 0.32 & 0.58) (Table 4-5) (Figures 4-2 to 4-5). Furthermore, it was observed in this study that all intratester ICC values for the UG (with/without markers) across all joints ranged considerably and, in some cases, were below the satisfactory limits (ICC<0.60) (Table 4-5). Due to the variation found in the ICC values for the UG, the effect of the markers on reliability of the UG was inconsistent (Table 4-5). Additionally, only two values of intertester reliability for the UG could be calculated including ankle plantarflexion with/without markers (ICC=0.39 & 0.47) and, and these were found to be lower than the intratester reliability and below the satisfactory limits (ICC<0.60). This demonstrates the unreliability of using this tool in comparison to PnO CMD (Table 4-5).

Intratester ICC values for ankle plantarflexion were the only values found to be above satisfactory limits (ICC>0.6) for both tools across all the testers. The resulting intertester reliability for ankle plantarflexion for *PnO CMD* with/without markers were found to be higher than intratester reliability (Table 4-5). On the other hand, the intertester reliability for ankle plantarflexion for the UG with/without markers were

found to be lower than intratester reliability (Table 4-5). *PnO CMD* (with/without marker) ICC values for ankle dorsiflexion for all testers were found to be lower in comparison to the other motions measured (Table 4-5).

To the best of the author's knowledge, only ICC values of the UG can be compared to the results previously found in the literature, as no study was found investigating the reliability of *PnO CMD* for passive motion of hip, knee and ankle joint. One study, Kilgour et al.,²⁴⁸ was found, which investigated the intratester reliability for the measurement of hip, knee and ankle motion using the UG with markers amongst healthy subjects. ICC values reported for hip extension, knee extension and ankle dorsiflexion using a similar testing position were all above the satisfactory limits, which does not agree with the findings of this study (Table 4-5). Peters et al.²⁶⁹ used a similar testing position as in the current study to investigate intratester reliability of the UG without markers for measurements of knee joint motion amongst healthy subjects. Again, reported ICC values were higher than the values reported in this study. The difference in experience of the testers between the study by Peters et al.²⁶⁹, the study by Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ and the current study may explain the variance found in the ICC values reported. Qualified clinicians were included in the study by Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ and Peters et al.²⁶⁹, while final year students were included in this study.

Rothstein et al.²⁵⁷ and Youdas et al.²⁶¹ reported an increase in ICC values for the UG when subject's position was standardised. As recommended, subject's position and a standard measurement procedure was applied in this study with both tools (Appendix B). Another source of error stated in the literature is the variance found between the

clinicians in the identification of bony landmarks.²⁷⁰ Markers proved to be useful with *PnO CMD* as the increased reliability. However, the effect of markers on the UG reliability was not clear. It was noted that the ICC values for the UG (with/without markers) ranged from weak to excellent with no pattern observed, making it hard to draw any conclusions. A possible explanation is the unequal manual force applied while measuring. Testers were instructed in each UG session to move each joint to maximum ROM, which may have resulted in different force applied between the testers and sessions. On the other hand, this variance was not present with *PnO CMD* as all the joints were moved by the same researcher and the same video captured on a single occasion was used for all the evaluation.

This study represents an initial step in using advanced technology (*PnO CMD*) in clinical practice to measure passive joint ROM. High reliability has been illustrated for sagittal plane passive ROM of hip, knee and ankle joints, and this increases with the use of markers. Markers can be created from cheap available material, such as adhesive *VelcroTM*, and used effectively. Additionally, the used measurement procedure can be easily applied. However, the intratester reliability was calculated before the intertester reliability and the data used to calculate the intratester reliability was averaged and used for intertester reliability. Theoretically, since the data has been re-used, Bonferroni correction factor may be considered appropriate. The significance of each intertester ICC values was <0.001 (with the exclusion of one value as shown in Table 4-5); hence, even with the Bonferroni correction factor the ICC values would still be significant. Furthermore, these results can only be generalised amongst healthy

pathologies such as cerebral palsy. The presence of spasticity and rotational deformity increases the challenge in obtaining reliable measurements.^{240, 287, 288} Additionally, as this study only involved final year prosthetics and orthotics students, it would be beneficial to investigate if experience or professional background have an effect on reliability of *PnO CMD* and the UG as this has not been reported sufficiently in the literature.³³ Test-retest design (intra-sessional intratester) was applied in this study where all the repeated measurements were taken in the same session. Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ and Wakefield et al.²⁶⁸ reported lower inter-sessional intratester reliability in comparison to intra-sessional intratester reliability for the UG of hip, knee and ankle joint. Thus, investigating the intersessional intratester for *PnO CMD* is recommended as clinicians measure on different occasions. This study only investigated the reliability of both tools for a single testing position used for hip, knee and ankle motion. Further investigation of reliability of *PnO CMD* is required using different test positions for joint ROM.

In conclusion, *PnO CMD* was found to be more reliable than the UG in measuring passive sagittal ROM of the lower limb joints' motion amongst healthy subjects. In addition, it was found that using markers increased the intratester and intertester reliability of *PnO CMD*. The present work opens possibilities for using new technology in joint ROM measurements to achieve more reliable measurements.

4.2.1.5 Error associated with the marker displacement using the *PnO Clinical Movement Data*

Introduction

In the previous study, it was established that the use of markers increased the measurement reliability of the *PnO CMD*. However, the use of markers can lead to measurement error due to the inaccuracy and variance in marker placement. Errors in marker placement can occur for several reasons. The first and most obvious reason is the inability to palpate the anatomical landmarks and place the marker precisely on these landmarks. Most of the anatomical landmarks are covered by skin, fat tissue, tendons and muscles which compromises the ability to accurately palpate these landmarks. Another reason for marker placement error is the difference found between examiners in identifying the anatomical landmarks. The process of palpating anatomical landmarks is subjective to some degree as the examiner is left with the decision of identifying the exact location of the marker placement, especially on flat surfaces. Intertester variability and between-sessions variability in marker placement have been identified as major sources of error in several studies.³⁰¹⁻³⁰⁴ This sub-study aimed to establish the measurement error caused by the marker displacement using the *PnO CMD*.

Methods

For this research, a model demonstrating the knee joint was constructed (Figure 4-6). Published body segment parameters (Nordic)³⁰⁵⁻³⁰⁷ with the average United Kingdom male height (177 cm)³⁰⁸ were used to calculate the length of the femur and tibia. Each

233

marker (A, B and C) was displaced in four directions from the original position by 1 cm (Figure 4-6). The arm representing the femur was moved through the range while a video of the motion was captured using and HD video camera (Sony HD video camera with 3.1 mega pixels). Following that, the video was uploaded into the *PnO CMD* system. Then, the video was paused when points ABC formed the following six angles: 180°, 170°, 160°, 150°, 110° and 90°. A total of 125 combinations were measured for each angle. The researcher completed all the measurements.

To establish the error associated with the marker displacement using the *PnO CMD*, the *PnO CMD* measurements were compared to trigonometry (benchmark) measurements for each angle. The standard error of measurement (SEM) was calculated for the *PnO CMD* using the ICC value (ICC=0.99) previously obtained from the research investigating the reliability of the *PnO CMD* (Section 4.2.1). Additionally, Bland & Altman plots were constructed for each angle to assess the degree of agreement between the methods.³⁰⁹ Since trigonometry is obtained using an equation, the ICC can be considered to be equal to 1; hence, the SEM=0.

Results & discussion

Table 4-6 illustrates the mean and SD for each angle measured using the *PnO CMD* and trigonometry. The SEM for the *PnO CMD* ranged from 0.196° to 0.294° . It could be noted that as the angle increased, the SEM increased, exhibiting an approximately linear relationship (Figure 4-7).

Bland & Altman plots for 90° and 110° illustrated random scattered points equally distributed above and below zero (Figures 4-8 & 4-9). This indicated that no consistent bias of one approach versus the other existed. As the angle increased, the plots moved towards a linear relationship (Figures 4-10 to 4-13). Bland & Altman plots for 170° and 180° showed that there is clearly a linear tendency in the *PnO CMD*-trigonometry score. The differences between the methods moved from negative to positive as the size of angle created by the pattern of markers increased (Figures 4-12 & 4-13). This indicated that for small angles the trigonometry measurement of the angle is larger than the measurement obtained using the *PnO CMD*, but for bigger angles the opposite is found. In all the plots, most of the points were within the +/-2° (Figures 4-8 to 4-13).

This sub-study was carried out to measure the possible error caused by marker displacement using the *PnO CMD*. It has been reported that an error of $\pm 5^{\circ}$ in measurement may be clinically acceptable.²¹¹ The measurement error caused by marker displacement using the *PnO CMD*, which ranged from 0.196° to 0.294°, is very small and is clinically acceptable (Table 4-6). One of the limitations of this sub-study is that the model used was a simple mechanical model. The use of a simple mechanical model eliminates the possible causes of variation in marker displacement commonly presented amongst subjects. These possible reasons may include skin movement, non-standard measurement procedure, intertester difference, between-sessions difference, presence of bony deformities and subject's performance. Another limitation of this sub-study is that the sample used is not independent. However, this sample may be possibly considered as been measured on different subjects. This is because

displacement of markers can be caused by the presence of long bone torsions. Furthermore, it should be noted that the SEM calculated for the *PnO CMD* represents a combination of the error caused by the marker displacement and the error associated with the use of the *PnO CMD*.

Overall, the measurement error caused by marker displacement using *the PnO CMD* is small and clinically acceptable especially when compared to current measurement standards such as the UG. The SEM increased as the angle increased, indicating that the error is higher with the larger angles.

4.2.2 Accuracy of *PnO Clinical Movement Data* to measure dynamic hip, knee and ankle joint range of motion during gait amongst healthy subjects

4.2.2.1 Aim

This research aims to investigate the accuracy of *PnO CMD* in comparison to Vicon (benchmark) to measure dynamic motion of the lower limb joints amongst healthy subjects during the gait.

4.2.2.2 Methods

Participants

Subjects were recruited from the Department of Biomedical Engineering of the University of Strathclyde. Ethical approval for this study was granted from the Biomedical Engineering Departmental Ethics Committee, University of Strathclyde (DEC.BioMed.2015.60). Inclusion criteria were as follows: adult participants aged over 18 with body mass index≤28 who did not suffer from any musculoskeletal or neurological conditions or from any condition resulting in any lower limb sensory deficit. Participants were excluded if they were unable to attend the scheduled session or if there was a change in their physical status or injury during the trial period.

Study design

Lab setup

The start and the stop/finish points were marked on the floor using coloured tape to form a walking path. The force platforms were located midway between the two points. Force platforms were used to accurately identify initial contact and toe-off using the Vicon system. One video camera (Sony HD video camera with 3.1 mega pixels) was used to capture the sagittal plane view of the dominant limb using the *PnO CMD* system. The camera was positioned on a tripod perpendicular to the midpoint of the force platforms. The height of the video camera was adjusted to capture the participant from shoulder to toe. Prior to each measurement session, both systems were calibrated following the appropriate guidelines. Both systems were adjusted to capture 50 frames per second.

Gait capturing session

Participants were asked to wear close fitting black leggings and a close fitting black top for the capturing session. At the beginning of each session, a brief introduction was given to the participant and consent was obtained. The following measurements were recorded: weight, height, knee width, ankle width and leg length. These measurements are mandatory for static calibration of the Vicon system. Following that, two sets of markers were applied using hypoallregenic double-sided tape to mark identified bony landmarks. The first set of markers were the Vicon system markers. These markers are spherical shaped markers coated with a highly reflective material which can be tracked by the infrared light emitting cameras of the Vicon system. Vicon markers were applied as indicated by the Plug-In-Gait guidelines on the following bony landmarks of both sides: anterior superior iliac spine, posterior superior iliac spine, lateral femoral epicondyle, lateral malleolus, thigh, shank, second metatarsal head and calcaneus. The second set of markers were applied for *PnO CMD*. These markers were constructed from bright coloured adhesive *Velcro*TM cut into round-shaped markers (25 mm). Markers used for *PnO CMD* were applied on the following bony landmarks of the

dominant side: pelvis, greater trochanter, lateral femoral epicondyle, lateral malleolus and fifth metatarsal head.

After participant preparation, static calibration of the Vicon system was carried out. The participant was asked to stand in the anatomical position, and appropriate system guidelines were followed. Then, the participant was asked to walk from the start point to the stop/finish point (points marked on the floor) at their own speed 3 times while both systems captured gait at the same time.

Pelvis marker

The position of this marker was determined following a primary test. Several locations were tested to determine the position that would yield the most accurate results. The location of the pelvis marker was located as follows: the anterior superior iliac spine (point A) and posterior superior iliac spine were first identified (point B). The midpoint of the projection of the line between A and B on the skin in sagittal plane was then marked (point C). Following that, the midway between points A and C was marked and the pelvis marker was applied (point D).

The effect of changing the location of the marker (from the shoulder to pelvis) on the reliability of the hip ROM measurement using *PnO CMD* was investigated. The same methodology stated in Section 4.2.1 for reliability of *PnO CMD* with markers was followed. All intratester and intertester values were high, as stated in Table 4-7. However, the intratester reliability was calculated before the intertester reliability and the data used to calculate the intratester reliability was averaged and used for intertester

reliability. Theoretically, since the data has been re-used, Bonferroni correction factor may be considered appropriate. The significance of each intertester ICC values was <0.001 (Table 4-7); hence, even with the Bonferroni correction factor the ICC values would still be significant.

Analysis

To ensure a clear identification of the initial contact, gait with clean foot strike on the force platforms and a clear sagittal plane camera view was analysed. This method enhances a more repeatable and accurate analysis. If more than one gait cycle with clean foot strike was available, gait analysed was chosen randomly. The researcher measured the dominant limb, hip, knee and ankle joints ROM using both systems at 5 predetermined points of gait. These points were selected because they can be repeatedly identified using both systems. The points used were: point 1: the instant the heel of the dominant foot touches the ground, point 2: prior to toe-off of the other foot, point 3: the swinging foot (other foot) is in line with stance foot (dominant foot), point 4: the hip of the dominant side is at maximum extension/other foot initial contact, point 5: prior to toe-off of the dominant foot.

Statistical analysis

To achieve 80% power, 12 healthy subjects were involved in this study. The hip, knee and ankle sagittal plane angles were compared for accuracy using the ICC model (2, 1) after initial summary statistics was produced. This ICC reliability tool was used to assess the accuracy of the *PnO CMD* system against the Vicon system along with Bland & Altman plots and an appropriate paired test assessing the significance of actual differences. ICC values above 0.60 were considered to be satisfactory for research purposes.³⁰⁰

4.2.2.3 Results

All ICC values were high (ICC>0.60), ranging from 0.90 to 0.98 (Table 4-8). In addition, all results were highly significant (p<0.05) with narrow to moderate CI range (Table 4-8). The lowest ICC value was found for the hip joint at point 2 (ICC=0.90) and for ankle joint at point 1 of gait (ICC=0.90), whereas the highest ICC value was found for the knee joint at points 2 & 4 of gait (ICC=0.98) (Table 4-8). All Bland & Altman plots illustrated small dispersion, confirming the high ICC results achieved. A total of 15 Bland & Altman plots were plotted. Five plots showed that the measurements taken using *PnO CMD* were higher than the measurements taken using Vicon, while six plots showed the opposite. Four plots illustrated equal distribution of the values above and below zero.

4.2.2.4 Discussion

All ICC values were found to be high and above the satisfactory level (ICC>0.6). This demonstrated the accuracy of *PnO CMD* in measurements of hip, knee and ankle joint sagittal plane ROM at 5 predefined points of gait (Table 4-8). The highest ICC value (ICC=0.98) with the narrowest CI range (CI=0.94-0.99) was found for the knee joint at point 4 of gait (Table 4-8). The lowest ICC value (ICC=0.90) with the widest CI range (CI=0.69-0.97) was reported for the hip joint at point 2 of gait. Overall, the ICC values for the knee joint were the highest with the narrowest CI range (Table 4-8). Similarly, the intratester and intertester ICC values for the knee joint were found to be

the highest amongst the joints measured (Table 4-8). However, $Evans^{310}$ compared the accuracy of *PnO CMD* with Vicon in measurement of hip, knee and ankle ROM during a rugby union place kick. The study reported that the least difference between the two systems was found for the hip joint, which does not agree with the findings for the current study.

The results of the current study can only be generalised amongst healthy subjects with BMI \leq 28, and further research is recommended amongst subjects with pathology and subjects with higher BMI. As discussed previously, presence of spasticity and rotational deformity may affect the accuracy of the measurements taken. The 2D nature of *PnO CMD* does not consider any rotational movement. In addition, further research investigating the accuracy during physical assessment and different activities such as ascending and descending stairs may be beneficial. Due to the high reliability of *PnO CMD* in measurements of joint ROM with markers, only one gait with clean foot strike per participant was chosen randomly and analysed. Four studies found no increase in the reliability when mean of repeated measurements was calculated.^{248, 257, 258, 292} However, two previous studies reported an increase in reliability when mean of repeated measurements taken mean of repeated measurements was taken.^{261, 291} Repeating this study and averaging measurements taken from more than one gait might narrow the CI range achieved.

For the Vicon system, force platforms data was used to identify initial contact and toeoff. On the other hand, these points were visually estimated using the *PnO CMD* system, which may have caused differences between the measurements achieved. Another source of difference might be due to the variation in the measurement method between the two systems. The Vicon system measures the angles from the centre of the joint, while the angles are measured from the bony landmarks using *PnO CMD*. Presence of sunlight or other bright light is mandatory to capture a clear picture quality with *PnO CMD*. This was compromised in this study due to the absence of sunlight in gait lab, which affected the ability to clearly identify the centre of the markers.

The current work establishes the accuracy of *PnO CMD* for joint ROM measurements amongst healthy subjects in comparison to the Vicon system. Hip, knee and ankle joint sagittal plane ROM was measured at 5 predefined points of gait using both systems. Joint ROM measurements with a higher degree of accuracy can be achieved using *PnO CMD*. This work helps in introducing this practical and accurate advanced system for use in the clinical practice for joint ROM during physical assessment.

The above two studies were carried out to investigate the reliability and the accuracy of *PnO CMD* amongst healthy subjects. The initial study compared *PnO CMD* and the UG in measuring passive joint ROM. Additionally, the study compared two measurement procedures, measuring with markers and without markers. *PnO CMD* with markers was found to be the most reliable measurement tool and procedure. The second study examined the accuracy of *PnO CMD* with markers in comparison to Vicon (benchmark). This study confirmed that the best accuracy is achieved using *PnO CMD* with markers. The above two studies established that *PnO CMD* with markers is a reliable and a clinically accurate measurement tool and procedure; hence, this was taken forward and tested amongst subjects with diplegic CP.

4.2.3 The reliability of *PnO Clinical Movement Data* in the measurement of hip, knee and ankle motion amongst subjects with diplegic cerebral palsy

4.2.3.1 Aim

This pilot study aims to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of PnO *CMD* with markers in measuring passive ROM of the lower limb joints during physical assessment amongst subjects with diplegic cerebral palsy.

4.2.3.2 Methods

Participants and testers

Appropriate ethical approvals were obtained from the West of Scotland Research Ethics Service, Clinical Research & Development Office of Greater Glasgow & Clyde Health Board and hospital managements. Recruitment posters and flyers were displayed in the common/waiting areas of NHS hospitals and schools. Additionally, clinicians informed and distributed flyers to participants who showed interest with contact information to contact the research team. Posters for recruiting testers were displayed in the department where participants worked and in the Department of Biomedical Engineering of the University of Strathclyde. Participant information sheets were sent out to participants and testers who contacted the research team showing interest. Participants and testers were given one week after receiving the participant information sheet to make their decision. This time allowed participants to familiarise themselves with all the given information and ask for any help required from family or friends to fully understand the steps included. Following that, the testers were asked to come in for an introductory session which lasted for approximately 1 hour. In this session, a PowerPoint presentation explaining the measuring method with *PnO CMD* was given to standardise the measuring methods. In addition, each participant was invited to come in for an initial screening session, which lasted for approximately one hour. In the screening session, a physical assessment was carried out to determine if the participant was suitable to take part in the study (see inclusion criteria below). The first session was carried out following the initial screening session in order to minimise the number of sessions for each participant. Informed consent was obtained from the participants and testers at the initial session.

Inclusion criteria were as follows: Participants were subjects with diplegic CP who were aged≥7 years of age and did not have any lower limb sensory deficit. Participants were excluded if they were unable to attend the scheduled recording sessions or reported any change in physical status or injury during the trial period.

Testers were required to be qualified allied health professionals with current experience in measurement of joint ROM. Testers were excluded if they were unable to complete the video analysis within the given time frame or had no experience in measuring joint ROM.

Study design

Sagittal plane ROM of the hip, knee and ankle joints of the dominant limb during physical assessment was measured with markers. Markers were applied on the following bony landmarks: pelvis (as explained above in Section 4.2.2.2), greater

245

trochanter, lateral femoral condyle of the knee, lateral malleolus and fifth metatarsal head. Markers were placed by the same researcher to reduce the variability and consisted of bright coloured adhesive *Velcro*TM cut into circular shapes (25 mm). Testers were provided with instructions for the measurement procedure. Furthermore, a training session for the use of *PnO CMD* was arranged.

Participants

Each participant was given a time slot to attend a single video recording session. A brief introduction was given prior to the session where explanation about the trial was provided to the participants. The video recording session lasted for approximately 1 hour. Participants were provided with *Lycra*TM suits to wear for the session to limit any movement/obstruction which may be caused by loose clothing. The video camera (Sony HD video camera with 3.1 mega pixels) was positioned using a tripod perpendicular to the bed where the participant was lying down at an appropriate distance to capture the image of the participant from the shoulder to toe. The researcher moved each joint individually into maximum flexion and extension while a video of the motion was captured. Additionally, care was taken to ensure that the joint measured was perpendicular to the video camera to minimise the parallax type error.

Testers

An introductory session was arranged where a PowerPoint presentation explaining the measuring method with *PnO CMD* and the UG was given by the researcher in order to standardise the measuring methods. The same developed measurement procedure used in section (4.2.1) was applied (Appendix B). Additional information was

provided in a measuring instruction manual. For this study, each tester was asked to record the following measurements on the dominant limb using both devices: maximum hip flexion, maximum hip extension, maximum knee flexion, maximum knee extension, maximum ankle plantarflexion and maximum ankle dorsiflexion.

Intratester reliability

Each participant's joint ROM of the dominant limb was video recorded. Following that, each tester was instructed to evaluate each video three times in a time frame of three weeks with approximately a one-week gap between each evaluation. The testers were guided to pause the video at the stage when the researcher holds the joint at the end of the range for 3 seconds and to take the measurement at that position. The order of evaluation of the joints and video sequences was randomised.

Intertester reliability

The mean of the three repetitions was calculated for each joint. It should be noted that intertester values could only be calculated if intratester values across all the testers were above the satisfactory level.

Statistical analysis

ICC models were used to calculate the reliability of *PnO CMD*. To achieve power of 80% at the 5% level of significance, 3 testers (prosthetist or orthotist) and 8 participants (subjects with cerebral palsy) were included in this study. ICC model (2, 1) was used after initial summary statistics was produced. This ICC reliability tool was applied to assess and compare the reliability of the *PnO CMD* and the UG.

Additionally, Bland & Altman plots and an appropriate paired test was used to assess the significance of actual differences. ICC values above 0.60 were considered to be satisfactory for research purposes.³⁰⁰

4.2.3.3 Results

Intratester reliability

ICC values for all the joints measured were found to range from 0.91 to 1.00. All ICC values were found to be highly significant (p<0.05). ICC values for knee extension for all the testers were lower than other motions measured (ICC=0.94, 0.91 & 0.94). Additionally, the highest ICC values for all the testers were found to be for knee flexion measurements (ICC=1.00, 0.99 & 1.00), as indicated in Table 4-9. Additionally, all Bland & Altman showed random scattered points equally distributed above and below zero; hence, validating the high ICC values obtained.

Intertester reliability

ICC values across all the measured joints were found to be above the satisfactory level (ICC>0.6). The lowest ICC value was for knee extension (ICC=0.84), while the highest ICC value was recorded for knee flexion (ICC=1.00). CI range for knee extension was found to be wide (CI=0.47-0.98), which was confirmed by the Bland & Altman plot. The rest of the CI range was found to be narrow (Table 4-9).

4.2.3.5 Discussion

This study illustrated high reliability of *PnO CMD* for sagittal plane joint ROM measurements amongst subjects with diplegic CP. All intratester and intertester ICC

values were found to be above the satisfactory level and highly significant. The lowest intratester and intertester ICC values were shown for measurement of knee extension (ICC=0.94, 0.91 & 0.94), while the highest ICC values were reported for knee flexion (ICC=1.00, 0.99 & 1.00). The findings of the current study partially agree with the findings of the study amongst healthy subjects (Section 4.2.1). Intratester and intertester ICC values for hip flexion, hip extension, and knee flexion turned out to be approximately equal between healthy subjects and subjects with diplegic CP (Table 4-5 & 4-9). Kilgour et al.²⁴⁸ also reported equal reliability of the UG amongst healthy subjects and subjects with CP.²⁴⁸ The highest intratester and intertester ICC values amongst healthy subjects and subjects with diplegic CP were reported for knee flexion measurements (Table 4-5 & 4-9). The lowest intratester and intertester ICC values reported amongst healthy subjects were found to be of ankle dorsiflexion. Meanwhile, ICC values reported for ankle dorsiflexion amongst subjects with diplegic CP were found to be very high with very narrow CI range. Additionally, intratester and intertester ICC values for ankle plantarflexion were also found to be higher amongst subjects with diplegic CP compared with healthy subjects (Table 4-5 & 4-9). This agrees with the findings of a study by Lee et al.²⁷¹, where higher reliability for the UG was found amongst subjects with CP when compared with healthy subjects.²⁷¹ However, intratester and intertester reliability for knee extension was found to be lower amongst subjects with diplegic CP when compared to healthy subjects.

The current study established a more reliable measurement tool and measurement procedure for passive joint ROM measurement amongst subjects with diplegic CP when compared with the UG. All intratester and intertester ICC values reported in the literature for the UG for measurement of hip, knee and ankle ROM amongst subjects with diplegic CP were found to be lower than the ICC values found in the current study using PnO CMD.^{246, 247, 266, 271} Lee et al.²⁷¹ reported an intertester ICC value of 0.26 for knee extension for the UG amongst subjects with diplegic CP. The intertester ICC value for knee extension increased with the use of PnO CMD to 0.84. Intratester and intertester ICC values reported in the current study for hip flexion and extension (ICC=0.99-1.00) were higher than the reported ICC values by Mutlu et al.²⁶⁶ (ICC=0.60-0.86) for the UG amongst subjects with diplegic CP. It has been reported that involving two testers in the measurement procedure may increase the reliability of the UG amongst subjects with CP, as one tester stabilises the limb and the second tester takes the measurements.²⁴⁷ In busy clinical environment, this may not be feasible. The use of *PnO CMD* increases the reliability of the joint ROM measuring and allows for a more practical assessment procedure. Furthermore, all the assessment procedures can be carried out by a single clinician and captured using a single video. Following the video recording, the assessment video can be analysed at a suitable time. Further research aiming to investigate PnO CMD for measurement of bi-articular muscle length assessment and spastic catch may be beneficial. The ability to play back the video frame by frame enables the clinician to clearly identify the catch point and measure it reliably and accurately. This system enables the clinics to customise and fill a report for each patient. Having the recorded video alongside the report aids in clearly identifying the effect of the treatment. The markers required to be applied for PnO CMD are fewer and cheaper in comparison to the markers required for the Vicon system. Furthermore, this system is easy to learn and use. All the testers involved in the studies had no experience using PnO CMD but could measure reliably following a training session which lasted approximately one hour. However, these testers were experienced clinicians, which may have affected that results. A learning curve was observed as the third *PnO CMD* measuring session was shorter in both reliability studies. Additionally, it would have been beneficial to measure using the UG and compare the results amongst these subjects. It should be noted that the intratester reliability was calculated before the intertester reliability and the data used to calculate the intratester reliability was averaged and used for intertester reliability. Theoretically, since the data has been re-used, Bonferroni correction factor may be considered appropriate. The significance of each intertester ICC values was <0.001 (Table 4-9); hence, even with the Bonferroni correction factor the ICC values would still be significant. Furthermore, the testers measured the join ROM using the same video which lead to eliminate/reduce the challenge faced due to presence of spasticity and defining the end range of joint.

This study concluded high reliability of *PnO CMD* in sagittal plane joint ROM measurements amongst subjects with diplegic CP. High intratester and intertester values were reported for all the joints measured.

In this chapter, the reliability of the different designs of goniometer was evaluated. Additionally, the feasibility of the $PnO\ CMD$ for passive joint ROM measurements was examined. The results indicate that reliable and accurate results can be obtained by the $PnO\ CMD$. The final chapter provides an overview and the implications of the results of this thesis. This is followed by a discussion of the limitations of this thesis and possible future avenues of research. Finally, the overall conclusions of the thesis will be presented.
4.3 Figures

Figure 4-1: Flow chart explaining the measurement method using the *PnO CMD* and universal goniometer (UG).



Figure 4-2: Intratester ICC values for tester 1 for all the motion measured using both tools with/without markers.



Figure 4-3: Intratester ICC values for tester 2 for all the motion measured using both tools with/without markers.



Figure 4-4: Intratester ICC values for tester 3 for all the motion measured using both tools with/without markers.



Figure 4-5: Intertester ICC values for all testers for all the motion measured using both tools with/without markers.



Figure 4-6: The module representing the knee joint. Each marker was displaced by 1 cm in four directions.



Figure 4-7: The relationship between the standard error of measurements (SEM) of the *PnO CMD* and the ABC angle



Figure 4-8: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=90°. Y-axis=*PnO CMD*-trigonometry. X-axis=mean value of *PnO CMD* and trigonometry



Figure 4-9: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=110°. Y-axis=*PnO CMD*-trigonometry. X-axis=mean value of *PnO CMD* and trigonometry



Figure 4-10: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=150°. Y-axis=*PnO CMD*-trigonometry. X-axis=mean value of *PnO CMD* and trigonometry



Figure 4-11: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=160°. Y-axis=*PnO CMD*-trigonometry. X-axis=mean value of *PnO CMD* and trigonometry



Figure 4-12: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=170°. Y-axis=*PnO CMD*-trigonometry. X-axis=mean value of *PnO CMD* and trigonometry



Figure 4-13: Bland & Altman plot for ABC=180°. Y-axis=*PnO CMD*-trigonometry. X-axis=mean value of *PnO CMD* and trigonometry



4.4 Tables

Table 4-1: Summary of the papers which studied the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer for measuring hip joint amongst healthy subjects and subjects with pathology.

| Source | Goniometer design | Reliability / condition | Movement | Results (ICC) |
|--|----------------------|---|---|--|
| | | | Healthy subjects | |
| | | | Active motion | |
| Clapper and Wolf (1988) ²⁷⁷ | UG & EG | Intra | Flexion, extension, abduction, adduction, external rotation, internal | -UG (flexion=0.95 (E), extension=0.83 (E), abduction=0.86 (E), adduction=0.80 (E), external rotation=0.80 (G), internal rotation=0.92 (E)/ EG (flexion=0.89 (E), extension=0.72 (G), abduction=0.79 (G), |
| | | | rotation | adduction=0.77 (G), external rotation=0.86 (G), internal rotation=0.86 (G)) |
| Simoneau et al. (1998) ²⁶² | DU | Inter | External, internal rotation | -Internal rotation=0.82-0.97 (G/E), external rotation=0.76-0.98 (E) |
| | | | Passive motion | |
| Ellison, Rose and | NG & | Intra+inter | Internal rotation, external | Inclinometer, intra (internal rotation=0.98-0.99 (E), external rotation=0.96- |
| Sahrmann (1990) ²⁸⁰ | Inclinometer | | rotation | 0.97 (E)), inter (internal rotation=0.98-0.99 (E), external rotation=0.96 (E))/ UG, no values reported |
| Van Dillen et al. (2000) ²⁶³ | UG | Intra | Extension | 0.70-0.96 (G/E) |
| Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ | ÐN | Intra | Flexion, extension | Extension=0.09-0.92 (W/E), flexion=0.52-0.99 (W/E) |
| Clapis, S Davis and R Davis (2008) ²⁶⁷ | UG & inclinometer | Inter | Extension | UG=0.92 (E)/ Inclinometer=0.89 (E) |
| Lee et al. $(2011)^{271}$ | DN | Inter | Extension | 0.10-0.27 (W) |
| Wakefield et al. (2015) ²⁶⁸ | UG | Intra+inter | Extension | Intra=0.51-0.54 (W)/ Inter=0.30-0.65 (W/G) |
| | | | Subjects with pathology | |
| | | | Passive motion | |
| Pandya et al. (1985) ²⁵¹ | ÐN | Intra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophy | Extension | Intra=0.85 (E)/ Inter=0.74 (G) |
| Ellison, Rose and | NG & | Intra+inter/orthopaedic | Internal rotation, external | Inclinometer, intra (internal rotation=0.96-0.97 (E), external rotation=0.95 |
| Sahrmann (1990) ²⁸⁰ | Inclinometer | conditions | rotation | (E)), inter (internal rotation=0.96-0.97 (E), external rotation=0.95-0.96 (E))/UG, no values reported |

| Source | Goniometer design | Reliability / condition | Movement | Results |
|--|----------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|
| Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ | UG | Intra+inter/nursing home residents | Extension | Intra=0.98 (E)/Inter=0.24 (W) |
| Croft et al. (1996) | Inclinometer | Inter/orthopaedic | Flexion, internal | Flexion=0.87 (E), internal rotation=0.48 (W), external rotation=0.43 (W) |
| | | conditions | rotation, external rotation | |
| Cadenhead, McEwen | UG | Inter/neurological | Extension, | Extension=0.94-0.98 (E), abduction=0.96 (E), external rotation=0.78-0.86 (G/E) |
| and Thompson | | conditions | abduction, external | |
| ₀₁₇ (7007) | | | rotation | |
| McWhirk and | DU | Inter/neurological | Extension, abduction | Extension=0.58 (W), abduction=0.90 (E) |
| | | COLIDITIO | | |
| Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ | UG | Intra/neurological conditions | Flexion, extension | Extension=0.17-0.91(W/E), flexion=0.62-0.98 (G/E) |
| Mutlu, Livanelioglu | ÐN | Intra+inter/neurological | Flexion, extension, | Intra (extension=0.73-0.99 (G/E), abduction=0.48-0.70 (W/G), external |
| and Gunnel (2007) ²⁶⁶ | | conditions | abduction, external | rotation=0.80-0.84 (G/E), flexion=0.60-0.86 (G/E))/Inter (extension=0.92-0.95 (E), |
| | | | rotation | abduction=0.61-0.77 (G), external rotation=0.91-0.92 (E), flexion=0.77-0.83 (G/E)) |
| Herrero et al. | NG & | Intra+inter/neurological | Abduction | UG, intra=0.82-0.95 (E), inter=0.37-0.47 (W)/Inclinometer, intra=0.85-0.97 (E), |
| $(2011)^{265}$ | inclinometer | conditions | | inter=0.96-0.97 (E) |
| Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ | ÐN | Inter/neurological | Extension | 0.19-0.50 (W) |
| | | conditions | | |
| E: excellent reliability (IC | 'C>0.80). G: 200d | 1 reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) at | nd W: weak reliability (It | E: excellent reliability (ICC>0.80). G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60). ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient. UG: universal goniometer. EG: |
| electrical conjoureter | | | | |

l gor 5 a electrical goniometer.

Table 4-2: Summary of the papers which studied the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer for measuring knee joint amongst healthy subjects and subjects with pathology.

| Healthy subjectsActive motion(1988)UG & EGIntraIntraUG & EGIntra+interIntraUGIntra+interIntraUGIntraIntraIntraIntraUGIntraIntraUGIntraIntraUGIntraIntraUGIntraIntraUGIntraIntraUGIntraIntraIntraIntraIntra | Healthy subjects Active motion CUG & E G Intra +inter Passive motion Inter Passive motion Elexion, UG & D Intra +inter Passive motion UG Intra +inter Elexion UG Intra +inter/Duchene muscular dystrophy Elexion, UG Intra +inter/Duchene muscular dystrophy Extension UG Intra /neurological conditions Extension </th <th>Source C</th> <th>Goniometer design</th> <th>Reliability / condition</th> <th>Movement</th> <th>Results (ICC)</th> | Source C | Goniometer design | Reliability / condition | Movement | Results (ICC) |
|--|--|--------------------------------|----------------------|---|-----------------------|--|
| Active motion[1988) ³⁷⁷ UG & EdIntraIntraActive motionReservenceUGIntra+interPassive motionReservenceUGIntra+interPassive motionReservenceUGIntra-interPassive motionReservenceUGIntra-interPassive motionReservenceUGIntra-interPassive motionReservenceIntra-interIntra-interPassive motionReservenceUGIntra-interPassive motionReservenceIntra-interIntra-interPassive motionReservenceIntra-interSubjects with pathologyReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsPassive motionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsPassive motionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceIntra-inter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceInter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceInter/neurological conditionsRetensionReservenceInter/neurological conditionsRe | Active motionActive motionClapper and Wolf (1989)77UG & EQIntra Active motionPassive motionPass | | | Healthy subjects | | |
| 1988) 271UG & EGIntraFlexion, extension1980, 279UGIntra+interPassive motion290UGIntra+interFlexion, | Clapper and Wolf (198) TUG & EQIntra Intra Passive motionElection, extensionUG (flexion-0.95 (E), extension extension-0.91 -0.97 (1983) extension-0.01 -0.97 (1983)UG (flexion-0.95 (E), extension-0.91 -0.97 (1983) extension-0.01 -0.97 (1983) extension -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 (1983) extension -0.01 | | | Active motion | | |
| SettlementExtensionExtension 3^{9} UGIntra+interPassive motion 3^{9} UGInterFlexion 3^{9} UGInterFlexion 1^{9} UGInterFlexion 1^{10} UGInterFlexion 1^{10} UGInterFlexion 1^{10} UGInterFlexion 1^{10} UGIntra+interFlexion 1^{10} UGIntra+interFlexion 1^{10} UGIntra+interFlexion 1^{10} UGIntra+interFlexion 1^{10} UGIntra+interFlexion 1^{10} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, 1^{10} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, 1^{10} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, 1^{10} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension 1^{10} UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension 1^{10} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 1^{10} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 1^{10} UGInter/neurological conditions | Retensionextensionextensionextensionextension(G)Intra+interPassive motionRelationUGIntra+interFersion0.99 (E)Gogia et al. (1987) ^{3/9} UGIntraExtension0.34.09 (WE)Gogia et al. (1987) ^{3/9} UGIntraExtension0.34.09 (WE)Gogia et al. (1987) ^{3/9} UGIntraExtension0.34.09 (WE)Feler and Anderson (2008) ^{7/9} UGIntraExtension0.20 (W)Peeler and Anderson (2008) ^{7/9} UGIntra+interExtension0.20 (W)Peters et al. (2011) ^{2/11} UGIntra+interExtension0.20 (WE)Peters et al. (2011) ^{2/14} UGIntra+interExtension0.20 (W)Peters et al. (2011) ^{2/14} UGIntra+interExtension0.20 (W)Prosecut et al. (2011) ^{2/14} UGIntra+inter/Inter/Inter/InterExtension0.20 (W)Peters et | | JG & EG | | Flexion, | UG (flexion=0.95 (E), extension=0.85 (E))/EG (flexion=0.91 (E), |
| Passive motionReactigetUGIntra+interFassive motion 3^9 UGInterFlexion 1^9 UGInterFlexion 10^5 UGInterExtension 10^5 UGIntra+interFlexion 11^{264} UGIntra+interSubjects with pathology 11^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, 11^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, 11^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 11^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 10^{251} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{253} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{254} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{255} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{255} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{255} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{255} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{256} Inter/neurological conditionsExtension | ReductionPassive motionReductionUGIntra+interPassive motion(1983) ^{3/3} UGIntra+interextension(1983) ^{3/3} UGInterExtensionGogia et al. (1987) ^{3/4} UGInterReligour, McNair and Stott (2007) ^{3/8} UGInterPeeter and Andreson (2008) ^{2/0} UGInter+interEvensionUGIntra+interPeeter and Andreson (2008) ^{2/0} UGIntra+interPeeter and Andreson (2008) ^{2/0} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsPeeter and (1913) ^{2/1} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicPandya et al. (1991) ^{2/2} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicPandya et al. (1991 | | | , | extension | extension=0.80 (G)) |
| RoettgerUGIntra+interFlexion, extension249UGIntraExtension249UGIntraExtensionad Stott (2007)248UGIntra+interExtensionad Stott (2008)270UGIntra+interExtensionan (2008)270UGIntra+interExtensionan (2008)270UGIntra+interExtensionbeforeUGIntra+interExtension299UGIntra+interExtension291UGIntra+interExtension292UGIntra+interExtension293UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension294UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension295UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension295UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension291UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension292UGIntra-inter/nursing home residentsExtension293UGIntra-inter/nursing home residentsExtension2006/247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension2006/247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension2006/247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension2006/247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension2006/247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension2006/247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtensi | Rothstein, Miller, Roettger (1983)379UGIntra inter intraster (extension = 0) 1.0 91Rothstein, Miller, Roettger (1983)379UGInter- intersect (1extion-0) 1.0 90Extension (1.0 90 (E))Rigou, McNair and Stott (2007)378UGInter- intersect (1extion-0) 1.0 97Extension (1.0 90 (E))0.34.0 90 (W.E)Rigour, McNair and Stott (2007)378UGIntra- interExtension Extension0.34.0 90 (W.E)Peeler and Anderson (2008)379UGIntra- interExtension0.34.0 90 (W.E)Peeler and Anderson (2008)379UGIntra- interExtension0.30 (W)Person (2001)374UGIntra-interActive motionActive motionActive motionActive motionPandya et al. (1991)354UGIntra-inter/heurological conditionsExtension -0.97.0 3Pandya et al. (1991)354UGIntra-inter/heurological and orthopaedicExtension -0.97.0 3Pandya et al. (1991)354UGIntra-inter/heurological and orthopaedicExtension -0.97.0 3Pandya et al. (1991)354UGIntra-inter/heurological and orthopaedicExtension -0.96 (E)/Intereset-0.07.0 3Pandya et al. (1991)354UGIntra-inter/heurological and orthopaedicExtension -0.93 (E)/Intereset-0.07 | | | Passive motion | | |
| 249 UGInterFlexion 240 UGIntraExtension $ad Stott (2007)^{248}$ UGIntraExtension $an (2008)^{270}$ UGIntraExtension $an (2008)^{270}$ UGIntraExtension $an (2008)^{270}$ UGIntraExtension $bot (2007)^{248}$ UGIntraExtension 269 UGIntraExtension 269 UGIntraExtension 269 UGIntraExtension 271 UGIntraExtension 2720 UGIntraExt | Gogia et al. (1987) Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) We first and Stott (2007) We for an et al. (2011) The et al. (2001) The et al. (1983) The et al. (1983) The et al. (1983) The et al. (1993) The et al. (1991) The et al. (2001) The et al. (2001)< | | D | Intra+inter | Flexion, extension | Intratester (extension=0.91-0.97 (E), flexion=0.97-0.99 (E))/Intertester (flexion=0.91-0.99 (E), extension=0.64-0.71 (G)) |
| ad Stott (2007)248UGIntra+interExtensionan (2008)270UGIntra+interFlexionbn (2008)270UGIntra+interExtensionUGIntra+interExtensionExtension269UGIntra+interExtension201UGIntra+interExtension269UGIntra+interExtension269UGIntra+interExtension269UGIntra+interExtension269UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension271UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension251UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension251UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension251UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension251UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension251UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension251UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension253UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension254UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension255UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension255UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension26Inter/neurological conditionsExtension26Inter/neurological conditionsExtension27UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension | Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) 246UGIntra-Intra-Extension0.34.0.99 (WE)Peeler and Anderson (2008) 270UGIntra-interExtension0.34.0.99 (WE)Peeler and Anderson (2008) 270UGIntra-interExtension0.34.0.99 (WE)Lee et al. (2011) 271UGIntra-interExtension0.34.0.99 (WE)Peeler and Anderson (2008) 270UGIntra-interExtension0.34.0.99 (WE)Lee et al. (2011) 276UGIntra-interExtension0.34.0.99 (WE)Person and Anderson (2008) | | JG | Inter | Flexion | 0.99 (E) |
| nn (2008)UGIntra+interFlexion 0 UGIntra+interExtension 0 UGIntra+interExtension 2^{60} UGIntra+interExtension 2^{60} UGIntra+interExtension 2^{51} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, $1)^{2^{54}}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra-inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra-inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension $1)^{2^{51}}$ UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} Inter/neurological conditionsExtensionInter/neurological conditions 10^{46} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} Uffice/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} Uffice/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} Uffice/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} Uffice/neurological conditionsExtension | Peeler and Anderson (2008) Total derson (2008)UGIntra-interIntra-interFlexionIntratester=0.65-0.72 (G)IntertesLee et al. (2011) Tee et al. (2011)UGIntra-interExtension0.20 (W)0.20 (W)Lee et al. (2011) Tee et al. (2011)UGIntra-interExtension0.20 (W)0.20 (W)Resseau et al. (2011) Terrester (1985)UGIntra-interActive motion(B)/Interester (flexion=0.96 (E), extBrosseau et al. (2001) Terrester (1985)UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, (B)/Interester (flexion=0.99 (E), extPandya et al. (1991) Terrester (1985)UGIntra-inter/neurological and orthopaedic extensionIntratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extPandya et al. (1991) Terrester (1985)UGIntra-inter/neurological and orthopaedic extensionIntratester-0.93 (E), fluetrester-0Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) Thompson (2002) Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) Mollinger, and | | Ðſ | Intra | Extension | 0.34-0.99 (W/E) |
| UG InterExtension D^0 UGIntra+interExtension D^0 UGIntra+interFlexion, $IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII$ | Lee et al. (2011) 271UGInterInterExtension0.20 (W)Peters et al. (2011) 266UGIntra+interExtension0.20 (W)Peters et al. (2011) 266UGIntra+interSubjects with pathol extensionExtension0.20 (W)Peters et al. (2011) 266UGIntra+interSubjects with pathol extensionExtension0.20 (W)Brosseau et al. (2001) 264UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, ExtensionEntratester (flexion=0.99 (E), ext extensionBrosseau et al. (2001) 264UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtensionEntratester (flexion=0.97 -0.93 Entratester (flexion=0.97 -0.93 Entratester (flexion=0.97 -0.93 Entratester (flexion=0.97 -0.93 Entratester (flexion=0.97 -0.94 Entratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.94 Entratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.94 Entratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.94 Entratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.96 (E), flex | | Dí | Intra+inter | Flexion | Intratester=0.65-0.72 (G)/Intertester=0.44-0.59 (W) |
| 260 UGIntra+interFlexion, extension 200 UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, extension 11^{264} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, extension 11^{251} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, extension 12^{551} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, extension 12^{551} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, extension 12^{551} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 12^{553} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 10^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 10^{255} UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{255} UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{260} UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{260} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension | Peters et al. (2011)266UGIntra-interIntra-0.96-0.98 (E), extensionReters et al. (2011)264UGIntra-intervencencencencencencencencencencencencence | | Dí | Inter | Extension | 0.20 (W) |
| Subjects with pathologyextension $1)^{264}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsErtension $1)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, $1)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension $1)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension $1)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension $1)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension $1)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension $1)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension 10^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension 10^{266} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{261} UGIntra-inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{261} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{261} UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension | Subjects with pathologyextension(E)/Intertester (flexion=0.88 (E),Active motionActive motionActive motionActive motionActive motionActive motionArrandomActive motionActive motionArrandomActive motionActive motionPandya et al. (2001) ²⁶⁴ UGIntra+inter/Inter/Neurological conditionsFlexion,Pandya et al. (1985) ²⁵¹ UGIntra+inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyExtensionIntratester (flexion=0.97 C).Watkins et al. (1991) ²⁵⁵ UGIntra+inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyExtensionIntratester (flexion=0.97 C).Watkins et al. (1991) ²⁵⁶ UGIntra+inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.97 C).Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntratester (flexion=0.97 C).Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁶ UGIntra+inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.97 C).Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁶ UGIntra-inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntratester (flexion=0.97 C).Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁶ UGIntra-inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntratester (flexion=0.97 C).Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁶ UGIntra-inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntratester (flexion=0.97 C).Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁶ UGIntra-inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyIntra-inter/Nuchene muscular dystrophyMollinger, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGInter/neurological conditionsInter/neurolo | | Ðſ | Intra+inter | Flexion, | Intratester (flexion=0.96-0.98 (E), extension=0.83-0.87 |
| Subjects with pathologyActive motionD1) ²⁶⁴ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, $)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, $)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension $)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension $)^{256}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, $1)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 10^{255} UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension 46 UGIntra-inter/nursing home residentsExtension 46 UGIntra-inter/nursing home residentsExtension 46 UGIntra-inter/nursing home residentsExtension 46 UGIntra-inter/nursing home residentsExtension 46 UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 46 UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 46 UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 46 UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10 UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension | Subjects with pathologyActive motionActive motionActive motionActive motionBrosseau et al. $(2001)^{244}$ UIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, (E))/Intertester (flexion=0.97-0.9)Pandya et al. $(1985)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtensionExtensionOPO DENumenter (flexion=0.93 (E)/Intertester (flexion=0.94 (E), extensionVarkins et al. $(1991)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, Intratester (flexion=0.99 (E), flexion=0.94Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, ExtensionMollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, ExtensionMollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicMollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtensionStensionOONother extensionOOIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtensionOOCadenhead, McEwen andIntra+inter/neurological condi | | | | extension | (E))/Intertester (flexion=0.88 (E), extension=0.21(W)) |
| Active motion $11)^{264}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, 12^{55} UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension 12^{55} UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension 12^{55} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, 12^{55} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 12^{55} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 10^{256} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtension 10^{260} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} UGIntra/ineurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{200} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension 10^{46} UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension | Active motionActive motionBrosseau et al. (2001) ²⁶⁴ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, extensionIntratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extensionPandya et al. (1985) ²⁵¹ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, extensionIntratester=0.93 (E)/Intertester=0.93 (E)/Intertester=0.99 (E), extensionPandya et al. (1991) ²⁵⁵ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, extensionIntratester=0.99 (E), extension=0.90 (E), extensionWatkins et al. (1991) ²⁵⁵ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, extensionIntratester=0.99 (E)/Intertester=0.90 (E), flexion=0.90 (E)Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁴⁶ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Mollinger, and Glanzman (2002) ²⁴⁶ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)McWhirk and Glanzman (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)Ect et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)Ect et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)Ect et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGIntra/neurological conditionsIntra/neusity (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC0.26 (W) | | | Subjects with pathol | ogy | |
| $11)^{264}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion, extension 2^{251} UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension 2^{251} UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtension 12^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion, extension 12^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension 12^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension 10^{255} UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicErtension 10^{260} UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension 4^6 UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension 4^6 UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension | Brosseau et al. $(2001)^{244}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsFlexion,Intratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extensionPandya et al. $(1952)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopadicExtensionExtension (E) /Intertester (flexion=0.97-0.95)Pandya et al. $(1952)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopadicFlexion,Intratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extensionWatkins et al. $(1991)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopadicFlexion,Intratester=0.93 (E)/Intertester=0.99Mollinger, and Steffen $(1993)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopadicExtension0.81-0.98 (E), flexion=0.99Mollinger, and Steffen $(1993)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E), flexion=0.91Mollinger, and Steffen $(1993)^{260}$ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E), flexion=0.91Mollinger, and Steffen $(1993)^{260}$ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (GF)Mombson $(2002)^{246}$ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (GF)McWhirk and Glanzman $(2006)^{247}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (GF)Kilgour, McNair and Stott $(2007)^{248}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (GF)Lee et al. $(2011)^{271}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)Excellent reliability (ICC>0.80). G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80). IC: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) an | | | Active motion | | |
| Distribution Passive motion 0 ²⁵¹ UG Intra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophy Extension 1) ²⁵⁵ UG Intra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophy Extension 1) ²⁵⁵ UG Intra+inter/neurological and orthopaedic Flexion, ffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UG Intra+inter/neurological and orthopaedic Extension en and UG Intra+inter/neurological conditions Extension 46 UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension ad Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension ad Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension uG Inter/neurological conditions Extension U | Pandya et al. (1985) ²⁵¹ UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtensionWatkins et al. (1991)UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtensionIntratester=0.93 (E)/Intertester=0.94 (E), extensionWatkins et al. (1991)UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion,Intratester (flexion=0.96 (E), flexion=0.99 (E), extensionMollinger, and Steffen (1993)UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicExtensionIntratester=0.99 (E)/Intertester=0.96 (E), flexion=0.94Mollinger, and Steffen (1993)UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Thompson (2002)UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Thompson (2002)UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)McWhirk and Glanzman (2005)UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007)UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007)UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Lee et al. (2011)UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)Excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficien | | Ðſ | Intra+inter/neurological conditions | Flexion, extension | -Intratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extension=0.97-0.98 (E))/Intertester (flexion=0.97-0.98 (E), extension=0.89-0.92 (E)) |
| | Pandya et al. $(1985)^{251}$ UGIntra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophyExtensionIntratester=0.33 (E)/Intertester=0.Watkins et al. $(1991)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion,Intratester=0.99 (E), extension=0.90Watkins et al. $(1991)^{256}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion,Intratester=0.99 (E), flexion=0.90Mollinger, and Steffen $(193)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtensionIntratester=0.99 (E)/Intertester=0.90Mollinger, and Steffen $(193)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Mollinger, and Steffen $(193)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Mollinger, and Steffen $(193)^{260}$ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)McWhirk and Glanzman $(2002)^{246}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott $(2007)^{248}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.57-0.99 (W/E)Lee et al. $(2011)^{271}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)E. excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficiel | | | Passive motion | | |
| 1) ²⁵⁵ UG Intra+inter/neurological and orthopaedic Flexion, extension Ffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UG Intra-inter/nursing home residents Extension ffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UG Intra-inter/nursing home residents Extension 46 UG Intra-inter/neurological conditions Extension 46 UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension 46 UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension a6 UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension | Watkins et al. $(1991)^{255}$ UGIntra+inter/neurological and orthopaedicFlexion,Intratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extensionMollinger, and Steffen $(1993)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension(extension=0.86 (E), flexion=0.96Mollinger, and Steffen $(1993)^{260}$ UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension(o.81-0.99 (E)/Intertester=0.96Cadenhead, McEwen andUGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtension(o.81-0.98 (E)Thompson $(2002)^{246}$ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension(o.81-0.98 (E)McWhirk and Glanzman $(2006)^{247}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension(o.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott $(2007)^{248}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension(o.57-0.99 (W/E)Lee et al. $(2011)^{271}$ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension(o.26 (W)Excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficiel | | JG | Intra+inter/Duchene muscular dystrophy | Extension | Intratester=0.93 (E)/Intertester=0.58 (W) |
| Hen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UG Intra+inter/nursing home residents Extension en and UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension 46 UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension and Stott (2006) ²⁴⁷ UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension ad Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension ad Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension | Mollinger, and Steffen (1993) ²⁶⁰ UGIntra+inter/nursing home residentsExtensionIntratester=0.99 (E)/Intertester=0.Cadenhead, McEwen andUGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)Thompson (2002) ²⁴⁶ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.81-0.98 (E)McWhirk and Glanzman (2006) ²⁴¹ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.57-0.99 (W/E)Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)Excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficiel | | JG | Intra+inter/neurological and orthopaedic conditions | Flexion, extension | Intratester (flexion=0.99 (E), extension=0.98 (E))/Intertester (extension=0.86 (E), flexion=0.90 (E)) |
| en and 46UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension46UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension12006)247UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtensionad Stott (2007)248UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtensionuGIntra/neurological conditionsExtensionUGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension | Cadenhead, McEwen and Thompson (2002) ²⁴⁶ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension $0.81-0.98$ (E)Thompson (2002) ²⁴⁶ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension $0.78-0.92$ (G/E)McWhirk and Glanzman (2006) ²⁴⁷ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension $0.78-0.92$ (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension $0.57-0.99$ (W/E)Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGInter / neurological conditionsExtension 0.26 (W)E. excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficiel | | JG | Intra+inter/nursing home residents | Extension | Intratester=0.99 (E)/Intertester=0.96 (E) |
| Izman (2006) ²⁴⁷ UG Inter/neurological conditions Extension ad Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension Extension | McWhirk and Glanzman (2006) Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.78-0.92 (G/E)Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGInter/neurological conditionsExtension0.57-0.99 (W/E)Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGInter / neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)E. excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficier | | D | Intra/neurological conditions | Extension | 0.81-0.98 (E) |
| ad Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UG Intra/neurological conditions Extension UG Inter / neurological conditions Extension | Kilgour, McNair and Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ UGIntra/neurological conditionsExtension0.57-0.99 (W/E)Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UGInter / neurological conditionsExtension0.26 (W)E: excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficier | | JG | Inter/neurological conditions | Extension | 0.78-0.92 (G/E) |
| UG Inter / neurological conditions Extension | Lee et al. (2011) ²⁷¹ UG Inter / neurological conditions Extension 0.26 (W) E: excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficienties) ICC Inter / neurological conditions | nd Stott (2007) ²⁴⁸ | Dſ | Intra/neurological conditions | Extension | 0.57-0.99 (W/E) |
| | E: excellent reliability (ICC>0.80), G: good reliability (ICC=0.60-0.80) and W: weak reliability (ICC=0.00-0.60), ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient | | DC | Inter / neurological conditions | Extension | 0.26 (W) |

262

Table 4-3: Summary of the papers which studied the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer for measuring ankle joint amongst healthy subjects and subjects with pathology.

| | | Transmitty (| INTOVCIIICIIL | Kesuits (ICC) |
|--|-------------------|---|---------------------------------|---|
| | | Hea | Healthy subjects | |
| | | Ac | Active motion | |
| | UG & EG | Intra | Dorsiflexion, | -UG (dorsiflexion=0.92 (E), plantarflexion=0.96 (E))/EG (dorsiflexion=0.80 |
| | | | plantarflexion | (G), plantarflexion=0.93 (E)) |
| | Inclinometer | Intra+inter | Dorsiflexion | Intra=0.98 (E)/Inter=0.97 (E) |
| Thoms and Rome $(1997)^{273}$ UG | | Intra | Dorsiflexion | 0.93 (E) |
|) ²⁷² | Inclinometer | Intra+inter | Dorsiflexion | Intra=0.77-0.91 (G/E)/Inter=0.95 (E) |
| | UG & inclinometer | Intra | Dorsiflexion | UG=0.85-0.96 (E)/Inclinometer=0.96-0.97 (E) |
| | | Pas | Passive motion | |
| Jonson and Gross (1997) ²⁷⁴ UG | | Intra+inter | Dorsiflexion | Intra=0.74 (G)/Inter=0.65 (G) |
| Kilgour, McNair and Stott UG (2007) ²⁴⁸ | | Intra | Dorsiflexion | 0.63-0.99 (G/E) |
| (====) | | Subject | Subjects with pathology | |
| | | Ac | Active motion | |
| Youdas, Bogard, Suman UG | | /orthopaedic | Dorsiflexion, | Intratester (dorsiflexion=0.64-0.92 (G/E), plantarflexion=0.47-0.96 |
| $(1993)^{261}$ | | conditions | plantarflexion | (W/E))/Intertester (dorsiflexion=0.28 (W), plantarflexion=0.25 (W)) |
| | | Pas | Passive motion | |
| Pandya et al. (1985) ²⁵¹ UG | | Intra+inter/Duchene | Dorsiflexion | Intratester=0.90 (E)/Intertester=0.73 (G) |
| | | muscular dystrophy | | |
| Elveru, Rothstein and Lamb UG (1988) ²⁵⁸ | | Intra+inter/neurological and orthopaedic conditions. | Dorsiflexion, plantarflexion | Intratester (dorsiflexion=0.90 (E), plantarflexion=0.86 (E))/Intertester (dorsiflexion=0.50 (W), plantarflexion=0.72 (G)) |
| Diamond et al. (1989) ²⁵⁹ UG | | Intra+inter/diabetes | Dorsiflexion | Intratester=0.89-0.96 (E)/Intertester=0.74-0.87 (G/E) |
| Cadenhead, McEwen and UG Thompson (2002) ²⁴⁶ | | Intra/neurological conditions | Dorsiflexion | 0.81-0.98 (E) |
| McWhirk and Glanzman UG (2006) ²⁴⁷ | | Inter/neurological conditions | Dorsiflexion | 0.87 (E) |
| Kilgour, McNair and Stott UG (2007) ²⁴⁸ | | Intra/neurological conditions | Dorsiflexion | 0.63-0.99 (G/E) |
| Muthu, Livanelioglu and UG Gunnel (2007) ²⁶⁶ | | Intra+inter/neurological conditions | Dorsiflexion | Intratester=0.81-0.90 (E)/Intertester=0.88 (E) |

| Table 4-4: Summary of the k | Table 4-4: Summary of the key findings of the literature review investigating the reliability of different designs of goniometer. |
|---|---|
| Factors affecting reliability | Key findings |
| Search results & overall impression | -Twenty-nine studies were included -Variation in the methodology applied reduced the ability of direct comparison -Number of testers, experience level, number of sessions, time between the sessions and subject position varied between the studies |
| Reliability (intratester & intertester) | -Intratester reliability was found to be higher than intertester reliability -Low intertester reliability could be a result of difference in the force applied by therapists during assessment |
| Motion measured | -Most studies examined reliability of passive motion -Limited number of studies investigated active motion, which affected the comparison between active and passive motion |
| Measurement procedure | -Standardisation of procedure and prior training increased reliability -Involvement of more than one tester can increase the reliability |
| Subjects | -Reliability was best amongst healthy subjects -Reliability may be reduced in the presence of different pathologies |
| Goniometer design | -Limited number of studies compared between the different designs of the goniometers -No study compared between the 3 designs of goniometers |
| Joint measured | -Reliability ranged from weak to excellent across the hip, knee and ankle joints -Different joint characteristics and ease of identifying bony landmarks affected reliability -Strict standard position can increase the reliability of complex motions |
| | |

| Motion/ Tester | Tester 1 | | | | Tester 2 | | | | Tester 3 | | | | Tester 1, 2 & | ,2&3 | | |
|-------------------------|----------|----------------|----------------|---------|------------|----------------|----------------|--------------------|----------|----------------|----------------|--------|---------------|----------------|----------------|---------|
| Reliability | | | | | | Intrat | Intratester | | | | | | | Inter | Intertester | |
| | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P. | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value |
| | | Lower bound | Upper bound | | | Lower bound | Upper bound | | | Lower Bound | Upper bound | value | | Lower bound | Upper bound | |
| | | | | | | | PnO CM | PnO CMD/markers | 3 | | | | | | | |
| Hip Flexion | 0.96 | 0.88 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.94 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 66.0 | 0.97 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 66.0 | 96.0 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| Hip Extension | 0.98 | 0.94 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.97 | 06.0 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.94 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 66.0 | 0.97 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| Knee Flexion | 96.0 | 0.96 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.96 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 66.0 | 0.98 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 66.0 | 66.0 | 1.00 | <0.001 |
| Knee extension | 0.97 | 0.91 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.93 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.96 | 0.89 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 66.0 | 0.98 | 0.99 | <0.001 |
| Ankle plantarflexion | 0.91 | 0.76 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.79 | 0.47 | 0.94 | <0.001 | 0.92 | 0.77 | 96.0 | <0.001 | 0.97 | 0.91 | 0.99 | <0.001 |
| Ankle dorsiflexion | 0.78 | 0.461 | 0.94 | <0.001 | 0.63 | 0.29 | 0.91 | <0.001 | 0.65 | 0.26 | 06.0 | <0.001 | 0.94 | 0.82 | 0.98 | <0.001 |
| | | | | | | | PnO CM. | PnO CMD/no markers | STS | | | | | | | |
| Hip Flexion | 0.92 | 0.76 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.93 | 0.80 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.93 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 0.97 | 0.91 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| Hip Extension | 0.53* | 0.13 | 0.86 | <0.001 | 0.82 | 0.53 | 0.95 | <0.001 | 0.70 | 0.33 | 0.92 | <0.001 | I | 0.46 | 76.0 | <0.001 |
| Knee Flexion | 0.94 | 0.82 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.80 | 0.23 | 0.95 | <0.001 | 0.95 | 0.86 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.95 | 0.44 | 0.99 | <0.001 |
| Knee extension | 0.60 | 0.15 | 0.89 | <0.001 | 0.72 | 0.37 | 0.92 | <0.001 | 0.94 | 0.7 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.91 | 0.35 | 96.0 | <0.001 |
| Ankle plantarflexion | 0.85 | 0.60 | 0.96 | <0.001 | 0.87 | 0.60 | 0.97 | <0.001 | 0.92 | 0.77 | 86.0 | <0.001 | 0.96 | 0.88 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| Ankle dorsiflexion | 0.24* | -0.19 | 0.73 | 0.15 | 0.32^{*} | -0.10 | 0.77 | 0.07 | 0.58* | 0.18 | 0.88 | <0.001 | I | I | I | I |

Table 4-5: Intratester and intertester ICC values. p-values and 95% CI across all the testers for both tools with/without markers

265

| Motion/ Tester | Tester 1 | | | | Tester 2 | | | | Tester 3 | | | | Tester 1, 2 & 3 | 2&3 | | |
|---|------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|----------|----------------|----------------|-------------------|------------|---|----------------|-------------|-----------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|
| Reliability | | | | | | Intra | Intratester | | | | | | | Inter | Intertester | |
| | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P- | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value |
| | | Lower bound | Upper bound | | | Lower bound | Upper bound | | | Lower Bound | Upper bound | value | | Lower bound | Upper bound | |
| | | | | | | | UG, | JG/markers | | | | | | | | |
| Hip Flexion | 0.46^{*} | 0.071 | 0.83 | 0.01 | 0.69 | 0.27 | 0.92 | <0.001 | 0.73 | 0.37 | 0.93 | <0.001 | I | I | I | 1 |
| Hip Extension | 0.39* | -0.05 | 0.81 | 0.045 | 0.50* | 0.05 | 0.85 | 0.01 | 0.84 | 0.56 | 0.96 | <0.001 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Knee Flexion | 0.56* | 0.15 | 0.87 | 0.005 | 0.43* | 0.02 | 0.82 | 0.02 | 0.84 | 0.59 | 0.96 | <0.001 | 1 | 1 | , | |
| Knee extension | 0.54* | 80.0 | 0.87 | 0.01 | 0.94 | 0.82 | 86.0 | <0.001 | 0.41^{*} | -0.04 | 0.81 | 0.04 | I | I | 1 | 1 |
| Ankle plantarflexion | 0.94 | 0.84 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.76 | 0.44 | 0.94 | <0.001 | 0.77 | 0.45 | 0.94 | <0.001 | 0.39* | -0.07 | 0.80 | <0.001 |
| Ankle dorsiflexion | 0.94 | 0.82 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.40* | -0.05 | 0.81 | 0.04 | 0.56* | 0.16 | 0.87 | <0.001 | I | I | | I |
| | | | | | | | UG/n | UG/no markers | | | | | | | | |
| Hip Flexion | 0.49* | 0.04 | 0.85 | 0.01 | 0.69 | 0.31 | 0.92 | <0.001 | 0.86 | 0.60 | 76.0 | <0.001 | ı | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Hip Extension | 0.53* | 0.08 | 0.86 | 0.01 | 0.76 | 0.41 | 0.94 | <0.001 | 0.52* | 0.08 | 0.86 | 0.01 | I | I | | I |
| Knee Flexion | 0.82 | 0.54 | 0.95 | <0.001 | 0.73 | 0.36 | 0.93 | <0.001 | 0.48* | 0.04 | 0.84 | 0.01 | I | I | I | I |
| Knee extension | 0.54* | 0.11 | 0.86 | <0.001 | 0.92 | 0.76 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.58* | 0.19 | 0.88 | <0.001 | ı | I | 1 | I |
| Ankle plantarflexion | 0.93 | 0.79 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.72 | 0.36 | 0.92 | <0.001 | 0.86 | 0.64 | 0.96 | <0.001 | 0.47* | -0.22 | 0.86 | 0.07 |
| Ankle dorsiflexion | 0.80 | 0.51 | 0.95 | <0.001 | 0.53* | 0.09 | 0.86 | 0.01 | 0.34* | -0.11 | 0.79 | 0.075 | I | - | 1 | |
| ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient, CI: confidence interval, 0.05 level. | orrelation | coefficient, | CI: confi | dence interv | | alues mark | ed with ar | 1 asterisk* ¿ | are below | ICC values marked with an asterisk* are below satisfactory level (ICC<0.60). P-values in red font are significant values at | level (ICC | C<0.60). P- | -values in | red font ar | e significaı | it values at |

Table 4-6: Mean, SD of both methods and SEM of *PnO CMD*.

| $\rm SEM^{\circ}$ | PnO CMD | 0.196 | 0.211 | 0.268 | 0.275 | 0.292 | 0.294 |
|-------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| Mean (SD)° | Trigonometry | 90 (1.64) | 110.01(1.77) | 150 (1.96) | 160.01(1.99) | 169.99(1.99) | 179.99(1.98) |
| Mean | $PnO\ CMD$ | 90.06 (1.96) | 110 (2.11) | 149.68(2.68) | 160.11(2.75) | 170.39(2.92) | 179.71(2.94) |
| ABC° | | 06 | 110 | 150 | 160 | 170 | 180 |

SD: standard deviation, SEM: standard error of measurement

| Motion/ Tester | Tester 1 | | | | Tester 2 | | | | Tester 3 | | | | Tester 1, 2 & 3 | , 2 & 3 | | |
|--|------------|--------------|-----------|---------------|----------|------------|-------------|---|-----------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-----------------|--------------|-------------|---------|
| Reliability | | | | | | Intra | Intratester | | | | | | | Inter | Intertester | |
| | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value ICC | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value ICC | | 95% CI | | P-value |
| | | Lower | Upper | | | Lower | Upper | | | Lower | Upper | | | Lower | Upper | |
| | | ponuq | ponnd | | | Bound | ponnd | | | bound | ponuq | | | bound | ponuq | |
| Hip | 0.99 | 0.99 | 1.00 | <0.001 | 0.99 | 0.97 | 66.0 | <0.001 0.99 | | 86.0 | 66.0 | <0.001 1.00 | | 0.99 | 1.00 | <0.001 |
| flexion | | | | | | | | _ | | _ | | _ | | | | |
| Hip | 0.99 0.98 | 0.98 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 0.97 | 0.90 | 66'0 | <0.001 0.99 0.96 | 66.0 | | 0.99 | <0.001 0.99 | 0.99 | 86.0 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| extension | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient. CI: confidence interval. IC | correlatio | on coefficie | nt CI con | fidence inter | TCC | values mar | ked with a | V values marked with an acterick* are below satisfactory level (ICC/0.60). P-values in red font are sionificant values at | are helow | satisfactor | v level (IC | C<0.60) P- | values in | red font are | significan | լ տոլո |

Table 4-7: Intratester and intertester ICC values, p-values and 95% CI across all the testers.

ICC: infractass correlation coefficient, CI: confidence interval, ICC values marked with an asterisk* are below satisfactory level (ICC<0.60). P-values in red font are significant values at 0.05 level.

| Points of gait | Hip | | | | Knee | | | | Ankle | | | |
|-----------------|-------------|------------------|--|---------|-----------|------------------|--|----------------|-----------|-------------------|---------------------|-------------|
| | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value |
| | | Lower bound | Upper bound | | | Lower bound | Upper bound | | | Lower bound | Upper bound | |
| Point 1 | 0.94 | 0.75 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.96 | 0.78 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.90 | 0.70 | 0.97 | <0.001 |
| Point 2 | 0.90 | 0.69 | 0.97 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.91 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.92 | 0.75 | 0.97 | <0.001 |
| Point 3 | 0.96 | 0.79 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.93 | 0.71 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.94 | 0.83 | 0.98 | <0.001 |
| Point 4 | 0.93 | 0.80 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.94 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.93 | 0.79 | 0.98 | <0.001 |
| Point 5 | 0.95 | 0.86 | 0.98 | < 0.001 | 0.95 | 0.84 | 0.98 | <0.001 | 0.93 | 0.78 | 0.98 | <0.001 |
| ICC: intraclass | correlation | coefficient, CI: | CC: intraclass correlation coefficient, CI: confidence interval, I | | es marked | with an asterisk | CC values marked with an asterisk* are below satisfactory level (ICC<0.60). P-values in red font are significant values. | actory level (| ICC<0.60) | . P-values in red | 1 font are signific | ant values. |

| gait. |
|-------------------------|
| of |
| for each point of gait. |
| each |
| CI for |
| - |
| 195% |
| q |
| and |
| , p-values |
| values, |
| \mathbf{O} |
| ICC |
| Ē |
| ÷. |
| 4 |
| ble |
| Tal |
| |

Table 4-9: Intratester and intertester ICC values, p-values and 95% CI across all the testers.

| Reliability ICC 95% CI P-va Hip Lower Upper 0.001 0.001 Hip 0.99 0.97 0.99 <0.0 Hip 0.97 0.88 0.99 <0.0 Hip 0.97 0.88 0.99 <0.0 Flexion 0.97 0.88 0.99 <0.0 Knee 1.00 0.99 1.00 <0.0 Flexion 0.94 0.76 <0.0 <0.0 Ankle 0.95 0.82 0.99 <0.0 | P-value ICC <0.001 0.97 | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|----------------------------|------------------|-------------|---------|------|--------|-------|---------|------|--------|-------------|---------|
| ICC 95% CI Lower Upper bound bound bound bound bound 0.99 0.9 0.97 0.99 nsion 0.97 0.99 bound 0.97 0.99 nsion 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.99 nsion 0.94 0.99 on 0.94 0.99 on 0.94 0.99 | | | Intratester | | | | | | | Inter | Intertester | |
| Lower Upper bound bound bound bound 0.99 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.88 on 0.97 0.88 on 0.97 0.88 on 0.99 0.99 on 0.99 1.00 on 0.99 1.00 on 0.94 0.76 0.99 briton 0.99 1.00 0.99 | | | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value | ICC | 95% CI | | P-value |
| bound bound bound 0.99 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.99 nsion 0.97 0.88 nsion 0.97 0.99 on 0.97 0.88 0.97 0.88 0.99 nsion 0.97 0.88 nsion 0.99 0.99 on 0.99 0.99 on 0.99 0.99 on 0.99 0.99 bision 0.95 0.82 0.99 | | Lower | Upper | | | Lower | Upper | | | Lower | Upper | |
| 01 0.99 0.97 0.99 0 | | ponnd | ponnd | | | bound | bound | | | bound | bound | |
| on 0.97 0.88 0.99 nsion 0.97 0.88 0.99 initial 1.00 0.99 1.00 on 0.94 0.76 0.99 nsion 0.95 0.82 0.99 | | 97 0.88 | 0.99 | < 0.001 | 0.99 | 0.97 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.94 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| nsion 0.97 0.88 0.99 nsion 1.00 0.99 1.00 on 0.94 0.76 0.99 nsion 0.94 0.76 0.99 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| nsion 0.99 1.00 on 0.94 0.76 0.99 nsion 0.95 0.82 0.99 | <0.001 0.97 | 97 0.89 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 0.98 | 0.92 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 86.0 | 0.93 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| n 1.00 0.99 1.00 isolation 0.94 0.76 0.99 isolation 0.95 0.82 0.99 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| n 0.94 0.76 0.99 ion 0.95 0.82 0.99 | <0.001 0.99 | 9 <u>6</u> .0 99 | 1.00 | <0.001 | 1.00 | 0.99 | 1.00 | <0.001 | 1.00 | 0.99 | 1.00 | <0.001 |
| ion 0.94 0.76 0.99 0.90 0.97 0.99 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0.95 0.82 0.99 | <0.001 0.91 | 91 0.67 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 0.94 | 0.78 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.84 | 0.47 | 86.0 | 0.001 |
| 0.95 0.82 0.99 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | <0.001 0.93 | 93 0.74 | 66.0 | <0.001 | 0.96 | 0.86 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 86.0 | 0.92 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| plantarflexion | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ankle 0.99 0.97 1.00 <0.0 | <0.001 0.99 | 96.0 66 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.99 | 0.96 | 0.99 | <0.001 | 0.99 | 0.97 | 66.0 | <0.001 |
| dorsiflexion | | | | | | | | | | | | |

0.05 level.

Chapter 5 Discussion

5.1 Summary and implications of the findings

The overarching aim of this thesis was to investigate the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO- FC on several variables including shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, magnitude of FZ2 and GRF alignment in relation to hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance. The understanding of the implication of, and the tools used to conduct assessment procedures and measurement processes were tested in the assessment of bi-articular muscles (specifically rectus femoris), to ascertain if results were predictive of presenting gait deviations and hence provide information to optimise treatment.

The initial study of this thesis examined the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC, on thigh kinematics in temporal midstance and on thigh and shank kinematics at FZ2 and at the maximum TVA. Furthermore, this study investigated the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics on FZ2 and on the alignment of the GRF in relation to the hip and knee joints in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at the maximum TVA. The results of this study suggested that a positive influence on the shank kinematics (at FZ2 and at the maximum TVA) and thigh kinematics (in temporal midstance, at FZ2 and at the maximum TVA) was observed with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-4). Additionally, 9 participants exhibited a positive increase in magnitude of FZ2 and reduction in the degree of Ben Lomonding (Table 2-9). Amongst these 9 participants, FZ2 increased to greater than or equal to BW in 5 participants (Table 2-9).

Some effects of optimisation of temporal midstance shank kinematics were observed on improving the GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joints at the 3 selected points (Table 2-6). The above findings may indicate that optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics not only affects the temporal midstance but terminal stance as well. Each of these points has an important impact on the gait. A study by Ridgewell¹⁷⁸ found similar results: optimising the shank kinematics affects both phases. The study reported improvements in knee extension and knee moments that occur in terminal stance.

Optimising temporal midstance shank kinematics by optimising the AFO-FC characteristics and fine-tuning is thought to normalise gait. However, in the wider body of literature, the definition of normal gait is unclear.¹⁷⁸ Additionally, the systemic effect of an AFO-FC across a number of variables is ambiguous. Further research is required

The study described in Chapter Two aimed to investigate if examined gait variables optimised simultaneously using an AFO-FC. For this, the participants were divided into two groups according to their barefoot SVA. Group One included participants with SVAs less inclined than normal and normal (n=7), and Group Two included participants with SVAs more inclined than normal (n=9). Following that, the temporal midstance SVA was correlated with the investigated elements barefoot and with an AFO-FC. The correlation values differed between both groups. This indicates that the initial barefoot SVA alignment affects the results obtained with the use of an AFO-FC. The correlation values in Group One indicated that the alignment of the GRF at

the knee joint in temporal midstance and at the hip joint at FZ2 may optimise simultaneously with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-7). In contrast, the correlation values in Group Two showed that FZ2, thigh inclination and GRF alignment at knee joint at the maximum TVA may optimise simultaneously with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-8). However, caution is required in any interpretation or generalisation of these results because of the small sample size in each group. However, these results may help provide evidence in future studies designed with appropriate sample size/power.

Furthermore, agreement across the variables with positive influence, including shank kinematics, thigh kinematics and FZ2, was found in 2 participants (Table 2-10). Two participants also had agreement of 5 out of 6 variables. The most positive effect of optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics was seen on the thigh kinematics at maximum TVA. In contrast, shank kinematics at maximum TVA was affected negatively with the use of an AFO-FC (Table 2-10).

In 9 participants, the SVA measured while standing differed from the SVA measured in temporal midstance (Table 2-12). This suggests that the AFOs were insufficiently stiff, which allowed further shank inclination (above $10-12^{\circ}$ inclination) during temporal midstance (Table 2-12). The further shank inclination observed in 9 participants may have caused some of the negative results found amongst these participants, e.g. GRF alignment in relation to the hip and the knee joints (Tables 2-5 & 2-6). Further possible causes which may have influenced/compromised the results obtained include FW characteristics, un-accommodated gastrocnemius length, bone rotations and muscle tone/spasticity/shortness. This study highlighted the effect of optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC on gait and the importance of paying attention to this matter. Additionally, this study emphasised the importance of choosing the appropriate AFO-FC characteristics, including stiffness, followed by tuning to achieve the optimum temporal midstance SVA alignment. However, as discussed in Chapter Two, the results of this study should be applied with an understanding of their clinical implications.

As discussed in Chapter One, detailed clinical assessment is a mandatory step in the preparation of the optimum intervention plan and forming the prescription of an AFO-FC. Comprehensive physical assessment identifies the orthopaedic and neurological challenges presented. One of the common challenges found amongst subjects with diplegic CP is shortness and/or spasticity of the multi-articular and bi-articular muscles, specifically the hamstrings, RF and gastrocnemius. Appropriate assessment of these muscles enables optimum AFO-FC prescription and any required adjacent therapy. In this thesis, the RF muscle was chosen as an exemplar to emphasise the importance of bi-articular muscle assessment.

Initially, a literature review about the RF was completed. This review highlighted that the exact timing of activation of the RF during gait and the effect of the RF dysfunction on gait were found to be inconsistent. As discussed in Chapter Three, early studies recommended that diminished or delayed peak knee flexion in swing associated with excessive RF activity is an indication for RF transfer surgery.^{24, 25} This is because excessive activity in the RF during swing causes larger than normal internal knee

extension moments, thus limiting the knee flexion. This abnormal gait is known as SKG. However, the outcome of the RF transfer surgery was not always found to be successful; hence, research was carried out to provide further insight into this. A study by Goldberg et al.²⁷ found that most subjects with SKG exhibited normal or below normal internal knee extension moments during swing phase. This finding opposes the link commonly made between altered RF muscle activity and decreased peak knee flexion in swing. Additionally, further research showed that other factors, such as abnormal activity of the RF during double support and preswing, decrease knee flexion velocity at toe-off. Reduced knee flexion velocity at toe-off can lead to reduction of the peak knee flexion in swing.^{28, 30, 226, 311}

The literature review related to the function of RF was found inconclusive. This uncertainty found in the literature led to examining the literature related to the method used to examine the RF. The Duncan-Ely test is commonly used to measure the length and spasticity of the RF. In total, four studies were found.^{32, 233, 235, 312} Amongst these four studies, two studies examined the reliability of the Duncan-Ely test. One study reported good intertester reliability amongst subjects with CP.²³³ On the other hand, the second study reported lower intertester reliability and weak to excellent intratester reliability amongst healthy subjects.²³⁵ A further study found that the Duncan-Ely test had a good positive predictive value, indicating that subjects who test positively would actually have SKG.²³² However, another study reported that the sensitivity, specificity and the negative predictive values were found to be low for the Duncan-Ely test.³² This limited evidence found in the literature about the Duncan-Ely test affected the ability to draw clear conclusions. The RF is a bi-articular muscle which crosses the hip and

the knee joints. Spasticity in the RF muscle can affect the knee and/or the hip joint. However, none of the studies investigating the sensitivity, specificity and predictive values of the Duncan-Ely test considered the position of the hip joint when gait variables, such as peak knee flexion, were measured.^{32, 232, 233, 313} Several studies did examine the hip moments across gait cycle and the hip flexion velocity at toe-off in subjects with SKG.^{27, 224} However, these studies did not measure the hip and the knee joints at the same instant.^{27, 28, 30, 226}

The study in Chapter Three examined the relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the hip or the knee joint at selected points/periods of gait. These points/periods included maximum hip extension in stance, early swing (from toe-off to peak knee flexion in swing), peak knee flexion in swing and peak hip flexion in swing. Furthermore, this study evaluated if a dominance relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF was found with the hip or the knee joint. The relationship between the catch angle/length of the RF measured using the Duncan-Ely test and the timing of peak knee flexion in swing was also examined. Finally, the study investigated if the effect of dynamic shortness of the RF on gait differed from the effect of true shortness of the RF, and if the dominant relationship was found with the hip or the knee joint. To best of the author's knowledge, this is the first study which considers the hip joint position and the effect of RF length/spasticity on the hip joint.

Thirty-seven limbs were included and were divided into main groups per the catch angle/length: Group A: limbs with catch angle/length $<60^{\circ}$ (n=19) and Group B: limbs

with catch angle/length \geq 60° (n=18). To differentiate between the effect of true and dynamic shortness, all limbs were divided based on the presence of dynamic or true shortening: Group C: limbs with dynamic shortness (n=20) and Group D: limbs with true shortness (n=17). Within Group C, limbs were further divided: Group C1: limbs with catch angle<60° (n=13) and Group C2: limbs with catch angle \geq 60° (n=7). Within Group B, limbs were further divided: Group D1: limbs with length<60° (n=6) and Group D2: limbs with length \geq 60° (n=11). Significant regression models were analysed and considered.

Overall, the regression models between the catch angle/length and the knee joint at maximum hip extension, peak knee flexion and peak hip flexion in Group A (catch angle/length<60°) were found to be weak but significant (Tables 3-2 & 3-3). This may suggest that a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length was found with the knee joint at these points. In contrast, a dominance relationship was found between the catch angle/length and the hip joint in early swing in Group A (catch angle/length<60°). In Group B, the regression model between the catch angle/length and the knee at peak hip flexion was found significant, indicating that the knee joints exhibited a dominance relationship with the catch angle/length at this point (Tables 3-2 & 3-3).

Further analysis showed that the effect of dynamic shortness on gait differed from the effect of true shortness. In Group C1 (catch angle< 60°), a dominance relationship of the catch angle was found to be with the hip joint in early swing and with the knee joint at peak knee flexion and peak hip flexion (Tables 3-11 & 3-12). In contrast, in

Group D1 (length<60°) a dominance relationship was found with the hip joint at peak knee flexion (Tables 3-19 & 3-20). The overall regression at peak knee flexion was higher in Group D1 (length<60°) in comparison with C1 (catch angle<60°). In Group C2 (catch angle \geq 60°), a dominance relationship was found with the knee joint in early swing, with the regression value being good and significant. In Group D2 (length \geq 60°), all the regression models were found to be weak and not significant (Tables 3-19 & 3-20).

The linear regression models for the timing of peak knee flexion in all groups were found to be weak and not significant (Table 3-9). Although these models were weak and not significant, the effect of dynamic/true shortness of the RF was seen on the timing of peak knee flexion in swing. Thirty-three limbs showed delay in timing of peak knee flexion in swing (Table 3-10). In general, the sample size in each sub-sample and the variance observed between similar catch angles/lengths may have affected the regression models. Some of this variance found between similar catch angles can be explained due to the difference observed in the tone of the RF (difference in MAS score). The difference observed in tone leads to varying degree of resistance to motion. For example, MAS score=1 means that slight increase is observed in muscle tone which is demonstrated by a catch and release or by minimal resistance at the end of ROM while, MAS=+1 indicates a slight increase in muscle tone accompanied with a catch and followed by minimal resistance throughout the remaining ROM.^{49, 50} When comparing two limbs with similar catch angle and different tone, the limb with minimal tone (MAS=1) will be less resistance to motion following the catch in comparison to a limb with increased tone (MAS=+1).

Since advanced gait analysis systems are not always available in the clinical environment, this study enables clinicians to understand how a catch angle/length measured using the Duncan-Ely test will affect gait. Additionally, it may be possible that linear regression output equations and the ratios between the input and output variables may be useful clinically to estimate the effect on gait (Tables 3-4, 3-14 & 3-23). However, as before these results must be applied with caution due to the low sample number and regression values. Furthermore, the research methodology applied in Chapter Three can be adopted to examine the effect of other bi-articular and multi-articular muscles on gait, e.g. hamstrings and gastrocnemius.

Overall, despite the fact that not all regression models were significant, data of this study suggests that in most included limbs dynamic/true shortness of the RF can cause reduction in maximum hip extension in stance, increased knee flexion at maximum hip extension in stance, reduced range of knee flexion in early swing, reduced range of hip flexion in early swing, reduced peak knee flexion in swing, increased hip at peak knee flexion, increased peak hip flexion, increased knee at peak hip flexion and delay in timing of peak knee flexion in swing. Some of these results agree with the findings in the literature about the effect of the RF on gait, i.e. reduced range of knee flexion in swing.^{24, 25} However, the data included in this study suggests that some other gait variables, including the maximum hip extension in stance and peak hip flexion in swing, should be considered when examining the effect of the RF on gait. Additionally, both the hip and the knee joints should be examined as a dominance effect may vary during different points/periods.

In Chapter Three, the benefits/importance of understanding the impact of the RF on gait has been demonstrated. This will enable clinicians to determine the most appropriate treatment plan. The catch angles/lengths obtained using the Duncan-Ely test were analysed and examined to understand the impact of these angles on gait. The findings of this study led to the next essential element to examine, which was the reliability of the most common measurement tools used to measure the muscle length and joint ROM.

Different designs of goniometers are commonly used to measure joint ROM and biarticular muscle length and spasticity. Dynamic and true shortness of the muscles can be measured by measuring the available joint ROM. A literature review examining the reliability of different designs of goniometers was compiled. This review aimed to investigate the intratester and intertester reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer to measure hip, knee and ankle joint ROM. In addition, the review aimed to examine how different factors influence measurement reliability. These factors included motion measured, joint measured, measurement procedure, subjects, goniometer design and number of testers. Understanding how these factors affect the reliability is essential and helpful in clinical settings. The literature review provided an overview of how the reliability changed with these factors (Table 4-4).

Twenty-nine studies were included in the review. Of these 29 studies, only five studies were found which investigated the reliability of the UG amongst subjects with CP.^{247, 248, 265, 266, 271} One of these studies also examined the reliability of the inclinometer.²⁶⁵ Amongst these studies, three studies included more than one type of CP and did not

report on each group separately, hence reducing the ability to understand how results change with different types of CP.247, 265, 271 The other two studies specifically investigated the reliability of the UG amongst subjects with diplegic CP. Kilgour et al²⁴⁸ examined the intratester reliability of the UG in the measurement of hip flexion, hip extension, knee extension and ankle dorsiflexion amongst subjects with diplegic CP. The reliability of the hip flexion and ankle dorsiflexion measurements ranged from good to excellent, while the reliability of the knee and hip extension measurements ranged from weak to excellent. Additionally, this study compared measurement reliability of the UG amongst healthy subjects to those with spastic diplegic CP and found equal intratester reliability in both groups.²⁴⁸ Furthermore, Mutlu et al.²⁶⁶ examined the intratester and intertester reliability of the UG for the measurement of hip flexion, hip extension, hip abduction, hip external rotation and ankle dorsiflexion. With the exception of hip abduction, intratester and intertester reliability for the motions measured were found to range from good to excellent reliability. The intratester reliability for the hip abduction measurements ranged from weak to good, while the intertester reliability for hip abduction measurement was found to be good. However, this study found a variation of 0-28° in intertester measurements obtained.²⁶⁶ It has been stated that spasticity can increase measurement error.^{265, 275, 287, 288} In contrast, another study concluded that a major cause of error was in defining the end range of the joint ROM rather than the presence of spasticity.²⁴⁸ The evidence found from the literature about the reliability of the UG and inclinometer amongst subjects with CP is inconclusive. This indicates that clinicians must be cautious when interpreting the ICC values of the UG and inclinometer for assisting in clinical judgment amongst subjects with CP.275, 287 Further research is required to understand the reliability of different designs of the goniometer amongst subjects with diplegic CP and how different factors affect the reliability.

Overall, the ability to make direct comparisons between the studies was compromised because the number of testers, experience level, the number of sessions, the time between the sessions and subject position varied across the studies. Most studies indicated that the reliability was higher amongst healthy subjects in comparison to the reliability amongst subjects with pathology. A limited number of studies examined the reliability of measuring active motion. This decreased the ability to compare between the measurement of active and passive ROM. Generally, it was found that intratester reliability was higher than intertester reliability. Furthermore, the reliability varied from weak to excellent across the hip, knee and ankle joints due to the different joint characteristics and ease of identifying bony landmarks. Standardisation of the measurement procedure and prior training were found to increase measurement reliability. Additionally, a limited number of studies were found which compared between the different designs of the goniometers, which affected the ability to draw conclusions. No study was found which compared all 3 designs of goniometers. This review illustrated the gap in the current research about the UG, EG and inclinometer and the need to introduce a more reliable measuring tool.

The series of studies in Chapter Four aimed to test the feasibility of using a 2D video analysis system (*PnO CMD*) for passive joint ROM measurement during physical assessment. Initially, a study investigating the reliability of the *PnO CMD* in comparison to the UG amongst healthy subjects was performed. In this study, sagittal

plane passive ROM of the hip, knee and ankle joints was measured using both tools with/without markers. Additionally, a standardised measurement procedure was developed for this study (Appendix B). Intratester and intertester ICC values were calculated for both tools with/without markers. The highest ICC values were found for the *PnO CMD* with markers, which illustrated the reliability of this system and the measurement procedure used (Table 4-5). Additionally, a sub-study was done which aimed to establish the measurement error caused by marker displacement (1 cm) using the PnO CMD. The measurement error caused by marker displacement using the PnO *CMD* was found to be small and clinically acceptable. The SEM increased as the angle increased, indicating that the error is higher with the larger angles (Table 4-6). Following that, the accuracy of the *PnO CMD* with markers was tested in comparison to Vicon (benchmark) amongst healthy subjects. Hip, knee and ankle sagittal plane dynamic ROM was measured at 5 predefined points of gait. High ICC values were obtained using this system (Table 4-8). Finally, the reliability of the *PnO CMD* for measurement of joint ROM amongst subjects with diplegic CP was investigated. Hip, knee and ankle joint sagittal plane passive joint ROM with markers were measured using the same measurement procedure developed. Intratester and intertester ICC values were found to be high and above the satisfactory level (Table 4-9). Reliable passive joint ROM measurements can be obtained using this system amongst subjects with diplegic CP. These studies may help introduce the use of advanced technology in clinical practice. Further research can be performed to test the reliability and accuracy of the *PnO CMD* for bi-articular muscle length and spasticity measurements.

This research demonstrated that using 2D analysis systems in clinical settings has several potential benefits. The *PnO CMD* was found to be more reliable and accurate tool than the UG for all the joints measured. Additionally, from the Bland & Altman plots, it was noted that deviations from the mean were all within $\pm 2^{\circ}$ for high ICC values (<0.60). ICC values above 0.60 is also considered to be satisfactory for research purposes.³⁰⁰ This indicates that an acceptable level of reproducibility can be achieved using the *PnO CMD*. The markers used can be constructed from cheap and affordable materials such as VelcroTM, and the developed measurement procedure can be followed easily. The use of this system is applicable in the clinical environment as only one video camera is required to capture the sagittal plane ROM. Furthermore, the testers could measure reliably using this system following a training session which lasted for approximately one hour. This indicates that this system is easy to use and practical. The option to play back the video frame by frame aids in identifying the joint end ROM. Furthermore, this system allows for construction of customised reports where photos of the subjects and the joints measured can be added. This enables the clinicians to share the joint ROM measurements, the point at which the measurements were taken and the measurement procedure followed. The use of this system enhances communication between the allied health professionals.

5.2 Limitations of the research

The limitations of the individual studies were discussed in detail within each chapter. The below limitations are the main limitations of the whole thesis. The sample included in this thesis will most likely not represent the wider diplegic CP population due to the heterogeneous nature of diplegic CP. Additionally, in this thesis the barefoot gait patterns were not considered due to the small sample, limiting the generalisability of the results. Variations in muscle spasticity/tone/length, surgical intervention, bone deformities, joint ROM and contractures were found between the participants, increasing the dissimilarities. Additionally, within some of the experiments, data was re-used; hence, appropriate comments regarding multiple testing have been added where appropriate within Chapters 2,3 and 4.

All the participants included in the study outlined in Chapter Two used solid AFOs which were prescribed by their local health centres. Information related to the ankle angle and the SVA were recorded. However, information related to the AFO-FC characteristics, such as material, trimlines and length of the sole plate, was not available. This limits the ability to understand the results in depth. Variability would have been expected between the AFOs because they were supplied by different local health services. However, this makes the results of the study more realistic, applicable and representative of real clinical environments.

The testers included in the study investigating the reliability of the *PnO CMD* and the UG amongst healthy subjects were final year prosthetic and orthotics students, while the testers included in the study investigating the reliability of the *PnO CMD* amongst subjects with diplegic CP were qualified and experienced clinicians. This may have influenced the results of both studies. Although students receive sufficient training to use the UG during their course and additional training was given for the use of the

PnO CMD, their experience is considered limited. In contrast, the qualified testers are experienced testers who are familiar with the measurement procedure, and this may have altered the ICC values.

5.3 Recommendations for future research

The research discussed in Chapter Two indicated positive results of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics using an AFO-FC on shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, FZ2 and GRF alignments in relation to the hip and knee joints in temporal midstance to late stance. However, these results were not clinically significant. This may be due to the AFO-FC allowing further shank inclination. Repeating this study with the optimum AFO-FC prescription may produce more positive results and the effect may be more apparent on the gait.

In this thesis, the barefoot patterns were not considered; rather, the barefoot temporal midstance SVA was considered. Participants were divided into two groups per their barefoot shank inclination. The study found that the correlation results between the temporal midstance SVA and the investigated variables in barefoot and with an AFO-FC differed between the two groups. Repeating this study and dividing the participants according to their barefoot gait patterns may produce different results.

The Duncan-Ely test is used to measure the rectus femoris length where the hip joint is positioned in anatomical neutral position and the knee joint is flexed to measure the available ROM. Looking at the phase of gait where the length of the RF has its greatest effect, the hip joint is not positioned in anatomical neutral position. Rather, the hip joint moves from approximately 10° extension to flexion as the knee flexes further. On a theoretical basis, a short RF should limit the knee flexion if the hip is in extension. Although most of the limbs included did not achieve hip extension during gait, a significant relationship was seen between the catch angle/length measured in neutral position and the knee or hip at several points/periods presented. However, some relationships were found not significant, raising the following questions: will changing the hip position during the Duncan-Ely test effect the relationship between the measured catch angle/length and the hip and knee joints at different points/periods of gait? Will a catch angle/length measured in hip extension have a different effect on gait when compared with a catch angle/length measured at hip neutral? Further research is required to be able to understand the relationship between the catch angle/length measured and the hip or knee during gait.

The series of studies in Chapter Four demonstrated that reliable and accurate results of passive joint ROM can be achieved using the *PnO CMD*. The length of the biarticular muscle can be obtained by measuring the available joint ROM. As discussed previously, the use of a 2D analysis system is beneficial. Further research is required to establish the reliability of the *PnO CMD* in the measurement of bi-articular muscle length/spasticity using a specialised test, such as the Duncan-Ely test.

This thesis focused on subjects with diplegic CP. As discussed in Chapter One, this form of CP is challenging due to the variation found between both limbs. Additionally, only subjects with diplegic CP were included in order to draw clear conclusions and minimise the number of variables. Similar protocols used in this thesis could be applied on other populations to achieve similar aims.

5.4 Overall conclusions

The overarching aim of this thesis was to investigate the effect of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO- FC on several variables including shank kinematics, thigh kinematics, magnitude of FZ2 and GRF alignment in relation to hip and knee joint in temporal midstance to late stance. The understanding of the implication of, and the tools used to conduct assessment procedures and measurement processes were tested in the assessment of bi-articular muscles (specifically rectus femoris), to ascertain if results were predictive of presenting gait deviations and hence provide information to optimise treatment.

A series of studies were completed to achieve the overall aim. These studies included a study investigating the influence of optimisation of the temporal midstance shank kinematics with the use of an AFO-FC on several gait variables in temporal midstance to late stance. This study demonstrated that optimising shank kinematics in temporal midstance using an AFO-FC has a positive influence on optimising thigh kinematics in temporal midstance and on thigh and shank kinematics when FZ2 and maximum TVA occur. Additionally, this study found that optimising the shank kinematics with the use of AFO-FC may increase FZ2 and lead to reduction in the degree of Ben Lomonding. The results of this study indicated some effect of optimising the temporal midstance shank kinematics on improving the GRF alignment in relation to the hip and knee joints. A further analysis showed that several variables of gait may optimise systemically when the temporal midstance shank kinematics is optimised. This systematic optimisation was found to differ based on the barefoot SVA. The correlation values in limbs with barefoot SVA less inclined than normal and normal suggested that the alignment of the GRF at the knee joint in temporal midstance and at the hip joint at FZ2 may optimise simultaneously with the temporal midstance shank kinematics is optimised. In contrast, the correlation values in limbs with the SVA more inclined than normal implied that FZ2, thigh inclination and GRF alignment at knee joint at the maximum TVA may optimise simultaneously when the temporal midstance shank kinematics is optimised.

This was followed by evaluation of the currently used assessment method and measurement tool for measurement of length and spasticity of a commonly affected bi-articular muscle, the RF. A study which aimed to investigate the relationship between the RF catch angle/length measured using the Duncan-Ely test with the hip or the knee joint at selected gait points/periods was completed. In limbs with catch angle/length

effective at maximum hip extension, peak knee flexion, knee at peak hip flexion and RHFES were significant/dominant. In contrast in limbs with catch angle/length $\geq 60^{\circ}$, only the model for knee at peak hip flexion was found significant/dominant. Additionally, the results show that the effect of the dynamic shortness of the RF differs from true shortness of the RF on the hip or the knee joint. In limbs catch angle $<60^{\circ}$), the regression models for range of hip flexion in early swing, peak knee flexion and knee at peak hip flexion were significant/dominant. In contrast, the regression for range of knee flexion in early swing was significant/dominant in limbs with catch angle $\geq 60^{\circ}$. Meanwhile, in limbs

with length<60°, the only significant/dominant model was the model for hip at peak knee flexion, while and all the regression models were weak and not significant in limbs with length \geq 60°. Furthermore, the regression models for timing of peak knee flexion in all groups were weak and not significant. This study illustrated that a dominance relationship of the catch angle/length with the knee or the hip joint varies at different gait points/periods. This suggests that the RF can influence the knee or the hip joint. This study demonstrated the clinical implications of RF length/spasticity assessment on predicting the effect observed on the hip or the knee joint during gait. This understanding of the presented challenges will enhance improving the intervention plan.

After evaluating the commonly used measurement method for RF muscle length and spasticity, the commonly used measurement tool, the goniometer, was examined. A literature review investigating the reliability of different designs of goniometer, including the EG, UG and inclinometer, was completed. Additionally, this review examined how different factors can influence the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer. This review highlighted the variation found in the methodology employed between the studies. This variation reduced the ability to compare studies directly, as the number of testers, experience level, number of sessions, time between the sessions and subject position varied across the studies. Several factors were found to influence the reliability, which included motion measured, joint measured, measurement procedure, subjects, goniometer design and type of reliability. The literature review provided an overview of how the reliability changes with these factors. Additionally, this review demonstrated that the evidence for the reliability of
these tools is largely inconclusive, especially amongst subjects with diplegic CP. The presence of spasticity and defining the end range of the joint ROM have been identified as major causes of measurement error using the goniometer. Additionally, it has been stated that care should be taken when using the measurements obtained with the UG for assisting in clinical judgment. Stabilising the limb while measuring the muscle length, ROM and spasticity using the recommended test such as the Duncan-Ely is challenging. To minimise the measurement error and to be able to stabilise the limb, it has been recommended to involve two testers in the measurement procedure. This will allow one tester to stabilise the limb and the second tester to record the measurements. However, in busy clinical environments this is not feasible. The findings of this review illustrated that further research is required to investigate and compare the reliability of the UG, EG and inclinometer and the possibility of using protocols and technology to increase reliability when measuring joint ROM, especially amongst subjects with CP.

The final investigation of this thesis tested the feasibility of using a 2D analysis system for passive joint ROM measurements. Initially, a study investigating the reliability of the *PnO CMD* in comparison to the UG amongst healthy subjects was performed. In this study, sagittal plane passive ROM of the hip, knee and ankle joints was measured using both tools with/without markers. Intratester and intertester ICC values were calculated for both tools with/without markers. The highest ICC values were found for the *PnO CMD* with markers, which illustrated the reliability of this system. Following that, the accuracy of the *PnO CMD* with markers was tested in comparison to Vicon (benchmark) amongst healthy subjects. Hip, knee and ankle sagittal plane dynamic ROM were measured at 5 predefined points of gait. High ICC values with a moderate to narrow CI range were found for all the points measured. Finally, the reliability of the *PnO CMD* for measurement of joint ROM amongst subjects with diplegic CP was investigated. Hip, knee, and ankle joint sagittal plane passive joint ROM with markers were measured. Intratester and intertester ICC values were found to be high and above the satisfactory level. The series of studies which investigated the *PnO CMD* reliability and accuracy concluded that this analysis system is accurate and reliable for passive joint ROM measurements during physical assessment.

References

1. Reddihough DS, Collins KJ. The epidemiology and causes of cerebral palsy. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy. 2003;49(1):7-12.

2. Gage JR, Novacheck TF. An update on the treatment of gait problems in cerebral palsy. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 2001;10(4):265-74.

3. Matthews D, Wilson P. Cerebral Palsy In: Molnar G, Alexander M, editors. Paediatric Rehabilitation Third ed. Philadelphia Hanley and Belfus; 1999. p. 193-217.

4. Gage J, Schwartz M. Consequences of Brain Injury on Musculoskeletal Development In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 107-29.

5. SCPE. Surveillance of cerebral palsy in Europe: a collaboration of cerebral palsy surveys and registers. Surveillance of Cerebral Palsy in Europe (SCPE). Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2000;42(12):816-24.

6. ISO. Terms relating to external orthoses. Prosthetics and orthotics -Vocabulary. ISO 8549-3. First ed. Geneve: International Organization for Standardization.; 1989.

7. Meadows B. The influence of polypropylene ankle-foot orthoses on gait of cerebral palsied children. [PhD Thesis]. Glasgow: University of Strathclyde; 1984.

8. Owen E. "Shank angle to floor measures" and tuning of "Ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination" for children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. [Msc Thesis]. Glasgow: University of Strathclyde; 2004.

9. Inman V, Ralston H, Todd F. Human Walking. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins; 1981.

10. Nuzzo R. High-performance activity with below-knee cast treatment. Part 2: clinical application and the weak link hypothesis *Journal of Orthopaedics*. 1983;6:817-30.

11. Owen E. The Importance of being earnest about shank and thigh kinematics especially when using ankle-foot orthoses. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*. 2010;34(3):254-69.

12. Meadows B, Bowers R, Owen E. Biomechanics of the hip, knee and ankle. In: Hsu J, Michael J, Fisk J, editors. *AAOS Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices*. Fourth edition ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2008.

 Perry J. *Gait Analysis:Normal and Pathological function*. first edition. ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 1992.

14. Bowers R, Ross K. A review of the effectiveness of lower limb orthoses used in cerebral palsy. In: Morris C, Condie D, editors. Recent Developments in Healthcare for Cerebral Palsy: Implications and Opportunities for Orthotics. Wolfson College, Oxford2009.

15. Rose SA, DeLuca PA, Davis RB, 3rd, Ounpuu S, Gage JR. Kinematic and kinetic evaluation of the ankle after lengthening of the gastrocnemius fascia in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 1993;13(6):727-32.

16. Delp SL, Statler K, Carroll NC. Preserving plantar flexion strength after surgical treatment for contracture of the triceps surae: a computer simulation study. Journal of Orthopaedic Research. 1995;13(1):96-104.

Peacock W. The Pathophysiology of Spasticity. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop
 S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in
 Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 89-98.

 Williams SE, Gibbs S, Meadows CB, Abboud RJ. Classification of the reduced vertical component of the ground reaction force in late stance in cerebral palsy gait. Gait & Posture. 2011;34(3):370-3.

 Perry J, Gronley K, Bolanger L, editors. Functional role of the rectus femoris in gait Proceedings of the 35th Annual Meeting of the Orthopaedic Research Society 1989; Las Vegas, USA.

20. Nene A, Byrne C, Hermens H. Is rectus femoris really a part of quadriceps? Assessment of rectus femoris function during gait in able-bodied adults. Gait & Posture. 2004;20(1):1-13.

21. Conard B, Meinck H, Benecke R. Motor Patterns in human gait: adaptations to different modes of progression In: Bles W, Brandt W, editors. Disorders of posture and gait London: Elsevier 1986. p. 53-67.

22. Murray MP, Mollinger LA, Gardner GM, Sepic SB. Kinematic and EMG patterns during slow, free, and fast walking. Journal of Orthopaedic Research. 1984;2(3):272-80.

23. Csongradi J, Bleck E, Ford WF. Gait electromyography in normal and spastic children, with special reference to quadriceps femoris and hamstring muscles. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 1979;21(6):738-48.

24. Gage JR, Perry J, Hicks RR, Koop S, Werntz JR. Rectus femoris transfer to improve knee function of children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 1987;29(2):159-66.

25. Perry J. Distal rectus femoris transfer. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 1987;29(2):153-8.

26. Sutherland DH, Santi M, Abel MF. Treatment of stiff-knee gait in cerebral palsy: a comparison by gait analysis of distal rectus femoris transfer versus proximal rectus release. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 1990;10(4):433-41.

27. Goldberg SR, Ounpuu S, Delp SL. The importance of swing-phase initial conditions in stiff-knee gait. Journal of Biomechanics. 2003;36(8):1111-6.

28. Goldberg SR, Ounpuu S, Arnold AS, Gage JR, Delp SL. Kinematic and kinetic factors that correlate with improved knee flexion following treatment for stiff-knee gait. Journal of Biomechanics. 2006;39(4):689-98.

29. Goldberg SR, Anderson FC, Pandy MG, Delp SL. Muscles that influence knee flexion velocity in double support: implications for stiff-knee gait. Journal of Biomechanics. 2004;37(8):1189-96.

30. Reinbolt JA, Fox MD, Arnold AS, Ounpuu S, Delp SL. Importance of preswing rectus femoris activity in stiff-knee gait. Journal of Biomechanics. 2008;41(11):2362-9.

 Magee D. Orthopedic Physical Assessment Fifth ed. Saunders: Elsevier; 2008.
 Marks MC, Alexander J, Sutherland DH, Chambers HG. Clinical utility of the Duncan-Ely test for rectus femoris dysfunction during the swing phase of gait. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2003;45(11):763-8.

33. Mohsin F, McGarry A, Bowers R. Factors Influencing the Reliability of the Universal Goniometer in Measurement of Lower-Limb Range of Motion: A Literature Review. Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics. 2015;27(4):140-8.

34. Graham H, Selber P. Musculoskeletal aspects of cerebral palsy. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. 2003;85(2):157-66.

35. Stanley F, Blaire E, Alberman E. Cerebral palsies: epidemiology and causal pathways London: MacKeith Press; 2000.

36. Ozmen M, Caliskan M, Apak S, Gokcay G. 8-year clinical experience in cerebral palsy. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics. 1993;39(1):52-4.

37. Rosenbloom L. Definition and classification of cerebral palsy. Definition, classification, and the clinician. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology supplement. 2007;109:43.

38. In: Morris C, Condie D, editors. Recent Developments in Healthcare for Cerebral Palsy: Implications and Opportunities for Orthotics

Copenhagen: International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics; 2009.

39. McManus V, Guillem P, Surman G, Cans C. SCPE work, standardization and definition--an overview of the activities of SCPE: a collaboration of European CP registers. Zhongguo Dang Dai Er Ke Za Zhi. 2006;8(4):261-5.

40. Palisano R, Rosenbaum P, Walter S, Russell D, Wood E, Galuppi B. Development and reliability of a system to classify gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 1997;39(4):214-23.

41. Rosenbaum PL, Walter SD, Hanna SE, Palisano RJ, Russell DJ, Raina P, et al. Prognosis for gross motor function in cerebral palsy: creation of motor development curves. Jama. 2002;288(11):1357-63.

42. Sellier E, Horber V, Krageloh-Mann I, De La Cruz J, Cans C. Interrater reliability study of cerebral palsy diagnosis, neurological subtype, and gross motor function. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2012;54(9):815-21.

43. Nordmark E, Hagglund G, Jarnlo GB. Reliability of the gross motor function measure in cerebral palsy. Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine. 1997;29(1):25-8.

44. Bartlett D. Use of the Gross Motor Function Classification System to Optimize Rehabilitation Management of Children with Cerebral Palsy Canada: Canchild Centre for Childhood Disability Research; 2006 [cited 2016 11 Sep]. Available from: https://www.canchild.ca/en/resources/86-use-of-the-gross-motor-functionclassification-system-to-optimize-rehabilitation-management-of-children-withcerebral-palsy.

45. Olsson MC, Kruger M, Meyer LH, Ahnlund L, Gransberg L, Linke WA, et al. Fibre type-specific increase in passive muscle tension in spinal cord-injured subjects with spasticity. Journal of Physiology. 2006;577(Pt 1):339-52.

46. Lance J. Pathophysiology of spasticity and clinical experience with baclofen.In: Lance J, Feldmac R, Young R, editors. Spasticity: disordered motor control Yearbook, Chicago1980. p. 185-204.

47. Trost J. Clinical Assessment. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 181-204.

48. Lee K-C, Carson L, Kinnin E, Patterson V. The Ashworth Scale: A Reliable and Reproducible Method of Measuring Spasticity. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair. 1989;3(4):205-9.

49. Bohannon RW, Smith MB. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. Physical Therapy 1987;67(2):206-7.

50. Gregson JM, Leathley M, Moore AP, Sharma AK, Smith TL, Watkins CL. Reliability of the Tone Assessment Scale and the modified Ashworth scale as clinical tools for assessing poststroke spasticity. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 1999;80(9):1013-6.

51. Haugh AB, Pandyan AD, Johnson GR. A systematic review of the Tardieu Scale for the measurement of spasticity. Disability and Rehabilitation 2006;28(15):899-907.

52. Ounpuu S, Thomason P, Harvey A, Graham H. Classification of Cerebral Palsy and Patterns of Gait Pathology. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 147-66.

53. Sutherland DH, Davids JR. Common gait abnormalities of the knee in cerebral palsy. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 1993(288):139-47.

54. Rodda J, Graham HK. Classification of gait patterns in spastic hemiplegia and spastic diplegia: a basis for a management algorithm. European Journal of Neurology.
2001;8 Suppl 5:98-108.

55. Rodda JM, Graham HK, Carson L, Galea MP, Wolfe R. Sagittal gait patterns in spastic diplegia. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. 2004;86(2):251-8.

56. Gage J, Deluca P, Renshaw T. Gait analysis: principles and applications: Emphasis on its use in cerebral palsy. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 1995;77(A):1607-23.

57. Ayyappa E, Mohamed O. Clinical Assessment of Pathological Gait. In: Lusardi M, Nielsen C, editors. Orthotics and Prosthetics in Rehabilitation. Saunders: Elsevier; 2007.

58. Whittle M, Levine D, Richards J. Normal Gait. In: Levine D, Richards J, Whittle M, editors. Whittles Gait Analysis Fifth ed. Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2012.

59. Perry J, Burnfield J. Gait Analysis: Normal and Pathological Function. Second ed: SLACK Incorporated; 2010.

60. Saunders JB, Inman VT, Eberhart HD. The major determinants in normal and pathological gait. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 1953;35-a(3):543-58.

61. Winter D. *Biomechanics and motor control of human movement*. Second edition ed. New York: Jhon Wiley & Sons; 1990.

62. Borghese N, Bianchi L, Lacquaniti F. Kinematic determinants of human locomotion. *Journal of Physiology*. 1996;494(3):863-79.

63. Gronley J, Perry J. Gait analysis techniques. *Physical Therapy*. 1984;63(12):1831-8.

64. Pedotti A. Simple equipment used in clinical practice for evaluation of locomotion. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering. 1977;24(5):456-61.

65. Perry J. Normal and Pathologic Gait. In: Hsu J, Michael J, Fisk J, editors. AAOS Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices. Fourth ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2008. p. 61-80.

66. Nene A, Mayagoitia R, Veltink P. Assessment of rectus femoris function during initial swing phase. Gait & Posture. 1999;9(1):1-9.

67. Perry J. Normal and Pathological Gait. In: Bunch W, Keagy R, Kritter A, Kruger L, Letts M, Lonstein J, et al., editors. *Atlas of Orthotics*. second Edition. ed. St.Louis: Mosby; 1985. p. p75-111.

68. Bowers R, Ross K, Nhsqis, Scotland NHSQI. Best _Practice Statement: Use of Ankle-Foot Orthoses Following Stroke. Edinburgh2009.

69. Owen E. Shank angle to floor measures of tuned "ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations" used with children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. *Gait and Posture*. 2002;16(Suppl 1):S132-S3.

70. Simon S, Deutsch S, Nuzzo R, Masour M, Jackson J, Koskinen M, et al. Genu recurvatum in spastic cerebral palsy. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. 1978;60(A):882-94.

71. Owen E. The point of 'Point-loading rockers' in ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations used with children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions. *Gait & Posture*. 2004;20(S):86.

72. Gage J. Gait analysis in cerebral palsy. London: Mac Keith Press; 1991.

Gage JR. Gait analysis. An essential tool in the treatment of cerebral palsy.
 Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 1993(288):126-34.

74. Gage J, Schwartz M. Normal Gait. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 31-64.

75. Stout J, Novacheck T, Gage J, Schwartz M. Treatment of Crouch Gait. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 555-78.

76. Uustal H. The orthotic prescription. In: Hsu J, Michael J, Fisk J, editors. *AAOS Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices*. Fourth Edition ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2008. 77. Clarkson H. Musculoskeletal Assessment: Joint Motion and Muscle Testing.Third ed. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.

78. MRC. Aids to the examination of peripheral nervous system London: Her Majesty's Stationary Office; 1976.

79. Berry ET, Giuliani CA, Damiano DL. Intrasession and intersession reliability of handheld dynamometry in children with cerebral palsy. Pediatric Physical Therapy 2004;16(4):191-8.

80. Sanger TD, Chen D, Delgado MR, Gaebler-Spira D, Hallett M, Mink JW. Definition and classification of negative motor signs in childhood. Pediatrics. 2006;118(5):2159-67.

81. Ostensjo S, Carlberg EB, Vollestad NK. Motor impairments in young children with cerebral palsy: relationship to gross motor function and everyday activities. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2004;46(9):580-9.

82. Voorman JM, Dallmeijer AJ, Knol DL, Lankhorst GJ, Becher JG. Prospective longitudinal study of gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2007;88(7):871-6.

83. Staudt L, Peacock W. Selective posterior rhizotomy for the treatment of spastic cerebral palsy. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 1989;1:3-9.

84. Engsberg JR, Ross SA, Collins DR, Park TS. Predicting functional change from preintervention measures in selective dorsal rhizotomy. Journal of Neurosurgery. 2007;106(4 Suppl):282-7.

85. Fowler EG, Staudt LA, Greenberg MB, Oppenheim WL. Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity (SCALE): development, validation, and interrater

reliability of a clinical tool for patients with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2009;51(8):607-14.

86. Balzer J, Marsico P, Mitteregger E, van der Linden ML, Mercer TH, van Hedel HJ. Construct validity and reliability of the Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity in children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology 2016;58(2):167-72.

87. Miller F. Cerebral Palsy New York: Springer; 2005.

88. Sanger TD, Delgado MR, Gaebler-Spira D, Hallett M, Mink JW. Classification and definition of disorders causing hypertonia in childhood. Pediatrics. 2003;111(1):e89-97.

89. Jethwa A, Mink J, Macarthur C, Knights S, Fehlings T, Fehlings D.
Development of the Hypertonia Assessment Tool (HAT): a discriminative tool for hypertonia in children. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2010;52(5):e83-7.

90. Boyd N, Graham K. Objective measurement of clinical findings in the use of botulinum toxin type A for the management of children with cerebral palsy. European Journal of Neurology. 1999;6:s23-s35.

91. Perry J, Hoffer MM, Antonelli D, Plut J, Lewis G, Greenberg R. Electromyography before and after surgery for hip deformity in children with cerebral palsy. A comparison of clinical and electromyographic findings. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume. 1976;58(2):201-8.

92. Ruwe PA, Gage JR, Ozonoff MB, DeLuca PA. Clinical determination of femoral anteversion. A comparison with established techniques. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 1992;74(6):820-30.

Maier C, Zingg P, Seifert B, Sutter R, Dora C. Femoral torsion: reliability and validity of the trochanteric prominence angle test. Hip International. 2012;22(5):5348.

94. Sangeux M, Mahy J, Graham HK. Do physical examination and CT-scan measures of femoral neck anteversion and tibial torsion relate to each other? Gait & Posture. 2014;39(1):12-6.

95. Insall JN, Aglietti P, Tria AJ, Jr. Patellar pain and incongruence. II: Clinical application. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 1983(176):225-32.

96. Gage J. The treatment of gait problems in cerebral palsy. Second ed. London:Mac Keith Press; 2004.

97. Hoffinger SA, Rab GT, Abou-Ghaida H. Hamstrings in cerebral palsy crouch gait. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 1993;13(6):722-6.

98. Rodda JM, Graham HK, Nattrass GR, Galea MP, Baker R, Wolfe R. Correction of severe crouch gait in patients with spastic diplegia with use of multilevel orthopaedic surgery. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 2006;88(12):2653-64.

99. Simmons E, Jr., Cameron JC. Patella alta and recurrent dislocation of the patella. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 1992(274):265-9.

100. Morrissy R, Weinstein S. Lovell and Winter's pediatric orthopedics. Sixth ed.Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006.

101. Sprague RB. Factors related to extension lag at the knee joint. Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy. 1982;3(4):178-82.

102. Hicks J, Arnold A, Anderson F, Schwartz M, Delp S. The effect of excessive tibial torsion on the capacity of muscles to extend the hip and knee during single-limb stance. Gait & Posture. 2007;26(4):546-52.

103. Stefko RM, de Swart RJ, Dodgin DA, Wyatt MP, Kaufman KR, Sutherland DH, et al. Kinematic and kinetic analysis of distal derotational osteotomy of the leg in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 1998;18(1):81-7.

104. Selber P, Filho ER, Dallalana R, Pirpiris M, Nattrass GR, Graham HK. Supramalleolar derotation osteotomy of the tibia, with T plate fixation. Technique and results in patients with neuromuscular disease. The Bone & Joint Journal. 2004;86(8):1170-5.

105. Ryan DD, Rethlefsen SA, Skaggs DL, Kay RM. Results of tibial rotational osteotomy without concomitant fibular osteotomy in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 2005;25(1):84-8.

106. Schwartz M, Lakin G. The effect of tibial torsion on the dynamic function of the soleus during gait. Gait & Posture. 2003;17(2):113-8.

107. Lee SH, Chung CY, Park MS, Choi IH, Cho T-J. Tibial Torsion in Cerebral Palsy: Validity and Reliability of Measurement. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2009;467(8):2098-104.

108. Bleck E. Orthopaedic Management in Cerebral Palsy. London: Mac Keith Press; 1987.

109. WHO. Towards a Common Language for Functioning, Disability and Health.In: The International Classification of Functioning DaH, editor. Geneva: World HealthOrganization; 2002.

110. Ketelaar M, Vermeer A, Hart H, van Petegem-van Beek E, Helders PJ. Effects of a functional therapy program on motor abilities of children with cerebral palsy. Physical Therapy 2001;81(9):1534-45.

111. Salem Y, Godwin EM. Effects of task-oriented training on mobility function in children with cerebral palsy. NeuroRehabilitation. 2009;24(4):307-13.

112. Law MC, Darrah J, Pollock N, Wilson B, Russell DJ, Walter SD, et al. Focus on function: a cluster, randomized controlled trial comparing child- versus contextfocused intervention for young children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2011;53(7):621-9.

113. Molenaers G, Desloovere K. Pharmacological Treatment with Botulinum Toxin In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 363-80.

114. Steinbok P. Selective dorsal rhizotomy for spastic cerebral palsy: a review.Child's Nervous System. 2007;23(9):981-90.

115. Trost JP, Schwartz MH, Krach LE, Dunn ME, Novacheck TF. Comprehensive short-term outcome assessment of selective dorsal rhizotomy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2008;50(10):765-71.

116. Steinbok P. Outcomes after selective dorsal rhizotomy for spastic cerebral palsy. Child's Nervous System. 2001;17(1-2):1-18.

117. Novacheck T. Orthopaedic Treatment of Muscle Contractures In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 445-72.

118. Gage J. Orthopaedic Treatment of Long Bone Torsions. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 473-91.

119. Chambers H. Orthopaedic Treatment of Hip Problems in Cerebral Palsy. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 492-513.

120. Davids J. Orthopaedic Treatment of Foot Deformities. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 514-33.

121. Yoo WJ, Chung CY, Choi IH, Cho TJ, Kim DH. Calcaneal lengthening for the planovalgus foot deformity in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 2005;25(6):781-5.

122. Mosca VS. Calcaneal lengthening for valgus deformity of the hindfoot. Results in children who had severe, symptomatic flatfoot and skewfoot. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery. 1995;77(4):500-12.

123. Sutherland DH. Varus foot in cerebral palsy: an overview. Instructional course lectures 1993;42:539-43.

Mosca VS. The cavus foot. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 2001;21(4):423-4.

125. Ostensjo S, Carlberg EB, Vollestad NK. Everyday functioning in young children with cerebral palsy: functional skills, caregiver assistance, and modifications of the environment. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2003;45(9):603-12.
126. Murr S, Walt K. Physical Therapy. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 315-26.

127. Ward M. Pharmacologic Treatment with Oral Medications In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 349-62.

128. Strobl W, Theologis T, Brunner R, Kocer S, Viehweger E, Pascual-Pascual I, et al. Best clinical practice in botulinum toxin treatment for children with cerebral palsy. Toxins (Basel). 2015;7(5):1629-48.

129. Ward AB. Spasticity treatment with botulinum toxins. Journal of Neural Transmission 2008;115(4):607-16.

130. Chambers HG. Treatment of functional limitations at the knee in ambulatory children with cerebral palsy. European Journal of Neurology. 2001;8 Suppl 5:59-74.

131. Graham HK, Aoki KR, Autti-Ramo I, Boyd RN, Delgado MR, Gaebler-Spira DJ, et al. Recommendations for the use of botulinum toxin type A in the management of cerebral palsy. Gait & Posture. 2000;11(1):67-79.

132. O'Brien CF. Treatment of spasticity with botulinum toxin. The Clinical Journal of Pain. 2002;18(6 Suppl):S182-90.

133. Rutz E, Hofmann E, Brunner R. Preoperative botulinum toxin test injections before muscle lengthening in cerebral palsy. Journal of Orthopaedic Science. 2010;15(5):647-53.

134. Boyd R, Graham H. Botulinum toxin A in the management of children with cerebral palsy indication and outcome. European Journal of Neurology. 1997;4:S15-22.

135. Roche N, Even-Schneider A, Bussel B, Bensmail D. Management of increase in spasticity in patients with intrathecal baclofen pumps. Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine 2007;50(2):93-9.

136. Mess SA, Kim S, Davison S, Heckler F. Implantable baclofen pump as an adjuvant in treatment of pressure sores. Annals of Plastic Surgery. 2003;51(5):465-7.

137. Krach LE. Treatment of Spasticity with Intrathecal Baclofen. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 383-96.

138. Fitzgerald JJ, Tsegaye M, Vloeberghs MH. Treatment of childhood spasticity of cerebral origin with intrathecal baclofen: a series of 52 cases. British Journal of Neurosurgery. 2004;18(3):240-5.

139. Gooch JL, Oberg WA, Grams B, Ward LA, Walker ML. Care provider assessment of intrathecal baclofen in children. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2004;46(8):548-52.

140. Krach LE, Nettleton A, Klempka B. Satisfaction of individuals treated longterm with continuous infusion of intrathecal baclofen by implanted programmable pump. Pediatric Rehabilitation. 2006;9(3):210-8.

141. ISO. General terms for external limb prostheses and external orthoses Prosthetics and orthotics - Vocabulary. ISO 8549-1. First ed. Geneve: International Organization for Standardization.; 1989.

142. Lehmann J. Lower Limb Orthotics. In: Redford B, editor. Orthotics Etcetera.Third ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1986.

143. Condie E, Bowers R. Lower limb orthoses for person who have had a stroke.In: Hsu J, Michael J, Fisk J, editors. *AAOS Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices*.Fourth edition ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2008.

144. Condie E, Campbell H, Martina D, editors. Report of a consensus conference on the orthotic management of stroke patients International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics 2004; Copenhagen.

145. Lin R. Ankle-Foot Orthoses In: Lusardi M, Nielsen C, editors. Orthotics and Prosthetics in Rehabilitation. Saunders: Elsevier; 2007.

146. Sumiya T, Suzuki Y, Kasahara T. Stiffness control in posterior-type plastic ankle-foot orthoses: effect of ankle trimline. Part 1: A device for measuring ankle moment. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 1996;20(2):129-31.

147. Nagaya M. Shoehorn-type ankle-foot orthoses: prediction of flexibility. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 1997;78(1):82-4.

148. Convery P, Greig RJ, Ross RS, Sockalingam S. A three centre study of the variability of ankle foot orthoses due to fabrication and grade of polypropylene. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 2004;28(2):175-82.

149. Saltiel J. A one-piece laminated knee locking short leg brace. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*. 1969;23(2):68-75.

150. Novacheck T, Kroll G, Gent G, Rozumalski A, Beattie C, Schwartz M. Orthoses. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 327-48.

151. Rogozinski B, Davids J, Davis R, James G, Blackhurst D. The efficacy of the floor-reaction ankle-foot orthosis in children with cerebral palsy. *Journal of Bone and Surgery*. 2009;91(10):2440-7.

152. Harrington E, Lin R, Gage J. Use of the anterior floor reaction orthosis in patients with cerebral palsy. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*. 1984;37(4):34-42.

153. ISPO, editor Report of a consensus conference on the lower limb orthotic management of cerebral palsy1995; Duke University, Durham, N Carolina: International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics.

154. Butler P, Nene A. The biomechanics of fixed ankle foot orthoses and their potential in the management of cerebral palsied children. Journal of physiotherapy 1991;77(2):81-8.

155. Lunsford T, Contoyannis B. Material Science. In: Hsu J, Michael J, Fisk J, editors. *AAOS Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices*. Fourth edition ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2008. p. 15-51.

156. Lehmann J, de Lateur B, Price R. Ankle-foot orthoses for paresis and paralysis. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*. 1992;3(1):139-59.

157. Clark D, Lunsford T. Reinforced lower-limb orthosis - design principles. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*. 1978;32(2):35-45.

158. Stallard J, Major R. *Structures and Materials*. Oswestry: ORLAU Publishing;1985.

159. Supan T. Principles of fabrication. In: Hsu J, Michael J, Fisk J, editors. *AAOS Atlas of Orthoses and Assistive Devices*. Fourth edition ed. Philadelphia: Mosby/Elsevier; 2008.

160. Stills M. Thermoformed ankle-foot orthoses. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*. 1975;29(4):41-51.

161. Stills M. Lower-limb orthotics. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*. 1977;31(4):21-30.

162. Sumiya T, Suzuki Y, Kasahara T. Stiffness control in posterior-type plastic ankle-foot orthoses:effet of ankle trimline, Part 2: orthosis characteristics and orthosis/patient matching. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*. 1996;20(2):132-7.

163. Fillauer C. A new ankle-foot orthosis with a moldable carbon composite insert. *Orthotics and Prosthetics*. 1981;35(3):13-6.

164. Major R, Hewart P, Macdonald A. A new structural concept in moulded fixed ankle foot orthoses and compersion of the bending stiffness of four constructions. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*. 2004;28(1):44-8.

165. Nuzzo R. Dynamic bracing: Elastics for patients with cerebral palsy, muscular dystrophy and myelodysplasia. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. 1980;148.:263-73.

166. Nuzzo R. High-performance activity with below-knee cast treatment. Part 1: Mechanics and demonstration. *Journal of Orthopaedics*. 1983;6:713-23.

167. Saunders J, Inman V, Eberhart H. The major determinants in normal and pathological gait. The journal of bone and joint surgery. 1953;35(A):543-58.

168. Owen E. Proposed clinical algorithm for deciding the sagittal angle for the ankle in an ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination. *Gait & Posture*. 2005;22(S):38-9.

169. Stewart C, Robert A, Jonkers I. Gastrocnemius: a three joint muscle. *Gait and Posture*. 2004;20(S):65.

170. Wesdock K, Edge A. Effects of wedged shoes and ankle-foot orthoses on standing balance and knee extension in children with cerebral palsy who crouch. *Pediatric Physical Therapy*. 2003;15(4):221-31.

171. Condie D, Meadows C. Ankle-Foot Orthoses. In: Bowker P, Condie D, BaderD, Pratt D, editors., editors. *Biomechanical Basis of Orthotic Management*.Oxford[England], Boston: Butterworth and Heinemann; 1993.

172. Owen E. A clinical algorithm for the design and tuning of ankle-foot orthosis footwear combinations (AFOFC) based on shank kinematics. Gait & Posture. 2005;22(S1):S36-7.

173. Hullin M, Robb J. Biomechanical effects of rockers on walking in a plaster cast. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. 1991;73(1):92-5.

174. Bowker P. The biomechanics of orthoses. In: Bowker P, Condie D, Bader L, Pratt J, editors. Biomechanical basis of orthotic management. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1993. p. 27-37.

175. Morris C. A review of the efficacy of lower-limb orthoses used for cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2002;44(3):205-11.

176. Figueiredo EM, Ferreira GB, Maia Moreira RC, Kirkwood RN, Fetters L. Efficacy of ankle-foot orthoses on gait of children with cerebral palsy: systematic review of literature. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 2008;20(3):207-23.

177. Teplicky R, Law M, Russell D. The Effectiveness of Casts, Orthoses, and Splints for Children with Neurological Disorders. Infants & Young Children. 2002;15(1):42-50.

178. Ridgewell E. The effect of sagittal plane ankle-foot orthosis alignment on gait in children with cerebral palsy. Australia: La Trobe University; 2011.

179. Kerkum YL, Buizer AI, van den Noort JC, Becher JG, Harlaar J, Brehm M-A. The Effects of Varying Ankle Foot Orthosis Stiffness on Gait in Children with Spastic Cerebral Palsy Who Walk with Excessive Knee Flexion. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(11):e0142878.

180. Wren TA, Dryden JW, Mueske NM, Dennis SW, Healy BS, Rethlefsen SA. Comparison of 2 Orthotic Approaches in Children With Cerebral Palsy. Pediatric Physical Therapy 2015;27(3):218-26.

181. Levine D, Richards J, Whittle M. Whittles Gait Analysis Fifth ed. Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2012.

182. Danino B, Erel S, Kfir M, Khamis S, Batt R, Hemo Y, et al. Are Gait Indices Sensitive Enough to Reflect the Effect of Ankle Foot Orthosis on Gait Impairment in Cerebral Palsy Diplegic Patients? Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 2016;36(3):294-8.

183. Thompson N, Taylor T, McCarthy K, Cosgrove A, Baker R. Effects of a rigid ankle-foot orthosis on hamstring length in children with hemiplegia. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*. 2002;44(1):51-7.

184. Owen E, editor *Tuning of ankle-foot orthosis footwear combination for children with cerebral palsy, spina bifida and other conditions*. Proceedings of Europen Society of Movement Analysis in Adults and Children (ESMAC); 2004; Warsaw.

185. Owen E, Bowers R, Meadows B, editors. Tuning of AFO-footwear combination for neurological disorders. International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics (ISPO) 11th World Congress; 2004; Hong Kong

186. Butler P, Thompson N, Major R. Improvement in walking performance of children with cerebral palsy: Preliminary results. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 1992;34(7):567-76.

187. Butler P, Farmer S, Stewart C, Jones P, Forward M. The effect of fixed ankle foot orthoses in children with cerebral palsy. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*. 2007;2(1):51-8.

188. Reinthal AK, Hoy D. The effect of systematically varying AFO ankle joint angle on the crouch gait pattern in an individual with cerebral palsy. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 2005;17(1):96-7.

189. Jagadamma K, Van Der Linden M, Coutts F, Mercer T, Herman J, Yirrel J, et al. Effects of tuning of the ankle foot orthoses footwear combination (AFO-FC) on the stance phase knee kinematics of children with cerebral palsy. Gait & Posture. 2008;28:S45-S6.

190. Jagadamma KC, Coutts FJ, Mercer TH, Herman J, Yirrel J, Forbes L, et al. Effects of tuning of ankle foot orthoses-footwear combination using wedges on stance phase knee hyperextension in children with cerebral palsy - preliminary results. Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology 2009;4(6):406-13.

191. Jagadamma K, Van Der Linden M, Coutts F, Herman J, Yirrel J. Effect of four different sizes of wedges on the kinematics and kinetics of the knee joint of children with cerebral palsy during gait - a case study. Gait & Posture. 2007;26(1):S38-S9.

192. Eddison N, Chockalingam N. The effect of tuning ankle foot orthoses-footwear combination on the gait parameters of children with cerebral palsy. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 2013;37(2):95-107.

193. Jagadamma K. The biomechanical optimisation (tuning) of the ankle-foot orthoses-footwear combination (AFO-FC) of children with cerebral palsy- the effects on sagittal gait characteristics, muscle and joint characteristics and quality of life. Edinburgh: Queen Margaret University; 2010. 194. Sutherland DH, Olshen R, Cooper L, Woo SL. The development of mature gait. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, American Edition. 1980;62(3):336-53.

195. Sutherland D, Olshen R, Biden E, Wyatt M. The Development of Mature Walking. London: Mac Keith Press; 1988.

196. Sutherland D. The development of mature gait. Gait & Posture. 1997;6(2):163-70.

197. Holm I, Tveter AT, Fredriksen PM, Vollestad N. A normative sample of gait and hopping on one leg parameters in children 7-12 years of age. Gait & Posture. 2009;29(2):317-21.

198. Dusing SC, Thorpe DE. A normative sample of temporal and spatial gait parameters in children using the GAITRite electronic walkway. Gait & Posture. 2007;25(1):135-9.

199. Ridgewell E, Dobson F, Bach T, Baker R. A systematic review to determine best practice reporting guidelines for AFO interventions in studies involving children with cerebral palsy. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 2010;34(2):129-45.

200. Neurobiomechanics. Conducting the clinical examination In: Neurobiomechanics, editor. Glasgow: NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde 2014.

201. Neurobiomechanics. WestMARC Gait Analysis-Supplementary Information In: Neurobiomechanics, editor. Glasgow: NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde 2015.

202. Steinwender G, Saraph V, Zwick EB, Steinwender C, Linhart W. Hip locomotion mechanisms in cerebral palsy crouch gait. Gait & Posture. 2001;13(2):78-85.

203. McCrum-Gardner E. Which is the correct statistical test to use? British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2008;46(1):38-41.

204. Gibbs S. Ground reaction forces and control of centre of mass motion during gait : implications for intervention in cerebral palsy. Dundee: University of Dundee; 2014.

205. Wu G, Cavanagh PR. ISB recommendations for standardization in the reporting of kinematic data. Journal of Biomechanics. 1995;28(10):1257-61.

206. Pratt E, Durham S, Ewins D. Preliminary Evidence for Techniques Used to Optimally Align (Tune) Fixed Ankle-Foot Orthoses in Children. Journal of Prosthetics & Orthotics. 2011;23(2):60-3.

207. Kirtley C. Clinical Gait Analysis:Theory and Practice Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2006.

208. Baker R. Measuring Walking: A Handbook of Clinical Gait Analysis London:Mac Keith Press; 2013.

209. Carse B, Meadows B, Rowe P. 3D shank and thigh segment orientations and their use in AFO tuning for stroke. 14th Annual Meeting of the Clinical Movement Analysis Society; Oxford University Hospital2015.

210. Portney LG, Watkins M. Correlation Foundations of clinical research - Applications to practice. Second ed. New Jersey: Prentice Hall Health; 2000.

211. Bruton A, Conway JH, Holgate ST. Reliability: What is it, and how is it measured?. Physiotherapy. 2000;86(2):94-9.

212. Stallard J, Woollam P. Transportable two-dimensional gait assessment: routine service experience for orthotic provision. *Disability and rehabilitation*. 2003;25(6):254-8.

213. Eddison N, Chockalingam N, Osborne S. Ankle foot orthosis-footwear combination tuning: an investigation into common clinical practice in the United Kingdom. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 2015;39(2):126-33.

214. Shiavi R. Electromyographic patterns in adult locomotion: a comprehensive review. Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development. 1985;22(3):85-98.

215. Shiavi R, Bugle HJ, Limbird T. Electromyographic gait assessment, Part 1: Adult EMG profiles and walking speed. Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development. 1987;24(2):13-23.

216. Arsenault AB, Winter DA, Marteniuk RG. Is there a 'normal' profile of EMG activity in gait? Medical & Biological Engineering & Computing. 1986;24(4):337-43.
217. Winter DA, Yack HJ. EMG profiles during normal human walking: stride-to-stride and inter-subject variability. Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology. 1987;67(5):402-11.

218. Yang JF, Winter DA. Electromyographic amplitude normalization methods: improving their sensitivity as diagnostic tools in gait analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 1984;65(9):517-21.

219. Annaswamy TM, Giddings CJ, Della Croce U, Kerrigan DC. Rectus femoris: its role in normal gait. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 1999;80(8):930-4.

220. Conard B, Meinck H, Benecke R. Motor patterns in human gait: adaptation to different modes of progression. In: Bles W, Brandt W, editors. Disorders of posture and gait. London Elsevier 1986. p. 53-67.

221. Zuniga EN, Truong XT, Simons DG. Effects of skin electrode position on averaged electromyographic potentials. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 1970;51(5):264-72.

222. Koh TJ, Grabiner MD. Evaluation of methods to minimize cross talk in surface electromyography. Journal of Biomechanics. 1993;26 Suppl 1:151-7.

223. Ounpuu S, Muik E, Davis RB, 3rd, Gage JR, DeLuca PA. Rectus femoris surgery in children with cerebral palsy. Part I: The effect of rectus femoris transfer location on knee motion. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 1993;13(3):325-30.

224. Piazza SJ, Delp SL. The influence of muscles on knee flexion during the swing phase of gait. Journal of Biomechanics. 1996;29(6):723-33.

225. Granata KP, Abel MF, Damiano DL. Joint angular velocity in spastic gait and the influence of muscle-tendon lengthening. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, American Edition. 2000;82(2):174-86.

226. Knuppe AE, Bishop NA, Clark AJ, Alderink GJ, Barr KM, Miller AL. Prolonged swing phase rectus femoris activity is not associated with stiff-knee gait in children with cerebral palsy: a retrospective study of 407 limbs. Gait & Posture. 2013;37(3):345-8.

227. Smith AD, Stroud L, McQueen C. Flexibility and anterior knee pain in adolescent elite figure skaters. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 1991;11(1):77-82.

228. Fredericson M, Yoon K. Physical examination and patellofemoral pain syndrome. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 2006;85(3):23443.

229. Reid C. Problems of the hip, pelvis and sacroiliac joint In: Reid C, editor. Sports injury assessment and rehabilitation. First. Philadelphia Churchill Livingstone 1992. p. 601-70.

230. Prentice E. The thigh, hip, groin and pelvis In: Turenne M, editor. Arnhem's principles of athletic training: a competency-based approach Twelfth New York: McGraw-Hill; 2003. p. 625-67.

231. Witvrouw E, Bellemans J, Lysens R, Danneels L, Cambier D. Intrinsic risk factors for the development of patellar tendinitis in an athletic population. A two-year prospective study. American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2001;29(2):190-5.

232. Kay RM, Rethlefsen SA, Kelly JP, Wren TA. Predictive value of the Duncan-Ely test in distal rectus femoris transfer. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 2004;24(1):59-62.

233. Lee SY, Sung KH, Chung CY, Lee KM, Kwon SS, Kim TG, et al. Reliability and validity of the Duncan-Ely test for assessing rectus femoris spasticity in patients with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2015;57(10):963-8.

234. Gracies JM, Burke K, Clegg NJ, Browne R, Rushing C, Fehlings D, et al. Reliability of the Tardieu Scale for assessing spasticity in children with cerebral palsy. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2010;91(3):421-8.

235. Peeler J, Anderson JE. Reliability of the Ely's test for assessing rectus femoris muscle flexibility and joint range of motion. Journal of Orthopaedic Research. 2008;26(6):793-9.

236. Hair J, Anderson R, Tatham R, Black W. Multivariate Data Analysis: With Readings new jersey: Prentice Hall 1995.

237. Pallant J. SPSS Survival Manual. Buckingham: Open University Press; 2001.

238. Yuan M, Lin Y. Model selection and estimation in regression with grouped variables. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology). 2006;68(1):49-67.

239. Krause DA, Boyd MS, Hager AN, Smoyer EC, Thompson AT, Hollman JH. Reliability and accuracy of a goniometer mobile device application for video measurement of the functional movement screen deep squat test. International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy. 2015;10(1):37-44.

240. Smith DS. Measurement of joint range--an overview. Clinics in Rheumatic Diseases. 1982;8(3):523-31.

241. Lea RD, Gerhardt JJ. Range-of-motion measurements1995 1995-05-01 00:00:00. 784-98 p.

242. Clarkson H. Joint Motion and Function Assessment: A Research-Based Practical Guide. Pennsylvania: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005.

243. Norkin C, White D. Measurement Of Joint Motion: A Guide To Goniometry.Fifth ed. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis Company; 2016.

244. McHugh L. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. Biochemia Medica. 2012;22(3):276-82.

245. Gisev N, Bell S, Chen F. Interrater agreement and interrater reliability: Key concepts, approaches, and applications. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2013;9(3):330-8.

246. Cadenhead SL, McEwen IR, Thompson DM. Effect of passive range of motion exercises on lower-extremity goniometric measurements of adults with cerebral palsy: a single-subject design. Physical Therapy. 2002;82(7):658-69.

247. McWhirk LB, Glanzman AM. Within-session inter-rater reliability of goniometric measures in patients with spastic cerebral palsy. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 2006;18(4):262-5.

248. Kilgour G, McNair P, Stott NS. Intrarater reliability of lower limb sagittal range-of-motion measures in children with spastic diplegia. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2003;45(6):391-9.

249. Gogia PP, Braatz JH, Rose SJ, Norton BJ. Reliability and validity of goniometric measurements at the knee. Physical Therapy. 1987;67(2):192-5.

250. Nicol A. Measurement of joint motion. Clinical Rehabilitation. 1989;3(1):1-9.

251. Pandya S, Florence JM, King WM, Robison JD, Oxman M, Province MA. Reliability of goniometric measurements in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Physical Therapy. 1985;65(9):1339-42.

252. Network SIG. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network [Internet]. 2001 [updated 17/04/15 cited 2015 15/8/15]. Available from: http://www.sign.ac.uk/methodology/checklists.html.

253. Denegar C, Ball D. Assessing Reliability and Precision of Measurement: An Introduction to Intraclass Correlation and Standard Error of Measurement. *Journal of Sport Rehabilitation*. 1993;2:35-42.

254. Shrout PE, Fleiss JL. Intraclass correlations: uses in assessing rater reliability.Psychological Bulletin. 1979;86(2):420-8.

255. Watkins MA, Riddle DL, Lamb RL, Personius WJ. Reliability of goniometric measurements and visual estimates of knee range of motion obtained in a clinical setting. Physical Therapy. 1991;71(2):90-6; discussion 6-7.

256. Bartko JJ, Carpenter WT, Jr. On the methods and theory of reliability. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 1976;163(5):307-17.

257. Rothstein JM, Miller PJ, Roettger RF. Goniometric reliability in a clinical setting. Elbow and knee measurements. Physical Therapy. 1983;63(10):1611-5.

258. Elveru RA, Rothstein JM, Lamb RL. Goniometric reliability in a clinical setting. Subtalar and ankle joint measurements. Physical Therapy. 1988;68(5):672-7.

259. Diamond JE, Mueller MJ, Delitto A, Sinacore DR. Reliability of a diabetic foot evaluation. Physical Therapy. 1989;69(10):797-802.

260. Mollinger LA, Steffen TM. Knee flexion contractures in institutionalized elderly: prevalence, severity, stability, and related variables. Physical Therapy. 1993;73(7):437-44; discussion 44-6.

261. Youdas JW, Bogard CL, Suman VJ. Reliability of goniometric measurements and visual estimates of ankle joint active range of motion obtained in a clinical setting. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 1993;74(10):1113-8.

262. Simoneau GG, Hoenig KJ, Lepley JE, Papanek PE. Influence of hip position and gender on active hip internal and external rotation. The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 1998;28(3):158-64.

263. Van Dillen LR, McDonnell MK, Fleming DA, Sahrmann SA. Effect of knee and hip position on hip extension range of motion in individuals with and without low back pain. The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 2000;30(6):307-16.

264. Brosseau L, Balmer S, Tousignant M, O'Sullivan JP, Goudreault C, Goudreault M, et al. Intra- and intertester reliability and criterion validity of the parallelogram and universal goniometers for measuring maximum active knee flexion and extension of

patients with knee restrictions. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2001;82(3):396-402.

265. Herrero P, Carrera P, Garcia E, Gomez-Trullen EM, Olivan-Blazquez B. Reliability of goniometric measurements in children with cerebral palsy: a comparative analysis of universal goniometer and electronic inclinometer. A pilot study. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2011;12:155.

266. Mutlu A, Livanelioglu A, Gunel MK. Reliability of goniometric measurements in children with spastic cerebral palsy. Medical Science Monitor. 2007;13(7):CR323-9.

267. Clapis PA, Davis SM, Davis RO. Reliability of inclinometer and goniometric measurements of hip extension flexibility using the modified Thomas test. Physiotherapy Theory and Practice. 2008;24(2):135-41.

268. Wakefield CB, Halls A, Difilippo N, Cottrell GT. Reliability of goniometric and trigonometric techniques for measuring hip-extension range of motion using the modified Thomas test. Journal of Athletic Training. 2015;50(5):460-6.

269. Peters PG, Herbenick MA, Anloague PA, Markert RJ, Rubino LJ, 3rd. Knee range of motion: reliability and agreement of 3 measurement methods. American Journal of Orthopaedics (Belle Mead, NJ). 2011;40(12):E249-52.

270. Peeler JD, Anderson JE. Reliability limits of the modified Thomas test for assessing rectus femoris muscle flexibility about the knee joint. Journal of Athletic Training. 2008;43(5):470-6.

271. Lee KM, Chung CY, Kwon DG, Han HS, Choi IH, Park MS. Reliability of physical examination in the measurement of hip flexion contracture and correlation

with gait parameters in cerebral palsy. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, American Volume. 2011;93(2):150-8.

272. Munteanu SE, Strawhorn AB, Landorf KB, Bird AR, Murley GS. A weight bearing technique for the measurement of ankle joint dorsiflexion with the knee extended is reliable. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport 2009;12(1):54-9.

273. Thoms V, Rome K. Effect of subject position on the reliability of measurement of active ankle joint dorsiflexion. The Foot. 1997;7(3):153-8.

274. Jonson SR, Gross MT. Intraexaminer reliability, interexaminer reliability, and mean values for nine lower extremity skeletal measures in healthy naval midshipmen. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy. 1997;25(4):253-63.

275. Stuberg WA, Fuchs RH, Miedaner JA. Reliability of goniometric measurements of children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 1988;30(5):657-66.

276. Eliasziw M, Young SL, Woodbury MG, Fryday-Field K. Statistical methodology for the concurrent assessment of interrater and intrarater reliability: using goniometric measurements as an example. Physical Therapy. 1994;74(8):777-88.

277. Clapper MP, Wolf SL. Comparison of the reliability of the Orthoranger and the standard goniometer for assessing active lower extremity range of motion. Physical Therapy. 1988;68(2):214-8.

278. Konor M, Morton S, Eckerson J, Grindstaff T. Reliability of three measures of ankle dorsiflexion range of motion. International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy. 2012;7(3):279–87.

279. Croft P, Nahit E, Macfarlane G, Silman A. Interobserver reliability in measuring flexion, internal rotation, and external rotation of the hip using a plurimeter. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 1996;55(5):320-3.

280. Ellison JB, Rose SJ, Sahrmann SA. Patterns of hip rotation range of motion: a comparison between healthy subjects and patients with low back pain. Physical therapy. 1990;70(9):537-41.

281. Bennell KL, Talbot RC, Wajswelner H, Techovanich W, Kelly DH, Hall AJ. Intra-rater and inter-rater reliability of a weight-bearing lunge measure of ankle dorsiflexion. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy. 1998;44(3):175-80.

282. Rome K, Cowieson F. A reliability study of the universal goniometer, fluid goniometer, and electrogoniometer for the measurement of ankle dorsiflexion. Foot & Ankle International 1996;17(1):28-32.

283. Torburn L, Perry J, Gronley JK. Assessment of rearfoot motion: passive positioning, one-legged standing, gait. Foot & Ankle International. 1998;19(10):688-93.

284. Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Bohnen AM, Ramlal R, Ridderikhoff J, Verhaar JA, Prins A. Comparison between two devices for measuring hip joint motions. Clinical Rehabilitation. 1998;12(6):497-505.

285. Nicolas R, Nicolas B, Francois V, Michel T, Nathaly G. Comparison of knee kinematics between meniscal tear and normal control during a step-down task. Clinical Biomechanics (Bristol, Avon)

2015.

286. Cronin J, Nash M, Whatman C. Assessing dynamic knee joint range of motion using siliconcoach. Physical Therapy in Sport. 2006;7(4):191-4.
287. Ashton BB, Pickles B, Roll JW. Reliability of goniometric measurements of hip motion in spastic cerebral palsy. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 1978;20(1):87-94.

288. McDowell BC, Hewitt V, Nurse A, Weston T, Baker R. The variability of goniometric measurements in ambulatory children with spastic cerebral palsy. Gait & Posture. 2000;12(2):114-21.

289. Gajdosik R, Lusin G. Hamstring muscle tightness. Reliability of an activeknee-extension test. Physical Therapy. 1983;63(7):1085-90.

290. Gajdosik R, Simpson R, Smith R, DonTigny RL. Pelvic tilt. Intratester reliability of measuring the standing position and range of motion. Physical Therapy. 1985;65(2):169-74.

291. Low JL. The reliability of joint measurement. Physiotherapy. 1976;62(7):227-9.

292. Boone DC, Azen SP, Lin CM, Spence C, Baron C, Lee L. Reliability of goniometric measurements. Physical Therapy. 1978;58(11):1355-60.

293. Davis RB. Clinical gait analysis. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazin. 1988;7(3):35-40.

294. Ugbolue UC, Papi E, Kaliarntas KT, Kerr A, Earl L, Pomeroy VM, et al. The evaluation of an inexpensive, 2D, video based gait assessment system for clinical use. Gait & Posture. 2013;38(3):483-9.

295. Clarke L, Murphy A. Validation of a novel 2D motion analysis system to the gold standard in 3D motion analysis for calculation of sagittal plane kinematics. Gait & Posture. 2014;39, Supplement 1:S44-S5.

296. Otte K, Kayser B, Mansow-Model S, Verrel J, Paul F, Brandt AU, et al. Accuracy and Reliability of the Kinect Version 2 for Clinical Measurement of Motor Function. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(11):e0166532.

297. *Prosthetic and Orthotic Data Solutions*. 2018 [cited 2018 17/02]. Available from: https://www.pnodata.com/.

298. Davidson E, Bowers R, editors. A pilot study investigating the intra and interrater reliability of siliconcoach within the field of gait analysis. ISPO 2013 World Congress; 2013 2013/2/6; Hyderabad, India.

299. Sparkes V, Brophy R, Sheeran L. Reliability of measuring critical knee flexion angle during single squat using Silicon coachTM in recreational females. Bone & Joint Journal Orthopaedic Proceedings Supplement. 2013;95-B(SUPP 13):66.

300. Evers A. The revised dutch rating system for test quality. *International Journal of Testing*. 2001;1(2):155-82.

301. Gorton Iii GE, Hebert DA, Gannotti ME. Assessment of the kinematic variability among 12 motion analysis laboratories. Gait & Posture. 2009;29(3):398-402.

302. Chambers C, Goode B. Variability in gait measurements across multiple sites.Gait & Posture. 1996;4(2):167.

303. Kadaba MP, Ramakrishnan HK, Wootten ME, Gainey J, Gorton G, Cochran GVB. Repeatability of kinematic, kinetic, and electromyographic data in normal adult gait. Journal of Orthopaedic Research. 1989;7(6):849-60.

304. McGinley JL, Baker R, Wolfe R, Morris ME. The reliability of threedimensional kinematic gait measurements: A systematic review. Gait & Posture. 2009;29(3):360-9. 305. Guenther H. The Racial Elements of European History. New York: E.P.Dutton and Co; 1927.

306. Drillis R, Contini R, Bluestein M. Body Segment Parameters: A Survey of Measurement Techniques. Artificial Limbs. 1964;8(1):44-66.

307. Contini R. Body Segment Parameters. Artificial Limbs. 1972;16(1):1-19.

308. Grasgruber P, Cacek J, Kalina T, Sebera M. The role of nutrition and genetics as key determinants of the positive height trend. Economics & Human Biology. 2014;15:81-100.

309. Giavarina D. Understanding Bland Altman analysis. Biochemical Medicine.2015;25(2):141-51.

310. Evans L. Validation of the biomechanical analysis system silicon coach (2d) against vicon (3d) using a rugby union place kick. UK: Cardiff Metropolitan University; 2006.

311. Hicks J, Schwartz M, Delp S. Modeling and Simulation of Normal and Pathological Gait. In: Gage J, Schwartz M, Koop S, Novacheck T, editors. The Identification and Treatment of Gait Problems in Cerebral Palsy London Mac Keith Press; 2009. p. 285-305.

312. Kay RM, Rethlefsen SA, Kelly JP, Wren TA. Predictive value of the Duncan-Ely test in distal rectus femoris transfer. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 2004;24(1):59-62.

313. Chambers H, Lauer A, Kaufman K, Cardelia JM, Sutherland D. Prediction of outcome after rectus femoris surgery in cerebral palsy: the role of cocontraction of the rectus femoris and vastus lateralis. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics. 1998;18(6):703-11.

Appendices

Appendix A

Below is an example of the steps followed to run the linear regression as explained in

Section 3.2.3.

Peak knee flexion (PKF)

Group C1: catch angle<60°

1- The knee (PKF) is set as an input, while the hip (HPKF) is set as an output.

Regression

| Variables Entered/Removed ^a | | | | | | | |
|--|---|-------------------|--------|--|--|--|--|
| Model | Variables Entered | Variables Removed | Method | | | | |
| 1 | Limb*catch angle, Catch angle, PKF, Limb, Limb*PKF ^b | • | Enter | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

b. All requested variables entered.

| Model Summary | | | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model R R Square Adjusted R Square Std. Error of the Estimate | | | | | | | | |
| 1 .716 ^a .512 .164 5.89594 | | | | | | | | |

a. Predictors: (Constant), Limb*catch angle, Catch angle, PKF, Limb, Limb*PKF

| | ANOVA ^a | | | | | | | | |
|-------|--------------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|-------------------|--|--|--|
| Model | | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | Sig. | | | |
| 1 | Regression | 255.742 | 5 | 51.148 | 1.471 | .309 ^b | | | |
| | Residual | 243.335 | 7 | 34.762 | | | | | |
| | Total | 499.077 | 12 | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

b. Predictors: (Constant), Limb*catch angle, Catch angle, PKF, Limb, Limb*PKF

| | Coefficients ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------------------|-----------|------------|--------------|-------|------|----------------|------------------|--|--|--|
| Μ | odel | Unstanda | urdised | Standardised | t | Sig. | 95.0% Confider | nce Interval for | | | |
| | | Coefficie | ents | Coefficients | | | В | | | | |
| | | В | Std. Error | Beta | | | Lower Bound | Upper Bound | | | |
| 1 | (Constant) | 17.036 | 17.539 | | .971 | .364 | -24.437 | 58.508 | | | |
| | PKF | 178 | .425 | 276 | 418 | .688 | -1.183 | .827 | | | |
| | Limb | 6.039 | 24.803 | .486 | .243 | .815 | -52.611 | 64.688 | | | |
| | Catch angle | .649 | .385 | .762 | 1.685 | .136 | 262 | 1.559 | | | |
| | Limb*PKF | 190 | .512 | 874 | 371 | .722 | -1.401 | 1.021 | | | |
| | Limb*catch | .130 | .601 | .502 | .217 | .835 | -1.292 | 1.553 | | | |
| | angle | | | | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

Limb is not significant; hence, it can be excluded along with the multiplied terms.

Regression

Entering only PKF and catch angle

| Variables Entered/Removed ^a | | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model Variables Entered Variables Removed Method | | | | | | | |
| 1 | 1 Catch angle, PKF ^b . Enter | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

b. All requested variables entered.

| Model Summary | | | | | | | |
|---------------|-------------------|----------|-------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R Square | Adjusted R Square | Std. Error of the Estimate | | | |
| 1 | .688 ^a | .473 | .368 | 5.12874 | | | |

a. Predictors: (Constant), Catch angle, PKF

| | ANOVA ^a | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------|---------|----|---------|-------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Model Sum of Squares df Mean Square F Sig. | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | Regression | 236.038 | 2 | 118.019 | 4.487 | .041 ^b | | | | |
| | Residual | 263.039 | 10 | 26.304 | | | | | | |
| | Total | 499.077 | 12 | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

b. Predictors: (Constant), Catch angle, PKF

| | Coefficients ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------|---------------------------|--------------|--------------|------|----------------|-------------------|-------------|-------------|--|--|--|
| Model Unstandardised | | Standardised | t | Sig. | 95.0% Confiden | ce Interval for B | | | | | |
| Coefficier | | ents | Coefficients | | | | | | | | |
| | | В | Std. | Beta | | | Lower Bound | Upper Bound | | | |
| | | | Error | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | (Constant) | 18.053 | 9.119 | | 1.980 | .076 | -2.265 | 38.372 | | | |
| | PKF | 262 | .191 | 406 | -1.370 | .201 | 687 | .164 | | | |
| | Catch angle | .739 | .252 | .868 | 2.930 | .015 | .177 | 1.301 | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

Only catch angle is significant; hence, PKF can be excluded.

Regression

Entering catch angle only

| Variables Entered/Removed ^a | | | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model Variables Entered Variables Removed Method | | | | | | | |
| 1 Catch angle ^b . Enter | | | | | | | |
| D 1 . 17 | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

b. All requested variables entered.

| Model Summary | | | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model R R Square Adjusted R Square Std. Error of the Estimate | | | | | | | | |
| 1 .612 ^a .374 .317 5.32918 | | | | | | | | |

a. Predictors: (Constant), Catch angle

| | ANOVA ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------|---------|----|---------|-------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model Sum of Squares df Mean Square F Sig. | | | | | | Sig. | | | | | |
| 1 | Regression | 186.675 | 1 | 186.675 | 6.573 | .026 ^b | | | | | |
| | Residual | 312.402 | 11 | 28.400 | | | | | | | |
| | Total | 499.077 | 12 | | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

b. Predictors: (Constant), Catch angle

| | Coefficients ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----|---------------------------|--------|--------------|------|-------|--------------|---------------|--------|--|--|--|
| Mod | Model Unstandardised | | Standardised | t | Sig. | 95.0% Confid | ence Interval | | | | |
| | Coefficients | | Coefficients | | | for B | | | | | |
| | | В | Std. Error | Beta | | | Lower | Upper | | | |
| | | | | | | | Bound | Bound | | | |
| 1 | (Constant) | 14.441 | 9.070 | | 1.592 | .140 | -5.523 | 34.405 | | | |
| | Catch angle | .521 | .203 | .612 | 2.564 | .026 | .074 | .967 | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: HPKF

Overall, the regression is significant, but the R^2 is weak (37.4%).

2- The hip (HPKF) is set as an input, while the knee (PKF) is set as an output

Regression

| | Variables Entered/Removed ^a | | | | | | | |
|-------|--|-------------------|--------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model | Variables Entered | Variables Removed | Method | | | | | |
| 1 | Limb*HPKF, Catch angle, HPKF, Limb, | | Enter | | | | | |
| | limb*catch angle | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

b. All requested variables entered.

| | Model Summary | | | | | | | |
|-------|-------------------|----------|-------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R Square | Adjusted R Square | Std. Error of the Estimate | | | | |
| 1 | .809 ^a | .655 | .408 | 7.69716 | | | | |

a. Predictors: (Constant), Limb*HPKF, HPKF, Catch angle, Limb, Limb*catch angle

| | ANOVA ^a | | | | | | | | | |
|-------|--------------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Model | | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | Sig. | | | | |
| 1 | Regression | 786.353 | 5 | 157.271 | 2.655 | .118 ^b | | | | |
| | Residual | 414.724 | 7 | 59.246 | | | | | | |
| | Total | 1201.077 | 12 | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

b. Predictors: (Constant), Limb*HPKF, HPKF, Catch angle, Limb, Limb*catch angle

| | Coefficients ^a | | | | | | | | |
|-------|---------------------------|-----------|------------|--------------|--------|------|--------------|---------|--|
| Model | l | Unstanda | ardised | Standardised | t | Sig. | 95.0% Con | fidence | |
| | | Coefficie | ents | Coefficients | | | Interval for | В | |
| | | В | Std. Error | Beta | | | Lower | Upper | |
| | | | | | | | Bound | Bound | |
| 1 | (Constant) | 28.379 | 19.111 | | 1.485 | .181 | -16.810 | 73.568 | |
| | Catch angle | .599 | .529 | .453 | 1.132 | .295 | 652 | 1.849 | |
| | Limb | 5.392 | 32.638 | .280 | .165 | .873 | -71.785 | 82.569 | |
| | HPKF | 188 | .570 | 121 | 329 | .752 | -1.535 | 1.160 | |
| | Limb*Catch | .912 | .768 | 2.263 | 1.187 | .274 | 904 | 2.727 | |
| | angle | | | | | | | | |
| | Limb*HPKF | -1.069 | .895 | -2.218 | -1.195 | .271 | -3.185 | 1.047 | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

Limb is not significant hence it can be excluded along with the multiplied terms.

Regression

Entering only HPKF and catch angle

| Variables Entered/Removed ^a | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------------------|---|-------|--|--|--|
| Model Variables Entered Variables Removed Method | | | | | | |
| 1 | HPKF, Catch angle ^b | • | Enter | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

b. All requested variables entered.

| | Model Summary | | | | | | | |
|-------|---------------------------------------|----------|-------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Model | R | R Square | Adjusted R Square | Std. Error of the Estimate | | | | |
| 1 | 1 .703 ^a .495 .394 7.78891 | | | | | | | |
| | (a) | | | | | | | |

a. Predictors: (Constant), HPKF, Catch angle

| | ANOVA ^a | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------|----------|----|---------|-------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Model Sum of Squares df Mean Square F Sig. | | | | | | Sig. | | | | |
| 1 | Regression | 594.406 | 2 | 297.203 | 4.899 | .033 ^b | | | | |
| | Residual | 606.671 | 10 | 60.667 | | | | | | |
| | Total | 1201.077 | 12 | | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

b. Predictors: (Constant), HPKF, Catch angle

| | Coefficients ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|---------------------------|--------|--------------|------|--------|---------------------------|---------|--------|--|--|--|
| Mode | Model Unstandardized | | Standardized | t | Sig. | 95.0% Confidence Interval | | | | | |
| Coefficients | | S | Coefficients | | | for B | | | | | |
| | | В | Std. | Beta | | | Lower | Upper | | | |
| | | | Error | | | | Bound | Bound | | | |
| 1 | (Constant) | 23.601 | 15.528 | | 1.520 | .160 | -10.998 | 58.200 | | | |
| | Catch angle | 1.156 | .394 | .880 | 2.931 | .015 | .277 | 2.035 | | | |
| | HPKF | 649 | .520 | 375 | -1.248 | .241 | -1.808 | .510 | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

Only catch angle is significant; hence, HPKF can be excluded.

Regression

Entering catch angle only

| Variables Entered/Removed ^a | | | | | | |
|--|-------------|---|-------|--|--|--|
| Model Variables Entered Variables Removed Method | | | | | | |
| 1 | Catch angle | • | Enter | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

b. All requested variables entered.

| Model Summary | | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Model R R Square Adjusted R Square Std. Error of the Estimate | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | 1 .633 ^a .400 .346 8.09331 | | | | | | | |
| D II . | (0) (0) (0) | ~ | | | | | | |

a. Predictors: (Constant), Catch angle

| ANOVA ^a | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|------------|----------------|----|-------------|-------|------|--|--|--|
| Model | | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | Sig. | | | |
| 1 | Regression | 480.558 | 1 | 480.558 | 7.337 | .02 | | | |
| | Residual | 720.519 | 11 | 65.502 | | | | | |
| | Total | 1201.077 | 12 | | | | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

b. Predictors: (Constant), Catch angle

| | Coefficients ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----|---------------------------|------------|--------------|--------------|-------|--------------|---------------|--------|--|--|--|
| Mod | Model Unstandardised | | Standardised | t | Sig. | 95.0% Confid | ence Interval | | | | |
| Co | | Coefficien | nts | Coefficients | | - | for B | | | | |
| | | В | Std. Error | Beta | | | Lower | Upper | | | |
| | | | | | | | Bound | Bound | | | |
| 1 | (Constant) | 13.803 | 13.775 | | 1.002 | .338 | -16.516 | 44.121 | | | |
| | Catch angle | .835 | .308 | .633 | 2.709 | .020 | .157 | 1.514 | | | |

a. Dependent Variable: PKF

Overall, the regression is significant, but the R^2 is acceptable (40%). The model of the

PKF is taken forward as the R^2 is larger in comparison to the model of the HPKF.

The output equation is:

Average PKF=13.803 + 0.835*catch angle

Rounding it up=13.8+0.84*catch angle

Appendix B



Universal goniometer instruction manual for

testers

Measuring with markers on bony landmarks

<u>1-UG alignment for joint ROM measurement:</u>

This is a method of measuring with UG which may be different to your clinical

practice, therefore please read the demonstration section below carefully

A-Hip (use this alignment when measuring flexion and extension):

Axis: on the marker on the greater trochanter of the femur as shown below



Stationary arm: pointing towards the marker on the shoulder as shown below



Moveable arm: pointing towards the marker on the lateral femoral epicondyle as shown below



B- Knee (use this alignment when measuring flexion and extension):

Axis: on the marker on the lateral epicondyle of the femur as required



Stationary arm: pointing towards the marker on the greater trochanter as shown below



Moveable arm: pointing towards the marker on the lateral malleolus as shown below



C- Ankle (use this alignment when measuring plantarflexion and dorsiflexion):

Axis: on the marker on the lateral malleolus as shown below



Stationary arm: pointing towards the marker on the lateral femoral epicondyle as shown below



Moveable arm: pointing towards the marker on the fifth metatarsal head



<u>2- Measuring procedure:</u>

A- Subject in supine position, measure:

Hip joint flexion ROM:

- Start position: subject in supine position with the hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°)
- Stabilisation: Stabilise the pelvis by placing one hand on the ipsilateral pelvis (the side being measured), for additional support keep the contralateral limb flat in neutral position
- Motion: lift the thigh and flex the hip allowing the knee to flex as well while maintaining the hip in neutral position. Apply pressure until the maximum hip flexion is achieved
- End feel: soft or firm. The hip should not be flexed beyond the point where it causes posterior tilting of the pelvis
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Knee joint flexion ROM:

- Start position: subject in supine position with the hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°)
- Stabilisation: Stabilise the femur with one hand to prevent rotation, abduction and adduction of the hip
- Motion: lift the thigh to flex the hip to approximately 90° and stabilise the thigh to prevent further motion while moving the knee joint into flexion.
- End feel: soft or firm, the knee should not be flexed beyond the point where it causes further hip flexion
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Knee joint extension ROM:

- Start position: subject in supine position with the hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°). A towel is placed under the ankle to allow maximum extension
- Stabilisation: None
- Motion: Apply pressure above the knee to extend
- End feel: Firm
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Ankle joint plantarflexion ROM:

- Stabilisation: grasp the posterior aspect of the calcaneus (heel) and hold the joint in neutral position maintaining the knee in full extension with the foot perpendicular to the lower leg
- Motion: with the other hand hold the forefoot at the level of the metatarsal heads and apply pressure to push the ankle into plantarflexion, maintain the subtalar joint in neutral position
- End feel: Firm or hard
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Ankle joint dorsiflexion:

- Stabilisation: grasp the posterior aspect of the calcaneus (heel) and hold the joint in neutral position maintaining the knee in full extension with the foot perpendicular to the lower leg
- Motion: with the other hand hold the forefoot at the level of the metatarsal heads and apply pressure to push the ankle into dorsiflexion, maintain the subtalar joint in neutral position
- End feel: firm or hard
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

B- Move the subject to prone position and measure:

Hip joint extension ROM:

- Start position: with hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°)
- Stabilisation: Stabilise the pelvis by placing one hand on the ipsilateral pelvis (the side being measured), for additional support keep the contralateral limb flat in neutral position
- Motion: lift the thigh and extend the hip while maintaining the knee in an extended position and the hip in neutral position. Apply pressure until the maximum hip extension is achieved
- End feel: Firm. The hip should not be extended beyond the point where it causes anterior tilt of the pelvis or extension of the lumbar spine
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Measuring with no markers

<u>1-UG alignment for joint ROM measurement</u>

This is a method of measuring with UG which may be different to your clinical

practice, therefore please read the demonstration section below carefully

A- Hip (use this alignment when measuring flexion and extension):

Axis: at a point at the mid-thigh at the level of greater trochanter as shown below



Stationary arm: following midline of the upper body as shown below



Moveable arm: following midline of thigh as shown below



B- Knee (use this alignment when measuring flexion and extension):

Axis: at a point at the mid knee joint as shown below



Stationary arm: following midline of the thigh as shown below



Moveable arm: following midline of the calf as shown below



C- Ankle (use this alignment when measuring plantarflexion and dorsiflexion):

Axis: at a point at the base of the heel in line with midline of the calf as shown below



Stationary arm: following the midline of the calf as shown below



Moveable arm: along the sole of the foot as shown below



<u>2- Measuring procedure:</u>

A- Subject in supine position, measure:

Hip joint flexion ROM:

- Start position: subject in supine position with the hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°)
- Stabilisation: Stabilise the pelvis by placing one hand on the ipsilateral pelvis (the side being measured), for additional support keep the contralateral limb flat in neutral position
- Motion: lift the thigh and flex the hip allowing the knee to flex as well while maintaining the hip in neutral position. Apply pressure until the maximum hip flexion is achieved
- End feel: soft or firm. The hip should not be flexed beyond the point where it causes posterior tilting of the pelvis
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Knee joint flexion ROM:

- Start position: subject in supine position with the hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°)
- Stabilisation: Stabilise the femur with one hand to prevent rotation, abduction and adduction of the hip
- Motion: lift the thigh to flex the hip to approximately 90° and stabilise the thigh to prevent further motion while moving the knee joint into flexion.

- End feel: soft or firm, the knee should not be flexed beyond the point where it causes further hip flexion
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Knee joint extension ROM:

- Start position: subject in supine position with the hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°). A towel is placed under the ankle to allow maximum extension
- Stabilisation: None
- Motion: Apply pressure above the knee to extend
- End feel: Firm
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Ankle joint plantarflexion ROM:

- Stabilisation: grasp the posterior aspect of the calcaneus (heel) and hold the joint in neutral position maintaining the knee in full extension with the foot perpendicular to the lower leg

- Motion: with the other hand hold the forefoot at the level of the metatarsal heads and apply pressure to push the ankle into plantarflexion, maintain the subtalar joint in neutral position
- End feel: Firm or hard
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

Ankle joint dorsiflexion:

- Stabilisation: grasp the posterior aspect of the calcaneus (heel) and hold the joint in neutral position maintaining the knee in full extension with the foot perpendicular to the lower leg
- Motion: with the other hand hold the forefoot at the level of the metatarsal heads and apply pressure to push the ankle into dorsiflexion, maintain the subtalar joint in neutral position
- End feel: firm or hard
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided

B- Move the subject to prone position and measure:

Hip joint extension ROM:

- Start position: with hip (0° abduction, adduction, and rotation) and knee in neutral position (0°)
- Stabilisation: Stabilise the pelvis by placing one hand on the ipsilateral pelvis (the side being measured), for additional support keep the contralateral limb flat in neutral position
- Motion: lift the thigh and extend the hip while maintaining the knee in an extended position and the hip in neutral position. Apply pressure until the maximum hip extension is achieved
- End feel: Firm. The hip should not be extended beyond the point where it causes anterior tilt of the pelvis or extension of the lumbar spine
- Align the goniometer as shown above and take the measurement
- Record the measurement in the appropriate space in the UG measurements recording sheet provided



PnO Clinical Movement Data instruction

manual for testers

A- Measurements required each session:

- 16 hip joints maximum flexion and 16 hip joints maximum extension measurements
- 16 knee joints maximum flexion and 16 knee joints maximum extension measurements
- 16 ankle joints maximum plantarflexion and 16 ankle joints maximum dorsiflexion measurements

B- Turning on the computer:

- Open the steel doors on the bottom of the trolley
- Turn on the system unit by pressing the button on the top right (look under beneath the door opening)
- Turn on the monitor
- Press enter

C- Opening the software:

- On the desktop double click on $\underline{P} + O$ Clinical Movement Data Software.
- Choose <u>Existing Client</u> on the welcome screen as shown below



Welcome screen

- -Search for Previous Fit Clien Type your code Last nam First nam number Results Last name First na 1234 In the result box high light your code Ok Cancel
- 3. In the search box, type the following as shown in the image below

4. Click ok

- This will take you to another page called <u>P&O fit session (</u>written in the extreme top right)
- On the left side of client information, look for Patient ID
- <u>Patient ID</u> is your code; if the space is empty type your code in it as shown below



8. Click <u>next</u>
- From <u>Technician</u> drop down menu choose <u>Fatma Mohsin</u>
- From <u>Assessment Type</u> drop down menu choose <u>Reliability study</u> as shown below

| | deritedas and |
|--|--|
| 2. For the home set of the second se Second second seco | |
| | |
| profile for standards 1 🔮 - standards and standards and based and and and | |
| | |
| | _ |
| | |
| | Choose Fatma Mohsin form the dropdown menu |

11. Click next

D- Opening the videos and analysing:

- Click on the icon of Organize Files and Folders on the top right hand side as shown

below



- Choose <u>Select any folder</u>
- Make sure you are at the folder POClinical –Fittings-Customers
- Search for Reliability_study_
- Double click on the folder -
- Highlight the required folder A (you will be asked later to repeat this step and choose the following folder which is folder B and work on alphabetical order)
- Click <u>Select Folder</u> as shown below

| isk (C:) 🔸 Program | Data > POClinical > | Fittings + Customers + Relia | bility_Study_) | • • •, | Search Rebability | _Study_ | |
|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|---|
| lder | | | 1.92 | 0.20.22 | | 11 • | |
| Name | 1 | Date modified | Туре | Size | | | |
| A | | | | | | | |
| 👗 B | 1 | | | | | | |
| 1000 | 1 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| and the second se | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | The second se | | | | | |
| 1995 | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | 이 방법 방법에 비행하는 것 같은 정말에 많은 것이다. | | | | | |
| AL L | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| den A | | | | | | | - |
| | | | | | | | |
| | der Name A B C D E F G H H I I J J K L | der Name A B C D E E F G H H I I I I K L | Arme Date modified A 24/01/2014 2:54 p B 24/01/2014 1:55 p C 24/01/2014 3:17 p D 24/01/2014 3:17 p D 24/01/2014 3:17 p D 24/01/2014 3:18 p F 24/01/2014 3:18 p G 24/01/2014 3:18 p H 24/01/2014 3:18 p J 1 L 24/01/2014 3:18 p L 24/01/2014 3:18 p L 24/01/2014 3:18 p | der Date modified Type A 24/01/2014 2:34 p File folder B 24/01/2014 1:55 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder D 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder G 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder H 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder J 24/01/2014 3:18 p | Name Date modified Type Size A 24/01/2014 2:34 p File folder B 24/01/2014 1:35 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder D 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder J G 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder J 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder Z L < | Arme Date modified Type Size A 24/01/2014 2:34 p File folder B 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder D 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3:17 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder J 24/01/2014 3:18 p File folder J <t< td=""><td>der Date modified Type Size A 24/01/2014 2/34 p.: File folder B 24/01/2014 3/17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3/17 p File folder D 24/01/2014 3/17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3/18 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3/18 p File folder J 24/01/2014 3/18 p File folder</td></t<> | der Date modified Type Size A 24/01/2014 2/34 p.: File folder B 24/01/2014 3/17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3/17 p File folder D 24/01/2014 3/17 p File folder C 24/01/2014 3/18 p File folder F 24/01/2014 3/18 p File folder J 24/01/2014 3/18 p File folder |

- Videos will appear on right hand side (as you face the screen)
- Drag video A1 down to <u>Single play back option</u> which is in the bottom right of the screen (you will be asked later to repeat this step and choose the following video which is video A2 and work on numerical order)
- The video will appear in the single play back box if dropped correctly as shown below
- Take a note of the number of the video you choose (file number-video number)



12. Click next

- Analyze screen will appear
- To play the clip use this button



- When the maximum joint range of motion is achieved, the tester on the screen will hold the position for couple of seconds, pause the video and start analysing
- Make sure that you have a clear view of the joint measured and the joint is held in a stationary position
- Please move to section F of the document and read thoroughly to understand how to operate different tools
- Take the angle measurement following the steps mentioned in section H
- When you are done analysing the video, click <u>previous</u> to choose the next video
- If the videos are not there, click on the icon <u>organize files and folders</u> on the top right hand side as shown above
- Choose <u>Select any folder</u>
- Search for Relibility_study_
- Double click on the folder
- Highlight folder A
- Click <u>Select folder</u> as shown above
- Videos will appear on right hand side
- Select the next video (A2)
- Drag the video down to <u>Single play back option</u> which is in the bottom right of the screen (remember to work on numerical order)
- The video will appear in the single play back box if dropped correctly as shown below

- Take a note of the number of the video you choose (file number-video number)
- Click <u>next</u>
- Repeat the process from section D step 13 page 9 for videos A2, A3 and A4
- Each report allows you to capture 4 images (4 videos)
- Each folder contains 4 videos
- Once you are finished with folder A (4 videos) press the <u>finish</u> button and choose save this report and return to this Clients area and return to section C step 5 page 4 and start again with folder B and so on (remember to work on alphabetical order)

E- Finishing up and saving all the reports

- Make sure you save the report when finishing all the measurements by clicking <u>finish</u> and choose <u>save this report and return to the welcome screen</u>
- On the welcome screen click the <u>exit</u> button on the top right
- Click ok
- Shut down the computer and close the monitor screen

F- Tools:

On the analyse screen there are number of tools below the video, you will only need to use the following:

Measure angle tool



To use the measure angle tool:

- Chose the tool from the tool bar
- Click the mouse button on the starting point and release, then the centre point of the angle and release then the end point and release.



- Use these tools to delete any measurements taken
- The <u>Undo</u> tool clears one step at time and the <u>Delete all</u> tool deletes all the steps
- Delete all the measurements taken after capturing the still image and prior to starting the next stage

G- Creating the report:

After measuring each angle following the steps mentioned below in section H and when you are satisfied with the angle measured please:

- Capture the image by pressing add image on the report on the left-hand side after taking the measurement (if you are processing first image click <u>add image</u> in the first section and if you are processing the second image click <u>add image</u> in the second section and so on as shown below)

- Please make sure to not overwrite any image

- Manually type the video number (appears on the top left of the video) and angle measured
- From the drop-down menu choose the joint, movement and type as shown below
- Please fill the Report for *PnO CMD* videos provided as you analyse each video



- e after
- Delete all the measurements taken by using the <u>delete all</u> icon capturing the still image and prior to starting the next stage
- Return to section D step 19 page 9

H- Measurements

- For this study measure the ROM following the instructions below
- If you are looking at the hip videos, follow the <u>Hip joint angle</u> section below
- If you are looking at the knee videos, follow the <u>Knee joint angle</u> section below
- If you are looking at the knee videos, follow the <u>Ankle joint angle</u> section below

Hip joint angle:

If markers appear in the video, follow section <u>H1</u> below and if no markers appear in the video follow section <u>H2</u> below

<u>H1</u>

- Using the measure angle tool click on the marker on the shoulder (start point), then on the marker on the greater trochanter (centre point), then on the marker on the lateral femoral epicondyle (end point)
- Make sure that you capture the image and add the required information as stated above in section G

<u>H2</u>



- Using the measure angle tool click on a point at the shoulder (start point), follow the midline of the body and then click on a point on the mid-thigh at the level of greater trochanter (centre point), follow the mid-line of thigh and click on a point at the mid knee (end point)
- Make sure that you capture the image and add the required information as stated above in section G

Knee joint angle:

If markers appear in the video, follow section $\underline{K1}$ below and if no markers appear in the video follow section $\underline{K2}$ below

<u>K1</u>

- Using the measure angle tool start at the marker on the greater trochanter (start point), then click on the marker on the lateral femoral epicondyle (centre point), then on the marker at the lateral malleolus (end point)
- Make sure that you capture the image and add the required information as stated above in section G

<u>K2</u>



- Using the measure angle tool click on a point at the mid-thigh at the level of greater trochanter (start point), follow the midline of the thigh and click on a point at the mid knee (centre point), follow the midline of the calf and click on a point above the lateral malleolus (end point)
- Make sure that you capture the image and add the required information as stated above section G

Ankle joint angle:

If markers appear in the video, follow section <u>A1</u> below and if no markers appear in the video follow section <u>A2</u> below

<u>A1</u>

- Using the measure angle tool start at the marker on the lateral femoral epicondyle (start point), then the marker on the later malleolus (centre point), then the marker on the fifth metatarsal head (end point)
- Make sure that you capture the image and add the required information as stated above in section G

<u>A2</u>

- Using the measure angle tool start at a point at the mid-calf on the level of the fibula head (start point) following the mid-calf click at the point on the base of the heel (center point), then following the sole of the foot click at a point on the sole of the foot at the level of the fifth metatarsal head (end point)
- Make sure that you capture the image and add the required information as stated above in section G

Editing report (if required):

- 1. On the desktop click on $\underline{P} + O$ Clinical Movement Data Software.
- 2. Choose Existing Client
- 3. In the search box type: Last name: 1-3 (your code number)
- 4. In the result box highlight the required name (your code) as shown above
- 5. Click ok
- This will take you to another page called <u>P&O fit session (</u>written in the extreme top right)
- 7. On the left side of client information, look for Patient ID
- 8. <u>Patient ID</u> is your code; if the space is empty type your code in it as shown above
- 9. The most recent report will appear on the screen.
- 10. On the top left of the report, several tabs will appear with different dates of the report saved
- 11. Click on the required report
- 12. Select Edit on the lower right hand side
- 13. Click <u>next</u>
- 14. Click on the icon of organize files and folders on the top right hand side.
- 15. Choose Select any folder
- 16. Search for Reliability_study_
- 17. Double click on the folder
- 18. Highlight the folder you want to edit (A-X)
- 19. Click select folder as shown above
- 20. Videos will appear on right hand side
- 21. Drag the required video to edit down to Single play back option which is in the

bottom right of the screen

- 22. The video will appear in the single play back box if dropped correctly as shown above
- 23. Click next
- 24. Analyze screen will appear.
- 25. Make sure you save the report when finishing all the measurements by clicking <u>finish</u> and choose <u>save this report and return to the welcome screen</u>
- 26. On the welcome screen click the exit button on the top right
- 27. Click ok
- 28. Shut down the computer and close the monitor screen

Publications and presentation

Publications

1- Mohsin F, McGarry A and Bowers R. Factors Influencing the Reliability of the Universal Goniometer in Measurement of Lower-Limb Range of Motion: A Literature Review. Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics. 2015;27(4):140-8.

2 - Mohsin F, McGarry A and Bowers R (in press). The reliability of a video analysis system (*PnO Clinical Movement Data*TM) and the universal goniometer in the measurement of hip, knee and ankle sagittal plane motion amongst healthy subjects Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics.

Conference presentations

1- Mohsin F, McGarry A, Bowers R. Factors influencing the reliability of different designs of goniometer: a literature review. International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics World Congress 2013, Hyderabad, India. 2013.

2- Mohsin F, McGarry A, Bowers R. The reliability of a video analysis system (*Siliconcoach*TM) and the universal goniometer in the measurement of hip, knee and ankle motion. International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics World Congress 2015, Lyon, France. 2015.

Posters

1- Mohsin F, McGarry A, Bowers R. A literature review on the reliability of different designs of goniometer. British Association of Prosthetists and Orthotists 2013, Glasgow, United Kingdom. 2013. Poster presentation runner up prize.

2 -Mohsin F, McGarry A, Bowers R. Literature review of the reliability of different designs of goniometers. American Orthotic and Prosthetic Association National Assembly 2014, Las Vegas, United States. 2014.

3- Mohsin F, McGarry A, Bowers R. The reliability of a video analysis system (*Siliconcoach*TM) and the universal goniometer in the measurement of lower limb joints. American Academy of Orthotists and Prosthetists 41st Annual Meeting and Scientific Symposium 2015, New Orleans, United States. 2015.